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The Enel structure

Corporate
Enel SpA

Sales

Enel Servizio Elettrico
Enel Energia

Generation and
Energy Management

Enel Produzione
Enel Trade

Enel Trade Romania
Enel Trade Croatia
Enel Trade Serbia
Nuove Energie
Hydro Dolomiti Enel
SE Hydropower

San Floriano Energy
Enel Stoccaggi

Enel Longanesi Development

Sviluppo Nucleare Italia
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Engineering
and Innovation

Enel Ingegneria
e Innovazione

Infrastructure
and Networks

Enel Distribuzione
Enel Sole
Enel M@p
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Iberia and Latin
America

Endesa

International

Slovenské elektrarne
Enel Distributie Muntenia
Enel Distributie Banat
Enel Distributie Dobrogea
Enel Energie Muntenia
Enel Energie

Enel Productie

Enel Romania

Enel Servicii Comune
RusEnergoSbyt

Enel OGK-5

Enel France

Enelco

Marcinelle Energie

Renewable Energy

Enel Green Power
Enel.si

Enel Green Power
Latin America

Enel Green Power Espafia "
Enel Green Power Romania

Enel Green Power North
America

Enel Green Power Bulgaria
Enel Green Power France

Enel Green Power Hellas

(1) Following merger carried outin 2011, includes data for Enel Unién Fenosa Renovables.

Services and
Other Activities

Enel Servizi
Enelpower
Enel.NewHydro
Enel.Factor
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The Sales Division

The Generation and Energy Management Division

The Infrastructure and Networks Division's

The lberia and Latin America Division

The Engineering and Innovation Division

The International Division's

The Renewable Energy Division

The activities of the operational Divisions
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operates in the end-user market for electrical power and gas in Italy, develo-
ping an integrated package of products and services for the various customer

segments and ensuring that commercial services meet quality standards.

is responsible for generating power at competitive costs while safeguarding
the environment.

mission is to distribute electricity, optimizing the management of Enel’s net-
works and ensuring the efficient operation of metering systems and complian-

ce with technical service quality standards.

focuses on developing Enel’s presence and coordinating its operations in the
electricity and gas markets of Spain, Portugal and Latin America, formulating

growth strategies in the related regional markets.

is charged with managing the engineering processes associated with the de-
velopment and construction of generation facilities on behalf of the Group,
ensuring achievement of the quality, temporal and financial objectives set for
it. In addition, it is responsible for coordinating and supplementing Group re-
search activities, ensuring the scouting, development and leveraging of inno-
vation opportunities in all Group business areas, with a special focus on the

development of major environmental initiatives.

mission is to support Enel’s international growth strategy, consolidate the ma-
nagement and integration of foreign operations (with the exception of the
Spanish, Portuguese and Latin American markets and the renewables opera-
tionsincluded in the Renewable Energy Division), seeking out opportunities for
acquisitions in the electricity and gas markets.

has the mission of developing and managing operations for the generation
of electricity from renewable resources, ensuring their integration within the

Group in line with Enel’s strategies.

are supported by the “Parent Company” and “Services and Other Activities”
areas, which aim to leverage Group synergies and optimize the management

of services supporting Enel’s core business.

In the consolidated financial statements for 2011, the results of the Divisions
have therefore been presented in accordance with the current structure and are
comparable with the figures for 2010, taking account of the change in the scope

of consolidation, as discussed in detail in the notes to the financial statements.
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POWErS

Board of Directors

The Board is vested by the bylaws with the broadest powers for the ordinary
and extraordinary management of the Company, and specifically has the po-
wer to carry out all the actions it deems advisable to implement and attain the

corporate purpose.

Chairman of the Board of Directors

The Chairman is vested by the bylaws with the powers to represent the Com-
pany legally and to sign on its behalf, presides over Shareholders’ Meetings, con-
venes and presides over the Board of Directors, and ascertains that the Board’s
resolutions are carried out. Pursuant to a Board resolution of May 2, 2011, the

Chairman has been vested with a number of additional non-executive powers.

Chief Executive Officer

The Chief Executive Officer is also vested by the bylaws with the powers to
represent the Company legally and to sign on its behalf, and in addition is ve-
sted by a Board resolution of May 2, 2011 with all powers for managing the
Company, with the exception of those that are otherwise assigned by law or

the bylaws or that the aforesaid resolution reserves for the Board of Directors.
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| etter to shareholders
and other stakenholders

Dear shareholders and stakeholders,

In 2011, the global landscape was marked by persistent economic and financial uncertainty, with more

limited growth seen in the mature economies (including Western Europe), and rather more vigorous

expansion of the economies of the emerging countries of Eastern Europe, Asia and Latin America.

Several major events impacted the energy sector, contributing to a profound change in the industry.

These include the tsunami triggered by the earthquake that hit Japan, which devastated the Fukushi-

ma Daiichi nuclear power plant and appears to have slowed development of this technology across

the world.

As a result of this event and the subsequent debate on nuclear power plant safety, a number of Euro-

pean countries have decided to review their energy policies. For example, in Italy, the referendum held

last June to repeal the law permitting nuclear power marked our country’s (and Enel’s) exit from the

nuclear development program.

An additional factor was the upheaval associated with the so-called “Arab Spring”, which, in affecting

the Mediterranean shore of Africa, underscored the importance of the security of primary energy sup-

plies for Europe.

In this turbulent environment, Enel continued to be an internationally reliable presence, a stable indu-

strial Group that, for 50 years, has been a partner in the development of Italy and many other countries.

In 2011, despite such challenging conditions, we achieved the targets announced to investors, posting

a gross operating margin of €17.7 billion and net income of €4.1 billion. This performance was attai-

ned thanks to our geographical diversification and a balanced generation mix that makes use of all

available energy resources and the most advanced technologies.

We also continued to reduce our debt, lowering net financial debt to €44.6 billion. Thanks to these

results, the ratio of debt to gross operating margin at the end of 2011 came to 2.5, an improvement

over the 2.6 for 2010.

The Group's financial position remained sound thanks to increased cash flow and cost efficiency intia-

tives, as well as measures to improve efficiency, streamline processes and expand operational flexibility

undertaken throughout 2011, with benefits to continue in the coming years.

The excellent results achieved confirm the effectiveness of the strategic priorities adopted in the bu-

siness plan, namely:

> consolidating our market leadership in Italy and Spain in electricity generation, distribution and sales;

> strengthening and development in renewables and in Latin America, Russia and Eastern Europe,
in order to diversify the portfolio of plants and expand in sectors and geographical areas with the
greatest potential;

> leadership in innovation, from improving plant environmental performance to carbon capture and
sequestration technology, from renewables such as thermal solar power to the development of
electric cars and smart grids;

> consolidation, integration and operational excellence of our activities through continuous improve-
ment and greater efficiency in process management;

> rigorous control over investment plans, with the use of just-in-time policies.
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This approach, together with close attention to local communities, a culture of safety and a clear
corporate social responsibility policy, as confirmed by Enel’s admission to the UN's Global Compact

LEAD program, has enabled Enel to continue to create value for all stakeholders.

The contribution of the operating Divisions to the performance of the Group is discussed briefly

below.

Sales Division

In 2011, the Sales Division continued to focus on the strategy of sales to high-value mass market
segments, with the acquisition of a significant number of new electricity and gas customers.
During the year, Enel Energia served about 7.1 million customers: 3.9 million electricity customers
and 3.2 million gas customers. Enel Energia remains the leading Italian supplier of electricity on the
free market, with a strong presence in the sale of natural gas as well.

Enel Servizio Elettrico is the leading supplier in the enhanced protection market, delivering electri-
city to 24.9 million customers.

The Division's results improved in 2011, in terms both of financial performance, with a gross ope-
rating margin of €561 million (up 16% over 2010), and of service quality, with the Authority for
Electricity and Gas (the Authority) placing Enel Energia and Enel Servizio Elettrico in first and second
place in its ranking.

The Division's strategy is to maximize the value generated for the Group and its customers by provi-

ding excellent service quality and innovative commercial offers and sales channels.

Generation and Energy Management Division

In 2011, in a market characterized by weak demand for electricity and a considerable increase in
the installed capacity of non-schedulable renewable power plants, the Generation and Energy Ma-
nagement Division generated about 67.2 TWh of power in Italy, approximately 23% of the Italian
market net of imports. This represents a slight decrease from the previous year (-3.1%) due to lower
hydroelectric output also as a result of the partial deconsolidation of Hydro Dolomiti Enel and San
Floriano Energy. The decline was partially offset by higher coal-fueled power generation thanks to
the entry into service of the Torrevaldaliga Nord plant in Civitavecchia.

The gross operating margin for 2011 came to €2,182 million, down 8.8% from 2010, due to the
deterioration in the Italian wholesale electricity and gas market and the impact of the change in the
scope of consolidation for the hydroelectric companies mentioned above.

In this context, in 2011 the Division continued to cut costs and improve the management of plants

through projects designed to increase operational efficiency, reliability and safety.

Engineering and Innovation Division

In 2011, the Engineering and Innovation Division carried out numerous research and development
initiatives and plant construction projects in support of Group activities. It posted revenues of
around €397 million, down from 2010 due to the completion of a number of major projects, inclu-
ding the conversion of the Torrevaldaliga Nord plant to clean coal (Civitavecchia) and the delivery
of the Algeciras (800 MW CCGT), Escatron (800 MW CCGT) and Ponte Nuevo (324 MW coal) plants
in Spain on behalf of E.ON.

In Italy, the project to cover the coal bunkers at the Brindisi plant began, with the first large-scale

application of the zero-accident project (ZAP) involving the use of advanced technologies to maxi-



mize worksite safety. In addition, the project to convert the Porto Tolle (Rovigo) plant to clean coal
(authorization is still pending) with the installation of the associated carbon capture and sequestra-
tion system is being reprogrammed.

In Russia, work on Enel OGK-5's Nevinnomysskaya plant (410 MW CCGT) was successfully com-
pleted, while the construction of a fly ash evacuation system and environmental upgrading at the
Reftinskaya coal-fired plant (3,800 MW) continue.

As a result of the Fukushima tragedy and the referendum held in June calling for the abandonment
of nuclear power in Italy, the know-how gained while developing the Italian nuclear power pro-
gram was used in analyzing the stress tests on the Group's plants called for by the European Com-
mission. As to the other European countries in which the Group operates, work continues in France
as part of the team building the Flamanville 3 plant, and in Slovakia, with the construction of two
units at the Mochovce 3&4 nuclear power plant. The Nuclear Safety Oversight team also made a
careful examination of safety at the Group’s nuclear power plants in Slovakia and Spain, promoting
the sharing of experience and continual improvement of performance safety.

In research and development, the fine tuning of the Archimede thermal solar plant (5 MW) at Si-
racusa continued, seeking to improve performance. Work continued at the Livorno research labo-
ratory on testing the leading electricity storage technologies and their integration with renewable
resources. Enel also heads the newly-initiated ENCIO project to develop know-how relating to com-
ponents and materials to be used in high-efficiency (50%) coal plants.

Around 80 cars were delivered in 2011 as part of the pilot program with Daimler-Mercedes within
the framework of the e-mobility project to encourage the use of electric cars in Italy in conjunction
with the Infrastructure and Networks Division.

Infrastructure and Networks Division

The good technical and financial results for the Infrastructure and Networks Division in 2011 con-
firm Enel’s leadership in energy distribution, with regard to the quality of its service for end users
and its operational excellence.

The Division’s gross operating margin for the year amounted to €4,285 million, up over 12% from 2010.
Service quality improved even further in terms of the cumulative duration and average number
of interruptions per customer, with an average total duration of 44 minutes (45 minutes in 2010)
and an average of 3.8 interruptions per customer (4.2 interruptions in 2010). These figures confirm
once again Enel’s place among the best in Europe for distribution networks of this scale.

The year 2011 was also one of sharp growth in connections of plants generating power from rene-
wable resources, with around 160 thousand new connections for a total of 10,000 MW, a situation
that required a considerable effort on the part of territorial units. Despite the fourfold increase in
capacity connected as compared with 2010 and a high concentration of requests for connection in
certain periods of the year, due to the evolution of the regulatory framework governing incentives,
the connection work was carried out in complete compliance with the time limits established by
the Authority.

Telegestore, Enel’s automated remote system for managing its digital meters installed in the homes
of all its Italian customers, performed over 7 million contractual operations and took over 400 mil-
lion remote readings in 2011. In Spain, the Cervantes project, launched in 2010 to install more than
13 million new digital meters by 2015, continued on schedule.

Enel remained a recognized European leader in the field of smart grids, the electricity networks of
the future, and chairs the “"EDSO (European Distribution System Operators) for Smart Grids” asso-
ciation, through which it defines plans for carrying out European pilot projects and supports them

with the help of important industry partners. Other innovative projects in Italy are also being con-
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ducted, such as those for the smart grids in Isernia (supported by the Authority) and projects under
the Inter-regional Operational Plan (I0OP) for the regions of the South, financed by the Ministry for
Economic Development.

The public lighting business area improved on the already positive results of the previous year and
has consolidated its leading position in both Italy and Spain in the field of new LED street lighting
systems, thanks to the Archilede project and the winning of the CONSIP contract.

The Division also continued to pursue operational excellence in 2011 through projects for sustaina-

ble improvement and enhanced efficiency of all processes.

lberia and Latin America Division

The Division (comparing ordinary operations with like scopes of consolidation) maintained a gross
operating margin consistent with previous years, of €7,251 million. These results were significant
as they were achieved despite the fact that the economic environment (particularly in Spain) was
more difficult than in 2010 and that a number of exceptional events occurred, as described below.
The efficiency enhancement programs implemented by the Division and the synergies achieved
with the Enel Group contributed significantly to the achievement of these impressive results, pro-
ducing recurring annual cash savings of €1,210 million, thereby exceeding the targets one year
earlier than planned.

In continental Spain, electricity demand fell by 1.2% compared with 2010, owing to the slowing of
the economy. The elimination of the excess gas supply on the market, rising fuel prices, water scar-
city and the reduction in nuclear power output caused most of the increase in wholesale electricity
prices (around 34% compared with 2010). In 2011, the process of securitizing the electricity rate
deficit began and, by the end of the year, around €9.8 billion had been securitized, resulting in a
cash inflow of €5,116 million for the Group.

In Europe, the gross operating margin came to €3,994 million, down 2.9% from 2010, comparing
ordinary operations and the same scope of consolidation. The decline is attributable to growing
competitive pressure in the free market, partially offset by an increase in the operating margin in
the regulated market thanks to the impact of the efficiency plans and improvements in the regu-
latory framework.

In Latin America, the demand for electricity in the countries in which the Group operates rose by
3.9% on average compared with 2010. In 2011, the Division’s gross operating margin in those
countries amounted to €3,257 million, down 4.5% from 2010 (on an unchanged scope of con-
solidation basis). The decrease is mainly attributable to unfavorable exchange rate developments
vis-a-vis the euro and the recognition of the net-worth tax in Colombia in 2011. If these factors
are excluded, the gross operating margin actually rose by 1.3% over 2010, a significant accompli-
shment given the extraordinary events experienced during the period, such as the severe drought
in Chile, which caused hydroelectric output to drop compared with 2010, a year also marked by
poor water conditions. This reduction was offset by higher thermal output.

The 2011 electricity distribution results were better than those for 2010, thanks to organic growth,
a generally stable regulatory situation and the impact of the efficiency initiatives.

The disposal of non-strategic assets in Latin America continued in 2011, with the sale of CAM, a
general services company operating in the electricity distribution sector, and Synapsis, an IT services
company, while core skills were kept within the Group. In addition, an agreement to purchase a
portfolio of about 245 thousand customers in Madrid was reached with Gas Natural. This transac-
tion, expected to be completed in the 1st Quarter of 2012, is of strategic value for consolidating the
Division's position as the second-leading operator in the Spanish gas market, with an 18% market

share in sales, and for reinforcing gas and electricity sales operations.
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Upstream Gas Department

In 2011, the Upstream Gas Department made progress towards the Group’s goal of implementing
selective vertical integration to increase the competitiveness, security and flexibility of Enel’s strate-
gic procurement activities to meet its gas requirements (which, in the long term, should exceed 30
billion cubic meters between Italy, Spain, Russia and Latin America).

The Group's total reserves grew by 18% to 1.2 billion barrels of oil equivalent, thanks to exploration
in Russia and Italy and becoming a partner with Petroceltic and Sonatrach in the Isarene permit in
Algeria, demonstrating the selectiveness and potential of investments made.

The development of assets in the portfolio continued in 2011 in line with plans. Work has been
completed on the appraisal with regard to the Isarene permit, and seismic readings and analysis of
those readings have been done for the South East lllizi permit (Algeria) and the off-shore permit
in Egypt. Finally, the Samburgsky gas field in Russia is being developed, and Enel should be able to
begin production in 2012 through its subsidiary SeverEnergia.

International Division

In 2011, despite the persistently weak global economy, the International Division reported a gross
operating margin of €1,642 million, up 8.0% over 2010, mainly thanks to the constant attention
given to improving operational asset management and the good performance of the Group's
markets.

In Slovakia, Slovenské elektrarne posted a gross operating margin of €811 million in 2011, an in-
crease of almost 14% over the previous year. There were significant strides made in nuclear plant
availability, which has reached levels in line with the sector benchmarks, and in progress on the
construction of units 3 and 4 at the Mochovce nuclear power plant, alongside a careful forward
sales policy to cover 2012 production. Total net installed capacity in Slovakia amounted to 5,401
MW at December 31,2011, and will be further increased by 942 MW between 2013 and 2014 with
the entry into service of units 3 and 4 of the Mochovce plant.

During the year, Enel OGK-5 in Russia achieved a gross operating margin of €348 million, up 4.2%
from 2010, attributable to plant integration and efficiency enhancement work, and to the gradual
liberalization of the Russian electricity market. Two new 410 MW CCGT plants in Nevinnomysskaya
and Sredneuralskaya were placed in operation, while work continued on modernizing and envi-
ronmentally upgrading the Reftinskaya coal plant with the support of the Engineering and Innova-
tion Division in order to reach the highest industry standards.

The RusEnergoSbyt sales company continued implementation of the plan for expanding into new
regions and diversification of its portfolio, with the acquisition of major new customers, posting a
gross operating margin attributable to Enel of €142 million, an increase of more than 43% compa-
red with 2010.

In Romania, the Division’s three distribution companies fully met the investment commitments
made to the regulator, for a total of about €200 million. Modernizing the grids improved service
quality and reduced losses, contributing to the gross operating margin of €205 million, essentially
in line with 2010.

An important agreement was reached with the Romanian Ministry for Transportation regarding
the payment of a portion of the receivable due from the Romanian railway agency.

In France, Enel France, continuing the expansion of its commercial platform, sold 11.4 TWh of elec-
tricity, mainly thanks to the anticipated capacity contracts with EDF and Group participation in the
Flamanville 3 nuclear program with EDF for a total capacity of 1,200 MW. Enel France ended the

year with a gross operating margin of €65 million, up 4.4%.
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In Belgium, construction of the Marcinelle CCGT plant has reached the final stage and it is expected
to enter service in the 1st Quarter of 2012.

Finally, in Bulgaria, the process of selling the Enel Maritza East 3 plant was completed in 2011.

Renewable Energy Division

In 2011, Enel Green Power consolidated its leading position in the renewable energy sector, with
total net generation of 22.5 TWh and total net efficiency capacity of 7,079 MW, meeting all the
operational and financial commitments under the 2011-2015 business plan.

The additional capacity grew organically by over 880 MW during the year, and total revenues came
to €2,539 million. The gross operating margin amounted to €1,585 million, up 21% over 2010.
The company continued to pursue balanced growth in its operations, focusing on all the main rene-
wable generation technologies in markets with the greatest growth potential and stability.
Development efforts were concentrated in Italy, Europe, North America and Latin America. In Italy,
the Adrano photovoltaic plant, in the Province of Catania, entered service, with an installed capaci-
ty of 9 MW. Also entering service was the Portoscuso wind plant in Sardinia, which with 90 MW of
capacity and an output of 185 GWh a year is the largest wind plant in Italy.

As regards operations in Europe, in Romania the strong growth in wind power continued, thanks
in part to the entry into service of four wind farms, which increased installed capacity to 269 MW,
four times the level of the previous year. In France, total installed capacity reached 166 MW, thanks
to the installation of three wind farms (64 MW), while in Greece two new plants came on line in the
region of Macedonia, with an overall capacity of 43 MW, bringing the country total capacity to 191
MW. In the Iberian peninsula, operations began at four new wind facilities with an overall capacity
of about 200 MW, increasing total capacity to more than 1,800 MW.

In the United States, Enel Green Power started operations at the Caney River wind plant in Kansas,
which has an installed capacity of more than 200 MW, and started construction of the 150 MW
Rocky Ridge wind farm in Oklahoma. The company brought on line a 24 MW photovoltaic plant
supplementing the 33 MW Stillwater geothermal plant. This is the first renewable energy project
in the world that brings together the generation capacity of a binary cycle geothermal plant with
the peak capacity of solar power. Total installed capacity in North America thus rose to more than
1,000 MW.

In Brazil, the Division was awarded contracts for three wind projects in the north-eastern part of the
country with a total capacity of 193 MW in the “New Energy” public tender. These join the 90 MW
of wind projects that the Division already won in tenders in 2010 and the 93 MW of hydroelectric
power already operational in Brazil.

In addition, 2011 saw the start of a program to rationalize the corporate structure in order to ex-
tract value from its minority interests, as well as the completion of the organizational integration of
Enel Green Power Espafa and the division of the assets of EUFER.

Enel Green Power also completed the launch of an integrated program of activities in the entire
photovoltaic area. This was accomplished with the manufacture of high-efficiency photovoltaic pa-
nels, with the inauguration of the 3SUN factory (a joint venture with Sharp and STMicroelectronics),
the development of solar power projects through the fully-functioning ESSE (a joint venture with

Sharp), and new products in the retail segment, with the strategic repositioning of Enel.si.
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Outlook

The world macroeconomic environment remains highly uncertain, and there is still little sign of economic recovery in the
mature European economies, with GDP forecast to contract in Spain and Italy. In the emerging countries in Eastern Europe,
in Russia and in the countries of Latin America, the economies are consolidating and developing.

The Group will therefore continue to pursue growth in those emerging economies, as well as its commitment to renewa-
ble energy, with the goal of strengthening its world leadership position in this sector.

In addition, Enel confirms research and technological innovation among its strategic priorities, to make energy production
and consumption more efficient and responsible. Enel will also continue to focus constant attention on the quality of ser-
vice for end users and the value of relationships with local communities through a transparent policy of corporate social
responsibility.

The Group will continue to implement initiatives to boost operating efficiency and maximize synergies in all the countries
in which it operates, while pursuing rigorous financial discipline in investment decisions in order to improve the consoli-
dated financial position even further.

In this context, the geographical and technological diversification achieved by the Group, together with a well-balanced
portfolio of regulated and unregulated businesses, will enable Enel to largely offset the impact that the weakness of the

European economies, especially Italy and Spain, could have on the Group's performance.

The Chief Executive Officer

Fulvio Conti
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Summary of results

Performance data

Millions of euro

2011 2010
Revenues 79,514 73,377
Gross operating margin 17,717 17,480
Operating income 11,366 11,258
Net income before non-controlling
interests 5,358 5,673
Group net income 4,148 4,390
Group net income per share
in circulation at year-end (euro) 0.44 0.47

Revenues in 2011 amounted to €79,514 million, an incre-
ase of €6,137 million or 8.4% compared with 2010. The
rise is essentially attributable to the increased revenues
from generation and electricity and fuel trading, as well
as greater revenues from the sale of electricity to end
users on non-domestic free markets. In addition, reve-
nues in 2011 include gains (totaling €429 million) from
the sale of a number of equity investments and from the
remeasurement at fair value of the assets and liabilities
of certain companies whose status with respect to the
requirements concerning control changed as a result of

transactions during the period.

The gross operating margin amounted to €17,717 million,
an increase of €237 million or 1.4% on 2010. In addition
to the positive impact of the gains on the disposals and
the fair value remeasurement noted above, the increase
reflects the improvement in the performance of the Sales,
Infrastructure and Networks, International and Renewa-
ble Energy Divisions, partly offset by declines in the mar-
gins of the Generation and Energy Management and Ibe-
ria and Latin America Divisions. The decline for the latter
Division partly reflects the effects of the sale at the end of
2010 of gas distribution and electricity transmission assets
in Spain, and the recognition in 2011 of the net-worth tax

in Colombia.

Operating income totaled €11,366 million, an increase of
1.0% from the €11,258 million posted in 2010, taking ac-
count of a rise of €129 million in depreciation, amortiza-

tion and impairment losses.

Group net income was €4,148 million in 2011, compared
with €4,390 million in 2010 (down 5.5%). The decline was
attributable to the rise in the tax liability for the year (re-
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flecting the adjustment of current and deferred taxation
following the changes in the rules governing the so-called

“Robin Hood Tax" in Italy), which more than offset the im-

provement in the operating and financial performance of

the Group.

Financial data

Millions of euro

2010

2011 restated
Net capital employed 99,069 98,790
Net financial debt 44,629 44924
Shareholders’ equity (including non-
controlling interests) 54,440 53,866
Group shareholders’ equity per share in
circulation at period-end (euro) 413 4.04
Cash flow from operations 11,713 11,725
Capital expenditure on tangible
and intangible assets @ 7,484 7,090

(1) The figures have been restated as a result of the completion of the process of
allocating the purchase price for the SE Hydropower acquisition.

(2) Does not include €105 million in capital expenditure of units classified as
"Held for sale” at December 31, 2011 (€97 million at December 31, 2010).

Net capital employed, including net assets held for sale of
€323 million, amounted to €99,069 million at December
31,2011, and was financed by total shareholders’ equity
of €54,440 million and net financial debt of €44,629 mil-
lion. At December 31,2011, the debt/equity ratio came to
0.82 (0.83 at December 31, 2010).
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Net financial debt came to €44,629 million, down €295
million on December 31, 2010. More specifically, cash
flows from operations and the disposal of a number of
non-strategic assets were partially offset by capital expen-
diture in the period and the payment of dividends.

Capital expenditure amounted to €7,484 million in 2011

(of which €6,845 million in respect of property, plant and

equipment), an increase of €394 million on 2010.
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Performance data by Division

Millions of euro Revenues Gross operating margin Operating income
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
Sales 17,731 18,697 561 483 141 58
Generation and Energy Management 23,146 17,540 2,182 2,392 1,590 1,832
Engineering and Innovation 397 608 12 14 9 10
Infrastructure and Networks 7,460 7.427 4,285 3,813 3,347 2,911
Iberia and Latin America 32,647 31,263 7,251 7,896 4,057 4,643
International 7,715 6,360 1,642 1,520 1,062 903
Renewable Energy 2,539 2,179 1,585 1,310 1,080 966
Parent Company 762 679 (38) (68) (52) (75)
Services and Other Activities 1,356 1,133 237 136 132 26
Eliminations and adjustments (14,239) (12,509) - (16) - (16)
Total 79,514 73,377 17,717 17,480 11,366 11,258
Capital expenditure
Employees (no.) (millions of euro)
2011 2010 2011 2010
Sales 3,745 3,823 90 62
Generation and Energy Management 6,334 6,601 432 648
Engineering and Innovation 1,327 1,339 4 5
Infrastructure and Networks 18,951 19,152 1,383 1,147
Iberia and Latin America 22,877 ™ 24,731 @ 2,491 ® 2,866 7
International 13,779 14,876 @ 1,450 © 1,210 @
Renewable Energy 3,229 2,955 @ 1,557 1,065 @
Parent Company 873 803 13 7
Services and Other Activities 4,245 4,033 64 80
Total 75,360 78,313 7,484 7,090
(1) Of which 113 in units classified as “Held for sale”.
(2) Of which 1,809 in units classified as “Held for sale”.
(3) Of which 503 in units classified as “Held for sale”.
(4) Of which 12 in units classified as “Held for sale”.
(5) Does not include €101 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.
(6) Does not include €4 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.
(7) Does not include €76 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.
(8) Does not include €10 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.
(9) Does notinclude €11 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.
Operating data
Italy Abroad Total Italy Abroad Total
2011 2010
Net electricity generated by Enel (TWh) 79.0 214.9 293.9 81.6 208.6 290.2
Electricity transported on the Enel distribution network (TWh) 246.0 189.0 435.0 247.0 184.6 431.6
Electricity sold by Enel (TWh) @ 104.2 207.6 311.8 113.4 195.6 309.0
Gas sold to end users (billions of m3) 4.6 3.9 8.5 5.5 3.4 8.9
Employees at year-end (no.) @ 36,842 38,518 75,360 37,383 40,930 7.313

(1) Excluding sales to resellers.

(2) Of which 113 in units classified as “Held for sale” at December 31, 2011 (2,324 at December 31, 2010).
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Net electricity generated by Enel in 2011 rose by 3.7 TWh
or 1.3%, with an increase in generation abroad (up 6.3
TWh) being partially offset by a decrease in generation in
Italy (down 2.6 TWh). More specifically, both in Italy and
abroad thermal generation increased while hydroelectric
generation diminished as a result of less favorable water
conditions. Abroad, nuclear generation also contracted,
essentially due to planned stoppages at the Spanish
plants.

Electricity transported on the Enel distribution network
came to 435.0 TWh, up 3.4 TWh or 0.8%, largely concen-
trated in Latin America thanks to the increase in demand

in that area.

Sustainability indicators

Electricity sold by Enel in 2011 rose by 2.8 TWh or 0.9% to
total 311.8 TWh. The increase is essentially attributable to
the rise in volumes sold abroad (up 12.0 TWh), partially
offset by a decline in volumes sold in Italy (down 9.2 TWh)
following the opening of the market.

Gas sold to end users amounted to 8.5 billion cubic meters
in 2011, with volumes sold decreasing in Italy, only partial-
ly offset by an increase in markets abroad.

At December 31, 2011, Enel Group employees totaled
75,360 (78,313 at December 31, 2010). The decrease of
2,953 is largely attributable to disposals of companies du-
ring the year. The number of employees at Group compa-
nies registered abroad came to 38,518 at the end of 2011.

2011 2010 Change
ISO 14001-certified net efficient capacity (% of total) 91 .2 82.7 8.5 10.3%
Average efficiency of thermal plants (%) 39.7 39.3 0.4 1.0%
Total specific emissions of CO, from net generation (gCO,/kWh_ ) 411 389 22 5.7%
“"Zero-emission” generation (% of total) 416 46.0 (4.4) -9.6%
Injury frequency rate 2.4 2.8 (0.4) -14.3%
Injury severity rate 0.11 0.13 (0.02) -15.4%
Serious and fatal injuries at Enel @ 12 25 (13) -52.0%
Serious and fatal injuries at contractors @ 46 61 (15) -24.6%
Average hours of training per employee 44.7 36.3 8.4 23.1%
Verified violations of the Code of Ethics ) 33 41 (8) -19.5%

(1) The output values used in calculating the indicators do not coincide with the values for net electricity generation reported in these consolidated financial state-
ments. For more information on the calculation method, explanations of the discrepancies and the assumptions used, please see the notes in the Sustainability

Report 2011 and, for greater details, the Environmental Report 2011.

(2) Aserious injury is an injury for which the prognosis is uncertain, unknown or greater than 30 days for recovery.
(3) In 2011, an analysis was performed of violations reported in 2010. As a result, there was a change in the number of verified violations reported in the 2010

Sustainability Report from 39 to 41.

The proportion of ISO 14001-certified capacity was equal
to 91.2% of total net efficient capacity at December 31,
2011, an increase of 10.3%. The rise reflects new certi-
fications of Enel OGK-5, Enel Green Power Hellas and a
number of Endesa thermal plants in Spain.

In 2011 the average efficiency of thermal plants rose by
about 1.0%, essentially due to the entry into service of
two combined cycle gas plants in Russia.

The increase in specific emissions of CO, is attributable
to the larger proportion of fossil fuels in the generation
mix, especially coal-fired generation, largely due to poo-
rer water availability in 2011 compared with 2010.

The injury frequency and severity rates were 2.4 and 0.11

22

Enel Annual Report 2011

respectively, decreases of 14.3% and 15.4% respectively
compared with 2010. The improvement is attributable to
constant information, training and awareness-raising ac-
tivities in recent years and the ongoing implementation
of measures to enhance workplace health and safety.
Serious and fatal accidents involving Enel personnel de-
clined by 52% compared with 2010. Serious and fatal
accidents involving the employees of contractors wor-
king for Enel fell by 24.6% compared with 2010, thanks
to ongoing implementation of measures to enhance
workplace health and safety in all stages of the tende-
ring process.

The average number of hours of training per employee
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rose by 8.4, from 36.3 to 44.7 (up 23.1%). The increase  of certain processes and the reduction of the number of
involved all countries, with an especially large rise in the injuries.
Renewable Energy and International Divisions, where Developments in reports received and verified violations

training was a key element supporting the restructuring  of the Code of Ethics were broadly in line with 2010.
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Overview of the Group's
performance and Tfinancial

DOSITION

Definition of performance indicators

In order to present the results of the Group and analyze
its financial structure, Enel has prepared separate reclassi-
fied schedules that differ from those envisaged under the
IFRS-EU adopted by the Group and presented in the con-
solidated financial statements. These reclassified sched-
ules contain different performance indicators from those
obtained directly from the consolidated financial state-
ments, which management feels are useful in monitoring
Group performance and representative of the financial
performance of the Group’s business. In accordance with
Recommendation CESR/05-178b published on November

,"4
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3, 2005, the criteria used to calculate these indicators are

described below.

Gross operating margin: an operating performance indica-
tor, calculated as "Operating income” plus “Depreciation,

amortization and impairment losses”.

Net non-current assets: calculated as the difference be-
tween “Non-current assets” and “Non-current liabilities”
with the exception of:

> "Deferred tax assets”;
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non

> "“Securities held to maturity”, “Financial investments in

funds or portfolio management products at fair value

nou

through profit or loss”, “Securities available for sale”
and “Other financial receivables”;

> "Long-term loans”;

> "Post-employment and other employee benefits”;

> "Provisions for risks and charges”;

> "Deferred tax liabilities”.

Net current assets: calculated as the difference between

“Current assets” and “Current liabilities” with the excep-

tion of:

> "Long-term financial receivables (short-term portion)”,
“Receivables for factoring advances”, “Securities”, “Fi-
nancial receivables and cash collateral” and “Other fi-
nancial receivables”;

> "Cash and cash equivalents”;

> "Short-term loans” and the “"Current portion of long-

term loans”.

Net assets held for sale: calculated as the algebraic sum of
"Assets held for sale” and “Liabilities held for sale”.

Net capital employed: calculated as the algebraic sum of
“Net non-current assets” and “Net current assets”, provisions
not previously considered, “Deferred tax liabilities” and “"De-

ferred tax assets”, as well as “Net assets held for sale”.

Net financial debt: a financial structure indicator, deter-
mined by “Long-term loans”, the current portion of such
loans and “Short-term loans” less “Cash and cash equiva-

uou

lents”, “Current financial assets” and “Non-current finan-
cial assets” not previously considered in other balance
sheet indicators. More generally, the net financial debt of
the Enel Group is calculated in conformity with paragraph
127 of Recommendation CESR/05-054b implementing
Regulation (EC) 809/2004 and in line with the CONSOB
instructions of July 26, 2007, net of financial receivables

and long-term securities.

Main changes in the scope of consolidation

In the two periods under review, the scope of consolidation
changed as a result of the following main transactions:

2010

> acquisition, on June 1, 2010, of control of SE Hydro-
power, which operates in the generation of electricity
in the Province of Bolzano. Control was acquired with

the transfer to the company of certain generation as-

sets of Enel Produzione. Despite holding only 40% of
the company, since the acquisition date the Group has
consolidated it on a full line-by-line basis under specific
shareholders’ agreements concerning the governance
of the company. Under those agreements, among other
things, control will be retained by the Enel Group until
the approval of the financial statements for the year
ending December 31, 2013, the date from which a num-
ber of changes in the company’s governance arrange-
ments are scheduled to take effect, giving rise to a tran-

sition from exclusive Enel control to joint control by the
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two shareholders. As a result of this change in the scope
of consolidation during the year, 2010 reflected the
performance of SE Hydropower operations for the final
seven months of the year only. As regards the financial
position, the Group elected the option envisaged under
IFRS 3 to allocate the cost of the business combination
to the fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed on a provisional basis.
During the course of 2011, the Group completed the al-
location of the transferred consideration. The effects of
the definitive allocation have been retrospectively pre-
sented as from June 1, 2010, in accordance with IFRS 3;
disposal, on July 1, 2010, of 50.01% of Endesa Hellas,
a Greek company operating in the renewables genera-
tion sector;

disposal, on December 17,2010, of 80% of Nubia 2000
(now Endesa Gas T&D), a company owning assets (ac-
quired during the year by Endesa Gas) in the gas trans-
port and distribution industry in Spain. The sale also
includes a 35% stake in Gas Aragon, which had previ-
ously been acquired by Nubia 2000.

2017

disposal, on February 24, 2011, of Compafiia Ameri-
cana de Multiservicios (CAM), which operates in Latin
America in the general services sector;

disposal, on March 1, 2011, of Synapsis IT Soluciones y
Servicios (Synapsis), which operates in Latin America in
the IT services sector;

acquisition, on March 31, 2011, of an additional
16.67% of Sociedad Edlica de Andalucia - SEA, which
enabled Enel Green Power Espafa to increase its hold-
ing from 46.67% to 63.34%, thereby acquiring control
as the majority shareholder;

loss of control of Hydro Dolomiti Enel as a result of the
change in that company’s governance structure, as
provided for in the agreements reached between the
two shareholders in 2008, which provided for the tran-
sition to joint control as from the date of approval of
the financial statements for 2010. As from that event,
the company is consolidated on a proportionate basis
(with the stake held by the Enel Group in the company
remaining unchanged at 49% both before and after
the change in governance arrangements) rather than

on a full line-by-line basis;
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> acquisition of full control (from joint control) of the as-
sets and liabilities retained by Enel Unidn Fenosa Reno-
vables (EUFER) following the break-up of the joint ven-
ture between Enel Green Power Espafia and its partner
Gas Natural under the agreement finalized on May 30,
2011. As from the date of execution of the agreement,
those assets are therefore consolidated on a full line-
by-line basis, as discussed in greater detail below;

> acquisition, on June 9, 2011, of an additional 50% of
Sociedade Térmica Portuguesa, as a result of which
the Enel Group acquired exclusive control of the com-
pany, whereas prior to the acquisition it had exercised
joint control. With the transaction, Enel Green Power
Espafia became the sole shareholder of the Portu-
guese company, which operates in generation from
renewables;

> disposal, on June 28,2011, to Contour Global LP of the
entire capital of the Dutch companies Maritza East |lI
Power Holding BV and Maritza O&M Holding Nether-
land BV. These companies respectively own 73% of the
Bulgarian company Enel Maritza East 3 AD and 73% of
the Bulgarian company Enel Operations Bulgaria AD;

> disposal, on November 30, 2011, of 51% of Deval and
Vallenergie to Compagnia Valdostana delle Acque, a
company owned by the Region of Valle d’Aosta, which
already held the remaining 49% of the companies in-
volved;

> acquisition, on December 1, 2011, of 33.33% of San
Floriano Energy, a company operating in the hydro-
electric generation sector, with the transfer of in-kind
and cash consideration by Enel Produzione. With the
transfer, the Enel Group acquired joint control of the
company, together with another two partners partici-
pating in the investment;

> acquisition, on December 1, 2011, of 50% of Sviluppo
Nucleare Italia, in which the Group already held a stake
of 50% giving it joint control with Electricité de France;
as from that date the company has been consolidated

on a line-by-line basis.

In the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2011,
“Assets held for sale” and “Liabilities held for sale” include
the assets and related liabilities of Endesa Ireland and oth-
er minor entities (including Wisco), as the state of negotia-
tions for their sale to third parties qualifies them for appli-
cation of IFRS 5. Accordingly, the decrease in these items
compared with December 31, 2010 essentially reflects the
above disposals carried outin 2011.
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Group performance

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change

Total revenues 79,514 73,377 6,137 8.4%
Total costs 62,069 56,177 5,892 10.5%
Net income/(charges) from commodity risk management 272 280 (8) -2.9%
GROSS OPERATING MARGIN 17,717 17,480 237 1.4%
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses 6,351 6,222 129 2,1%
OPERATING INCOME 11,366 11,258 108 1.0%
Financial income 2,693 2,576 117 45%
Financial expense 5,717 5,774 (57) -1.0%
Total financial income/(expense) (3,024) (3,198) 174 5.4%
Share of income/(expense) from investments accounted
for using the equity method 96 14 82 -
INCOME BEFORE TAXES 8,438 8,074 364 4.5%
Income taxes 3,080 2,401 679 28.3%
NET INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 5,358 5,673 (315) -5.6%
NET INCOME FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS o - - -
NET INCOME (Group and non-controlling interests) 5,358 5,673 (315) -5.6%
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests 1,210 1,283 (73) -5.7%
GROUP NET INCOME 4,148 4,390 (242) -5.5%
Revenues
Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Electricity sales and transport and contributions
from the Electricity Equalization Fund
and similar bodies 68,308 64,045 4,263 Revenues
Gas sold and transported to end users 3,624 3,574 50 .
Gains on the disposal of assets 71 127 (56) J[Qta ‘ | mg more
Ssrr]rltrejlsurement at fair value after changes in s ] s th a n %7 9 m | ‘ ‘ | O n
Other services, sales and revenues 7,153 5,631 1,522
Total 79,514 73,377 6,137

Revenues from electricity sales and transport and con-

tributions from the Electricity Equalization Fund and

similar bodies in 2011 amounted to €68,308 million, up

€4,263 million or 6.7% from the previous year. The growth

can mainly be ascribed to the following factors:

> an increase of €125 million in revenues from the sale
of electricity to end users, mainly as a result of higher
revenues from the free markets (€1,047 million), which
more than offset the decrease in revenues from the

regulated markets (€922 million). More specifically,

there was an increase in volumes sold to end users in
Latin America, Russia and France, associated with an in-
crease in average prices in all those areas, which more
than offset the decline in revenues in Italy;

an increase of €2,013 million in revenues from the
wholesale business; more specifically, the improvement
was mainly attributable to rising revenues from the sale
of electricity on the Power Exchange and higher sales
under bilateral contracts entered into by the generat-

ing companies in Italy;
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> anincrease of €1,861 million in revenues from electric-
ity trading;

> a decrease of €412 million in revenues from the trans-
port of electricity, due essentially to lower revenues
from the transport of electricity for other operators
(€683 million), which more than offset higher revenues
from the transport of electricity to the Group's end us-
ers (€271 million);

> an increase of €676 million in revenues from contribu-
tions from the Electricity Equalization Fund and similar
bodies, essentially attributable to the increase in contri-

butions for extra-peninsular generation in Spain.

Revenues from gas sold and transported to end users
rose by €50 million or 1.4% compared with 2010. The in-
crease reflected higher average sales prices, which more
than offset the impact of the decrease in volumes sold
compared with the previous year owing to the decline in
consumption as a result of developments in domestic eco-

nomic conditions.

Gains on the disposal of assets in 2011 amounted to
€71 million. They comprise the gains from the sale of a
portion of the assets of Enel Unién Fenosa Renovables to
Gas Natural (€44 million), the disposals of Deval and Vall-
energie (€21 million), the Spanish company Explotaciones
Edlicas de Aldehuelas (€18 million), CAM and Synapsis
(€15 million) and the sales of Enel Maritza East 3, Enel
Operations Bulgaria and their parent holding companies
(€12 million). Another factor was the transfer of the assets
of the business line that led to the acquisition (through
joint control) of San Floriano Energy (€15 million). The
positive impact of these gains was partly offset by the ad-
justment (totaling about €54 million) of the price for the
sale of the Spanish high-voltage grids and 80% of Nubia
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2000, which held the gas distribution business in Spain,
made the previous year and included in the same item,
which amounted to €127 million in 2010.

Gains from remeasurement at fair value after changes
in control came to €358 million in 2011 (no such item
for 2010). The gain was generated by the adjustment of
the value of Group assets and liabilities to their fair value,
specifically: (i) after the loss of control of Hydro Dolomiti
Enel as a result in the change in the company's corporate
governance structure, the residual assets and liabilities
pertaining to the Group (€237 million); (i) with respect to
those assets and liabilities already owned by Enel prior to
obtaining complete control of Enel Unién Fenosa Renova-
bles (€76 million), Sociedad Edlica de Andalucia (€23 mil-

lion) and Sociedade Térmica Portuguesa - TP (€22 million).

Revenues from other services, sales and revenues came

to €7,153 million in 2011 (€5,631 million in 2010), an in-

crease of €1,522 million or 27.0% on the previous year.

The increase is mainly attributable to the following factors:

> a rise of €546 million in sales of fuel for trading, includ-
ing shipping services, largely due to greater sales of gas
as a result of the large rise in volumes handled;

> an increase of €523 million in revenues from the sale of
goods, attributable to increased sales of CO2 emissions
allowances and green certificates;

> an increase of €173 million in revenues associated with
the emissions trading system in respect of the grant
awarded in 2011 (regarding 2010 and 2011) for the
commercial operation of unit 4 of the Torrevaldaliga
Nord power plant, which was recognized as a “new en-
trant” to the emissions trading system;

> an increase of €60 million in revenues for maintenance

of the Spanish high-voltage grid sold in December 2010.
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Costs

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Electricity purchases 29,045 24,714 4,331
Consumption of fuel for electricity generation 7,879 6,892 987
Fuel for trading and gas for sale to end users 3,722 2,655 1,067
Materials 2,400 2,321 79
Personnel 4,296 4,907 (611)
Services, leases and rentals 14,295 13,503 792
Other operating expenses 2,143 2,950 (807)
Capitalized costs (1,711) (1,765) 54
Total 62,069 56,177 5,892

Costs for electricity purchases rose by €4,331 million or
17.5% in 2011 compared with 2010. This mainly reflects
the impact of bilateral contracts (€3,076 million), the in-
crease in other costs for electricity purchases on domestic
and foreign markets (€1,103 million) associated with the
rise in demand and the increase in electricity purchases on
the Power Exchange (€152 million).

Costs for the consumption of fuel for electricity genera-
tion amounted to €7,879 million in 2011, up €987 million
or 14.3% on the previous year. The increase essentially
reflects the greater quantities consumed by the genera-
tion companies as a result of the increase in conventional
thermal generation in place of generation from other re-

sources, as well as the rise in average supply prices.

Costs for the purchase of fuel for trading and gas for
sale to end users came to €3,722 million, an increase of
€1,067 million or 40.2% compared with the previous year.
The change essentially reflects higher costs linked to trad-
ing and the rise in the price of gas, which is linked to the

trend in the prices of petroleum products.

Costs for materials amounted to €2,400 million in 2011,
up €79 million compared with the previous year. This de-
velopment is mainly attributable to the increase in costs

for provisioning EUAs and CERs.

Personnel costs amounted to €4,296 million in 2011,
down €611 million or 12.5% compared with the previous
year. The average workforce contracted by 4.6%.
Excluding the effects of the change in the scope of con-
solidation between the two years, which is discussed be-
low, and the impact of the costs associated with the con-
tract renewal, personnel costs declined by €541 million or
11.2% in 2011, while the average workforce contracted
by 2.4%. The decrease in labor costs is essentially connect-
ed with the completion of the early retirement incentive
program (which expired in December 2011), as well as the
positive impact of the agreement reached during the year
to eliminate electricity discounts for employees in service
in Italy.

The Enel Group workforce at December 31, 2011 totaled
75,360 (78,313 at December 31, 2010). The Group work-
force contracted by 2,953 during the period as a result of
the net balance of hires and terminations (a decrease of
491) and the change in the scope of consolidation (a de-
cline of 2,462) connected mainly with the sales of CAM,
Synapsis, Enel Operations Bulgaria, Enel Maritza East 3
and, as from December, Deval and Vallenergie, as well as
the different method used for consolidating Hydro Dolo-
miti Enel. Terminations are mainly the result of personnel
opting for the voluntary early retirement incentives.
Changes in the total number of employees with respect

to December 31, 2010 are summarized in the table below:
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Balance at December 31, 2010 78,313
Change in the scope of consolidation (2,462)
Hirings 4,230
Terminations (4,721)
Balance at December 31,2011 75,360

(1) Includes 113 in units classified as “Held for sale”.

Costs for services, leases and rentals amounted to €14,295
million in 2011, up €792 million or 5.9% compared with
2010. This essentially reflects increased electricity transport
costs (€265 million) as a result of higher system costs and
costs for services associated with electricity systemsin coun-
tries in which the Group operates (€398 million).

Other operating expenses totaled €2,143 million in
2011, down €807 million or 27.4% compared with the
previous year. The decrease was largely associated with a
decline in provisions for risks and charges for the year and
the revision of estimates for provisions recognized in prior
years. These effects were only partially offset by the recog-
nition of the net-worth tax in Colombia following the tax
reform introduced in that country with Law 1430/2010.

In 2011, capitalized costs came to €1,711 million (€1,765
million in 2010), virtually unchanged on the previous year.

Net income/(charges) from commodity risk manage-
ment showed net income of €272 million in 2011 (com-
pared with net income of €280 million in 2010). More
specifically, the net income for 2011 includes net income
realized in the period in the amount of €160 million (€342
million in 2010), and net income from the fair value meas-
urement of derivatives positions open at the end of the
period of €112 million (net charges of €62 millionin 2010).

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses in
2011 came to €6,351 million, up €129 million or 2.1%.
The increase is attributable to the net impact of higher
depreciation, amortization and impairment losses in the
amount of €327 million, partially offset by a decrease in
net writedowns of trade receivables in the amount of
€198 million. The increase in depreciation and amortiza-
tion was essentially the result of the rise in the installed
renewables generation capacity, while the rise in impair-

ment was attributable to the increase in the impairment
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losses on the value of the electricity distribution grids in
Argentina (€153 million) and that on the goodwill allo-
cated to the cash generating units of Enel Green Power

Hellas (€70 million) and Marcinelle Energie (€26 million).

Operating income for 2011 amounted to €11,366 mil-
lion, up €108 million or 1.0% compared with the previous

year.

Net financial expense came to €3,024 million in 2011,

a decrease of €174 million compared with the previous

year. More specifically, the reduction was associated with:

> a decline in average net financial debt, which more
than offset the effect of the general volatility in interest
rates on the unhedged portion of floating-rate debt,
for a total of €74 million;

> the negative adjustment of €104 million recognized in
2010 of interest for the deficit of the Spanish peninsu-
lar and extra-peninsular electrical system;

> the recognition in 2011 of default interest of €63 mil-
lion relating to a decision resolving a tax dispute in the
Group's favor in Spain.

These positive factors were partly offset by greater financial

expense recognized after the assignment of receivables.

The share of income/(expense) from investments ac-
counted for using the equity method showed net in-
come of €96 million in 2011, up €82 million compared
with the previous year. The result is essentially attributable
to the positive performance of the associated companies
in the Renewable Energy Division.

Income taxes for 2011 amounted to €3,080 million
(€2,401 million in 2010), equal to 36.5% of taxable in-
come, compared with 29.7% in 2010. This reflects the
adjustment of current and deferred tax following the
change to the rules governing the “Robin Hood Tax",

which amounted to €225 million.
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Analysis of the Group's financial position

Millions of euro

at Dec. 31, at Dec. 31,2010

2011 restated Change
Net non-current assets:
- property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 101,570 99,504 2,066
- goodwill 18,342 18,470 (128)
- equity investments accounted for using the equity method 1,085 1,033 52
- other net non-current assets/(liabilities) (365) (639) 274
Total 120,632 118,368 2,264
Net current assets:
- trade receivables 11,570 12,505 (935)
- inventories 3,148 2,803 345
- net receivables due from Electricity Equalization Fund and similar bodies (1,823) (1,889) 66
- other net current assets/(liabilities) (5,525) (3,830) (1,695)
- trade payables (12,931) (12,373) (558)
Total (5,561) (2,784) (2,777)
Gross capital employed 115,071 115,584 (513)
Sundry provisions:
- post-employment and other employee benefits (3,000) (3,069) 69
- provisions for risks and charges and net deferred taxes (13,325) (14,345) 1,020
Total (16,325) (17,414) 1,089
Net assets held for sale 323 620 (297)
Net capital employed 99,069 98,790 279
Total shareholders’ equity 54,440 53,866 574
Net financial debt 44,629 44,924 (295)

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (in-
cluding investment property) came to €101,570 million
at December 31, 2011, an increase of €2,066 million. The
rise is primarily attributable to investments in the period
(€7,484 million) and the change in the scope of consolida-
tion (€699 million), net of depreciation, amortization and
impairment losses (€5,575 million) and the negative impact

of exchange rate differences (€889 million).

Goodwill, amounting to €18,342 million, fell by a net
€128 million compared with December 31, 2010. This
change mainly reflects the negative effects of the adjust-
ment of goodwill denominated in currencies other than
the euro at the current exchange rate and the impairment
of goodwill associated with the cash generating units of
Enel Green Power Hellas and Marcinelle Energie (a total
of €96 million). In addition, the goodwill arising from the
acquisition of Endesa that was allocated to the “Endesa-
Iberian peninsula” cash generating unit was reduced
in reflection of a more accurate allocation of the price.

These decreases were partially offset by the adjustment

of the value of liabilities essentially associated with the
exercise of the put options on Enel Distributie Muntenia
and Enel Energie Muntenia, which is exactly reflected in
anincrease in the goodwill recognized in respect of those

acquisitions.

Equity investments accounted for using the equity method
amounted to €1,085 million, broadly unchanged com-
pared with December 31, 2010.

Other net non-current assets/(liabilities) at December 31,

2011 showed a net liability of €365 million, a reduction of

€274 million in the net liability compared with December

31, 2010. The change can be attributed to the following

factors:

> anincrease of €901 million in net non-current financial
assets essentially due to an increase in assets connected
with derivatives (€850 million) and the rise in financial
assets in respect of operations conducted under con-
cession agreements (€122 million). These factors were

partially offset by the decrease in equity investments in



other entities (€43 million), mainly due to the adjust-
ment to fair value of the investment in Terna;

> anincrease of €627 million in net other non-current lia-
bilities, which was mainly attributable to an increase in
the net positive balance between sundry payables and
receivables (€729 million). The change essentially re-
flects the reclassification from other non-current assets
to long-term financial receivables of Enel Di-stribuz-
ione's receivable in respect of extraordinary costs in-
curred for the early replacement of electromechanical
meters. In particular, the change in classification was
made necessary to ensure compliance with the provi-
sions of the Resolution of the Authority for Electricity
and Gas 199/11, which establishes a new procedure for
reimbursing such costs. The amount is no longer based
on the ordinary equalization system but is instead paid
annually by the Electricity Equalization Fund in a stand-
ard amount over a period of 16 years. This effect was
partially offset by a reduction in deferred operating li-
abilities (€65 million) and the increase in advances to
suppliers (€100 million), essentially in respect of the
payment on account by Enel Trade to In Salah Gas and
Sonatrach under the take-or-pay clauses of the con-

tracts with those suppliers.

Net current assets came to a negative €5,561 million at

December 31,2011, a decrease of €2,777 million compared

with December 31, 2010. This change is due primarily to

the following factors:

> a reduction of €935 million in trade receivables, essen-
tially due to the decrease in receivables for electricity
sales and transport associated with the change in vol-
umes of non-recourse assignments compared with the
previous year;

> an increase of €345 million in inventories, largely due
to the rise in inventories of fuel, green certificates and
natural gas. This increase was only partially offset by
the decline in inventories of CO, emissions allowances;

> an increase of €66 million in net receivables due from
Electricity Equalization Fund and similar bodies. The
change mainly reflects greater receivables in respect of
equalization mechanisms;

> adecrease of €1,695 million in other current assets less
related liabilities. This change is due to the following
factors:
- an increase of €291 million in net income tax liabili-

ties. The rise is essentially related to the recognition

of current taxes (net of prior-year adjustments) total-
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ing €2,793 million, partially offset by tax payments in
the amount of €2,371 million (notably payments on
account for 2012);

- an increase of €993 million in net current liabilities,
essentially due to the rise in net tax liabilities other
than current income taxes (€200 million), mainly at-
tributable to value added tax, an increase in paya-
bles in respect of acquisitions of equity investments,
largely associated with the exercise of the put options
on Marcinelle Energie, Enel Distributie Muntenia and
Enel Energie Muntenia (a total of €165 million), an
increase of €167 million in liabilities in respect of se-
curity deposits from customers, essentially due to the
application of Resolution 191/09, which established
an increase in security deposits (doubled in the case
of payment delinquency), and greater liabilities in
respect of derivative positions that have been closed
but not yet paid (€162 million);

- an increase of €411 million in net current financial li-
abilities, attributable to the increase in liabilities in re-
spect of net current derivatives (€294 million) and the
increase in payables and accruals for interest on loans;

> anincrease of €558 million in trade payables, mainly at-
tributable to the rise in the payable due to the Energy

Services Operator (ESO) in respect of the A3 rate com-

ponent to incentivize renewables generation.

Sundry provisions, totaling €16,325 million, declined

by €1,089 million compared with the previous year. This

change is connected primarily with the following factors:

> an increase of €175 million in net deferred tax liabili-
ties, mainly regarding the portion recognized through
the income statement, net of the effect of exchange
rate differences for the net liabilities of companies with
currencies other than the euro. These effects were par-
tially offset by the adjustment of net deferred tax assets
following the rate increase and extension of the scope
of the "Robin Hood Tax" in Italy;

> a decrease of €1,195 million in provisions for risks and
charges due to reversals (net of accruals) in the amount
of €137 million and utilization and other changes (in-
cluding changes in the scope of consolidation) in the
amount of €1,058 million;

> adecrease of €69 million in provisions for post-employ-

ment and other employee benefits.

Net assets held for sale amounted to €323 million at De-
cember 31, 2011 (€620 million at December 31, 2010),
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and essentially comprise certain assets held by Endesa in
Ireland that in view of the decisions taken by management
meet the requirements of IFRS 5 for classification as assets
held for sale. The change compared with the situation at
December 31,2010 essentially reflects the disposals carried
outin2011.

Net capital employed at December 31, 2011 came to
€99,069 million and was funded by shareholders’ equity
attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company
and non-controlling interests in the amount of €54,440
million and net financial debt of €44,629 million. At De-
cember 31, 2011, the debt/equity ratio was 0.82, com-
pared with 0.83 at December 31, 2010.

w
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Analysis of the financial structure

Net financial debt

Net financial debt and changes in the period are detailed in the table below.

Millions of euro

at Dec. 31, at Dec. 31,

2011 2010 Change
Long-term debt
- bank loans 9,918 15,584 (5,666)
- bonds 37,461 34,401 3,060
- preference shares 180 1,474 (1,294)
- other loans 1,144 981 163
Long-term debt 48,703 52440 (3,737)
Long-term financial receivables and securities (3,576) (2,567) (1,009)
Net long-term debt 45,127 49,873 (4,746)
Short-term debt
Bank loans:
- short-term portion of long-term debt 6,894 949 5,945
- other short-term bank debt 888 281 607
Short-term bank debt 7,782 1,230 6,552
Bonds (short-term portion) 2,473 1,854 619
Other loans (short-term portion) 305 196 109
Commercial paper 3,204 7,405 (4,201)
Cash collateral and other financing on derivatives 650 343 307
Other short-term financial payables 57 180 (123)
Other short-term debt 6,689 9.978 (3,289)
Long-term financial receivables (short-term portion) (5,632) (9,290) 3,658
Factoring receivables (370) (319) (51)
Financial receivables and cash collateral (1,076) (718) (358)
Other short-term financial receivables (824) (571) (253)
Cash and cash equivalents and short term securities (7,067) (5,259) (1,808)
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term financial receivables (14,969) (16,157) 1,188
Net short-term financial debt (498) (4,949) 4,451
NET FINANCIAL DEBT 44,629 44,924 (295)
Net financial debt of “Assets held for sale” (1) 636 (637)

Net financial debt amounted to €44,629 million at De-
cember 31, 2011, down €295 million compared with De-
cember 31, 2010.

Net long-term financial debt decreased by €4,746 million,
as the net result of a decrease in long-term debt in the
amount of €3,737 million and an increase in long-term fi-
nancial receivables of €1,009 million.

More specifically, bank loans totaled €9,918 million, a
decline of €5,666 million, due mainly to the repayments
by Endesa amounting to €1,156 million, to the reclassi-

fication of the portion of the Credit Facility maturing in
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2012 in the amount of €1,933 million, and to voluntary
repayments totaling €3,000 million in respect of the 2007
and 2009 Credit Facilities, of which:

> €1,484 million related to the tranche maturing in 2012;
> €1,042 million related to the tranche maturing in 2014;
> €474 million related to the tranche maturing in 2016.

The €10 billion five-year syndicated credit line establi-
shed in April 2010 by Enel SpA and Enel Finance Inter-
national was drawn in the amount of €1,000 million at
December 31, 2011. The bilateral credit lines establi-

shed by Enel SpA and Enel Finance International were
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drawn in the amount of €2,000 million at the same date.

Bonds amounted to €37,461 million, up €3,060 million
from December 31,2010, as a result of private placements
totaling €505 million and, on July 12 and October 24,
2011, multi-tranche bonds for institutional investors tota-
ling €4,000 million, structured as follows:
> €1,000 million fixed-rate 4.125% maturing July 12,2017;
> €750 million fixed-rate 5% maturing July 12, 2021;
> €1,250 million at arate of 4.625%, maturing June 24, 2015;
> €1,000 million at a rate of 5.750%, maturing October
24,2018,
offset by the reclassification (totaling €1,924 million) of the
current portion of bonds issued by Enel SpA in 2005, En-
desa Capital in 2007 and International Endesa BV in 2004.
In addition, during the year Endesa preference shares in the

nominal amount of €1,319 million were redeemed early.

Net short-term financial debt showed a net creditor posi-
tion of €498 million at December 31, 2011, a decrease of
€4,451 million from the net creditor position at the end of
2010. This was the result of a rise in short-term bank debt
of €6,552 million, a decrease in other short-term debt of

€3,289 million and a decrease of €1,188 million in cash

and cash equivalents and short-term financial receivables.

Specifically, short-term bank debt rose by €6,552 million
compared with December 31, 2010, mainly as a result of
the previously mentioned reclassification to short term of
the portion of the Credit Facility maturing in 2012 (€1,933
million) and the utilization of committed and uncommit-
ted credit lines by Enel SpA (€2,500 million).

Other short-term debt, totaling €6,689 million, include the
issuance of commercial paper by Enel Finance International,
Internacional Endesa, Endesa Capital and Sociedade Térmica
Portuguesa in the amount of €3,204 million, as well as bonds
maturing within 12 months in the amount of €2,473 million.
Finally, cash collateral paid to counterparties in over-
the-counter derivatives transactions on interest rates,
exchange rates and commodities totaled €1,076 million,
while cash collateral received from such counterparties
amounted to €650 million.

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term financial recei-
vables came to €14,969 million, down €1,188 million from
the end of 2010. In this regard, the securitization plan
launched by the Spanish governmentin 2011 for the reim-
bursement of the rate deficit led to the collection of about

€5,115 million of the associated financial receivables.
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Cash flows

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 5,342 4,289 1,053
Cash flows from operating activities 11,713 11,725 (12)
Cash flows from investing/disinvesting activities (7,400) (4,910) (2,490)
Cash flows from financing activities (2,509) (5,976) 3,467
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (74) 214 (288)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 7,072 5,342 1,730

(1) Of which cash and cash equivalents equal to €7,015 million at December 31,2011 (€5,164 million at December 31, 2010), short-term securities equal to €52 mil-
lion at December 31, 2011 (€95 million at December 31, 2010) and cash and cash equivalents pertaining to assets “Held for sale” in the amount of €5 million at

December 31,2011 (€83 million at December 31, 2010).

Cash flows from operating activities in 2011 amounted
to €11,713 million, virtually unchanged with respect to
the previous year. More specifically, the decline in uses of
cash in connection with the change in net current assets
in the two periods, as well as the rise in the gross opera-
ting margin, were essentially offset by the impact of the
reduction in net accruals to provisions on net income for
the period.

Cash flows from investing/disinvesting activities absorbed
funds in the amount of €7,400 million in 2011, while in
2010 they had absorbed cash totaling €4,910 million.

In particular, investmentsin property, plantand equipment
and in intangible assets, totaling €7,589 million, rose by
€402 million.

Investments in entities or business units, net of cash and
cash equivalents acquired, amounted to €153 million and
are largely accounted for by the acquisition of additio-
nal interests in Ampla Energia e Servicos, Ampla Investi-
mentos e Servicos and Electrica Cabo Blanco (companies
already controlled by the Group) and additional interests
in Sociedad Edlica de Andalucia and Sociedade Térmica
Portuguesa that led to the acquisition of control of tho-
se companies. Investments in entities in 2010, also net of
cash and cash equivalents acquired, essentially reflected
the acquisition of a number of companies operating in the
generation of electricity from renewable resources in Italy,
the acquisition of Enel Longanesi Development, which
operates in the natural gas extraction sector in Italy, the
acquisition of Padoma Wind Power, which is specialized in
the development of wind plants in California, and a num-
ber of smaller acquisitions.

The disposal of entities or business units, net of cash and

cash equivalents sold, generated cash flows of €165 mil-
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lion, essentially accounted for by the disposals of CAM and
Synapsis in Latin America, the disposal of Enel Maritza East
3, Enel Operations Bulgaria and the related holding com-
panies, the disposal of 51% of Deval and Vallenergie, and
the disposal of the Spanish company Explotaciones Edlicas
de Aldehuelas. In 2010 the item reported cash flows from
the collection of the balance on the sale of 51% of the
Russian company SeverEnergia, the receipt of the prices
for the sale of 50.01% of Endesa Hellas, the disposal of
80% of Nubia 2000, which holds the assets (acquired by
Endesa Gas) in the gas transport and distribution industry
in Spain, and the sale of the power transmission grids.
Cash flows generated by other investing/disinvesting acti-
vitiesin 2011 totaled €177 million, essentially attributable
to disinvestments in the period amounting to €196 mil-
lion, which were only partly offset by the acquisition of
additional interests in CESI.

Cash flows from financing activities absorbed cash in the
amount of €2,509 million, whereas such activities absor-
bed cash in the amount of €5,976 million in 2010. Cash
flows for the period under review essentially reflect the
cash requirement generated by the payment of dividends
in the amount of €3,517 million, partly offset by the chan-
ge in net financial debt in the amount of €1,059 million.
In 2010, they had benefited from the positive effects of
the sale (without ceding control) of 30.8% of Enel Green
Power, offset by the change in net financial debt and divi-

dend payments.

In 2011, cash flows from operating activities in the amount
of €11,713 million were used to cover the cash require-
ments of financing activities in the amount of €2,509 mil-

lion and of investing activities in the amount of €7,400
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million. The difference is reflected in the increase in cash
and cash equivalents, which at December 31, 2011 came
to €7,072 million (including that pertaining to net assets

held for sale in the amount of €5 million) compared with

€5,342 million at the end of 2010 (including that pertai-
ning to net assets held for sale in the amount of €83 mil-
lion). This increase was nevertheless affected by the effect

of negative exchange rate fluctuations (€74 million).



Results by Division

The representation of divisional performance presented here is based on the approach used by management
in monitoring Group performance for the two periods under review.

Results by Division for 20171 and 2010

Results for 2011M

Infra.  Iberia Services Eliminations

Eng. & & &Latin Renewable Parent and Other and
Millions of euro Sales  GEM Innov. Networks America Int’l Energy ~ Company Activities adjustments Total
Revenues from third
parties 17,568 17,131 60 3,212 32,082 7,071 1,927 401 62 - 79,514
Revenues from other
segments 163 6,015 337 4,248 565 644 612 361 1,294 (14,239) -
Total revenues 17,731 23,146 397 7,460 32,647 7,715 2,539 762 1,356 (14,239) 79,514
Net income/
(charges) from
commodity risk
management 44 232 - - 28 (22) (10) - - - 272
Gross operating
margin 561 2,182 12 4,285 7,251 1,642 1,585 (38) 237 - 17,717
Depreciation,
amortization and
impairment losses 420 592 3 938 3,194 580 505 14 105 - 6,351
Operating income 141 1,590 9 3,347 4,057 1,062 1,080 (52) 132 - 11,366
Capital expenditure 90 432 4 1,383 2,491 @ 1,450 @ 1,557 13 64 - 7,484

(1) Segment revenues include both revenues from third parties and revenue flows between the segments. An analogous approach was taken for other income and
costs for the period.

(2) Does notinclude €101 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.

(3) Does notinclude €4 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.
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Gross operating margin

in 2011
millions
Results for 2010 ¥
Services
Infra.  Iberia and Eliminations
Eng. & & &lLatin Renewable Parent Other and
Millions of euro Sales  GEM Innov. Networks America Int’l Energy ~ Company Activities adjustments  Total
Revenues from third
parties 18,499 12,173 106 2,991 31,022 6,203 1,934 358 102 (11) 73,377
Revenues from other
segments 198 5,367 502 4,436 241 157 245 321 1,031 (12,498) -
Total revenues 18,697 17,540 608 7,427 31,263 6,360 2,179 679 1,133 (12,509) 73,377
Net income/(charges)
from commodity risk
management (587) 788 - - 28 (29) 89 9) - - 280
Gross operating
margin 483 2,392 14 3,813 7,896 1,520 1,310 (68) 136 (16) 17,480
Depreciation,
amortization and
impairment losses 425 560 4 902 3,253 617 344 7 110 - 6,222
Operating income 58 1,832 10 2,911 4,643 903 966 (75) 26 (16) 11,258
Capital expenditure 62 648 5 1,147 2,866 @ 1,210 @ 1,065 @ 7 80 - 7,090

(1) Segment revenues include both revenues from third parties and revenue flows between the segments. An analogous approach was taken for other income and

costs for the period.

(2) Does notinclude €76 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.
(3) Does not include €10 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.
(4) Does notinclude €11 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.
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Sales

The Sales Division is responsible for commercial activities,
with the objective of developing an integrated package
of electricity and gas products and services for end users.
These activities are carried out by:

> Enel Servizio Elettrico for the sale of electricity on the

regulated market;

Operations

Electricity sales

> Enel Energiafor the sale of electricity on the free and safe-

guard markets and the sale of natural gas to end users.
The Division also includes the figures for Vallenergie, a
company that serves enhanced protection market cus-
tomers in the Valle d’Aosta region, up until the date of its
sale (November 30, 2011).

Millions of kWh

2011 2010 Change
Free market:
- mass-market customers 27,629 27,494 135 0.5%
- business customers " 10,555 13,210 (2,655) -20.1%
- safeguard market customers 1,999 4,505 (2,5006) -55.6%
Total free market 40,183 45,209 (5,026) -11.1%
Regulated market:
- enhanced protection market customers 63,565 67,763 (4,198) -6.2%
TOTAL 103,748 112,972 (9,224) -8.2%
(1) Supplies to large customers and energy-intensive users (annual consumption greater than 1 GWh).
Average number of customers

2011 2010 Change
Free market:
- mass-market customers 3,785,461 3,054,793 730,668 23.9%
- business customers (" 48,894 58,082 (9,188) -15.8%
- safeguard market customers 38,383 78,408 (40,025) -51.0%
Total free market 3,872,738 3,191,283 681,455 21.4%
Regulated market:
- enhanced protection market customers 24,998,901 26,171,196 (1,172,295) -4.5%
TOTAL 28,871,639 29,362,479  (490,840) -1.7%

(1) Supplies to large customers and energy-intensive users.

Electricity sold in 2011 amounted to 103,748 million kWh,
down 9,224 million kWh compared with the previous
year. More specifically, the decline seen in the free market

is attributable to changes in commercial policy, with a re-
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duction in volumes sold to business customers and a focus
on sales to mass-market customers. The drop in sales on
the regulated market is related to the contraction in the

customer base as customers move to the free market.
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Gas sales and customers

2011 2010 Change
Gas sales (millions of m?3)
- mass-market customers (" 3,419 3,718 (299) -8.0%
- business customers 1,162 1,785 (623) -34.9%
Total sales 4,581 5,503 (922) -16.8%
Average number of customers 3,150,968 2,902,739 248,229 8.6%

(1) Includes residential customers and microbusinesses.

Gas sales for 2011 amounted to 4,581 million cubic me-
ters, a decrease of 922 million cubic meters compared
with the previous year.

At December 31, 2011, customers served numbered some
3.1 million, an increase of about 250 thousand over De-
cember 31, 2010.

Performance
Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Revenues 17,731 18,697 (966)
Net income/(charges) from commodity risk management 44 (587) 631
Gross operating margin 561 483 78
Operating income 141 58 83
Employees at year-end (no.) 3,745 3,823 (78)
Capital expenditure 90 62 28

Revenues totaled €17,731 million in 2011, down €966

million compared with 2010 (-5.2%), due to the following

main factors:

> adecrease of €286 million in revenues on the free elec-
tricity market, mainly attributable to lower volumes
sold (down 5.0 TWh);

> a decrease of €129 million in revenues on the regulated
electricity market due to lower volumes sold on the en-
hanced protection market (down 4.2 TWh) and to the de-
cline in revenues from the component covering sales costs.
Another factor was the recognition of negative prior-year
items (€185 million), mainly due to the impact of the remu-
neration recognized in 2010 by the Authority for Electricity
and Gas (the Authority) for safeguard service operators to
cover the default risk in collecting accrued receivables;

> adecrease of €70 million in revenues on the natural gas
market, largely due to lower volumes sold (a decrease
of 922 million cubic meters), as well as the negative im-
pact of prior-year items relating to revised estimates of
sales made in previous years;

> adecrease of €56 million in connection fees.

The gross operating margin for 2011 amounted to €561
million, up €78 million compared with 2010. The increase
is essentially ascribable to:

> an increase of €166 million in the margin on the free

market for electricity and gas, essentially due to the in-
crease of €239 million on the electricity market (mainly
due to the greater profitability of the portfolio, which
more than offset the decline in quantities sold — a de-
crease of 5.0 TWh), only partially offset by the decrease
of €70 million in the margin on the gas market (mainly

due to the decline in volumes sold and the negative im-

pact of prior-year items);

a decrease of €88 million in the margin on the regu-

lated electricity market, due mainly to:

- a decrease of €24 million in the electricity margin,
mainly attributable to the decline in the average
number of enhanced protection market customers
following the opening of the market;

- the recognition of €152 million in negative prior-year
items, essentially attributable to the adjustment of the
revenues recognized by the Authority to cover the de-
fault risk in collecting accrued receivables on the safe-
guard market;

- a decrease €88 million in operating expenses, mainly
due to a decline in early retirement incentives, the
positive effects of the agreement reached during the
year to eliminate electricity discounts for employeesin

service in Italy, a reduction in allocations to the provi-
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sion for risk and charges and the impact of the recog-
nition in 2010 of prior-year expense in the amount of
€12 million for the fine levied by the Authority with
Resolution 66/07.

Operating income for 2011, after depreciation, amortiza-
tion and impairment losses in the amount of €420 million
(€425 million in 2010), amounted to €141 million, up €83

million compared with 2010. This performance is in line

with that of the gross operating margin.

Capital expenditure

Capital expenditure totaled €90 million, up €28 million
compared with 2010.

Generation

and Energy Management

The Generation and Energy Management Division oper-
ates in the field of electricity generation and energy prod-
ucts. The main activities of the Division are as follows:

> the generation and sale of electricity:

- thermal and schedulable hydroelectric power plants
in Italy through Enel Produzione, Hydro Dolomiti
Enel, SE Hydropower, San Floriano Energy and EN-
ergy Hydro Piave;

- trading on international and domestic markets, pri-
marily through Enel Trade, Enel Trade Romania, Enel

Trade Croatia and Enel Trade Serbia;

Operations

Net electricity generation

> the supply and sale of energy products through Enel
Trade:
- provisioning for all the Group's needs;
- the sale of natural gas to distributors;

> the development of:
- nuclear power plants, through Sviluppo Nuclear Italia;
- natural gas extraction projects, through Enel Lon-

ganesi Development;

- natural gasregasification and storage plants, through

Nuove Energie and Enel Stoccaggi.

Millions of kWh

2011 2010 Change
Thermal 50,708 47,744 2,964 6.2%
Hydroelectric 16,480 21,633 (5,153) -23.8%
Other resources 9 5 4 80.0%
Total net generation 67,197 69,382 (2,185) -3.1%

Net electricity generation in 2011 amounted to 67,197
million kWh, a decrease of 3.1% on 2010. The decrease
in hydroelectric generation in 2011 (down 5,153 million
kWh) was the result of poorer water availability during

the period (also at the national level) and the change in
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the method of consolidating Hydro Dolomiti Enel (down
1,462 million kWh), and was only partially offset by great-
er thermal production during the period, amounting to
2,964 million kWh, thanks in part to the contribution of

the new coal plant at Torrevaldaliga Nord.
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Contribution to gross thermal generation

Millions of kWh
2011 2010 Change

High-sulfur fuel oil (5>0.25%) 753 1.4% 754 1.5% (1) -0.1%
Low-sulfur fuel oil (5<0.25%) 311 0.6% 877 1.7% (566) -64.5%
Total fuel oil 1,064 2.0% 1,631 3.2% (567) -34.8%
Natural gas 18,771 34.8% 20,172 39.7% (1,401) -6.9%
Coal 33,578 62.2% 28,592 56.2% 4,986 17.4%
Other fuels 538 1.0% 467 0.9% 71 15.2%
TOTAL 53,951 100.0% 50,862 100.0% 3,089 6.1%

Gross thermal generation in 2011 amounted to 53,951 tion from fuel oil (down 34.8%), attributable to unfavora-
million kWh, an increase of 6.1% over 2010. The increase  ble developments in fuel prices, making this raw material
mainly involved coal-fired generation (up 17.4%), largely  uncompetitive, and to lower generation from natural gas
due to the higher output of the Torrevaldaliga Nord plant.  (down 6.9%).

This increase was partially offset by the decline in genera-

Net efficient generation capacity

MW
at Dec. 31, at Dec. 31,
2011 2010 Change
Thermal plants® 24,790 24,798 (8)
Hydroelectric plants 12,136 12,908 (772)
Alternative resources? 41 41 -
Total net efficient capacity 36,967 37,747 (780)

(1) Of which 1,574 MW unavailable due to long-term technical issues (1,551 MW at December 31, 2010).
(2) Of which 35 MW unavailable due to transformation activities (35 MW at December 31, 2010).

Performance

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Revenues 23,146 17,540 5,606
Net income/(charges) from commodity risk management 232 788 (556)
Gross operating margin 2,182 2,392 (210)
Operating income 1,590 1,832 (242)
Employees at year-end (no.) 6,334 6,601 (267)
Capital expenditure 432 648 (216)
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Revenues for 2011 totaled €23,146 million, up €5,606

million (32.0%) over 2010 due primarily to the following

factors:

> a €2,561 million increase in revenues from trading on
international electricity markets, due essentially to hi-
gher volumes sold (up 43.6 TWh), as well as a €389 mil-
lion increase in revenues from fuel trading, essentially
attributable to the increase in revenues from natural
gas sales (€375 million);

> a €916 million increase in revenues from electricity sa-
les, mainly due to higher revenues from sales to resel-
lers on the domestic market (up €493 million), greater
revenues from electricity sales (up 2.2 TWh) to other
Group Divisions (up €269 million), in particular to the
foreign Divisions, whose increased operations more
than offset the contraction in sales in Italy to the Sales
Division, and a €91 million increase in revenues from
sales on the Power Exchange, which mainly reflects an
increase in the average sales price, only partially offset
by lower sales volumes (down 0.5 TWh);

> a €1,180 million increase in revenues from CO, emis-
sion rights (certified emission reductions), of which
€354 million to the lberia and Latin America Division,
and a €167 million increase in revenues from the sale of
green certificates to the Energy Services Operator;

> a €173 million increase in revenues, attributable to the
grantin 2011 (which regarded 2010 and 2011) for the
commercial operation of unit 4 of the Torrevaldaliga
Nord power plant, which was classified as a “new en-
trant” in the emissions trading system. These revenues
were set in part by the Authority with resolutions ARG/
elt38/11 and 111/11 (€101 million) and in part by the
national committee for the management of Directive
2003/87/EC (€102 million). In 2010 these revenues,
amounting to €30 million, related to the emissions al-
lowances for 2009;

> a €64 million increase in revenues from fees provided
by the Authority’s resolutions on the operation of the
Power Exchange. More specifically, these revenues
mainly relate to remuneration for capacity payments,
transport capacity fees, as well as revenues from fees
to cover the cost of plants essential to system security;

> a €237 million increase in income due to the fair value
adjustment of the assets and liabilities of Hydro Do-
lomiti Enel, corresponding to the Group’s remaining

equity investment in that company following loss of
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control as a result of the change in the company’s cor-
porate governance arrangements;

> the recognition of a gain of €15 million on the acqui-
sition of a stake in San Floriano Energy following the

transfer of the associated business unit.

These positive factors were only partially offset by a decli-
ne of €122 million in revenues due to the change in the

method for consolidating Hydro Dolomiti Enel.

The gross operating margin for 2011 came to €2,182

million, down €210 million (or 8.8%) compared with the

previous year. If the gain from the fair value adjustment

of the assets and liabilities of Hydro Dolomiti Enel (€237

million) is excluded, the gross operating margin would fall

by €447 million. This decline is due to:

> a €444 million reduction in the generation margin es-
sentially due to the decrease in unit margins and po-
orer water availability, partially offset by the revenues
mentioned above concerning the classification of unit
4 of the Torrevaldaliga Nord plant as a “new entrant” in
the emissions trading system and an increase of €109
million in revenues for green certificates;

> an €84 million decrease in the margin on natural gas
sales and trading due mainly to the contraction in sales
prices on the business market (as a result of increased
competitive pressures) and on the mass market (fol-
lowing resolution ARG/gas 89/10);

> a €90 million decrease due to the effect of the change
in the method of consolidating Hydro Dolomiti Enel;

> a decrease of €156 million in accruals to the provision
for risks and charges, essentially attributable to the im-
pact of the recognition in 2010 of provisions for risks
associated with obligations under supply contracts;

> the recognition in the 4th Quarter of 2011 of the gain
on the transfer of the assets of the business unit that
led to the acquisition (through joint control) of San Flo-
riano Energy (€15 million).

Operating income amounted to €1,590 million (€1,832
million in 2010) after an increase of €32 million in de-
preciation, amortization and impairment losses, mainly
attributable to the writeback of certain trade receivables
in 2010, as well as higher depreciation and amortization
connected with the completion of the allocation of the
purchase price for SE Hydropower.

Report on operations



Capital expenditure

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Generation plants:
- thermal 285 519 (234)
- hydroelectric 119 89 30
- alternative energy resources 11 10 1
Total generation plants 415 618 (203)
Other investments in property, plant and equipment 17 30 (13)
TOTAL 432 648 (216)

Capital expenditure totaled €432 million, of which €415
million for generation plants. The main investmentsin 2011
regarded the continuation of work on thermal plants for
€285 million (including the completion of the coal conver-

sion of the Torrevaldaliga Nord plant in the amount of €42

million and sundry works at the Brindisi plant for €28 mil-
lion). Capital expenditure on hydroelectric plants regarded
the refurbishing/repowering of existing plants (including
the refurbishing of the Ancipa dam and the renovation of

the Lemie, Fucine and Soverzene plants).

Engineering and Innovation

The mission of the Engineering and Innovation Divi-
sion is to serve the Group by managing the engineering
processes related to the development and construction
of power plants, ensuring achievement of the quality,

temporal and financial objectives set for it. The Division

Performance

Millions of euro

also coordinates and supplements the Group's research
activities, ensuring the scouting, development and leve-
raging of innovation opportunities in all Group business
areas, with a special focus on the development of major

environmental initiatives.

2011 2010 Change
Revenues 397 608 (211)
Gross operating margin 12 14 )
Operating income 9 10 (1)
Employees at year-end (no.) 1,327 1,339 (12)
Capital expenditure 4 5 (1)

Revenues totaled €397 million in 2011, down €211 mil-

lion or 34.7% compared with the previous year. This de-

cline is essentially due to the following:

> a €167 million decline in plant development and con-
struction business with the Generation and Energy
Management Division, related mainly to the state of
completion of works for the coal conversion of the Tor-
revaldaliga Nord plant;

> a €43 million decline in business with E.ON Espana as
a result of the completion of activities at a number of
thermal power plants in Spain;

> a €24 million decline in plant development and con-
struction business with the companies of the Interna-
tional Division, connected with a decrease in activities
in Belgium (€25 million) and in Greece (€23 million),

only partially offset by an increase in Slovakia (€17 mil-
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lion), related to modernization work on the Mochovce itability of the business conducted during the two periods
3-4 nuclear plant, and in Russia (€7 million) due to the  under review.
opening of the Nevinnomysskaya plant.
Operating income for 2011 came to €9 million, down
The gross operating margin amounted to €12 millionin €1 million in line with the change in the gross operating

2011, down €2 million, due to the differences in the prof-  margin.

Infrastructure and Networks

The Infrastructure and Networks Division is responsible for > Enel Sole for public and artistic lighting.

operating the electricity distribution networks. The Division’s figures also include those of Deval, a company
The activities are essentially carried out by: that distributes electricity in the Region of Valle d’Aosta, until
> Enel Distribuzione for the distribution of electricity; the disposal date of November 30, 2011.
Operations

Electricity distribution and transport networks

2011 2010 Change
High-voltage lines at year-end (km) - 57 (57)
Medium-voltage lines at year-end (km) 345,586 344,029 1,557
Low-voltage lines at year-end (km) 767,341 765,024 2,317
Total electricity distribution network (km) 1,112,927 1,109,110 3,817
Electricity transported on Enel’s distribution network
(millions of kwh) 246,037 246,997 (960)

(1) The figure for 2010 reflects a more accurate determination of amounts transported and includes the Deval distribution grid.

The electricity distribution network increased by 3,817 km,  Electricity transported on Enel’s distribution network in 2011
essentially due to the sharp rise in connections of generators  totaled 246,037 million kWh, broadly in line (down 0.4%)
to distribution grids, with the number more than doubling  with the volume registered the previous year (volumes rose
compared with 2010 (in 2011 some 161,000 connections by 0.3% on an unchanged scope of consolidation basis, net
were installed, for a total of more than 10,000 MW). The ex-  of the electricity distributed on the Bolzano network, which

pansion was partially offset by the disposal of Deval. was sold to a non-Group party).
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Performance

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Revenues 7,460 7,427 33
Gross operating margin 4,285 3,813 472
Operating income 3,347 2,911 436
Employees at year-end (no.) 18,951 19,152 (201)
Capital expenditure 1,383 1,147 236

Revenues in 2011 totaled €7,460 million, up €33 million

or 0.4% compared with the previous year. This change is

essentially due to:

> anincrease of €220 million in revenues in respect of grid
connection fees (including equalization mechanisms);

> anincrease of €65 million in revenues from service con-
tinuity bonuses;

> an increase of €59 million in revenues and contribu-
tions in respect of white certificates;

> an increase of €43 million in revenues from the sale of
digital meters to the Spanish distribution companies
belonging to the Iberia and Latin America Division;

> anincrease of €21 million in sundry reimbursements;

> the recognition of income connected with the settle-
ment with F2i Reti Italia of a number of items related to
the sale of 80% of Enel Rete Gas in 2009 in the amount
of €17 million;

> positive prior-year items amounting to €335 million
relating to adjustments and revised estimates for pre-
vious years and the equalization of grid losses.

These positive effects were only partially offset by lower

revenues from the transport of electricity (€729 million), es-

sentially attributable to the impact of the recognition in the

previous year of the rate component to remunerate the early

replacement of electromechanical meters (€691 million).

The gross operating margin amounted to €4,285 mil-
lion, up €472 million or 12.4%, essentially attributable to:
> an increase of €220 million in grid connection fees

(including equalization mechanisms), as noted in the

comments on revenues;

> anincrease of €97 million in service continuity bonuses,
also taking account of a reduction in penalties;

> adecrease of €34 million in the margin on the transport
of electricity, associated with the negative effect of the
updating of distribution and metering rates, as well as
the change in the scope of consolidation following the
sale of the Bolzano grid, only partially offset by an in-
crease in volumes distributed;

> negative prior-year items in the amount of €319 mil-
lion, which among other things reflects the recognition
in 2010 of the rate component to remunerate the early
replacement of electromechanical meters;

> adecline in operating expenses, mainly attributable to:

- a decrease in personnel costs as a result of the de-
cline in net charges for early retirement incentives
(€258 million) and the positive effects of the agree-
ment reached during the year for the elimination of
electricity discounts for employees in service in Italy
(€85 million). These factors were partially offset by a
rise in unit labour costs (€25 million);

- a €169 million reduction in accruals to provisions for
risks and charges, relating largely to the reversal of
amounts accrued in 2010 with respect to connec-
tions for producers for renewable energy plants built
by December 31, 2010.

Operating income, after depreciation, amortization and
impairment losses of €938 million (€902 million in 2010),
amounted to € 3,347 million, up €436 million or 15.0%
compared with 2010.
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Capital expenditure

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Electricity distribution networks 1,334 1,101 233
Other investments in property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets 49 46 3
Total 1,383 1,147 236

Capital expenditure in 2011 totaled €1,383 million, up
€236 million on the previous year. It mainly regarded the

work done on the medium and high-voltage grids for the

connection of renewables plants and improvements in

service quality.

Iberia and Latin America

The Iberia and Latin America Division focuses on develo-
ping the Enel Group's presence and coordinating its ope-
rations in the electricity and gas markets of Spain, Portugal
and Latin America, formulating growth strategies in the
related regional markets.

Following the integration of Enel’s operations in the rene-
wable energy sector in Spain and Portugal, the activities
of Endesa Cogeneracién y Renovables (ECyR, now Enel
Green Power Espafa) and its subsidiaries were transferred
at the end of the 1st Quarter of 2010 from the lberia and
Latin America Division to the Renewable Energy Division.

Operations

Net electricity generation

Accordingly, the performance figures for those activities
for the 1st Quarter of 2010 are reflected in the Iberia and
Latin America Division, while the balance sheet figures for
the same business at December 31, 2010 are reported un-
der the Renewable Energy Division.

In 2011, other minor changes in the scope of the Division
were made, involving the Spanish ICT operations and the
company Compostilla Re (operating in the reinsurance
field), which were transferred to the Services and Other
Activities area as part of activities to improve the alloca-

tion of operating units within the Division.

Millions of kWh

2011 2010 Change
Thermal 73,549 59,238 14,311
Nuclear 25,177 27,619 (2,442)
Hydroelectric 39,855 42,920 (3,065)
Wind 132 647 (515)
Other resources - 60 (60)
Total net generation 138,713 130,484 8,229
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Net electricity generation in 2011 amounted to 138,713
million kWh, an increase of 8,229 million kwWh compared
with 2010.

More specifically, net electricity generation in Europe
in 2011 amounted to 7,878 million kWh essentially due
to the increase in thermal generation (up 45.5%), which
more than offset the reduction in nuclear generation due

to temporary shut-down of a number of plants (down

Contribution to gross thermal generation

8.8%), and the decline in hydroelectric generation owing
to poorer water availability in the period.

Net generation in Latin America rose by 351 million kWh,
mainly as a result of higher thermal generation in Argentina,
Chile and Peru, partially offset by lower hydroelectric genera-
tion (due to less favorable water availability in the period in
all the Latin American countries in which the Division oper-

ates, with the exception of Colombia and Peru).

Millions of kWh

2011 2010 Change
High-sulfur fuel oil (5>0.25%) 8,629 8.4% 8,492 9.4% 137
Low-sulfur fuel oil (5<0.25%) - - 661 0.7% (661)
Total fuel oil 8,629 8.4% 9,153 10.1% (524)
Natural gas 30,626 29.9% 27,363 30.2% 3,263
Coal 30,400 29.6% 17,623 19.4% 12,777
Nuclear fuel 26,289 25.6% 28,802 31.8% (2,513)
Other fuels 6,704 6.5% 7,736 8.5% (1,032)
TOTAL 102,648 100.0% 90,677 100.0% 11,971

Gross thermal generation in 2011 amounted to 102,648
million kWh, an increase of 11,971 million kWh. The gen-
eration mix used, which was weighted towards coal in Eu-

rope, essentially reflected the entry into force of Real De-

entry into service of new combined-cycle plants (CCGT).
By contrast, the increased generation from natural gas
reflects the price differential between the two periods

for certain fuels, as well as the entry into service of new

creto de Restrictiones por Garantia de Suministro and the  plants.
Net efficient generation capacity
MW

at Dec. 31, at Dec. 31,

2011 2010 Change

Thermal plants 21,997 22,169 (172) -0.8%
Hydroelectric plants 13,261 13,258 3 -
Wind plants 78 77 1 1.3%
Nuclear plants 3,526 3,514 12 0.3%
Alternative resources - 9 (9) -
Total net efficient capacity 38,862 39,027 (165) -0.4%

Net efficient generation capacity at December 31,2011 de-
creased by 165 MW. This decrease is essentially attributable

to the decline in thermal generation capacity in Europe

(down 137 MW) as a result of the reduced capacity of the
San Adrian gas plant, which more than offset the entry into

service of a number of thermal combined-cycle plants.
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Electricity distribution and transport networks

2011 2010 Change
High-voltage lines at year-end (km) 30,533 30,242 291
Medium-voltage lines at year-end (km) 270,833 267,010 3,823
Low-voltage lines at year-end (km) 322,563 315,349 7,214
Total electricity distribution network (km) 623,929 612,601 11,328
Electricity transported on Enel’s distribution network
(millions of kWh) 174,658 170,794 3,864

At December 31, 2011, the size of the electricity distribution
network of the Iberia and Latin America Division had in-

creased by 11,328 km, with the change mainly concen-

Energy transported in 2011 amounted to 174,658 million
kWh, an increase of 3,864 million kWh, essentially due to
the increased demand for electricity in the Latin American

trated in Latin America. countries.
Electricity sales
Millions of kWh

2011 2010 Change
Free market:
- Iberian peninsula 104,935 106,894 (1,959)
- Latin America 7,398 7,107 291
Total free market 112,333 114,001 (1,668)
Regulated market:
- Latin America 48,838 43,697 5,141
Total regulated market 48,838 43,697 5,141
TOTAL 161,171 157,698 3,473
- of which Iberian peninsula 104,935 106,894 (1,959)
- of which Latin America 56,236 50,804 5,432

Electricity sales to end users in 2011 came to 161,171 mil-
lion kwWh, up 3,473 million kWh compared with 2010. The
increase in sales in Latin America (particularly in Chile),

amounting to 5,432 million kWh as a result of higher de-

Performance

Millions of euro

mand for electricity, was partially offset by lower sales in
the Iberian peninsula (down 1,959 million kWh), essen-

tially due to Tarifa de Ultimo Recurso customers.

2011 2010 Change
Revenues 32,647 31,263 1,384
Net income/(charges) from commodity risk management 28 28 -
Gross operating margin 7251 7,896 (645)
Operating income 4,057 4,643 (586)
Employees at year-end (no.) " 22,877 24,731 (1,854)
Capital expenditure @ 2,491 2,866 (375)

(1) Includes 113 in units classified as “Held for sale” at December 31, 2011 (1,809 at December 31, 2010).
(2) Doesnotinclude €101 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale” at December 31,2011 (€76 million at December 31, 2010).
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The table below shows performance by geographical area.

Millions of euro Revenues Gross operating margin Operating income

2011 2010 Change 2011 2010 Change 2011 2010 Change
Europe 22,592 21,200 1,392 3,994 4,487 (493) 2,020 2,486 (466)
Latin America 10,055 10,063 (8) 3,257 3,409 (152) 2,037 2,157 (120)
Total 32,647 31,263 1,384 7,251 7,896 (645) 4,057 4,643 (586)

Revenues for 2011 rose by €1,384 million due to:

> a €1,392 million increase in revenues in Europe, es-
sentially due to increased revenues from electricity
generation (of which €665 million in higher grants for
extra-peninsular generation), partially offset by the
decline in revenues from distribution operations as a
result of the disposal of the power transmission net-
works in Spain and the transfer of Enel Green Power
Espafia to the Renewable Energy Division. Revenues
in Europe also reflected the transfer of the Division's
ICT operations and Compostilla Re to the Services and
Other Activities area;

> revenues remained essentially unchanged in Latin
America (down €8 million), as the negative impact of
exchange rate developments with respect to the euro
more than offset the increased quantities of electricity
sold in all the Latin American countries (especially Chi-
le), as well as the recognition of the gain (€15 million)
on the sales of CAM and Synapsis.

The gross operating margin amounted to €7,251 mil-

lion, down €645 million or 8.2% from 2010, as a result of:

> adecrease of €493 million in the gross operating mar-
gin in Europe, essentially due to the decline in the
generation and sales margin (€449 million). Another
factor was the negative impact (€384 million inclu-
ding the results of the disposals) of the change in the
scope of consolidation attributable to the transfer of
the power transmission grid, the natural gas distribu-
tion network in Spain, Enel Green Power Espafa, ICT
operations and Compostilla Re. These effects were
only partially offset by a reduction in personnel costs,
mainly due to lower charges for early retirement incen-
tives and the contraction in the average workforce, as
well as an improvement of €35 million in the margin
associated with remuneration of the extra-peninsular
system;

> areduction of €152 million in the gross operating mar-
gin in Latin America, which reflects the recognition in
2011 of the net-worth tax (€109 million) in Colombia

following the reform of tax law with the entry into for-
ce of Law 1430/2010, as well as exchange rate losses.
These effects were only partially offset by higher mar-

gins on generation and distribution.

Operating income in 2011, after depreciation, amortiza-
tion and impairment losses of €3,194 million (€3,253 mil-
lion in 2010), amounted to €4,057 million, a decrease of
€586 million compared with 2010. More specifically, the
reduction in depreciation, amortization and impairment
losses in 2011 includes the impact of the revision of the
useful lives of the plants of Compania de Interconexion
Energética (CIEN), a company providing interconnection
services between Brazil and Argentina, as well as the ef-
fect of the change in the scope of consolidation (essen-
tially attributable to the disposal of the Spanish high-volt-
age grid). This reduction was partially offset by the value
adjustment of €153 million recognized in 2011 in respect

of electricity distribution plant in Argentina.
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Capital expenditure

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Generation plants:
- thermal 514 880 (366)
- hydroelectric 242 138 104
- nuclear 161 163 (2)
- alternative energy resources - 2 (2)
Total generation plants 917 1,183 (266)
Electricity distribution networks 1,106 1,152 (46)
Other investments in property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets 468 531 (63)
TOTAL® 2,491 2,866 (375)

(1) Doesnotinclude € 101 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale” at December 31, 2011 (€76 million at December 31,2010).

Capital expenditure totaled €2,491 million, down €375
million compared with the previous year. In particular,
capital expenditure in 2011 concerned work on genera-
tion plants, including: in Spain and Portugal, maintenance

at nuclear plants and the construction of combined cycle
plants; in Latin America, among other projects, the con-
struction of the coal-fired Bocamina Il plant and the El
Quimbo hydroelectric plant in Colombia.

INnternational

The mission of the International Division is to support the
Group's strategies for international growth, as well as to
manage and integrate the foreign businesses outside the
Iberian and Latin American markets, which are managed
by the lberia and Latin America Division, monitoring and
developing business opportunities that should present
themselves on the electricity and fuel markets.
The chief geographical areas of operation for this Divi-
sion are:
> central Europe, where the Division is active in electricity
sales in France (Enel France), power generation in Slo-
vakia (Slovenské elektrarne), and the development of
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thermal power plants and support activities in Belgium
(Marcinelle Energie and Enel Operations Belgium);

> south-eastern Europe, with the development of gen-
eration capacity (Enel Productie) and electricity distri-
bution, sale and support activities in Romania (Enel Dis-
tributie Banat, Enel Distributie Dobrogea, Enel Energie,
Enel Distributie Muntenia, Enel Energie Muntenia, Enel
Romania and Enel Servicii Comune), and the develop-
ment of thermal plants in Greece (Enelco);

> Russia, with electricity sales and trading (RusEnergoS-
byt), power generation and sales (Enel OGK-5) and sup-
port services (Enel Rus) in the Russian Federation.
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Operations

Net electricity generation

Millions of kWh

2011 2010 Change
Thermal 47,316 49,743 (2,427) -4.9%
Nuclear 14,340 13,534 806 6.0%
Hydroelectric 3,791 5,179 (1,388) -26.8%
Other resources 25 20 5 25.0%
Total net generation 65,472 68,476 (3,004) -4.4%

Net generation by the International Division in 2011
amounted to 65,472 million kWh, a decrease of 3,004 mil-
lion kwWh compared with the previous year. This reduction
is attributable to the disposal of Enel Maritza East 3 AD in
June 2011 (with a reduction of 2,049 million kWh), lower

where greater nuclear generation was more than offset
by lower hydroelectric output due to poorer water avail-
ability during the period, and to lower output in Russia by
Enel OGK-5 (down 402 million kWh), essentially attribut-

able to the unavailability of a number of plants for main-

output by Slovenské elektrarne (down 553 million kWh),  tenance.
Contribution to gross thermal generation
Millions of kWh

2011 2010 Change
High-sulfur fuel oil (5>0.25%) 200 0.3% 202 0.3% (2)
Natural gas 23,242 35.5% 21,920 32.4% 1,322
Coal 26,672 40.7% 30,958 45.8% (4,286)
Nuclear fuel 15,411 23.5% 14,574 21.5% 837
Total 65,525 100.0% 67,654 100.0% (2,129)

Gross thermal generation in 2011 fell by 2,129 million
kWh to 65,525 million kWh. The resources that posted in-
creases, which included natural gas generation in Russia

and nuclear generation in Slovakia, were more than offset

Net efficient generation capacity

by lower coal generation as a result of the unavailability of
the Enel OGK-5 plants mentioned above and the disposal
of Enel Maritza East 3.

MW
at Dec. 31, at Dec. 31,

2011 2010 Change
Thermal plants 10,272 10,256 16
Hydroelectric plants 2,329 2,329 -
Nuclear plants 1,818 1,818 -
Alternative resources 9 4 5
Total net efficient capacity 14,428 14,407 21

Net efficient generation capacity increased by 21 MW in
2011, mainly attributable to the increase in generation ca-

pacity in Russia, only partially offset by the reduction in gen-

eration capacity with the disposal of Enel Maritza East 3.
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Electricity distribution and transport networks

2011 2010 Change
High-voltage lines at year-end (km) 6,584 6,583 1 -
Medium-voltage lines at year-end (km) 34,665 34,439 226 0.7%
Low-voltage lines at year-end (km) 48,695 48,218 477 1.0%
Total electricity distribution network (km) 89,944 89,240 704 0.8%
Electricity transported on Enel’s distribution network
(millions of kWh) 14,263 13,827 436 3.2%

At December 31, 2011, the size of the electricity distribu-
tion network showed an increase of 704 km, related es-

sentially to investments in Romania.

Electricity sales

Electricity transported increased by 3.2%, going from
13,827 million kWh to 14,263 million kWh in 2011.

Millions of kWh

2011 2010 Change
Free market:
- Romania 1,086 923 163 17.7%
- France 11,398 5,578 5,820 104.3%
- Russia 22,374 14,737 7,637 51.8%
- Slovakia 3,615 2,216 1,399 63.1%
Total free market 38,473 23,454 15,019 64.0%
Regulated market:
- Romania 7,699 8,103 (404) -5.0%
- Russia 268 6,316 (6,048) -95.8%
Total regulated market 7,967 14,419 (6,452) -44.7%
TOTAL 46,440 37,873 8,567 22.6%
- of which Romania 8,785 9,026 (241) -2.7%
- of which France 11,398 5,578 5,820 104.3%
- of which Russia 22,642 21,053 1,589 7.5%
- of which Slovakia 3615 2,216 1,399 63.1%

Electricity sold by the International Division in 2011 in-
creased by 8,567 million kWh, mainly attributable to an
increase of 5,820 million kWh in sales by Enel France as a
result of greater anticipated capacity available compared
with 2010 and the entry into force of the ARENH ("Accés

N

Régulé a ['Electricité Nucléaire Historique”) mechanism
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from July 1, 2011, to the increase of 1,589 million kWh in
volumes sold on the Russian market following the expan-
sion of operations into new regions and a rise of 1,399
million kWh in sales in Slovakia. This increase was only
partially offset by a decline in the sales of the Romanian

companies (down 241 million kWh).
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Performance

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Revenues 7,715 6,360 1,355
Net income/(charges) from commodity risk management (22) (29) 7
Gross operating margin 1,642 1,520 122
Operating income 1,062 903 159
Employees at year-end (no.) " 13,779 14,876 (1,097)
Capital expenditure @ 1,450 1,210 240

(1) Includes 503 in units classified as “Held for sale” at December 31, 2010.
(2) The figure does not include €4 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale” at December 31, 2011 (€10 million at December 31, 2010).

The table below shows performance by geographical area.

Millions of euro Revenues Gross operating margin Operating income

2011 2010 Change 2011 2010 Change 2011 2010 Change
Central Europe 3,876 2,732 1,144 863 769 94 615 447 168
South-eastern Europe 1,112 1,203 91) 289 318 (29) 110 153 (43)
Russia 2,727 2,425 302 490 433 57 337 303 34
Total 7,715 6,360 1,355 1,642 1,520 122 1,062 903 159

Revenues in 2011 came to €7,715 million, up €1,355 mil-  The gross operating margin amounted to €1,642 mil-
lion or 21.3%, compared with €6,360 million in 2010. This

performance was related to the following factors:

lion, an increase of €122 million, essentially as a result of
the following factors:

> anincrease of €1,144 million in revenues in Central Eu- > anincrease of €94 millionin gross operating margin in Cen-
rope, mainly associated with the increase of revenues tral Europe, essentially attributable to the change between

in Slovakia (€768 million) and France (€376 million), the two periods in the estimated liability for nuclear de-

essentially due to an increase in volumes sold. This is
accompanied by the entry into effect of the ARENH me-
chanism in France, which provides access to a greater
capacity at requlated prices;

anincrease of €302 million in revenues in Russia, mainly
attributable to the rise in unit sales prices for Enel OGK-
5 and RusEnergoSbyt;

a decrease of €91 million in revenues in south-eastern
Europe as a result of the change in the scope of consoli-
dation after the sale of Enel Maritza East 3, Enel Opera-
tions Bulgaria and their holding companies in June 2011
and the decline in revenues of the Romanian sales com-
panies as a result of the greater opening of the market.
These effects were only partially offset by the gain on

the above disposal in the amount of €12 million.

commissioning and a number of contractual obligations
pertaining to Slovenské elektrarne (a total of €100 million);
an increase of €57 million in the gross operating mar-
gin in Russia, the joint effect of the rise in the margin
of RusEnergoSbyt (€43 million) and Enel OGK-5 (€14
million) as a result of the rise in the average sales prices;
a decrease in the margin in south-eastern Europe as a
result of the exit of the Division’s Bulgarian companies
from the scope of consolidation, which more than of-

fset the gain on their sale (€12 million).

Operating income in 2011 amounted to €1,062 million,

an increase of €159 million over the previous year, tak-

ing account of a decrease of €37 million in depreciation,

amortization and impairment losses.
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Capital expenditure

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Generation plants:
- thermal 473 419 54
- hydroelectric 9 1 8
- nuclear 717 498 219
- alternative energy resources - 5 (5)
Total generation plants 1,199 923 276
Electricity distribution networks 228 267 (39)
Other investments in property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets 23 20 3
TOTAL® 1,450 1,210 240

(1) Does notinclude €4 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale” at December 31,2011 (€10 million at December 31, 2010).

Capital expenditure came to €1,450 million, up €240 mil-
lion from the previous year. The change is essentially at-

tributable to greater capital expenditure on nuclear gen-

eration plants (associated with Slovenské elektrarne) and
on thermal plants (combined cycle plants in Russia).

Renewable Energy

The Renewable Energy Division has the mission of devel-

oping and managing operations for the generation of

electricity from renewable resources, ensuring their inte-

gration in line with the Enel Group's strategies. The geo-

graphical areas of operation for this Division are:

> Italy and the rest of Europe, with power generation
from non-schedulable hydroelectric plants, as well as
geothermal, wind and solar plants in Italy (Enel Green
Power and other minor companies), Greece (Enel Gre-
en Power Hellas), France (Enel Green Power France),
Romania (Enel Green Power Romania) and Bulgaria
(Enel Green Power Bulgaria), and plant and franchising
activities in Italy (Enel.si);

> |beria and Latin America, with power generation from

renewable sources in Spain and Portugal (Enel Green

5 6 Enel Annual Report 2011

Power Espaiia, which merged with Enel Union Fenosa
Renovablesin 2011) and Latin America (Enel Green Po-
wer Latin America);
> North America, with power generation from renewa-
ble sources (Enel Green Power North America).
Following the integration of Enel’s operations in the re-
newable energy sector in Spain and Portugal at the end
of the 1st Quarter of 2010, ECyR (now Enel Green Power
Espana) — whose results were reported in those for Iberia
and Latin America Division until the reorganization — be-
came part of the Renewable Energy Division.
Finally, Enel Green Power Bulgaria, which was classified
among “assets held for sale” at December 31, 2010, did
not meet the requirements for such classification under
IFRS 5 at December 31, 2011.

Report on operations



Operations

Net electricity generation

Millions of kWh

2011 2010 Change
Italy:
Hydroelectric 5,664 6,435 (771) -12.0%
Geothermal 5,300 5,029 271 5.4%
Wind 806 722 84 11.6%
Other resources 21 1 20 -
Total net generation in Italy 11,791 12,187 (396) -3.2%
International:
Hydroelectric 4,433 4,635 (202) -4.4%
Geothermal 268 248 20 8.1%
Wind 5,336 4,204 1,132 26.9%
Other resources 652 560 92 16.4%
Total net generation abroad 10,689 9,647 1,042 10.8%
TOTAL 22,480 21,834 646 3.0%

Net electricity generation in 2011 increased by 646 million
kWh (up 3.0%) to reach 22,480 million kWh. The increase
is attributable to a rise of 1,042 million kWh in generation
abroad, where wind output benefitted from the change in
the scope of consolidation in respect of the acquisition (from
the Iberia and Latin America Division) of Enel Green Power

Espafa, the opening of wind farms in the rest of Europe and

Net efficient generation capacity

greater generation by wind farms in the United States. These
effects were partially offset by lower hydroelectric output
due to poorer water availability during the period.

Net electricity generation in Italy in 2011 fell by 396 million
kWh compared with the previous year, due to a 771 million
kWh decrease in hydroelectric generation, which was only

partially offset by higher geothermal and wind generation.

MW
at Dec. 31, at Dec. 31,
2011 2010 Change

Italy:

Hydroelectric plants 1,511 1,509 2 0.1%
Geothermal plants 722 728 (6) -0.8%
Wind plants 623 532 91 17.1%
Other resources 59 6 53 -
Total net efficient capacity in Italy 2,915 2,775 140 5.0%
International:

Hydroelectric plants 1,028 1,030 (2) -0.2%
Geothermal plants 47 47 - -
Wind plants 2,918 2,122 796 37.5%
Other resources 171 128 43 33.6%
Total net efficient capacity abroad 4,164 3,327 837 25.2%
TOTAL 7,079 6,102 977 16.0%

(1) Of which 42 MW regarding units classified as “Held for sale” at December 31, 2010.

Total net efficient capacity showed an increase of 977 MW, of which 837 MW abroad.
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Performance

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Revenues 2,539 2,179 360
Net income/(charges) from commodity risk management (10) 89 (99)
Gross operating margin 1,585 1,310 275
Operating income 1,080 966 114
Employees at year-end (no.) " 3,229 2,955 274
Capital expenditure @ 1,557 1,065 492

(1) Includes 12 in units classified at “Held for sale” at December 31, 2010.

(2) Does notinclude € 11 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale” at December 31, 2010.

The table below shows performance by geographical area.

Millions of euro Revenues Gross operating margin Operating income

2011 2010 Change 2011 2010 Change 2011 2010 Change
[taly and the rest
of Europe 1,471 1,458 13 905 890 15 649 724 (75)
Iberia and Latin America 883 576 307 573 336 237 376 206 170
North America 185 145 40 107 84 23 55 36 19
Total 2,539 2,179 360 1,585 1,310 275 1,080 966 114

Revenues rose by €360 million (up 16.5%), going from

€2,179 million to €2,539 million. This change is due to:

> an increase of €307 million in revenues in the Iberian
peninsula and in Latin America due mainly to:

- the adjustment to fair value of the net assets of Socie-
dad Edlica de Andalucia (SEA) and TP - Sociedade Térmi-
ca Portuguesa (TP) with respect to the portion held prior
to the acquisition of an additional stake in the company
that gave Enel full control (€45 million), as well as the re-

measurement at fair value of the net assets already held

- a €27 million increase in revenues from the rest of
Europe;

- a decrease in revenues from generation in [taly,
mainly attributable to lower hydroelectric genera-
tion, the expiry of the subsidized CIP 6 mechanism
and the decline in average sales prices;

- a €78 million decrease in revenues for Enel.si, mainly
associated with the reduction in sales of photovoltaic

panels.

in Enel Unidn Fenosa Renovables (€76 million);

- the recognition of a gain of €44 million on the sale
of the assets of Enel Unién Fenosa Renovables to Gas
Natural and the gain of €18 million on the sale of Ex-
plotaciones Edélicas de Aldehuelas;

- the change in the scope of consolidation for SEA and
TP already mentioned and the higher average sales

prices;

> anincrease of €40 million in revenues in North America,

mainly attributable to a number of insurance payments
and the indemnity received from the Canadian autho-
rities in settlement of a dispute, as well as higher volu-
mes sold;

an increase of €13 million in revenues in Italy and the

rest of Europe, essentially as a result of:
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The gross operating margin amounted to €1,585 mil-

lion, up €275 million or 21.0% compared with 2010. This

increase is attributable to:

> a €237 million increase in the margin in the lberian pe-
ninsula and in Latin America attributable to the reme-
asurement at fair value mentioned above and gains on
sales, as noted in the comments on revenues, in addi-
tion to higher generation margins achieved in Spain as
a result of higher average sales prices;

> a €23 million increase in the margin in North America,
mainly attributable to the factors noted under reve-
nues above;

> a €15 million increase in the margin achieved in Italy
and the rest of Europe, due mainly to higher sales

volumes and average sales prices, which more than

Report on operations



offset the rise in costs for personnel and services,
partly associated with the expansion in installed ca-

pacity.

Capital expenditure

Millions of euro

Operating income totaled €1,080 million, an increase of
€114 million, despite an increase of €161 million in depre-
ciation, amortization and impairment losses, essentially at-

tributable to the change in the scope of consolidation.

2011 2010 Change
Generation plants:
- hydroelectric 146 153 (7)
- geothermal 113 174 (61)
- alternative energy resources 1,183 712 471
Total generation plants 1,442 1,039 403
Other investments in property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets 115 26 89
TOTAL " 1,557 1,065 492

(1) Does notinclude €11 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale” at December 31, 2010.

Capital expenditure in 2011 totaled €1,557 million, up
€492 million compared with the previous year.
Operating investments in the period regarded wind plants

in Italy and Europe, Iberia and Latin America, and North

America (€948 million), solar plants in Italy, Greece and
North America (€235 million), hydroelectric plants in Italy,
Guatemala, Costa Rica and North America (€146 million)
and geothermal plants in Italy and Chile (€113 million).
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Parent Company, Services and Other Activities

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Parent Company
Revenues 762 679 83
Gross operating margin (38) (68) 30
Operating income (52) (75) 23
Employees at year-end (no.) 873 803 70
Capital expenditure 13 7 6
Services and Other Activities
Revenues 1,356 1,133 223
Gross operating margin 237 136 101
Operating income 132 26 106
Employees at year-end (no.) 4,245 4,033 212
Capital expenditure 64 80 (16)

Parent Company

In its capacity as an industrial holding company, Enel SpA
defines strategic targets for the Group and coordinates the
activities of subsidiaries.

In addition, Enel SpA manages central treasury opera-
tions and insurance risk coverage, providing assistance
and guidelines on organization, personnel management
and labor relations, accounting, administrative, fiscal, le-
gal and corporate matters. In addition, until December 31,
2011, Enel also held a contract with Alpiqg (formerly Atel)

for the import of electricity on the Swiss border.

Performance

Revenues in 2011 amounted to €762 million, an increase

of €83 million over the previous year (up 12.2%), mainly at-

tributable to:

> a €38 million increase in revenues for support and staff
activities performed by the Parent Company for the

Group companies;

60

Enel Annual Report 2011

> a €27 million increase in revenues from the sale of elec-
tricity to the Single Buyer, essentially ascribable to a rise
in the average sales prices, as quantities sold were vir-
tually unchanged;

> the effect of the recognition of the gain on the sale of
51% of Deval in 2011 (€21 million).

The gross operating margin in 2011 was a negative €38
million, an improvement of €30 million. This development
is largely attributable to the recognition of the gain men-
tioned above, an improvement in operating efficiency,

and to anincrease in the margin on electricity (€1 million).
Operating income showed a loss of €52 million, an im-

provement of €23 million compared with 2010, in line

with developments in the gross operating margin.
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Services and Other Activities

The primary purpose of the Services and Other Activities area
is to provide competitive services to the companies of the
Group, such as real estate and facility management services,
IT services, personnel training and administration, general

administrative services, and factoring and insurance services.

Performance

Revenues for the Services and Other Activities area in

2011 came to €1,356 million, up €223 million compared

with 2010. The increase essentially reflects:

> higher revenues for IT services following the transfer of
ICT operations from the lberia and Latin America Divi-
sion for €157 million;

> higher revenues for telephony services for Group com-
panies;

> higher revenues for insurance services related to the
effect of the change in the scope of consolidation asso-
ciated with Compostilla Re.

These increases were partially offset by a decrease in rev-

enues for construction contracts, relating to IT projects,
mainly due to the reduction in the order backlog between
the two periods.

The gross operating margin in 2011 amounted to €237

million, up €101 million or 74.3% over the previous year,

essentially as a result of:

> the positive effect of margins on contracts;

> the revised estimate of liabilities for early employee re-
tirement incentives (€23 million);

> the reversal of the liability recognized in previous years
for electricity discounts for employees in service in Italy
following the agreement reached in 2011 to eliminate
the benefit;

> the higher margin on insurance services, relating to the

change in the scope of consolidation mentioned above.
Operating income in 2011 amounted to €132 million, up

€106 million over 2010, in line with developments in the

gross operating margin.
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Significant eventsin 2017

/

January

Agreement for development
of geothermal energy in Turkey

On January 24, 2011, Enel Green Power (EGP) reached
an agreement with the Turkish group Uzun for the deve-
lopment of geothermal plants in Turkey. In particular, the
agreement provides for the establishment of a research
and exploration company, majority owned and managed
by EGP, with a minority stake to be held by Meteor, a com-
pany 70% owned by Uzun and 30% owned by the Turkish
geothermal consultancy G-Energy.

The new company will hold a package of 142 exploration
licenses in the west of the country, where it will carry out
surface and deep exploration activities with the aim of fin-
ding geothermal resources suitable for the generation of
electricity and heat.

The licenses were acquired by Meteor under a law which
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allows private parties to invest in research for geothermal
resources with a view to exploiting them for electricity, he-
ating and in agriculture.

EGP will finance the initial surface exploration with a view
to identifying the areas most suitable for the development
of geothermal projects, resulting in what could be one of
the most important centers of geothermal activity in Tur-
key. Meteor will participate in EGP’s investments in both
surface and deep exploration on a pro-rata basis.
Individual companies (with EGP again the majority sha-
reholder) will then be formed to develop each geothermal

project in the various areas involved.
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January

Partial repayment
of Credit Facility Agreement

With effect from January 31, 2011, a voluntary early re-
payment was made on the Credit Facility Agreement held
by Enel Finance International and Enel SpA, of which:

> €1,484 million related to the tranche maturing in 2012;
> €1,042 million related to the tranche maturing in 2014;
> €474 million related to the tranche maturing in 2016.

/

February

Sale of CAM and Synapsis

On February 24, 2011, the disposal to the Peruvian com-
pany Grana y Montero of Compafia Americana de Mul-
tiservicios (CAM) was completed at a price of $20 million
(€14 million at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of
the transaction). On March 1, 2011, the disposal of Synap-
sis IT Solucionesy Servicios (Synapsis) to Riverwood Capital
was completed at a price of $52 million (€38 million at the

exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction).
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/

March

Bond issue for institutional investors

On March 2, 2011, the Board of Directors of Enel SpA, as

part of the strategy to extend the average maturity of the

Group's consolidated debt and to optimize the profile of

its medium and long-term maturities, approved the issue

by December 31, 2011 of one or more bonds, to be placed

with institutional investors, up to a maximum amount of

€1 billion.

In execution of the Board resolution, the Dutch subsidiary

Enel Finance International undertook the following place-

ments (guaranteed by the Parent Company) with institu-

tional investors:

> two private placements in March 2011 totaling €200
million, with a weighted average maturity of about 20
years and an average rate of about 5.78%;

> abondissue on May 27, 2011 for a total of 250 million
Swiss francs (about €205 million), with a weighted ave-
rage maturity of 6.3 years and with a euro swap at an
average rate of 3.96%;

> a private placement on June 6, 2011 for a total of 11.5
billion yen (about €100 million), with a maturity of 7
years and with a euro swap at a rate of 3.915%

On June 16, 2011, the Board of Directors of Enel SpA ap-
proved, as part of the maturity extension strategy, the is-
sue of one or more bonds by December 31, 2012, for a
total of up to €5 billion. The bonds will be placed with
institutional or retail investors, depending upon the op-
portunities presented by the market. The bonds may be
issued directly by Enel SpA or by its Dutch subsidiary Enel
Finance International (guaranteed by the Parent Com-
pany), depending upon the opportunities this second op-
tion may present for placement of the bonds on foreign
regulated markets.

At the same time, the Board of Directors also revoked its
resolution of March 2, 2011, without prejudice to the va-
lidity and the effects of the issues carried out in execution
of that resolution.
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1

March

Acquisition of additional stakes in CESI

On March 11, 2011, Enel SpA acquired E.ON Produzione's
entire holding in CESI, equal to 3.9% (134,033 shares). On
March 25, 2011, additional holdings in CESI were acquired
from Edison, Edipower, Iren Energia and A2A, totaling 9.6%
of share capital (328,432 shares).

Finally, on November 22, 2011, Enel SpA acquired the 1%
stake in CESI held by Sogin. Following the transactions, Enel
SpA holds 41.94% of CESI.

S|

March

Agreement for the acquisition of Sociedad
Edlica de Andalucia

On March 31, 2011 Enel Green Power Espafia signed an
agreement to acquire the 16.67% stake held by DEPSA
(Desarrollos Edlicos Promocidn SA) in Sociedad Edlica de
Andalucia (SEA).

The transaction raises Enel Green Power Espafia’s interest
in SEA from 46.67% to 63.34%, giving it full control as
SEA's majority shareholder.

SEAisthe owner of two wind farms, Planta Edlica del Sur with
42 MW and Energia Edlica del Estrecho with 32 MW, with a
total capacity of 74 MW and an annual output of 256,000
MWh. Both plants are located in the Province of Cadiz.

Report on operations



oy

April

Agreement for the purchase
of a mineral interest in Algeria

On April 27,2011, Enel reached an agreement for the pur-
chase of 18.375% of the mineral interest in respect of the
Isarene Permit (Algeria) from Irish company Petroceltic In-
ternational. The permit covers the Ain Tsila field, called by
international consulting firm IHS one of the ten biggest
gas findsin 2009 and by far the largest discovery in Algeria
in recent years.

Petroceltic, which is engaged in hydrocarbon exploration
and production in Algeria, Tunisia and Italy, will continue
to operate the field. Enel and Petroceltic will conduct a
joint appraisal of Isarene in order to quantify and manxi-
mize the reserves contained with the field. Once this work
is completed, Enel and Petroceltic will have to present a
field development plan to Sonatrach, an Algerian state-
owned company and a 25% partner in the accord. They
will then submit an application to Algerian authorities for
authorization to develop and extract gas from the field.

Gas production is expected to startin 2017.

/0

May

New gas storage site at Romanengo

On May 26, 2011, Enel Stoccaggi, a joint venture between
Enel (51%) and F2i (49%), received a positive environmen-
tal impact assessment subject to conditions for its “Con-
version of Romanengo (Cremona) field to natural gas sto-
rage” project.

The assessment, issued by the Ministry for the Environment
in conjunction with the Ministry of Cultural Heritage, with
the approval of local governments and other interested
agencies, follows the feasibility authorization already re-

ceived by the company.

S0

May

Break-up of Enel Union Fenosa Renovables
between Enel Green Power Espaia
and Gas Natural Fenosa

On May 30, 2011, Enel Green Power (EGP) and its subsi-
diary Enel Green Power Espafna (EGPE) finalized the agre-
ement signed with Gas Natural SDG (Gas Natural Fenosa)
for the break-up of Enel Unién Fenosa Renovables SA (EU-
FER), controlled equally by EGPE and Gas Natural Fenosa
until that date.

Specifically, EUFER assets have been divided in two well-
balanced parts in terms of value, EBITDA, installed capa-
city, risk and technology mix. One part was transferred
to Gas Natural Fenosa, while EGPE has retained the other
part as the sole shareholder of EUFER.

The division of EUFER was finalized by means of a 50% re-
duction in the share capital of EUFER, in Gas Natural Feno-
sa's favor, through the sale of a portion of EUFER’s assets
to the latter.

0

June

Enel Green Power, Generali and Terrae reach
agreement for the development of biomass

OnJune 6, 2011, Enel Green Power and Generali finalized
an agreement with Terrae, a company devoted to recon-
verting and leveraging the beet and sugar industry, and
ANB - National Association of Beet Growers, for each to
acquire a 15% stake in Terrae.

The agreement also provides for Enel Green Power to take a
controlling stake in the special purpose companies that will
be established to develop larger-scale industrial initiatives.
Terrae will continue the process of placing its remaining
treasury shares, corresponding to 18% of share capital.
ANB retains a 41% stake, confirming the key role of the
agricultural sector in Terrae’s strategy for sourcing bio-

mass as a raw material for electricity generation.
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June

Acquisition of Sociedade Térmica
Portuguesa (TP)

OnlJune 9, 2011, Enel Green Power Espafa, acting throu-
gh its subsidiary Finerge, acquired an additional 50%
stake in Sociedade Térmica Portuguesa SA (TP) from the
other shareholder, Sonae Capital, thus becoming the only
shareholder of the company.

TP holds shares in 13 cogeneration plants and 2 wind
farms in Portugal as well as a direct 18% stake in ENEOP,
the consortium that was granted authorization to build a
total of 1,200 MW of wind power in Portugal. Enel Green
Power holds an indirect 18% stake in ENEOP.

1/

June

Acquisition of 51% of new wind farm
in Oklahoma

OnJune 17,2011, Enel Green Power North America (EGP
NA) purchased a 51% stake in the Rocky Ridge wind
project, where construction at the project’s location in
Oklahoma began in the fall.

Rocky Ridge was developed by EGP NA's partner Tra-
deWind Energy which has a power purchase agreement
with the Western Farmers Electric Cooperative. The new
wind farm will have a total installed capacity of appro-
ximately 150 MW. Once fully operational, the plant will
generate about 630 million kWh annually.
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26

June

Disposal of Maritza

On June 28, 2011, the Dutch subsidiary Enel Investment
Holding BV (EIH), executing the agreement reached on
March 14, 2011 with ContourGlobal LP (ContourGlobal),
closed the transaction for the sale to ContourGlobal of the
entire share capital of the Netherlands-registered com-
panies Maritza East Ill Power Holding and Maritza O&M
Holding Netherland. These companies respectively own
73% of the Bulgarian company Enel Maritza East 3, owner
of a lignite-fuelled power plant with an installed capaci-
ty of 908 MW (Maritza), and 73% of the Bulgarian com-
pany Enel Operations Bulgaria, which is responsible for
the operation and maintenance of the Maritza plant. The
total price paid by ContourGlobal for the equity holdings
amounted to €230 million.

>

July

LaGeo dispute: international arbitration
board issues ruling

OnJuly 5,2011, the International Chamber of Commerce
notified the parties of the ruling issued by the arbitration
board on May 30, 2011 in Paris, in the international arbi-
tration proceeding initiated by Enel Green Power against
its partner in LaGeo, Inversiones Energéticas (INE), for
recognition of its right to finance investments in LaGeo
by means of capitalization of such investments, thus
achieving the majority stake in the Salvadorean com-
pany’s share capital. The arbitration board recognized
Enel Green Power’s right to make further investments
through LaGeo in geothermal energy in El Salvador and
to capitalize such investments in LaGeo itself by way of
the subscription of new shares in that company.

This right, which is provided for in the agreement betwe-
en LaGeo shareholders of June 4, 2002, will enable Enel

Green Power to acquire the majority of LaGeo's share
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capital. In addition, the arbitration board dismissed as
unfounded a counterclaim brought by INE against Enel

Green Power for alleged damages.

1/

July

Bond issues on European market

On July 12, 2011, Enel SpA, acting through its subsidiary
Enel Finance International, placed — in execution of the
resolution of the Board of Enel SpA of June 16, 2011 - a
multi-tranche bond issue totaling €1,750 million targeted
at institutional investors on the European market, under
its Global Medium-Term Notes program.
The transaction, led by a syndicate of banks consisting of
Banca IMI, BNP Paribas, Deutsche Bank, Société Générale
and UniCredit in their capacity of joint-bookrunners, re-
ceived subscriptions of about €7,500 million. The issue is
structured into the following tranches (all guaranteed by
Enel SpA):
> €1,000 million fixed-rate 4.125% bond maturing July
12,2017,
> €750 million fixed-rate 5% bond maturing July 12,
2021.
On October 17, 2011, Enel Finance International placed
on the European market a multi-tranche bond issue tota-
ling €2,250 million targeted at institutional investors un-
der the Global Medium-Term Notes program. The bond
issue was authorized by Enel’s Board of Directors on June
16,2011.
The operation, led by a pool of banks comprising Barclays,
BNP Paribas and Deutsche Bank (as global coordinators)
and Banca Imi, BBVA, Santander and UniCredit (as joint
book runners) generated orders totaling over €12 billion
and was structured into the following tranches (all gua-
ranteed by Enel SpA):
> €1,250 million at a rate of 4.625%, maturing June 24,
2015;
> €1,000 million at a rate of 5.750%, maturing October
24,2018.

15

July

Agreement to develop hydroelectric sector
in the Province of Belluno

OnJuly 15,2011, Enel Produzione and En&En SpA, a com-
pany involved in the development of energy projects, sig-
ned an agreement to develop new hydroelectric projects
in the Province of Belluno. The accord led to the establi-
shment of ENergy Hydro Piave, held by Enel Produzione
(51%) and En&En (49%), to build and operate new hydro-
electric plants in the Province, in synergy with the existing
Enel Produzione plants in the area and leveraging the con-
tribution of the local business community. Enel Produzio-
ne and En&En have initiated the process of obtaining per-
mits for two projects with a total capacity of about 60 MW,
with the aim of obtaining, through ENergy Hydro Piave,
the award of the first 30-year diversion concession from

the Region of Veneto.
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September

20171 interim dividend

On September 28, 2011, the Board of Directors of Enel
SpA approved the financial statements at June 30, 2011
and the associated report, which indicated that the per-
formance and financial position of the Company and
the Group would allow the distribution of an interim
dividend for 2011 equal to €0.10 per share. The interim
dividend was paid as from November 24, 2011, with an
ex-dividend date of November 21, 2011.
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September

FIB loan to finance investments
by Enel Distribuzione

On September 30, 2011 Enel Distribuzione signed an
agreement with the European Investment Bank (EIB) for a
€350 million loan (called “Enel Efficienza Rete I1I") to cover
a portion of its investments to improve the efficiency of
the national electricity network, a project envisaged in its
2012-2014 business plan.

The EIB also indicated its willingness to providing further
funding for these investments up to a total of €1 billion.
The 20-year "Enel Efficienza Rete Ill” financing agreement
(maturing December 15, 2031) has a 5-year grace period
that runs until December 15, 2016. The funds will be di-
sbursed by the end of 2011 and secured with a parent
company guarantee provided by Enel SpA.

The loan terms provide for the application of a spread of

70 basis points over Euribor.

>

October

Revision of Enel rating by Moody's

On October 5, 2011, Moody's rating agency announced
that it had lowered its long-term rating for Enel SpA to
"A3" (previously “"A2") and its short-term rating to “Pri-
me-2" (previously “Prime-1"). It also issued a negative
outlook.

The change in Enel SpA’s rating is linked to the recent
decision by Moody’s to lower its rating for Italian go-

vernment debt.
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October

New loan in Romania

On October 19, 2011, Enel Green Power International BV
signed an agreement with the Danish government’s Ex-
port Credit Agency and Citigroup (as agent and arranger)
fora 12-yearloan of €112 million, guaranteed by Enel Gre-
en Power. This loan will be used to cover a portion of the
investments required to build and expand Enel Green Po-
wer Romania’s Moldova Noua and Corugea wind plants,
which will have a total installed capacity of 118 MW.

/9

November

Two lots awarded for construction
of photovoltaic plants

On November 29, 2011, Enel Green Power (EGP) was
awarded two of the thirteen lots offered for tender by Di-
fesa Servizi SpA for the allocation of military land for the
installation of photovoltaic systems.

The two lots assigned to EGP, the maximum permitted by
the terms of the tender, are also the largest: one is located
at Teulada, in the Province of Cagliari, not far from Por-
toscuso, where the Renewable Energy Division has nearly
completed what will become the largest wind farm in
ltaly, and one at Serre Persano, in the Province of Salerno,
site of Enel’s first solar power plant, the largest in Europe
and now completely renovated.

The land, which has room for some 60 MW of photovol-
taic power plants, covers a total of about 190 hectares
with high solar radiation levels.

The new photovoltaic plants, which will use the panels
produced by the new Catania factory of 3SUN — an equal
joint venture between EGP, Sharp and STMicroelectronics
—will be able to generate, once fully operational, up to 80
million kWh a year, equivalent to the annual consumption
of nearly 30,000 households, as well as avoiding the emis-

sion of some 58,000 metric tons of CO, each year.
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S0

November

Disposal of Deval and Vallenergie

On November 30, 2011, Enel SpA and CVA SpA executed
the agreement signed on October 24, 2011, regarding the
sale of Enel’s 51% stakes in Deval and Vallenergie to CVA
for a total of around €40 million. CVA, a company owned
by the Region of Valle d’Aosta, already owns the remai-
ning 49% stakes in both companies.

The sale was executed once clearance was received from

the Italian Antitrust Authority.

>

December

Protocol between Enel
and the Region of Emilia Romagna

On December 5, 2011, the Region of Emilia Romagna and
Enel signed a protocol within the framework of the Re-
gional Energy Plan for the more efficient use of energy
across the region and the use of renewable resources for
generation, together with a commitment to reducing CO,
emissions.

The cooperation agreement between the Region and Enel
will encompass a range of initiatives: the promotion of
measures to reduce CO, emissions and to improve energy
efficiency throughout Emilia Romagna, including the use
of the most innovative technologies for public lighting,
or with other specific projects for the reduction of energy
consumption in public buildings. The Region and Enel will
collaborate on the development of innovation and ap-
plied research into the optimal use of energy and the field
of generation of power from renewables (water, wind,

sun and certified biomass of vegetable origin).

.

December

Revision of Enel rating
by Standard & Poor’s

On December 8, 2011, Standard & Poor’s placed a credit
watch on its long-term credit rating for Enel SpA, currently
“A-", for a possible downgrade.

The change follows a similar rating review implemented
a few days previously by Standard & Poor’s on the credit
rating for Italian government debt and takes account of
the ownership structure of Enel SpA, where the Italian go-

vernment has a stake of about 31% in the Company.
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Reference scenario

nel and the financial markets

2011 2010
Gross operating margin per share (euro) 1.88 1.86
Operating income per share (euro) 1.21 1.20
Group net earnings per share (euro) 0.44 0.47
Dividend per share (euro) 0.26 0.28
Pay-out ratio " (%) 59 60
Group shareholders’ equity per share
(euro) 4.13 4.04 @
Share price - 12-month high (euro) 4.83 4.23
Share price - 12-month low (euro) 2.84 3.43
Average share price in December (euro) 3.08 3.78
Market capitalization © (millions of euro) 28,961 35,543
No. of shares outstanding
at December 31 (millions) 9,403 9,403

(1) Calculated on Group netincome

(2) Takes account of restatement following completion of purchase price allocation for the SE Hydropower transaction.

(3) Calculated on average share price in December.

Current™ atDec.31,2011 atDec.31,2010 atDec. 31,2009
Enel stock weighting in:
- FTSE MIB index 11.01% 12.98% 10.53% 10.27%
- STOXX Europe 600 Utilities index 9.19% 8.25% 8.07% 8.26%
- Bloomberg World Electric index 2.79% 2.93% 3.16% 3.58%
Rating Current™ atDec.31,2011 atDec.31,2010 atDec.31, 2009
Standard & Poor's Outlook Watch Negative ~ Watch Negative Stable Stable
Medium/long-term A- A- A- A-
Short-term A-2 A-2 A-2 A-2
Moody's Outlook Negative Negative Negative Negative
Medium/long-term A3 A3 A2 A2
Short-term P2 P2 P1 P1
Fitch Outlook Stable Stable Stable Stable
Medium/
long-term A- A- A- A-
Short-term F2 F2 F2 F2

(1) Figures updated to March 7,2012.

The year 2011 was characterized by high volatility. In
the 1st Half of the year the world economy grew, dri-
ven above all by the emerging economies, where acti-
vity continued to expand at a rapid rate. The situation in
the advanced countries was mixed: in the 1st Half GDP
growth picked up in the euro area (especially in Ger-

many), while Japan experienced a sharp contraction (as
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the economic impact of the earthquake was worse than
expected) and the United States saw growth slow sub-
stantially.

The global macroeconomic environment deteriorated in
the 2nd Half of the year, with adverse repercussions on
all countries, and the European economies in particular.

Beginning in the summer, the tensions surrounding the
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sovereign debt of the euro-area countries intensified
and spread to nearly all the economies in the area. These
strains prompted a series of general downward revisions
in growth forecasts for all countries on the part of the ma-
jor public and private-sector economic institutions.

Italy was hit especially hard by the crisis owing to both its
large public debt and the weak outlook for growth in the
medium term, all of which was confirmed by a decline in

electricity demand, especially in the final months of the year.

The deterioration in the economic outlook also impacted
share prices. All the euro-area financial markets closed
2011 down on their levels the previous year. The Italian
market registered the largest decline, with the FTSE Italia
All Share closing the year down 24.3%, affected above all
by the banking and financial sector, which posted heavy
losses. The German equity market, represented by the
DAX index, posted a decline of 14.7%, while the French
CAC-40 index lost 17.9% and the Spanish IBEX-35 index
dropped 13.1%.

In this context share prices in the European utilities seg-
ment performed in line with developments in the euro-
area markets. The Stoxx 600 Utilities index, which groups
the largest companies by capitalization listed on the va-

rious European markets, closed 2011 down 17%.

As regards Enel shares, the year ended with the stock price
at €3.144 per share, down 15.9% from its level at the end

Dividend per share
of €0.26 at
December 37,
2011

of 2010. The performance was essentially in line with that
of the European utilities sector as a whole and better than
the performance of Enel’s main European competitors
(especially the performance of RWE, EDF, E.ON, Iberdrola
and GDF).

On November 24, 2011, Enel paid an interim dividend on
2011 profits of €0.10 per share, which together with the
dividend paid on June 23, 2011, brought total dividends
paid during the year to €0.28 per share.

At December 31, 2011, the Ministry for the Economy and
Finance held 31.2% of Enel, while institutional investors

40.3% and individual investors the remaining 28.5%.

For further information we invite you to visit the Investor
Relations section of our corporate website (http://www.
enel.com/en-GB/investor/), which contains financial data,
presentations, on-line updates of the share price, informa-
tion on corporate bodies and the regulations of sharehol-
ders’ meetings, as well as periodic updates on corporate

governance issues.

We have also created contact centers for private investors
(which can be reached by phone at +39-0683054000 or
by e-mail at azionisti.retail@enel.com) and for institutio-
nal investors (phone: +39-0683057975; e-mail: investor.

relations@enel.com).
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Performance of Enel share price and the Bloomberg World Electric, STOXX Europe 600
Utilities and FTSE Italia All Share indices as at March 7, 2012
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Fconomic and energy conditions in 2017

Economic developments

In 2011 the debt crisis in the main European countries un-
dermined the weak signs of recovery that had first emer-
gedin 2010 after the trough of the crisis in 2009. Industrial
production began to drop significantly again, especially in
the 3rd and 4th Quarters, when industrial output in the
euro area contracted by 3% and 6%, respectively, from
their levels in the corresponding periods in 2010. Part of
the decline was closely linked with the current economic
environment, characterized on the one hand by restrictive
fiscal policies in the individual euro-area countries and on
the other by especially low levels of consumption.

While economic indicators held their ground in early 2011,
they gradually began to slow in the early part of the sum-
mer. In the euro area this was attributable to the heightened

/2
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concerns about the sustainability of the government debt of
a number of European countries (Greece, Ireland, Italy, Por-
tugal and Spain). In this context, 2011 was also characterized
by repeated downgrades of sovereign ratings, followed by
abrupt increases in the spreads experienced by the Europe-
an countries in the greatest difficulty with respect to the Ger-
man bund. Towards the end of the year these spreads began
to narrow thanks both to intervention at the supranational
level (for Greece, Ireland and Portugal) and the subsequent
adoption of major (and expected) structural reforms to bo-
ost growth in the medium and long term (Italy and Spain).

World GDP growth slowed sharply in 2011, falling from
4.1% in 2010 to 3.0% in 2011. The decline mainly re-
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flected the crisis in the industrial countries. After growing
strongly in the post-crisis period in 2010 (up 2.9%), the US
economy also slowed significantly in 2011, with growth of
1.7% for the year.

As regards growth in the euro area, Germany performed
the best among the major European countries, being only
partly affected by the especially adverse international eco-
nomic climate (with growth of 3.0% in 2011, compared
with 3.6% in 2010). The countries hit the hardestin 2011
include Italy, with growth of 0.4% compared with 1.1% in
2010; Greece (a contraction of 5.5%); Spain (0.7%); and
Portugal (a contraction of 1.9%).

Growth in the emerging economies was slower than fo-
recast, although they continued to expand rapidly (China
9.2%; India 8.0%; Taiwan: 4.5%; Indonesia: 6.4%). The La-
tin American countries also performed well, with growth
in 2011 of 4.4% (compared with 5.8% in 2010).
Developments in the foreign exchange markets in 2010
and 2011 were essentially driven by the financial market
crisis. More specifically, the euro/dollar rate went from
an average of 1.33in 2010 to 1.39 in 2011, an apprecia-
tion of 4.5%. This strengthening is mainly attributable to
uncertainty about the decisions of financial institutions
with regard to European sovereign debt and the depre-
ciation policies adopted for the dollar to stimulate dome-
stic growth. The rate on main refinancing operations of
the European Central Bank (fixed rate) averaged around
1.25%, after declining markedly in the last three years (the
average rate was 3.15% in 2008, 1.5% in 2009 and 1.25%
in 2010). Euribor averaged 1.39% in 2011.

The gradual rise in inflation in 2011 essentially reflects the
rapid rise and uncertainty of prices for raw materials and
agricultural products.

The following table reports GDP trends in the main

countries in which Enel operates.

Annual real GDP growth

%

2011 2010
Italy 0.5 1.1
Spain 0.7 -0.1
Portugal -1.5 1.4
Belgium 1.9 2.1
Greece -6.9 -4.0
France 1.7 1.5
Bulgaria 2.2 0.4
Romania 2.5 -2.0
Slovakia 3.3 4.2
Russia 43 4.1
Argentina 9.3 8.3
Brazil 2.7 7.7
Chile 6.3 53
Colombia 5.9 4.0
Mexico 3.9 5.5
Peru 6.8 9.0
Canada 2.5 2.9
USA 1.7 2.9

Source: National statistical institutes and Enel based on data from ISTAT, INE, EU-
ROSTAT, IMF, OECD and Global Insight.



Developments in the main market indicators

Money market
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International commodities prices

In 2011 the prices of energy commodities rose conside-
rably, although they declined somewhat towards the end
of the year. The rise in the price of Brent oil was driven
by developments in both supply and demand. Supply-
side factors included geopolitical tensions (the tumult in
North Africa), while on the demand side, factors tied to
the real economy played a role (rapid demand growth in

the emerging countries). Conditions remain affected by
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considerable price uncertainties linked to financial drivers
(speculation in commodity markets), political factors such
as the situation in Iran (which produces about 4 million
barrels of oil per day), and the constant disinvestment in
production capacity in recent years (especially in Venezue-
la and Iran), which contribute to increasing uncertainty

about oil prices in international markets.
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In 2011 the rapid rise in oil prices was accompanied by sub-
stantial increases in the prices of all industrial commodities.
More specifically, the price of coal was impacted by floo-
ding in Australia and Indonesia (which had already begun
to generate considerable pressures in December 2010) and
strong demand in Asia. By contrast, in Europe the weakness
of gas prices, the constraints of take-or-pay contracts and
the growth of renewable energy triggered a sharp contrac-
tion in imports of coal for thermal generation. This decline
in European demand led to the redirecting of supplies of
South African and Pacific coal towards Asia.

The spot price of natural gas at the Zeebrugge hub rose from
42.9 GBpence/therm in 2010 to 57.2 GBpence/therm in
2011, a rise of 33%. The price of coal, which in 2010 avera-

ged about $92 a metric ton, rose to $121.5 a metric ton, an
increase of 32%. Even greater increases were registered for
Brent and fuel oil, with the average price rising in both cases
above €100 a barrel ($111 a barrel for Brent, an increase of
40% compared with the average for 2010, and $102 a barrel
for fuel oil, an increase of 38% on the 2010 average).

During 2011, CO, prices declined by a substantial 50%
from the peaks registered after the Fukushima earthqua-
ke. Conditions in Europe’s Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS)
currently reflect a certain level of oversupply worsened
by the financial crisis, the bringing forward of auctions of
allowances for the third phase and the uncertainty sur-
rounding regulatory developments (rules on efficiency,

revision of targets, new control mechanisms).

Flectricity and gas markets

The electricity marketin Italy

Domestic electricity generation and demand

Millions of kWh
2011 2010 Change

Net electricity generation:

- thermal 217,369 220,984 (3,615) -1.6%
- hydroelectric 47,672 53,795 (6,123) -11.4%
-wind 9,560 9,048 512 5.7%
- geothermal 5,307 5,047 260 5.2%
- photovoltaic 9,258 1,874 7,384 -
Total net electricity generation 289,166 290,748 (1,582) -0.5%
Net electricity imports 45,626 44,160 1,466 3.3%
Electricity delivered to the network 334,792 334,908 (116) -
Consumption for pumping (2,518) (4,453) 1,935 43.5%
Electricity demand 332,274 330,455 1,819 0.6%

Source: Terna - Rete Elettrica Nazionale (monthly report on electric system — December 2011).

Domestic electricity demand increased by 0.6% compa-
red with 2010, reaching 332.3 TWh. Of this total, 86.3%
was met by net domestic electricity generation for con-
sumption (86.6% in 2010), with the remaining 13.7%
being met by net electricity imports (13.4% in 2010).

Net electricity imports in 2011 rose by 1.5 TWh owing to
developments in electricity prices in the other European
markets compared with those in the domestic market.

Net electricity generation decreased by 0.5% or 1.6 TWh
in 2011, essentially attributable to a decrease in hydroe-
lectric generation (down 6.1 TWh) owing to less favorable
water conditions than in the previous year, as well as a de-
cline in thermal generation (down 3.6 TWh). These factors
were only partially offset by an increase in photovoltaic
generation (up 7.4 TWh) and wind and geothermal gene-
ration (up 0.8 TWh).
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Developments in domestic electricity sales prices

1st 2nd 3rd 4th 1st 2nd 3rd 4th
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2011 2010
Power Exchange - PUN IPEX (€/MWh) ™ 72.2 64.1
Residential user with annual consumption
of 2,700 kWh (eurocents/kwh):@
Price including taxes 15.6 16.2 16.5 16.5 16.3 15.8 15.7 15.6

(1) Source: Energy Markets Operator; average annual price.

(2) Source: Authority for Electricity and Gas and Single Buyer (consumption represents average Italian household with contracts for 3 kW —resident).

In Italy, the average uniform national sales price of electricity
on the Power Exchange rose by 12.6% compared with 2010.
The average annual price (including taxes) for residen-

tial users set by the Authority for Electricity and Gas rose

The gas marketin Italy

Domestic gas demand

by 2.2% in 2011, mainly owing to the increase in the A3
rate component covering costs for incentives for rene-
wable generation, the annual average value of which
rose by 55%.

Billions of m*

2011 2010 Change
Residential and other civil uses 31.4 33.8 (2.4) -7.1%
Industrial and services 16.1 16.5 (0.4) -2.4%
Thermal generation 28.0 30.3 (2.3) -7.6%
Other ™ 2.1 24 (0.3) -12.5%
Total 77.6 83.0 (5.4) -6.5%

(1) Includes other consumption and losses.
Source: Enel based on data from the Ministry for Economic Development and Snam

Domestic demand for natural gas in Italy came to 77.6
billion cubic meters, a decrease of 6.5% on 2010. The re-

duction involved all types of consumption, especially that

Price developments

Rete Gas.

for residential and other civil uses, essentially reflecting the
impact of colder weather in 2010, and use in industry and
services, as a result of the slowdown in the Italian economy.

st 2nd 3rd 4th 1st 2nd 3rd Ath
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2011 2010
Average residential user with annual
consumption of 1,400 m? (eurocents/m?):
Price including tax 75.0 76.5 79.7 84.1 69.3 71.8 741 741

Source: Authority for Electricity and Gas.

The average sales price of natural gas in Italy increased by 9% in 2011.
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International electricity markets

Developments in electricity demand

TWh

2011 2010 Change
Spain 255.3 260.6 -2.0%
Portugal 50.5 52.2 -3.3%
France 478.2 513.3 -6.8%
Greece 51.6 523 -1.3%
Bulgaria 33.2 315 5.4%
Romania 53.4 52.0 2.7%
Slovakia 26.9 26.9 -
Russia 758.9 742.3 2.2%
Argentina 121.0 114.8 5.4%
Brazil 528.0 510.6 3.4%
Chile® 45.0 423 6.4%
Colombia 57.0 56.1 1.6%
Peru 36.0 33.0 9.1%
USA ©) 3,726 3,750 -0.6%
(1) Europe/Urals.
(2) Figures for the SIC - Sistema Interconectado Central.
(3) Net of grid losses.
Source: Enel based on TSO data.
Developments in prices in the main markets
eurocents/kWh

2011 2010 Change
End-user market (residential) "
France 13.8 12.8 7.8%
Portugal 16.5 15.8 4.4%
Romania 10.8 10.3 4.9%
Spain 19.5 17.3 12.7%
Slovakia 16.8 15.2 10.5%
End-user market (industrial) @
France 8.5 8.5 -
Portugal 9.9 9.4 5.3%
Romania 8.0 8.5 -5.9%
Spain 11.4 1.7 -2.6%
Slovakia 12.8 1.7 9.4%

(1) Half-yearly price before tax — annual consumption of between 2,500 and 5,000 kWh.
(2) Half-yearly price before tax — annual consumption of between 500 and 2,000 MWh.
Source: Eurostat.
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Spain

Electricity generation and demand in the peninsular market

2011 2010 Change

Gross electricity generation — ordinary regime:

- thermal 94,223 88,526 5,697 6.4%
- nuclear 57,731 61,990 (4,259) -6.9%
- hydroelectric 27,571 38,653 (11,082) -28.7%
Total gross electricity generation — ordinary regime 179,525 189,169 (9,644) -5.1%
Consumption for auxiliary services (7,247) (6,673) (574) -8.6%
Electricity generation — special regime 92,352 90,903 1,449 1.6%
Net electricity generation 264,630 273,399 (8,769) -3.2%
Net exports (6,091) (8,333) 2,242 26.9%
Consumption for pumping (3,215) (4,458) 1,243 27.9%
Electricity demand 255,324 260,608 (5,284) -2.0%

Source: Red Eléctrica de Espana (Balance eléctrico diario peninsular — December 2011 report).
Volumes at December 31, 2011 based on estimates made on February 9, 2012. The December 31, 2010 volumes reflect the final figures published on July 6, 2011.

Electricity demand in the peninsular market declined by  Net electricity exports in 2011 were lower than in 2010

2.0% in 2011 compared with 2010, to 255.3 TWh. De- (down 26.9%).

mand was entirely met by net domestic generation for  Net electricity generation fell by 3.2% or 8.8 TWh in 2011.

consumption. The decline in hydroelectric and nuclear generation was only
partially offset by the increase in thermal generation (up 5.7

TWh) and greater generation under the special regime.
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Regulatory and rate issues

Furopean regulatory framework

"Third Energy Package”

The "Third Energy Package” promotes the creation of
a more competitive and transparent European energy
market that will benefit end users by gradually integra-
ting national markets, making supplies more secure and
strengthening competition and, more generally, the com-
petitiveness of the European Union.

The deadline for transposing the “Third Energy Package”
into national legislation expired on March 3, 2011. With
other Member States also lagging in transposing the
package throughout Europe, on May 31, 2011, the Italian
Government introduced the “Third Energy Package” with
Legislative Decree 93/2011, published in the Gazzetta Uf-
ficiale on June 28, 2011.

Among the main provisions are those involving, in the elec-
tricity sector, the unbundling of the transmission system
operator (TSO), confirming the unbundling of ownership
and expressly prohibiting the TSO from operating power
plants. In the gas sector, an independent transmission
operator (ITO) model has been adopted, with a vertically
integrated ownership structure, more stringent functional
separation rules and control and approval powers for the
Authority for Electricity and Gas (the Authority). Moreo-
ver, in the areas of the integration of renewable resources
generation, the operator of the National Transmission
Network and distribution companies may install storage
systems on the networks they operate in order to optimi-
ze generation from renewable resources. Finally, as to the
exemption from the third-party access (TPA) obligation, in
the electricity sector the length of the TPA obligation will
now be set on a case-by-case basis, with the obligation lap-
sing if the infrastructure has not entered service or has not

been completed with the time limits set in the directive.

Agency for the Cooperation
of Energy Regulators (ACER)

As envisaged in the “Third Energy Package”, in March 2011
the Agency for the Cooperation of Energy Regulators (ACER)
began operations. ACER’s mission is to further the process

of integrating the European market and to coordinate the
actions of national regulatory authorities whenever neces-
sary. ACER also provides opinions and recommendations to
European institutions on energy regulation issues and mo-
nitors the process of achieving an internal energy market.

Within the context of the “Third Energy Package”, the Eu-
ropean Commission has made ACER responsible for pre-
paring Framework Guidelines (FG) that will form the basis
for network codes that, once approved, will be valid in
all the Member States. Finally, ACER works with network
operators in drafting network development plans for

energy transport.

European Commission
procedures concerning regulated
prices

On April 6, 2011, the European Commission sent reaso-
ned opinions to Italy, Poland and Romania urging them to
bring their national legislation on end-user energy prices
into line with EU rules. The focus of the DG Energy’s con-
cern regarded end-user prices for gas in Poland, electricity
in Italy and gas and electricity in Romania. Shortly thereaf-
ter, on May 9, 2011, the Commission took a similar step
with Portugal concerning its end-user prices for natural gas.
According to the Commission, regulated prices hinder the
market access of new entrants and deprive consumers
and companies of the right to choose the best service on

the market.

Regulation on transparency
in wholesale energy markets
(REMIT)

On December 28, 2011 the regulation on wholesale ener-
gy market integrity and transparency (REMIT), proposed
by the European Commission in November 2010 and for-
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mally adopted in 2011, came into force. The regulation
prohibits insider trading and market manipulation and
introduces the obligation for operators to publish inside
information they possess in a timely and effective manner.
The regulation also requires the ACER to provide data on
wholesale energy market transactions, giving it a key role
in market supervision and identifying instances of market
abuse. The data collection obligations will take effect six
months after the European Commission adopts the cor-
responding implementing acts setting out the timing and
form for communicating such information. The data to be
reported will include information on the price, volume,
date and time of the transaction and the names of the sel-

ler, purchaser and beneficiary.

"Energy Roadmap 2050"

On December 15, 2011, the European Commission issued
the Communication “Energy Roadmap 2050", which sets
out the plan for decarbonizing the EU's energy system,
while at the same time ensuring the security of energy
supplies and competitiveness. The “Energy Roadmap
2050" serves as a basis for the Commission’s future energy
legislation initiatives.

Contrary to the usual Community practice, the Communi-
cation does not set out a list of measures for achieving cer-
tain policy aims, but rather explores various options (five
decarbonization scenarios and two business-as-usual sce-
narios) for collecting data and further studying the ways
of transitioning to decarbonization, listing ten structural
changes and ten conditions required to achieve the objec-

tive (so-called "no regrets” options).

Proposal for an energy
efficiency directive

On June 22, 2011, the European Commission sent the
Council and the European Parliament a proposal for a
new energy efficiency directive that is intended to set out
a European regulatory framework for achieving energy
savings targets and to make binding a number of the me-
asures proposed in the Energy Efficiency Plan of March 8,
2011. The new energy efficiency directive would replace
the earlier directives on cogeneration (2004/8/EC) and
energy services (2006/32/EQC).

Among its main measures, the Commission proposes to in-
troduce an annual energy savings requirement of 1.5% for
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each Member State. That objective can be achieved by intro-
ducing an equivalent obligation for energy distributors or
sales companies, or through alternative measures (such as,
for example, financing programs or voluntary agreements).
Through their own procurement policies and building re-
novation efforts, public bodies will also play an active role
in promoting energy efficient products and services.

With regard to power generation, the Commission propo-
sal provides for the Member States to draft a national plan
for the promotion of high-efficiency cogeneration and
district heating and air conditioning. In addition, while
allowing a number of exemptions, the Commission pro-
poses that the Member States should require adoption of
cogeneration equipment for generation plants with a ca-
pacity of more than 20 MW.

Proposal for a revised Markets
in Financial Instruments Directive
(MIFID 1)

The Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID)
2004/39/EC establishes a framework governing in-
vestment services with respect to financial instruments
offered by banks and investment firms, and the organized
execution of transactions by Exchanges and other trading
and investment systems. Therefore, MiFID applies to in-
vestment firms that provide services on a professional ba-
sis and to regulated markets. To date, energy suppliers are
not subject to MiFID.

On October 20, 2011, the European Commission publi-
shed a proposed revision of the directive, comprising a
directive (MiFID) and a regulation (MiFIR). The most im-
portant of the Commission’s proposals for the energy sec-
tor are the classification of EU emission allowances as fi-
nancial instruments and certain important changes to the
current exemptions, including eliminating the exemption
for persons who deal in commodities and commodity de-

rivatives on their own account.

Proposed regulation on
"Guidelines for trans-European
energy infrastructure”

On October 19, 2011, the European Commission presen-
ted its proposed regulation on “Guidelines for trans-Euro-

pean energy infrastructure”. The proposed regulation, cur-
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rently being debated by the EU Parliament and Council,
establishes European guidelines for developing a number
of priority corridors for transporting energy and other
energy infrastructures.

Specifically, the proposed regulation establishes rules for
identifying "projects of common interest” (PCl) necessary
for the construction of interconnection and transport in-
frastructure for electricity, gas, oil and CO.,,.

The regulation falls under a much broader investment
plan also announced by the Commission through its pro-
posed regulation on the “Connecting Europe Facility” that
will provide €50 billion in financing for projects to improve
Europe’s transport, energy and digital networks. As to the
energy sector in particular, the Commission’s plan calls for
€9.1 billion to be invested in developing and strengthe-

ning the trans-European energy infrastructure.

Emission Trading

Since 2005, the Enel Group's plants in Europe have partici-
pated in the European Emissions Trading Scheme (EU ETS),
consisting of a market-based system for reducing green-
house gas emissions. Operators are expected to reduce
their emissions by 21% by 2020 (compared with 2005
levels). The third implementation period (2013-2020) will
incorporate a series of important changes introduced by
Directive 2009/29/EC and subsequent regulations for im-
proving the efficiency, transparency and effectiveness of
the system.

The main change is that the allocation of emission allo-
wances free of charge, the primary practice up until now,
will be gradually replaced by an auction mechanism for
purchasing allowances. Specifically, the electricity sector
will have to purchase 100% of the allowances required
through auction. The auctions will begin as soon as the
2nd Half of 2012 (so-called “early auctions”), with the sale
of 120 million allowances in Phase Ill. The allowances allo-
cated to Italy, Spain and Slovakia account for 9.4%, 8.4%
and 1.5%, respectively, out of the total Phase Il allowan-
ces available for Europe. The proceeds of these auctions
will be managed by the Member States, although they
must allocate 50% to funding for projects to develop low-
carbon technologies (CCS, renewable resources, etc.).
Another important change is that the NER 300 allowances
will be monetized by the European Investment Bank (EIB)
and the proceeds will be used to finance pilot projects in
the area of innovative renewable energy resources and
CCS technology. The allowances (300 million EUAs) will be

sold through the over-the-counter (OTC) market, regula-
ted markets and by auction. The sale of the first 200 mil-
lion allowances began in November 2011 and is expected
to be completed by October 2012. Subsequently, the EIB
will monetize the remaining 100 million allowances.
Starting from January 1, 2012, the aviation industry will be
included in the ETS. Given the quantity of allowances that
aircraft operators must purchase through auction (15%),
it is expected that the industry will generate demand for
allowances second only in percentage terms to the elec-
tricity sector. In December 2011, in response to a lawsuit
brought by a number of US airlines, the European Court
of Justice found that non-EU operators may be legally in-
cluded in the ETS, as it is consistent with international law
and the principle of state sovereignty.

In 2012, a Single European Union Registry will replace the
national registries in accounting for emissions allowances.
Aircraft operators will take part in the new registry star-
ting from January 2012 (in conjunction with the industry’s
inclusion in the ETS), while the transition for other sectors
subject to ETS will take place in 2012. A series of measu-
res aimed at strengthening security and transparency in
the European emissions allowance market will be taken

alongside the switch to the new Union Registry.

The Italian market and the
European requlatory framework

The current structure of the lItalian electricity market
is the result of the liberalization process begun in 1992
with Directive 1992/96/EC, transposed into lItalian law
with Legislative Decree 79/1999. This decree provided
for: the liberalization of electricity generation and sale;
reserving transmission and ancillary services to an inde-
pendent network operator; the granting of concessions
for distribution to Enel and other companies run by local
governments; the unbundling of network services from
other activities.

The introduction of Directives 2003/54/EC and 2009/72/
EC (transposed with Law 125/2007 and Legislative Decree
93/2011, respectively) in Italy lent further impetus to the
process, particularly through the complete opening of
the retail market and the confirmation of the total inde-
pendence of the national transmission network operator
(already provided for in the Decree of the Prime Minister
of May 11, 2004) by separating its ownership from that of
other electricity operators.
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The process of liberalizing the natural gas market began
with Directive 1998/30/EC, transposed in Italy through Le-
gislative Decree 164/2000, calling for the liberalization of
the import, production and sale of gas and the separation
of network infrastructure management from other activi-

ties through the establishment of distinct companies.

Sales

Electricity

Retail market

As provided for by Directive 2003/54/EC, starting from
July 1, 2007 all end users may freely choose their electrici-
ty supplier on the free market or participate in regulated
markets. Law 125/2007 identified these regulated mar-
kets as the “enhanced protection” market (for residential
customers and small businesses with low-voltage connec-
tions) and the “safeguard” market (for large customers not
eligible for enhanced protection services).

Free-market operators are awarded contracts to provide
safeguard services on a geographical basis through three-
year auctions. Enel Energia was awarded contracts to pro-
vide safeguard services to five of the twelve areas subject
to auction for the 2011-2013 period (Umbria and Marche,
Sardinia, Campania, Basilicata and Calabria, Sicily).

By contrast, enhanced protection service is provided by
sellers connected with distributors (Enel Servizio Elettrico
for customers connected to Enel Distribuzione’s network).
The prices and related terms are set by the Authority for
Electricity and Gas (the Authority) and are updated quar-
terly based on criteria designed to ensure that the opera-
tors’ costs are covered.

Operators set their own prices for free market services,
with the Authority’s role limited to setting rules to protect
both customers and operators.

In this role, the Authority has adopted a variety of measu-
res aimed at containing operators’ credit risk, which has
risen considerably in recent years due to the economic cri-
sis and the lack of rules barring customers from switching

suppliers to avoid paying their utility bills.
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Gas

Retail market

In accordance with Legislative Decree 164/2000, starting
from January 1, 2003 all customers may freely choose their
natural gas supplier on the free market.

However, alongside this operators must offer a safeguard
service (for residential customers and non-residential cu-
stomers with consumption levels below 50,000 cubic me-
ters a year and users involved in providing public assistan-
ce services) to their customers, together with their own
commercial offers, at the regulated prices established by
the Authority.

If there is no company supplying this service, the supplier
of last resort must provide service to safeguard customers.
The supplier of last resort will be chosen annually through
voluntary tenders for geographically-based contracts.

As to the regulated prices charged safeguard service cu-
stomers, in 2011 the Authority revised the formula for
updating the QE component (covering raw material pro-
visioning costs). The revision will raise the QE component
by about 1% compared with the previous gas year. The
Authority also initiated a proceeding for a further revision
of the QE component as from October 2012.

The Authority increased the QVD component (covering
retail marketing costs) by about 10% for residential custo-
mers for the 2012-2013 period.

Generation and
Fnergy Management

Electricity

Generation and the wholesale market

Electricity generation was completely liberalized in 1999
with Legislative Decree 79/1999 (Bersani Decree) and can
be performed by anyone possessing a specific permit.

The electricity generated can be sold wholesale on the
organized spot market (IPEX), managed by the Energy
Markets Operator (EMO), and through organized and
over-the-counter platforms for trading forward contracts.
The organized platforms include the Forward Electricity
Market (FEM), managed by the EMO, in which forward

electricity contracts with physical delivery are traded, and
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the Electricity Derivatives Market (IDEX), managed by Bor-
sa Italiana, where special derivative instruments with elec-
tricity as their underlying are traded.

Generators may also sell electricity to companies engaged
in energy trading, to wholesalers that buy electricity for
resale at retail, and to the Single Buyer, whose duty is to
ensure the supply of energy to enhanced protection ser-
vice customers.

In addition, for the purposes of the provision of dispatching
services, which is the efficient management of the flow of
electricity on the grid to ensure that deliveries and withdra-
wals are balanced, electricity is traded on a dedicated mar-
ket, the Ancillary Services Market (ASM), where Terna procu-
res the required resources from producers.

The Authority and the Ministry for Economic Development
are responsible for regulating the electricity market. More
specifically, with regard to dispatching services, the Autho-
rity has adopted a number of measures regulating plants
essential to the security of the electrical system. These
plants are deemed essential based on their geographical
location, their technical features and their importance to
the solution of certain critical issues for grid by Terna. In
exchange for being required to have electricity available
and providing binding offers, these plants receive special
remuneration determined by the Authority.

Since the launch of the market in 2004, the regulations
have provided for a form of administered compensation
for generation capacity. In particular, plants that make
their capacity available for certain periods of the year
when demand is typically high receive a special fee.

In August 2011, the Authority published a resolution that
establishes the criteria for introducing a market mechanism
for compensating generation capacity that replaces the cur-
rent administered reimbursement. This mechanism involves
holding auctions through which Terna will purchase from
generators the capacity required to ensure that the electri-
city system is adequately supplied in the coming years. The
initial auctions will be held in 2013, with producers agreeing

to make their capacity available starting from 2017.

Gas

Wholesale market

The extraction, import (from EU countries) and export of
natural gas have been liberalized. Gas import contracts for
a duration of more than one year are subject to the appro-

val of the Ministry for Economic Development.

According to the provisions of Legislative Decree 130/2010,
operators cannot hold a market share that exceeds 40% of
domestic consumption. This limit may be raised to 55% if
the operator commits to creating 4 billion cubic meters in
new storage capacity by 2015. Under this provision, the Mi-
nistry for Economic Development approved ENI's proposed
plan to create new storage in early 2011.

In 2010, the new spot gas market trading platform (“Gas
Exchange”) began operations, with the EMO taking on
the role of the central counterparty. The balancing mar-
ket got under way in December 2011, with Snam Rete Gas
taking on the role of the central counterparty, under the
rules established by the Authority.

Transport, storage and regasification

Transport, storage and regasification (LNG) are subject to
regulation by the Authority, which sets the rates for en-
gaging in these activities at the start of each regulatory
period (lasting 4 years) and updates them annually over
the same period using established mechanisms.

Storage is carried out under concession (for a maximum
of 20 years) issued by the Ministry for Economic Deve-
lopment to applicants that satisfy the requirements of
Legislative Decree 164/2000. LNG activities are subject to
the grant of a special ministerial permit.

Infrastructure and Networks

Electricity

Distribution and metering

Enel Distribuzione provides distribution and metering
within the Infrastructure and Networks Division under a
30-year concession set to expire in 2030.

The distribution rates are set by the Authority at the start
of each regulatory period (lasting 4 years) based on the
costs of providing distribution and metering services. The-
se rates are updated each year over the same period using
mechanisms determined by the Authority.

In order to set the rates for the first year of each regulatory
period, the Authority determines, based on the information
obtained from the operators’ unbundled financial state-
ments, a sector-level cost that covers operating costs and

depreciation and provides an appropriate return on capital.
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The rate component covering operating costs is updated
annually using a price-cap mechanism (i.e. based on the
inflation rate and an annual rate of reduction of unit costs
called the X-factor). The return-on-capital and depreciation
components are revised each year to take account of new
investments, depreciation and the revaluation of existing
assets using the deflator for gross fixed capital formation.
The fourth regulatory period (2012-2015) began on Ja-
nuary 1, 2012. The Authority has set a return-on-capital
for distribution and metering activities for the period at
7.6% for investments made through the end of 2011
(during the previous 2008-2011 regulatory period, there
were two distinct rates of 7.0% and 7.2% for distribution
and metering, respectively) and of 8.6% for investments
made starting in 2012. Further increases were also made
for certain categories of incentivized investments. The X-
factor used in updating the operating costs component
is 2.8% for distribution and 7.1% for metering (1.9% and
5.0%, respectively, during the previous regulatory period).
While updating the rules for the fourth regulatory period,
the Authority increased the standard loss rate paid to di-
stribution companies providing medium-voltage power
by 0.7%.

Electricity distribution is also subject to service quality re-
gulation, under which the Authority establishes the an-
nual trend levels for the following service continuity indi-
cators for customers connected to low-voltage service:

> duration of long service interruptions;

> number of long and short interruptions.

Each year distributors receive bonuses or penalties depen-
ding on whether their actual performance as determined
using these efficiency indicators is better or worse than

the established trend values.

Iberia and Latin America

Spain

General information

The Spanish electricity system is mainly governed by Law

54/1997, which was amended by Law 17/2007, among

other acts. The regulatory framework guidelines are as

follows:

> electricity generation is conducted in under free mar-
ket conditions;
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> transport, distribution and technical and financial ope-
rations are regulated;

> end markets are entirely liberalized; starting from July
1, 2009, consumers that satisfy certain conditions
may opt to be served by CURs (Comercializadora de
Ultimo Recurso), which apply the TUR (Tarifa de Ul-
timo Recurso), set by the government, taking into
consideration the cost of electricity prices based on
forward markets;

> connection fees are uniform across the country and are
received by distributors who perform this service on be-

half of the electricity system.

Wholesale market

All sales of electricity by generating companies are con-
ducted through the bidding system managed by the
market operator, OMEL (Operador del Mercado Eléctri-
co), which was formed in December 1997, since it ope-
rates the wholesale market, MIBEL (Mercado Ibérico de
Electricidad), that covers the entire Iberian peninsula
(Spain and Portugal). Integration of the Spanish and
Portuguese markets was completed in July 2007 with a
market-splitting mechanism where the interconnection
is operated jointly. The hourly rate corresponds to the
marginal price from the intersection of the supply and
demand curves. The volumes of energy sold through
bilateral contracts are not used in calculating the price,
although they must still be reported to OMEL. All plants
with an output of more than 50 MW are required to sell
their electricity on the wholesale market. REE (Red Eléc-
trica de Espafa) is the system operator and is responsible
for the technical management and monitoring of the

transmission network.

National coal subsidy (intervention in the
operation of the wholesale market)

In September 2010, the European Commission granted
the Spanish government’s request to subsidize the use of
domestic coal by power plants. In February 2011, a mini-
sterial resolution was published establishing the main pa-
rameters for application of this mechanism, which should
terminate on December 31, 2014. The total volume of
electricity generated from this resource between 2011
and 2014 cannot exceed 23.4 TWh per year.
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Capacity Payment

The capacity payment mechanism is divided into three

parts:

> reimbursement for investments in plants in service
from January 1998;

> reimbursement for investments in improving the envi-
ronment (installation of desulphurization technologies
and other devices for reducing the environmental im-
pact of coal plants);

> reimbursement for capacity availability.

The amount of investment compensated for the first cate-

gory is equal to €26,000/MW per year for 10 years; for the

second, €8,750/MW per year over 10 years; for the third

and final category, €5,150/MW per year for combined-

cycle (CCGT), coal and gas-fueled plants and reservoir-

based hydroelectric plants and pumping plants that meet

certain criteria on availability. The latter is multiplied by

availability coefficients based on the technology employed

(a transitional measure approved in November 2011 pen-

ding a final measure).

The cost of the capacity payments is covered by a rate com-

ponent set periodically by the government and imposed on

all end users.

Retail market.
TUR and the social bonus

All end users have formally been participants in the free
market since July 1, 2009. However, consumers with a con-
tractual committed capacity of 10 kW or less are entitled to
be charged the TUR (Tarifa de Ultimo Recurso), which is esta-
blished and regulated by the government.

Under the provisions of Royal Decree 485/2009, published
in April 2009, the Ministry sets the TUR to be charged by
suppliers of last resort. The Royal Decree also designates five
companies, including Endesa, with sufficient resources to
act as the supplier of last resort (the other four are Iberdrola,
Union Fenosa, Hidrocantabrico and E.ON).

Royal Decree Law 6/2009 also introduced a social measu-
re (the social bonus), available starting from July 1, 2009
to all customers who meet certain income conditions set
out in the decree. The social bonus is equal to the diffe-
rence between the TUR and the Tarifa Reducida. The social
bonus is applied to customer bills by the sales companies
and the related cost is borne by the generation companies

based on a percentage set by the government.

Regulated costs, access rates
and rate deficit

Under the current regulatory system, the main “regulated
costs” of the Spanish electricity system pertain to remu-
neration for transport and distribution networks, financial
resources for the authorities that manage the system (re-
gulator, market operator, etc.), extra costs arising from ex-
tra-peninsular generation, subsidies for the special regime
(régimen especial, renewable resources, electricity gene-
ration from waste and cogeneration) and for the energy
savings and efficiency plan.

In order to compensate these costs, all customers pay an
access rate set by the government annually (it may be
adjusted quarterly to take account of changing market
conditions). Royal Decree 1544/2011, published in No-
vember 2011, also requires producers to pay an access
rate for energy delivered into the system of €0.5/MWh (in
addition to paying for energy delivered, pumping plants
pay equally for the 30% of electricity consumed).

At present, access rate receipts do not cover actual regula-
ted system costs. This situation creates a rate deficit.

Royal Decree Law 6/2009 set out a solution for reducing
the annual deficit, with the goal of completely eliminating
it by 2013, through the introduction of annual ceilings.
In 2010, since the access rate levels approved continued
to not reflect the actual cost of regulated activities, Royal
Decree Law 14/2010 introduced a new deficit reduction
path with the following limits: €5.5 billion for 2010, €3 bil-
lion for 2011 and €1.5 billion for 2012.

The cumulative deficit at December 31, 2010 reached
€25.8 billion, and it is estimated that it will exceed €28.8
billion at December 31,2011, an amount that exceeds the
limit set for that date.

The deficit is divided among five electric companies: Endesa,
Iberdrola and Gas Natural Fenosa (responsible for 93% of
the total), as well as Hidroeléctrica del Cantabrico and E.ON.
Until 2008, the companies securitized a portion of the de-
ficit through auctions, however the outbreak of the eco-
nomic and financial crisis meant that the ex-ante deficit
auctions had no bidders starting from September 2008.
Royal Decree Law 6/2009 established a new financing
mechanism through which electric companies may sell
their receivables to FADE (Fondo de Amortizacion del Défi-
cit Eléctrico), which places them on the debt market.

In January 2011, FADE was formed with the support of
the government. The initial amount of the receivables
transferred to FADE by the electricity companies was €16.7
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billion. Although the initial agreement requires that the
amount transferred be securitized by July 2011, due to the
sovereign debt crisis this has been postponed to July 2012.
The amount actually securitized in 2011 came to €9.2 bil-
lion, of which €4.7 billion for Endesa.

The extra-peninsular electricity system

Article 12 of the law governing the electricity industry
subjects the supply of electricity to extra-peninsular regions
(the Balearic and Canary Islands) to common regulation
based on the specific characteristics of their geographical
location. This special regulation was established by Royal
Decree 1747/2003 and the Ministerial Order of March 30,
2006, which created the implementing mechanisms.

The main feature of the extra-peninsular regulatory system
is that electricity generation is subject to regulated prices,
unlike on the Iberian peninsula. Other activities (distribu-
tion, transport and sale) are basically regulated in the same
way as they are on the Iberian peninsula. This remunera-
tion was set so as to cover the costs of the activity and pro-
vide a return on capital employed. In order to receive the
comprehensive rate, generating companies receive an in-
demnity corresponding to the difference between the two
values, in addition to the market price for electricity sold.
Indemnities accrued at December 31, 2008 and not yet
received will be financed by the proceeds of the electri-
city system, while they shall become an item in the State
budget starting from 2013. During the transitional pe-
riod (2009-2013), Royal Decree Law 6/2009 established a
hybrid system under which extra-peninsular generation is
financed by gradually increasing the portion covered by
the general State budget and decreasing that borne by
the electricity system.

Nuclear safety

On March 16, 2011, in line with discussions occurring at
the European level, the Spanish government asked the
Nuclear Safety Council (CSN) to review the safety systems
in place at Spanish nuclear power plants. Specifically, it
was asked to perform additional seismic studies and stu-
dies on the threat posed by flooding.

On September 15,2011, the CSN sent a preliminary report
on tests conducted on the durability of nuclear power
plants to the European Union. All the plants were found

to comply with safety specifications.
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Civil liability of nuclear plant operators
OnMay 28,2011, Law 12/2011 governing the new system
of civil liability for nuclear plant operators was published.
The law raises the mandatory minimum liability for opera-
torsinthe event of an accident to €1,200 million (previously
€700 million). The law also expands the concept of “nucle-
ar damage” to include environmental damage, restoration
measures and foregone profits and extends the time limit

for bringing claims for personal injury from 10 to 30 years.

Carbon emissions

In 2011, according to the best estimates available, Endesa’s
Spanish plants produced about 35.0 million metric tons
(Mton) of CO, emissions, compared with an allowance of

around 23.7 Mton under the National Allocation Plan.

Distribution

Royal Decree 222/2008, published in February 2008,
establishes the policies for compensating distribution ac-
tivities to ensure adequate service, offering incentives to
improve service quality and reduce losses.

Each year, the Ministry sets the compensation to be paid
based on the proposal of the Comisién Nacional de la
Energia. The compensation is adjusted annually by com-
paring the investments made with the Modelo de Red de
Referencia, a technical reference tool that calculates the

grid’s ideal development.

Latin America

The Division operates in Latin America (Argentina, Brazil,
Chile, Colombia and Peru) through Endesa. Each country
has its own regulatory framework, the main features of
which are described below for the various business acti-

vities.
Generation

Under the regulations established by the competent au-
thorities (regulatory authorities and ministries) in the va-
rious countries, operators are free to make their own de-
cisions concerning investment in generation. Brazil is the
only country where plans for new generation capacity are
imposed by ministerial order, and this capacity is develo-
ped through auctions open to all.

All of the countries have a centralized dispatching system

with a system marginal price. Usually, the merit order is
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created based on variable production costs that are mea-
sured periodically, with the exception of Colombia, where
the merit order is based on the bids of market operators.

Currently in Argentina and Peru, regulatory measures are
in place governing the formulation of the spot market pri-
ce. In Argentina, the measure, adopted in 2002 following
the economic and energy crisis that affected that country,
is based on the assumption that there are no restrictions
onthe supply of gas in the country. By contrast, in Peru, the
measure on formulating the spot price has been in place
since 2008, when the existence of restrictions in the gas
and electricity transport systems caused the authorities to

|u

adopt an emergency measure for defining an “ideal” mar-
ginal cost, assuming the absence of such restrictions on
transport networks.

Long-term auction mechanisms are widely used for who-
lesale energy and/or capacity sales. These systems gua-
rantee continuity of supply and offer greater stability to
generating companies, with the expectation that this
encourages new investments. Long-term sales contracts
are used in Chile, Brazil, Peru and Colombia. In Brazil, the
price at which electricity is sold is based on the average
long-term auction prices for new and existing energy. In
Colombia, the price is set by auction between the opera-
tors, which usually enter into medium-term contracts (up
to 4 years). Finally, a regulatory framework recently intro-
duced in Chile and Peru allows distribution companies to
sign long-term contracts to sell electricity on regulated
end-user markets. Auctions are gradually replacing the
practice of regulators setting a nodal price for supplying
electricity to regulated customers.

Chile, Peru and Brazil have also approved legislation to en-
courage the use of unconventional renewable resources,
which sets out the objectives for the contribution of re-
newable resources to the energy mix and governs their

generation.

Distribution and sale

Distribution is performed mainly under concession arran-
gements, using long-term or open-ended contracts, with
regulations governing prices and network access. Distri-
bution rates are revised every four years (Chile, Peru and
the region of Brazil served by Coelce) or five years (Colom-
bia and the region of Brazil served by Ampla). Rate reviews
have never been conducted in Argentina.

In Chile, Brazil and Peru, distribution companies hold auc-

tions to procure electricity for regulated market custo-

mers, while in Colombia sales companies negotiate prices
directly with generation companies, passing through the
average market price to end users.

In general, the liberalization of the end-user marketis ata
rather advanced stage, though not yet complete. Eligibili-
ty thresholds are set at 30 kW in Argentina (20% of volu-
mesin 2010), 3 MW in Brazil (30% of volumesin 2010), 0.5
MW in Chile (40% of volumes in 2010), 0.1 MW in Colom-
bia (35% of volumes in 2010) and 0.2 MW in Peru (46%
of volumes in 2010). Free market customers sign bilateral
contracts with generation companies for electricity. The
regulatory authorities set the rates for regulated market

customers.

Limits on concentration
and vertical integration

In principle, existing legislation permits companies to take
part in a variety of activities in the electricity sector (gene-
ration, distribution, sales). Usually, greater restrictions are
imposed on participation in transmission activities so as
to ensure that all operators have adequate access to the
network. There are special restrictions on generation and
distribution companies holding stakes in transmission com-
panies in Argentina, Chile and Colombia. Furthermore, in
Colombia companies formed after 1994 may not adopt or
maintain a vertically-integrated structure.

As to concentration within the industry, Argentina, Brazil
and Chile have not set any specific restrictions on vertical
or horizontal integration, while in Peru business combina-
tions require prior authorization above certain thresholds.
In Colombia, no company may control more than 25% of
the generation and sales markets, while in Brazil, as pre-
viously mentioned, there are no explicit restrictions on in-
tegration in the electricity sector, although administrative
authorization is required for business combinations that
would result in market share of over 40%, or that involve a
company whose annual turnover exceeds BRL 400 million
(about €177 million).

International

Russia

The process of reorganizing and privatizing the assets of

RAO UES (the former state-controlled, vertically-integra-
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ted monopolist) was successfully completed, ending with
the dissolution of RAO UES in July 2008. The generation
assets, divided among around 20 generation companies,
were sold to domestic and foreign investors (in addition
to Enel, the German company E.ON and the Finnish com-
pany Fortum also participated). RusHydro (the hydroelec-
tric genco), Rosenergoatom (the company that manages
nuclear power plants), InterRAO (the company engaged
in trading and generating electricity in Russia and abroad)
and the grid companies remained under state control.
Wholesale electricity and capacity sales were fully regula-
ted until 2007. The market has been liberalized in several
stages, with a gradual increase in the volumes of electrici-
ty and capacity available for sale on the free market. Since
January 1, 2011, all volumes for non-residential customers
are sold on the free market. Electricity is mainly sold throu-
gh a day-ahead market. In 2011, the temporary capacity
market was replaced with the long-term capacity market
(on anannual basis for 2011 and 2012 and on a multi-year
basis starting from 2013) with the goal of ensuring that
there is sufficient capacity available over the long-term
and that generating companies’ revenues are stable.
However, the government, in order to ensure stable capa-
city, has compiled a list of new plants (so-called DPM) that
are not included in the capacity market and that will recei-
ve guaranteed remuneration (capacity payment) for ten
years.In 2011, Enel OGK-5 placed two new gas combined-
cycle plants in Nevinnomysskaya and Sredneuralskaya
(410 MW each) into service that will take part in the DPM
capacity payment system.

In the retail market, the supply of power to residential
customers is ensured by Guarantee Suppliers operating
on a monopoly basis, while non-residential customers
are free to choose their own suppliers. However, despite
the approval this year of a number of measures designed
to promote competition in the non-residential market,
switching is still limited since the process involved is still
too complex. Market reform is expected in 2012 aimed at
effectively nurturing competition.

In 2011, the government appointed a working group
comprised of industry experts and market players (inclu-
ding Enel OGK-5) to prepare a proposal for reforming the
market. With regard to the wholesale market in particular,
the proposed model envisages the transition from a cen-
tralized market to a system of bilateral contracts.
Furthermore, as to capacity remuneration, except for the
type of plant covered by the subsidized capacity payment

system (DPM), ideas being considered include eliminating
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capacity remuneration mechanisms and introducing an
energy-only market capable of ensuring adequate remu-
neration of generation assets and providing incentives for
investing in modernization.

Slovakia

Under mounting pressure from commodity prices on
the price of electricity, on July 2, 2008, the Slovakian go-
vernment published a law to safeguard electricity sales to
residential customers and small/medium enterprises (SME).
Slovenské elektrarne expressed its disagreement with price
regulation, arguing that prices should be freely negotiated
on market terms. In December 2010, the regulator, URSO,
decided to permit companies to freely set agreed prices
with end users (residential and business), with a price cei-
ling linked to the prices developments on the German EEX
market. InJuly 2011, URSO further liberalized sales by lifting
the ceiling for electricity sales to SMEs, leaving the indexing

to the German price for sales to residential customers only.

Romania

OnJuly 1,2007,Romaniaintroduced European unbundling
principles for electricity companies. As a result, separate
companies were created for the management of the di-
stribution grid and the sale of electricity, with separate ad-
ministrative, accounting and management arrangements.
All customers are also free to choose their own suppliers
on the free market, again starting from that date. Custo-
mers that do not elect to choose their own suppliers are
guaranteed service continuity by an implicit supplier. This
service will be provided by the same companies involved

in the sale of electricity.

Distribution

Electricity distribution rates are based on multi-year regu-

latory period (the first period of three years (2005-2007),

and subsequent periods of 5 years) to which a revenue

cap mechanism is applied. Regulated distribution reve-

nues are calculated based on:

> remuneration of the regulatory asset base (RAB) throu-
gh the WACC;

> recognition of operating and maintenance costs;

> recognition of grid losses;

> regulated asset depreciation.

For the second regulatory period (2008-2012), the autho-
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rity applies an efficiency factor of not less than 1% to con-
trollable operating costs. The rate for the regulated WACC
is 10% and the target grid loss rate is 9.5% for 2012.

Also during the second regulatory period, a total ceiling
of 12% on annual distribution rate increases was imposed
(ceiling determined in real terms, net of inflation).

The third regulatory period will startin 2013 and end in 2017.

Sales to regulated-market customers

The method for determining the price for regulated-mar-
ket customers is based on the principle of completely re-
cognizing the electricity purchase cost component plus a
margin of 2.5% on the cost of electricity. The Romanian
regulator, ANRE, sets the energy portfolio for each sup-
plier in terms of prices and volumes in order to arrive at a

single, final tariff for the entire country.

France

Thanks to an agreement signed with EDF in 2007, Enel

may generate nuclear and wind-based power and sell

electricity in France. The new regulatory framework for the

French market was considerably modified by the NOME

Act (Nouvelle organisation du marché de I'électricité), the

main components of which are:

> access to nuclear-generated base electricity for alter-
native suppliers at regulated prices (known as ARENH
or "Accés Régulé a I'’Electricité Nucléaire Historique”) for
a 15-year transitional period, with volumes calculated
annually on the basis of the volume of nuclear gene-
ration as a percentage of total consumption, with an
annual ceiling of 100 TWh;

> alternative suppliers are required every six month to
adapt requests for ARENH to the forecasts for the volu-
me and profile of their portfolios and the share of nu-
clear energy used to cover consumption;

> responsibility for allocating ARENH volumes to alterna-
tive suppliers is assigned to regulator CRE;

> the French transmission network operator (RTE) is re-
sponsible for overseeing ARENH energy trades and an
independent body (Caisse des Dépédts et Consignation)
is responsible for managing cash flow/payments;

> the ARENH price will be set with a ministerial decree,
using the level of the TaRTAM (Tarif Réglementé Tran-
sitoire d’Ajustement du Marché — a rate set by the Mi-
nistry of Energy for those customers that had initially
decided to switch to the free market. The ARENH me-

chanism replaced the TaRTAM) at December 31, 2010
as a benchmark; as from 2013 the ARENH price will be
determined directly by CRE. The ARENH price is set at
€40/MWh for 2010 and €42/MWh for 2012;

> the Ministry is required, by the end of the 1st Half of
2012, to establish the regulatory framework for deve-
loping the capacity market, a mechanism that must en-
sure plant availability during peak periods. It is not yet
certain whether interconnection capacity will be inclu-
ded, although it is possible that ways of incorporating

it will be explored over the medium-term.

Renewable Energy

Europe

In 2009, the European Commission issued Directive
2009/28/EC on the promotion of the use of energy from
renewable resources, setting mandatory national targets
aimed at increasing the share of renewable energy in fi-
nal consumption to 20% by 2020 in Europe. This directive
and a subsequent European Commission communication
of June 30, 2009 required each Member State to adopt a
national renewable energy action plan, containing a de-
scription of its domestic policies on renewables, the major
strategic actions to be taken, and an assessment of the
contribution that each resource and sector can make to
the achievement of the national targets. There are a va-
riety of incentives used in Europe, the primary ones being
feed-in tariff or premium systems, green certificates and
auctions. There is no European-wide harmonized incenti-
ve system since the extent to which renewable energy has

been developed varies by country.

Italy

Green certificates and comprehensive tariffs

In Italy, a variety of mechanisms, differing by resource and
size of plant, are used to encourage electricity generation
from renewable resources. The Energy Services Operator
(ESO) is responsible for managing these incentives.

The primary incentive mechanism used is green certificates
(introduced with Legislative Decree 79/1999). Under this
system, electricity producers and importers are required to
deliver a share of renewable energy. This obligation can be
satisfied by purchasing green certificates from producers
that generate electricity from renewable resources. Curren-

tly, the share is equal to 6.8% of non-renewable production.
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The amount of the incentive depends upon the market va-
lue at which operators can purchase green certificates to
meet their obligation. This market value is set within a ran-
ge. The maximum value is equal to the price at which the
ESO places the certificates it holds on the market (calcu-
lated as provided for in Article 2(148) of Law 244/2007),
which came to €113.1/MWh in 2011. The minimum value
is equal to the price at which the ESO withdraws green
certificates from the market, which is set at the average
market price for certificates for the three preceding year
for the 2009-2011 withdrawal period. The minimum for
2011 was €87.38/MWh.

Power plants with an output of T MW or less (200 kW for
wind plants) may take advantage of a 15-year comprehen-
sive fixed tariff instead of the green certificates system. The
comprehensive rate was set by Law 244/2007, and subse-
quently updated by Law 99/2009.

Energy account

The energy account mechanism is used to provide in-
centives for photovoltaic plants. It involves assigning a
feed-in premium rate (excluding the cost of electricity)
to encourage energy generation over a 20-year period.
The rate was updated with a Ministerial Decree of May 5,
2011 (Fourth Energy Account) for the period up to 2016.
This decree sets a target of 23 GW of installed capaci-
ty by 2016, with non-binding expenditure caps set eve-
ry six months for the years 2013 through 2016. If these
caps are exceeded, the subsidized rates for subsequent
six-month periods are also reduced. For the 2011-2012
period only, large plants (roof-top installations of over
1 MW and ground installations of up to 200 kW) are
subject to a binding expenditure ceiling with enrollment

in a registry maintained by the ESO.

Expected developments
28/2011,
2009/28/EC, significantly revised the current incentive

Legislative Decree transposing Directive
mechanisms. This revision was to have been implemented
through ministerial decrees that were initially expected
by September 2011, but they have not yet been issued.
Specifically, the new incentive system will replace green
certificates with a tariff mechanism and Dutch auctions
run by the ESO. However, incentives for photovoltaic
plants will continue to be provided under the energy ac-
count system.

These new mechanisms will apply to plants entering service
as from 2013. The green certificate mechanism will continue
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to apply through 2015 to plants that enter into service by
the end of 2012, while rights to certificates will be converted

into a tariff system for the rest of the incentive period.
Bulgaria

The Bulgarian incentive system primarily uses resource-

based feed-in tariffs. On-shore wind plants, photovoltaic

plans, hydroelectric plants of less than 10 MW and bio-

mass plants of less than 5 MW are eligible for these incen-

tives. The government made the following amendments

to the law on renewable resources:

> reduced the incentive period from 15 to 12 years for all
resources, except for photovoltaic, for which the period
was cut from 25 to 20 years;

> the rates are calculated annually (June) and are held
constant during the entire incentive period (without
indexing);

> eligibility for incentives takes effect as from the date

the work is completed.

France

Generation from hydroelectric plants, on-shore and off-
shore wind power, biomass, biogas, photovoltaic and
geothermal power is promoted in France with the use of
a feed-in tariff system differentiated by energy resource,
employing long-term contracts (15 years for geother-
mal, on-shore wind and biomass; 20 years for off-shore
wind, photovoltaic and hydroelectric) indexed to infla-
tion. Unlike the other renewable resources, photovoltaic
power is incentivized with a more complex mechanism,
with the tariff rates being revised quarterly on the basis
of a coefficient that measures the level of demand in the
previous quarter. In order to ensure the development of
off-shore wind plants and photovoltaic systems installed
on the ground or with a capacity of more than 100 kW,
the French government has adopted auction mechanisms.
The French system also provides for other sorts of support
established each year on the basis of budget availability,
such as accelerated depreciation and tax deductions of up

to 33% for investments in overseas departments.
Greece

The Greek incentive system uses a feed-in tariff differentia-
ted by energy resource. Rates for all sources are indexed an-
nually to the rates of the Public Power Corporation if they are
regulated, otherwise they are adjusted by 80% of the chan-
ge in the Greek consumer price index (CPI), with the excep-
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tion of photovoltaic power, which is adjusted by 25% of the
CPI. The incentives are awarded through a 20-year contract
for all resources, with the exception of roof-mounted photo-
voltaic systems with a capacity of less than 10 kW, which be-
nefit from a 25-year contract. Resources that do not benefit
from local or European investment support systems receive a

rate premium of 15-20%, with the exception of solar power.

Romania

The main form of incentive in Romania for all renewable
energy resources is the green certificates system. The only
exception regards hydroelectric plants with a capacity of
more than 10 MW, which are not eligible for any incentive
mechanism. Sellers are required to purchase a specified
share of renewable energy each year through the purcha-
se of green certificates on the basis of annual targets set
by law for the share of gross generation from renewables
(8.3% in 2010, rising to 20% in 2020). Owing to a lack of
certificates on the market, each year the Romanian autho-
rities publish a mandatory share reduced to ensure balan-
ce between supply and demand. The value of certificates
required varies on the basis of coefficients differentiated
by resource. More specifically, these are 2 green certifica-
tes per megawatt hour (MWh) of generation from bio-
mass, geothermal and wind until 2017 (1 certificate after
2017), 6 certificates per MWh of photovoltaic generation
and 3 certificates per MWh of hydroelectric generation by
new plants. The value is expressed in euro/certificate and
is set by law within a specified range (cap & floor). In the
case of violations, sellers are subject to a penalty equal to

double the maximum value of the certificate.

Spain

The Spanish incentive system for renewables, which was
updated with Royal Decree 661/2007, is mainly based on
feed-in tariff and feed-in premium mechanisms. All plants
in operation prior to January 1, 2008 could elect one of
the two incentive schemes by January 1, 2009. Following
that date the election was frozen for the entire incenti-
ve period. As regards the feed-in premium system, Royal
Decree 661/2007 also provides for a minimum and ma-
ximum range (cap & floor) for the value of the incentive
differentiated by resource. As from September 28, 2008,
with Royal Decree 1578/2008, photovoltaic systems are
only eligible for the feed-in tariff mechanism, with tariff

rates being updated during four annual windows (convo-

catoria) on the basis of the capacity registered in the pre-
vious reference period. Both tariff systems are all-inclusive
and premiums are adjusted annually for inflation.

In 2009 the authorities established the criteria for the cre-
ation of a pre-register for access to the incentive mecha-
nism for projects under the special regime. Such projects
are eligible for the pre-register only if they hold permits
guaranteeing entry into service by a specified deadline.

In addition, Royal Decree 1614/2011, Royal Decree
1565/2011 and Law 14/2010 introduced a number of
regulatory changes for existing mechanisms. The main
amendments involved a reduction in the premium for
some operational wind plants and a limit on the number
of hours eligible for the incentive.

With Royal Decree 1/2012, the Spanish government tem-
porarily suspended the incentive mechanisms for new
renewable energy projects. The suspension did not affect
projects already in the pre-register and those that had
already submitted applications for the incentives. In other

words, the suspension will not have retroactive effect.

Latin America

The development of renewable energy resources in Latin
America is less diversified than in Europe. In particular, the
territory has long had a large number of major hydroe-
lectric plants. The main incentive approach involves long-
term power purchase agreements (PPA), tax incentives

and facilitated transport rates.

Brazil

The incentive system for renewable energy in Brazil was
created in 2002 with the implementation of a feed-in me-
chanism (PROINFA), and was then harmonized with the
sales system for conventional power using competitive
auctions. The auctions are divided between new plants
and existing plants and comprise:
> Leildo Fontes Alternativas, in which all technologies
compete;
> Leildo Energia de Reserva, in which a single technology
competes. These auctions are normally organized to
increase reserve capacity and/or promote the deve-
lopment of certain technologies (such as renewables).
At present, the auctions are divided into A-1 (normally for
existing plants), A-3 and A-5 auctions on the basis of the ge-
nerator’s obligation to supply the energy awarded after one,

three or five years. An auction typically had two phases: the
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descending-clock phase in which the auction organizer esta-
blishes the opening price for the auction and the generators
submit decreasing bids; and the pay-as-bid phase in which
the remaining generators further reduce the price until the
supply of power covers all the demand up for auction. The
winning bidders are granted long-term contracts whose
term varies by resource: 15 years for thermal biomass plants,
20years for wind plants and 30 years for hydroelectric plants.
The Brazilian auction mechanism is used for all renewable
resources, with the exception of hydroelectric plants with
a capacity of more than 30 MW.

Chile

Chile has a system mandating achievement of specified
renewable energy targets for those who withdraw power
for sale to distributors or end users. The law sets a level
of 5% of all power under contract after August 31, 2007.
Between 2010 and 2014, the proportion of electricity from
renewables will rise by 0.5% a year to reaching a share of
10% by 2024. The current mechanism establishes penal-
ties for failure to achieve the mandatory share. The Chi-
lean government is currently discussing the possibility of
increasing the mandatory share from 10% in 2024 to 20%
in 2020. The Comité Asesor para el Desarrollo Energético
(CADE), which was charged with analyzing the Chilean
energy market, produced a report recommending a rene-
wables target of 15% by 2024. The proposal to set the tar-
get at 20% by 2020 was recently approved by the Senate
and is currently being examined by the Energy Committee
of the lower house. All renewable energy resources are
eligible for the purposes of meeting the requirement. For
hydroelectric plants with a capacity of up to 40 MW, the
system provides for a corrective factor which counts all of
the first 20 MW and a declining proportion of the capacity
between 20 and 40 MW.

Mexico

The renewables promotion law (LAERFTE) was published
in 2008 to govern the regulatory framework for the tran-
sition of the country towards clean energy technologies.
In 2009 and 2010 a series of implementing measures
were published. In 2011, an amendment to the LAERFTE

confirmed the goal of producing 35% of the country’s
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energy from renewable resources by 2024. Private-sector
investors participate as independent power producers
(IPPs, who sell all their capacity to the Comision Federal
de Energia using auction mechanisms), self suppliers and
small-scale generators (with an installed capacity of less
than 30 MW, selling their capacity on the basis of rates re-
gulated by the Comision Federal de Energia).

In December 2011 the Senate approved a major change
that allows hydroelectric plants with a capacity of more
than 30 MW that meet certain conditions concerning sur-
face area and the size of reservoirs to qualify as renewable

energy plants.

Peru

The renewable energy incentive system is based on auc-
tions differentiated by renewable resource. It was intro-
duced in 2010. The auctions are defined in terms of elec-
tricity generated for wind, solar and biomass plants, and
by capacity for hydroelectric facilities. Hydroelectric plants
with a capacity of more than 20 MW are not eligible for
the incentive system. The auctions start with a maximum
price and close depending on the bid price (a pay-as-bid
mechanism). The price can be adjusted on the basis of the

US consumer price index if the increase is more than 5%.

North America

The main forms of incentive provided for in North America
are the Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS) system at the
state level and tax incentives at the federal level.

United States

The United States has a two-level renewables incentive sy-
stem. The federal level envisages various types of support,
including tax incentives for production and investment (the
Production Tax Credit and the Investment Tax Credit), acce-
lerated depreciation and federal subsidies. At the state level,
the main incentive is a Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS)
mechanism, i.e. a system of mandatory percentages of ge-
neration from renewables for utilities, with targets differing
from state to state. Most states have adopted systems of
tradable certificates but there is no corresponding platform
active at the federal level.
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Main risks and uncertainties

Due to the nature of its business, the Group is exposed to
a variety of risks, notably market risks, credit risk, liquidity
risk, operational risks and regulatory risk.

In order to limits its exposure to these risks, the Group ana-
lyzes, monitors, manages and controls them as described
in this section.

From an organizational standpoint, over the last year a
governance model was developed for financial, commod-

ity and credit risks that envisages the formation of special

risk committees, both at the Group level and at the Divi-
sion/company level. These committees are responsible for
setting risk management strategies and overseeing risk
management and control activities, as well as developing
policies on risk management, on management and con-
trol roles and responsibilities and on the structure of an
operational limits system for the Group and, if necessary,

for the individual Divisions/companies.

Risks connected with market
iberalization and regulatory developments

The energy markets in which the Group operates are cur-
rently undergoing gradual liberalization, which is being
implemented using different approaches and timetables
from country to country.

As a result of these processes, the Group is exposed to in-
creasing competition from new entrants and the develop-
ment of organized markets.

The business risks generated by the natural participation of
the Group in such markets have been addressed by integrat-
ing along the value chain, with a greater drive for techno-
logical innovation, diversification and geographical expan-
sion. More specifically, the initiatives taken have increased
the customer base in the free market, with the aim of in-
tegrating downstream into final markets, optimizing the
generation mix, improving the competitiveness of plants
through cost leadership, seeking out new high-potential
markets and developing renewable energy resources with
appropriate investment plans in a variety of countries.

The Group often operates in regulated markets, and chang-
es in the rules governing operations in such markets, and
the associated instructions and requirements with which
the Group must comply, can impact our operations and
performance.

In order to mitigate the risks that such factors can engen-
der, Enel has forged closer relationships with local gov-
ernment and regulatory bodies, adopting a transparent,
collaborative and proactive approach in tackling and elimi-

nating sources of instability in requlatory arrangements.




Risks connected with CO, emissions

In addition to being one of the factors with the largest po-
tential impact on Group operations, emissions of carbon di-
oxide (CO,) represent one of the greatest challenges facing
the Group in safeguarding the environment.

EU legislation governing the emissions trading scheme im-
poses costs for the electricity industry, costs that could rise
substantially in the future. In this context, the instability of
the emissions allowance market accentuates the difficul-
ties of managing and monitoring the situation. In order to

NMarket risks

As part of its operations, Enel is exposed to a variety of
market risks, notably the risk of changes in commodity

prices, interest rates and exchange rates.

mitigate the risk factors associated with CO, regulations,
the Group monitors the development and implementa-
tion of EU and Italian legislation, diversifies its generation
mix towards the use of low-carbon technologies and re-
sources, with a focus on renewables and nuclear power,
develops strategies to acquire allowances at competitive
prices and, above all, enhances the environmental perfor-
mance of its generation plants, increasing their energy ef-

ficiency.

To maintain this risk within the range set outin the Group's
risk management policies at the start of the year, Enel uses

derivatives available in the market.

Risks connected with commodity prices

and supply continuity

Given the nature of its business, Enel is exposed to chang-
es in the prices of fuel and electricity, which can have a
significant impact on its results.

To mitigate this exposure, the Group has developed a
strategy of stabilizing margins by contracting for sup-
plies of fuel and the delivery of electricity to end users or
wholesalers in advance.

The Group has also implemented a formal procedure that

provides for the measurement of the residual commodity risk,

Exchange rate risk

The Group's exposure to exchange rate risk is mainly gen-

erated by the following types of transactions:

> cash flows in respect of the purchase or sale of fuel or
electricity on international markets;

> cash flows in respect of investments in foreign currency,
dividends from unconsolidated foreign investees or cash
flows in respect of the purchase/sale of equity invest-
ments;

> debt contracted by the Parent Company or its subsidi-
aries denominated in currencies other than the func-
tional currency of the respective countries.

Moreover, the consolidated financial statements are sub-
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the specification of a ceiling for maximum acceptable risk and
the implementation of a hedging strategy using derivatives.
For more information on commodity risk management ac-
tivities and managing the derivatives portfolio, please see
note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

In order to limit the risk of interruptions in fuel supplies,
the Group has diversified fuel sources, using suppliers
from different geographical areas and encouraging the

construction of transportation and storage infrastructure.

ject to translation risk — connected with the strategic poli-
cy of international diversification of the Group's portfolio
—as a result of translating subsidiaries’ accounts denomi-
nated in currencies other than the euro.

The main exchange rate exposure of the Enel Group is in
respect of the US dollar.

In order to minimize economic and transaction risks, the
Group has implemented operating processes that ensure
the systematic hedging of the exposures through the defi-
nition and execution of appropriate hedging strategies
that normally call for the use of derivatives.

During 2011, management of exchange rate risk was pur-
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sued in compliance with risk management policies, encoun-

tering no difficulties in accessing the derivatives market.

INterest rate risk

The main source of exposure to interest rate risk for the
Enel Group is the volatility of interest flows associated
with floating-rate financial debt and the need to refinance
maturing debt on market terms and conditions.

Risk management policies are designed to maintain
the risk profile established within the framework of the
Group's formal risk governance procedures, while at the

Credit risk

The Group's commercial, commodity and financial opera-
tions expose it to credit risk, i.e. how the possibility that
an unexpected change in the creditworthiness of a coun-
terparty has an effect on the creditor position, in terms
of insolvency (default risk) or changes in its market value
(spread risk).

In order to minimize credit risk, the Group has adopted a
specific credit risk management policy valid at Group level
that provides for an assessment of the creditworthiness of
the counterparties — on the basis of information supplied
by external providers and internal rating models — and
organized monitoring of risk exposures to promptly dis-
cover any deterioration in credit quality below specified

limits. In order to further mitigate credit risk, in certain

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group, while solvent,
would not be able to discharge its obligations in a timely
manner or would only be able to do so on unfavorable
terms owing to factors connected to the perception of
its riskiness by the market or to systemic crises (credit
crunches, sovereign debt crises, etc.).

Enel’s risk management policies provide for maintaining
a level of liquidity sufficient to meet its obligations over
a specified time horizon without having recourse to ad-
ditional sources of financing as well as maintaining a li-
quidity buffer sufficient to meet unexpected obligations.
Finally, in order to ensure its long-term liquidity, Enel
seeks to achieve a balanced and diversified debt structure

in terms of markets and maturity profile.

For more information, please see note 6 to the consoli-

dated financial statements.

same time containing borrowing costs and limiting the
volatility of results, partly through recourse to hedging
transactions using derivatives. This approach makes it
possible to transform flows indexed to floating rates into
fixed-rate flows, and vice versa.

For more information, please see note 6 to the consoli-

dated financial statements.

cases a request may be made for appropriate collateral or,
for certain segments of its customer portfolio, the Group
may enter into insurance contracts with leading credit in-
surance companies. In addition, a number of assignments
of receivables for specific segments of the trade portfolio
were carried out. The main transactions involved the trade
receivables of the Sales Division.

As to credit risk in respect of the financial transactions,
including those involving financial derivatives, the risk is
minimized by choosing counterparties with high credit
ratings from among the leading Italian and international
financial institutions, portfolio diversification, the use of
margin agreements for the exchange of cash collateral, or

the use of netting arrangements.

Within the Group, Enel SpA (directly and through its sub-
sidiary Enel Finance International NV) manages the cen-
tralized Treasury function (with the exception of the Ende-
sa Group, where that function is performed by Endesa SA
and its subsidiaries Endesa Internacional BV and Endesa
Capital SA), ensuring access to the money and capital mar-
kets. The Parent Company meets liquidity requirements
primarily through cash flows generated by normal opera-
tions and drawing on a range of sources of financing. In
addition, it manages any excess liquidity as appropriate.

The Enel Group's access to the credit market despite the
persistent strains in the financial markets was confirmed
by the placement during the period of bonds for institu-

tional investors totaling €2.25 billion.
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Rating risk

The possibility of accessing the capital market and oth-
er sources of financing, and the related costs, depend,
among other factors, on the rating assigned to the Group.
Enel’s current rating™ is equal to: (i) “"A-" (Standard &
Poor’s); (ii) "A-" with a stable outlook (Fitch); and (iii) "A3"
with a negative outlook (Moody's, following a downgrade
in October 2011). In December 2011, Standard & Poor’s

Country risk

By now, some 50% of the revenues of the Enel Group are
generated outside Italy. The major international expansion of
the Group —located, among other countries, in Latin America
and Russia — therefore requires Enel to assess its exposure to
country risk, namely the macroeconomic, financial, regulato-
ry, market, geopolitical and social risks whose manifestation
could have a negative impact on income or jeopardize cor-
porate assets. In order to mitigate this form of risk, Enel has
adopted a country risk calculation model (using a shadow
rating approach) that specifically monitors the level of coun-
try risk in the areas in which the Group operates.

The start of 2011 was characterized by the explosion of re-
volts in North Africa that overturned the existing authori-
tarian governments. Despite new elections (in Egypt and
Tunisia) and the killing of Gheddafi (Libya), social tensions
remain the primary source of concern regarding countries

in the North African region.

Other risks

Due to the nature of its business, the Group is exposed
to accidents or breakdowns in its generation plants, dis-
tribution networks and upstream gas operations that can
temporarily interrupt operations. In order to measure such
risks and implement effective mitigation measures, the
Group has adopted an integrated system for the identifi-
cation, measurement and management of industrial risks,
as well as implementing a range of prevention and pro-
tection strategies, preventive and predictive maintenance
techniques and technology surveys to identify and control

risks, and making recourse to international best practic-

(1) Figures updated to March 7,2012.
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placed Enel SpA’s long-term ratings under a credit watch
with a view to assessing a possible downgrade.

Any reduction in the rating could limit access to the capital
market and increase finance costs, with a negative impact
on the performance and financial situation of the Group.
Enel’s ratings are reported in detail in the section “Enel

and the financial markets”.

The economic and financial crisis in Greece that began in
2010 was the dominant theme of world economic debate
in 2011. The crisis also spread to the entire European area,
triggering a wave of speculation in government bonds,
which hit Italian and Spanish issues especially hard.

The rise in bond rates in the latter countries increased the
burden of servicing their public debt, thereby generating
a vicious circle of deteriorating country risk as a result of
the increased difficulty of meeting their obligations.

In the United States, where the weak economic situation
caused confidence in President Obama to fall to its lowest
levels, widespread unemployment continues to dampen
consumption. Together with the poor economic situation
in Europe, this threatens to produce a much-feared dou-
ble-dip recession.

In conclusion, the Group's average weighted country risk

rose compared with its level at the end of 2010.

es. Any residual risk is managed using specific insurance
policies to protect corporate assets and provide liability
coverage in the event of harm caused to third parties by
accidents, including pollution, that may occur during the
production and distribution of electricity and gas.

As part of its strategy of maintaining and developing its
cost leadership in the markets in which it has generation
operations, the Group is involved in numerous projects for
the development, improvement and reconversion of its
plants. These projects are exposed to the risks commonly

associated with construction activities, which the Group
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mitigates by requiring its suppliers to provide specific
guarantees and, where possible, obtaining insurance cov-
erage against all phases of construction risk.

In regards to nuclear power generation, Enel operates
in Slovakia through Slovenské elektrarne and in Spain
through Endesa. It also holds a stake in the construction
of the European Pressurized Reactors (EPR) in Flaman-
ville, France. In relation to its nuclear activities, the Group
is exposed to operational risk and may face additional

costs because of, inter alia, accidents, safety violations,

acts of terrorism, natural disasters, equipment malfunc-
tions, malfunctions in the storage, movement, transport
and treatment of nuclear substances and materials. In
those countries where Enel has nuclear operations, there
are specific laws requiring insurance coverage for strict li-
ability for nuclear events attributable to third parties and
which impose a ceiling on the nuclear operator’s financial
exposure. Other mitigating measures have been taken in

accordance with best international practices.
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Outlook

The world macroeconomic environment remains highly un-
certain, and there is still little sign of economic recovery in
the mature European economies, with GDP forecast to con-
tract in Spain and Italy. In the emerging countries in East-
ern Europe, in Russia and in the countries of Latin America,
growth is continuing and the economy is strengthening.
The Group will therefore continue to pursue growth in
those emerging economies, as well as its commitment to
renewable energy, with the goal of strengthening its world
leadership position in this sector.

In addition, Enel confirms research and technological inno-
vation among its strategic priorities, to make energy pro-
duction and consumption more efficient and responsible.

Enel will also continue to focus constant attention on the

9 8 Enel Annual Report 2011

quality of service for end users and the value of relation-
ships with local communities through a transparent policy
of corporate social responsibility.

The Group will continue to implement initiatives to boost
operating efficiency and maximise synergies in all the coun-
tries in which it operates, while pursuing rigorous financial
discipline in investment decisions in order to improve the
consolidated financial position even further.

In this context, the geographical and technological diver-
sification achieved by the Group, together with a well-bal-
anced portfolio of regulated and unregulated businesses,
will enable Enel to largely offset the impact that the weak-
ness of the European economies, especially Italy and Spain,

could have on the Group's performance.
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Our mission

(44

At Enel our mission is to create ano
deliver value in the international
electricity market, benefiting our
customers and our sharenholders,
fostering competition in the
countries in which we operate, ano
meeting the expectations of al

those whno work with us.

Enel works to serve the community,
while respecting the environment
and human satety, with a
commitment to leaving future

generations a better worlad. .
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Sustainability in Enel

Sustainability is an integral part of Enel’s culture: it is the engine of a process of continual improvement that touches all
the Group companies and is a strategic component of growth and development.

With the aim of creating and delivering value in the international energy market to the benefit of our customers, share-
holders and a competitive marketplace, Enel works to improve the community while respecting the environment and
human safety. Enel is closely involved with developing renewable energy and making technological advances for a
better world.

Enel's fundamental ethical principles, enshrined in the Code of Ethics, are at the heart of our corporate culture and

models of behavior required of all employees.

Ten years ago, Enel started upon the path to achieve the highest sustainability standards and has been rewarded
through the interest of socially-responsible investment funds. Enel shares at December 31, 2011 are held by 81 socially-
responsible investors (SRI), representing about 13.9% of our institutional shareholders. This figure refers to SRIs that
include environmental social governance (ESG) standards among the criteria used in making investments decisions. At
December 31,2011, these investors hold around 4.7% of Enel’s total shares outstanding, equal to 6.8% of the float .

In 2011, for the eighth straight year, Enel was included in the Dow Jones Sustainability Index, a market benchmark
which includes the world’s leading companies that meet strict economic, social and environmental criteria. During the
year, Enel was readmitted to the FTSE4Good Index, which measures environmentally sustainable corporate practices,
relations with stakeholders, respect for human rights, the quality of working conditions and actions taken by companies
to fight corruption. Enel was also the only utility company to be ranked among the top sustainable businesses in the
world under the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) and was included in the Carbon Performance Leadership Index (CPLI),
thanks to its enormous commitment seen in its strategy, corporate governance, communication with stakeholders, and
emissions reduction.

(1) As aresult of changes made in 2011 in the method for identifying SRIs, the end-2011 figures are not comparable.

Commitments

Each year, Enel defines its corporate social responsibility — generation, climate change, dialogue with the communi-
objectives in line with the Group's strategies and in accor-  ty, safety for employees and suppliers — these are some of
dance with the principles of the UN Global Compact. Value  the priorities that drive Enel. Specifically, the Group has
reaffirmed its commitment to sustainable development
according to specific guidelines affecting four areas.
> Ethics: Enel is committed to forging a governance sys-

tem inspired by the highest standards of transparency

‘ﬂ 201 1 ; fOF Th@ @Ight and fairness in corporate management.

Stl’a ‘9 ht yea r/ > People and communities: Enel guarantees the safety
] of all those involved in its activities, respecting the “val-

Eﬂ @’ Was 1N C’ U d @d ue” of the person, the sphere of individual and collec-
i N J[h o DQW JO nes tive interests, from human rights to workplace health
. . and safety, from training to respect for equal oppor-

S UST& INa b \ ‘ \J[y ‘ N d eXx tunity and multiculturalism. In the communities and

markets in which it operates, Enel is committed to pro-
moting and respecting human rights, involving various
social players and continually improving the services
offered.
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> Environment and Climate Strategy: Enel has giv-
en the fight against climate change a central place
among its responsibilities as a major global energy
company and has long undertaken actions to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions in all the countries in which

it operates — a demonstration of its concern for the

environment, biodiversity and future generations.
> Research and development: Enel works to ensure a
reliable supply of electricity and to promote sustainable
development by focusing on renewable sources and in-
novation and using the best technologies available.

The three pillars of corporate ethics: the Code of Ethics,
the Compliance Model, and the Zero Tolerance of

Corruption Plan

Code of Ethics

In 2002, Enel adopted a Code of Ethics which expresses its
ethical commitments and responsibilities in conducting its
business and corporate activities. This Code of Ethics applies
in Italy and abroad, with consideration given to the cultural,
social and economic diversity found in the various countries in
which Enel does business.

The Code of Ethics is binding on the conduct of all Enel's em-

Compliance Model

In 2002, the Board of Directors of Enel SpA approved a
Compliance Model that meets the requirements of Leg-
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ployees. All of the companies in which Enel has an equity
interest and the Group's major suppliers are also required to
comply with the general principles contained in the Code. The
Code is based on an ideal of cooperation between the parties
involved and maximum transparency and fairness for all stake-
holders. Any stakeholder can report a violation or suspected
violation of the Code of Ethics through dedicated channels.

islative Decree 231 of June 8, 2001, which introduced

into Italian law a system of administrative (though actu-
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ally criminal) liability for companies for certain types of of-
fences committed by its directors, managers or employees
on behalf of or to the benefit of the company. This Model
is another step towards acting more rigorously, providing
greater transparency and developing a sense of responsi-
bility in interacting both internally and with the outside
world, while providing shareholders with adequate guar-
antees of efficient and proper management.

In 2010, Enel SpA also approved specific Guidelines

Zero Tolerance of Corruption Plan

In 2006, the Board of Directors approved the adoption of
the Zero Tolerance of Corruption Plan (ZTC) as a concrete
move marking Enel’s participation in the Global Compact
(a 2000 UN Program of Action) and the PACI - Partnering
Against Corruption Initiative (an initiative promoted by

the World Economic Forum in Davos in 2005).

Sustainability reporting

Since 2002, Enel has, with its Sustainability Report, main-
tained a constant commitment to measuring and repor-
ting on corporate responsibility, ensuring transparency for
all its stakeholders and continuous implementation of its
sustainability strategy. The reporting process is performed
by collecting and analyzing specific key financial, envi-
ronmental and social performance indicators.

Internal Audit and an independent auditor review the
Sustainability Report for completeness and accuracy. The
Report is checked by the Internal Control Committee and
submitted to Enel SpA’s Board of Directors for its approval
before being presented to the Shareholders’ Meeting.
The Sustainability Report for 2011 was drafted in com-
pliance with the "Sustainability Reporting Guidelines”of
the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), version G3.1, and
with the supplement for the electric utilities sector issued
by the GRI'in 2009 (“Sustainability Reporting Guidelines &
Electric Utilities Sector Supplement”). Since 2006, the year
they were adopted, Enel has applied the GRI guidelines at
the highest level (A+). In addition, the Sustainability Re-
porting adopts the principles set out in Standard AA1000
AccountAbility Assurance Standard (2008) (“AAT0000APS
-2008"), issued in 2008 by AccountAbility (Institute of So-
cial and Ethical Accountability). For more information on

the scope of the indicators and the calculation method,

aimed at extending the principles set out in the Compli-
ance Model to the Group's foreign subsidiaries, in order
to make them more aware of the importance of ensuring
the same conditions of fairness and transparency in the
conduct of their business and corporate activities and to
prevent situations that could result in administrative liabil-
ity pursuant to Legislative Decree 231/2001 for the Parent
Company, Enel SpA, and the other Italian companies.

The ZTC Plan does not replace or overlap the Code of Eth-
ics or the Compliance Model, but is rather a more detailed
plan for addressing the issue of corruption by following
a series of recommendations for implementing principles

developed by Transparency International.

please see the “Methodological Note” of the Sustainability
Report.

In drafting the Sustainability Report, since 2006, Enel has
followed the criteria and principles set out in the GRI-G3
guidelines of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), an in-
ternational standard, coupled since 2008 with the EUSS
(Electric Utility Sector Supplement) for the electricity indu-
stry, and since 2011 with G3.1. Ever since it adopted these
guidelines, Enel has applied the guidelines at the highest
level recognized by the GRI (A+).

Providing an accounting of corporation actions means
that, in the future, there will be ever greater integration of
the presentation of financial and non-financial informa-
tion, in which the sustainability indicators, along with the
financial indicators, will serve to link sustainability with the
company’s performance and financial situation, giving all
stakeholders a comprehensive assessment of the Group’s
activities and results.

In light of this, Enel is gradually including information on
sustainability in its Report on operations with the publi-
cation and discussion of select quantitative sustainability
indicators provided below.

The indicators just described are the result of an analysis of
issues deemed important to SRI funds, which were consul-

ted in 2011 as part of stakeholder engagement initiatives.
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Net efficient generation capacity by primary energy source

MW

2011 2010 Change
Net efficient thermal capacity
Coal 17,215 18,122 (907) -5.0%
CCGT 15,390 13,248 2.142 16.2%
Fuel oil/gas 24,454 25,852 (1,398) -5.4%
Total 57,059 57,222 (163) -0.3%
Net efficient nuclear capacity 5,344 5,332 12 0.2%
Net efficient renewable capacity
Hydro 30,265 31,033 (768) -2.5%
Wind 3,619 2,731 888 32.5%
Geothermal 769 775 (6) -0.8%
Biomass and co-generation 172 154 18 11.7%
Other 108 34 74 -
Total 34,933 34,727 206 0.6%
Total net efficient capacity 97,336 97,281 55 0.1%
Net efficient generation capacity by geographical area
MW

2011 2010 Change
Italy 39,882 40,522 (640) -1.6%
Abroad
Iberian peninsula 23,971 23,810 161 0.7%
Latin America 16,241 16,267 (26) -0.2%
Russia 9,027 8,198 829 10.1%
Slovakia 5,401 5,401 - -
Ireland 1,013 1,013 - -
North America 1,010 788 222 28.2%
Romania 269 64 205 -
Greece 191 143 48 33.6%
France 166 102 64 62.7%
Morocco 123 123 B -
Bulgaria 42 850 (808) -95.1%
Total 57,454 56,759 695 1.2%
Total net efficient capacity 97,336 97,281 55 0.1%
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Net electricity generation by primary energy source

TWh

2011 2010 Change
Net thermal electricity generation
Coal 86.1 73.1 13.0 17.8%
CCGT 47.4 38.2 9.2 24.1%
Fuel oil/gas 38.1 45.4 (7.3) -16.1%
Total 171.6 156.7 14.9 9.5%
Net nuclear electricity generation 39.5 41.2 (1.7) -4.1%
Net renewable generation
Hydro 70.2 80.8 (10.6) -13.1%
Wind 6.3 5.6 0.7 12.5%
Geothermal 5.6 5.3 0.3 5.7%
Biomass and co-generation 0.6 0.6 - -
Other 0.1 - 0.1 -
Total 82.8 92.3 (9.5) -10.3%
Total net electricity generation 293.9 290.2 3.7 1.3%
Net electricity generation by geographical area
TWh

2011 2010 Change
Italy 79.0 81.6 (2.6) -3.2%
Abroad
Iberian peninsula 78.9 69.9 9.0 12.9%
Latin America 66.0 66.0 - -
Russia 424 42.8 (0.4) -0.9%
Slovakia 20.4 21.0 (0.6) -2.9%
North America 2.9 2.6 0.3 11.5%
Bulgaria 2.7 4.7 (2.0) -42.6%
Morocco 0.8 0.7 0.1 14.3%
Greece 0.4 0.3 0.1 33.3%
France 0.2 0.1 0.1 100%
Ireland 0.1 0.3 (0.2) -66.7%
Romania 0.1 - 0.1 -
Total 214.9 208.6 6.3 3.0%
Total net electricity generation 29319 290.2 3.7 1.3%
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Other generation ratios

2011 2010 Change
Generation from renewable resources (% of total) 28.2 31.8 (3.6) -11.3%
"Zero-emission” generation (% of total) 416 46.0 (4.4) -9.6%
ISO 14001-certified net efficient capacity (% of total) 91.2 82.7 8.5 10.3%
Average efficiency of thermal plants (%) @ 39.7 393 0.4 1.0%
Total specific emissions of CO, from net generation (gCO,/kWh ) 411 389 22 5.7%
Specific water withdrawal (I/kwWh eq) 0.63 0.66 (0.03) -4.5%

(1) The output values used in calculating the indicators do not coincide with the values for net electricity generation reported in these consolidated financial state-
ments. For more information on the calculation method, explanations of the discrepancies and the assumptions used, please see the notes in the Sustainability
Report 2011 and, for greater details, the Environmental Report 2011.

Customers by geographical area

Average no.

2011 2010 Change
Electricity
Italy 28,871,639 29,362,479 (490,840) -1.7%
Latin America 13,655,379 13,271,599 383,780 2.9%
Iberian peninsula 11,536,589 11,729,319 (192,730) -1.6%
Romania 2,634,601 2,605,345 29,256 1.1%
Other countries 96,563 99,997 (3,434) -3.4%
Total electricity customers 56,794,771 57,068,739 (273,968) -0.5%
Natural gas
ltaly 3,150,968 2,902,739 248,229 8.6%
Spain 1,007,093 1,083,801 (76,708) 71%
Total gas customers 4,158,061 3,986,540 171,521 4.3%
Safety rates
no. 2011 2010 Change
Injury frequency rate 24 2.8 (0.4) -14.3%
Injury severity rate 0.11 0.13 (0.02) -15.4%
Serious and fatal injuries at Enel:
Serious injuries 11 22 (11) -50.0%
Fatal injuries 1 3 (2) -66.7%
Total 12 25 (13) -52.0%
Serious and fatal injuries at contractors:
Serious injuries " 39 42 (3) -7.1%
Fatal injuries 7 19 (12) -63.2%
Total 46 61 (15) -24.6%

(1) Aserious injury is an injury for which the prognosis is uncertain, unknown or greater than 30 days for recovery.
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Personnel ratios

no. 2011 2010 Change
Average hours of training per employee 44.7 36.3 8.4 23.1%
Verified violations of the Code of Ethics™ 33 41 (8) -19.5%

(1) In 2011, an analysis was performed of violations reported in 2010. As a result, there was a change in the number of verified violations reported in the 2010 Sustai-

nability Report from 39 to 41.

Creating value for
stakeholders

Enel’s stakeholders are individuals, groups or
institutions whose contribution is needed to
achieve its mission or who have a stake in its
pursuit.

The economic value created and shared by Enel
gives a good indication of how the Group has
created wealth for the following stakeholders:
shareholders, lenders, employees and govern-
ment.

People

Millions of euro

2011 2010
Revenues 79,514 73,377
Net income/(charges) from commodity
risk management 272 280
External costs 56,308 49,567
Gross global value added from
continuing operations 23,478 24,090
Gross value added of discontinued
operations - -
Gross global value added from
ordinary operations 23,478 24,090
distributed to:
Shareholders 2,635 2,350
Lenders 2,744 2,682
Employees 4,296 4,907
Government 4,475 3,711
Enterprises 9,298 10,440

Human resources and organization

Organization

In the business operations area:

> work continued on the implementation of Group'’s risk
management models and systems and on strengthen-
ing the various Division units, and committees for fi-
nancial risk, commodity risk and credit risk were estab-
lished at the Group level;

> the business of the Upstream Gas Department was or-
ganized in accordance with the Group's strategic plan;

> for the Sales Division, the Marketing area was reor-

ganized with the goal of making responsibilities fully

centralized so as to improve the end-to-end offering of
products and services, and the customer care unit for
the enhanced protection service was reorganized in
order to improve coordination between the front end,
the back office and commercial compliance;

> in the Generation and Energy Management Division,
and regarding the Generation business area in particu-
lar, a single hydroelectric value chain was established,
and the plants in Italy were reorganized. In addition,

the thermal and hydroelectric plant maintenance units
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were reorganized in accordance with project manage-
ment best practice in order to facilitate the sharing of
experience amongst the plants;

> in the Renewable Energy Division, consolidation of the
new organization model was completed, and Enel.si (re-
tail business) was reorganized in order to increase the
commercial effectiveness of the franchising network, so
as to take best advantage of trends in local markets;

> in the Iberia and Latin America Division, the Latin
American area and the various country units were re-
organized using a matrix model in order to optimize in-
vestments and operate based on shared best practices;

> work continued on the integration of Enel and Endesa,
which resulted in defining the governance of the cen-
tralized management of the carbon strategy in terms of
procedures, powers, management control and person-

nel management.

With regard to integration activities:
> work began on the One Company project aimed at:

- defining and designing a new “lean holding com-
pany” with responsibility for policy setting and strate-
gic control and guidance of all staff processes within
the Group (a phase that was completed in 2011);

- defining three global service functions: Procurement,

ICT, and Business Services;
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- implementing the new model of operations, begin-

ning with a reorganization of staff processes in order
to achieve synergies within the Group and to elimi-

nate redundant activities with no added value;

> the new management model was implemented. This

model transparently classifies the key roles within the
Group and identifies the employee development and
mobility processes for management, introducing a
common international language independent of the
contract categories used in the various countries in
which the Group operates. This model underscores the
multinational nature of the Enel Group, with some 50%

of management positions in countries other than Italy;

> regarding the Group’s Performance Improvement Pro-

gram, work is continuing on the project Best Practice
Sharing (BPS), the goal of which is to extract value from
the multinational nature of the Group by sharing best
practices and aligning processes and controls. This pro-
ject has already created tangible benefits and shared

technical and cultural values;

> work continued on the SAP HR Global project, which is

seeking to support the convergence towards the One
Company by providing technological solutions based
on business priorities. The project aims to provide the
Group's Human Resources function with the same pro-

cesses, systems and reports and with standardized data

Report on operations



by creating a global system architecture based on in-
tegrated master data, while also ensuring integration
with local systems. The main benefits expected include
standardization of work methodologies, greater effi-
ciency in both processes and people, the availability of
consolidated data, and a reduction in costs by integrat-
ing processes and consolidating systems;

> the governance arrangements for the Global InEnel
portal were consolidated for the entire Group. The pro-
ject is aimed at creating a new corporate intranet in
order to promote the sharing of projects, culture and
best practices within the Group, thereby enhancing the
sense of belonging to a team and involvement in com-
pany strategies. In 2011, the Global InEnel portal was

launched in Slovakia, Romania, Russia and France.

Hiring

At Enel, the recruiting and hiring process aims to find the best
talents who have the aptitudes and specialist skills that are
best suited to the role to be filled. In 2011, hiring activities
focused on processes related to recruiting and hiring recent
secondary-school and university graduates, while a smaller
proportion of new hires involved people with prior experi-
ence. The tools and channels used to attract applicants in-
cluded, above all, the website, as well as relationships and
other contacts established with schools and universities with
which Enel has agreements in place. The selection process in-
cluded phases focusing on both an assessment of aptitude
and motivation and more technical and professional aspects.
The evaluation of “soft skills”, for both junior and senior posi-
tions, reflects the key skills expected of the various segments
of the organization’s personnel, as specified by the Group’s
leadership model. The efforts of the Hiring unit to promote
and enhance Enel’s image as an employer of choice within
the most valued segments of the job market enabled the
Company to be named a “top employer” in Italy by the CRF
Institute for the third year in a row.

In order to promote the development of international ca-
reer paths, emphasis has been placed on the process of
mobility, which, in line with the corporate management
model, resulted in the publication of 15 job postings for
management positions (vice presidents and directors) and
a further 35 non-management positions to be filled within
the Group. The process involved a total of some 500 per-
sonnel from all Enel Divisions and various countries, who

chose to submit applications for the available positions.

Development

Development efforts mainly focused on improving exist-
ing processes, namely: the performance management sys-
tem; the talent management system; and making use of
the results of the 2010 climate study.

The performance review process, which involved some
28,000 people, was centered around greater transparency
of the process as a whole as well as of the aspects evaluat-
ed and related results achieved. The implementation of an
analogous form both for self-assessment and evaluation
by one’s supervisor, aimed at gathering both qualitative
and quantitative performance data, sought to make the
evaluation purpose and criteria clearer and to facilitate
discussion between employee and supervisor. In addition,
in order to ensure greater equity, the balancing process
has been made more effective. The content of this process
is guided by the line units, and the process itself is guaran-
teed by Human Resources and Organization function with
regard to compliance with the process guidelines and
rules. Finally, the person evaluated now has full access to
the entire evaluation at the end of the feedback phase.
This reformulated performance review process is the
tool which the organization has used in order to deal
with issues such as quality, responsibility and evaluation
relevance, and this can be seen in the numbers. The per-
centage of evaluations completed in 2011 is very high
(at over 99% of the total) and in line with the figures for
2010. More people took the opportunity to self-evaluate
— about 5% more than last year (68% in 2011 vs. 63% in
2010) — and the process was found to be more efficient
and of higher quality, including a significant (50%) reduc-
tion in forms changed after the balancing process.

Asin 2010, the Group’s first and second-line managers were
involved in performance evaluations using the Feedback

360° process, with a total of 180 people being evaluated.

Regarding the assessment of technical skills and knowl-
edge, within the Administration, Finance and Control
family, employee evaluations were completed with the
extension of the process to Endesa (some 900 people),
and the Energy Management area was involved for the
first time following completion of the professional system

concerning this area (about 400 people).

Evaluation of skills and performance was conducted in the
various areas in which the Enel Group is present, with a
total of more than 46,000 people evaluated.

During the year, the Global Professional System (GPS) was
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also launched with the goal of establishing a global cata-
log at the Group level of the technical/professional skills of
each family and professional area, representing a tool that
focuses on the skills present in the Group in an integrated,
global manner.

In 2011, objectives, timeframes and working methods for
the future development of the project were defined based
on past experience. An initial deployment of the project
will come in 2012 in two of the Group’s core professional
areas: Generation and Engineering and Construction. Also
in 2012, the "key professional roles”, i.e. the roles within the
Group that will represent the top of a technical career path
due to their impact on Enel’s business and the high level

of skills required, will be defined for each professional area.

Furthermore, the access criteria for the talent management
system have been updated based, in part, on the Group'’s
new management model, and a single system for the
Group has been defined in line with the “One Company”
process as follows: Pool 1, comprising up-and-coming man-
agers who, over the medium term, may hope to become
senior vice-presidents or executive vice-presidents; Pool 2,
comprising aspiring managers currently in pre-managerial,
coordinating roles or roles that require high levels of techni-
cal and professional skills; Pool 3, comprising younger em-
ployees who show a great deal of potential. For all targets,
the access requirements include having received a very pos-
itive evaluation in recent years, having good command of
English, and wanting to grow through experience in other
areas of the organization and/or in other countries.

In line with previous years, the Leadership for Energy: Exec-
utive Program (LEEP), one of the most prestigious training
programs organized by Enel and held at the Harvard Busi-
ness School, is dedicated to Pool 1, while the Leadership for
Energy: Management Program (LEMP), held at SDA Bocconi
and IESE, is dedicated to Pool 2.

Finally, with regard to company climate, the latest results
of the study compared with those of previous years have
largely cascaded through the various Divisions of the Group,
including at the micro level of the organization through the
efforts of local managers.

Participation in the third climate study was high (82%), and
the results, when compared like-for-like with those of the
2008 climate study, show a significant improvement in the
various aspects of life within the Company, namely: involve-
ment, alignment, operational excellence, change manage-
ment, meritocracy, trust, and a sense of belonging. Overall
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job satisfaction was expressed by 69% of those surveyed,
while 87% felt that their responsibilities are clear. In 2011,
the results of the climate study and the actions for improve-
ment were the subject of workshops, which saw the par-
ticipation of 660 local managers throughout the Group in
May and June.

Following this process, plans were made for 1,817 actions
for improvement to be implemented from now until the
next (i.e. the fourth) climate study to be conducted at the
end of 2012. Of these, more than 95% were begunin 2011.

Training

The introduction of the new management model led to
the need to revise the Leadership Curriculum in terms of
its structure and the topics covered. Therefore, Enel Uni-
versity has created a new offering of training programs in
order to meet the needs of the various targets of this new
management model, while focusing on supporting per-
formance and promoting adequate participation in filling
the new position in the organization.

This offering now includes the existing programs, the con-
tent of which has been revised in accordance with com-
pany priorities, along with entirely new programs, which
have already been defined in terms of their general con-
tent and overall structure.

For the JET International and Welcome to Enel programs
(both designed for new hires) and for the programs for
new professionals and resource managers, the learning
modules have been updated, and the Post-Performance
Review programs for middle management and office staff

have been revised with updated topics and titles.

Finally, in addition to the existing technical and functional
academies (Procurement, Administration, Finance and
Control, Legal, Engineering), a Safety Academy has been
launched, and the architecture has been designed for an

Energy Management Academy.

Compensation
and incentive systems

The compensation policy for 2011 remained consistent
with the rationale and philosophy adopted in previous
years. As is done every year, appropriate external bench-
marks were chosen and the necessary steps were taken

to ensure that compensation levels remained competitive.
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Selective changes were made to fixed remuneration,
thereby confirming a merit-based policy aimed at reward-
ing “high-value” skills within each professional family.

With regard to short-term incentives, management by ob-
jectives (MBO) was confirmed as the leading tool, involv-
ing about 98% of senior management and 19% of middle
management in Italy. For the commercial segment, the
commercial incentive system remains the primary short-

term incentives mechanism.

Workplace health and safety

The strategy that Enel has adopted since 2008 to improve
the standards of workplace safety is embodied in the Nine
Points Safety Improvement Plan, an innovative project
based on the keen commitment of the company’s senior
management and on the adoption of an interfunctional
approach to safety. Over the last three years, the Nine
Points project has produced an important shift in corpo-
rate culture and has contributed to the revision of the
main company processes with a greater focus on safety.
The nine project teams have identified key approaches to
intervention, which have thereby become a part of Com-
pany processes and consolidated standard practice.

The lines of action that guided efforts in 2011 centered
around the promotion of safe conduct, a greater empha-
sis on prevention in safety management, and the consoli-
dation of safety-related aspects in tender processes.

In 2012, the Nine Points plan will continue evolving from
a project to a company process following along new lines
of action, and a new initiative, One Safety, will begin for
all Divisions. This new project will seek to promote a coor-
dinated, synergistic commitment to achieving significant
improvement on the road towards the goal of “zero inju-
ries”. The CEO is highly committed to this project, which
focuses on two main goals: the promotion of safe, respon-
sible conduct and the strengthening of safety leadership.
In 2011, much emphasis was placed on promoting a cul-
ture of safety and safe conduct through targeted safety-
awareness projects and initiatives. Prevention in safety
management was enhanced with the dissemination of
the “pre-job check”, a meeting held before the start of a
job that seeks to ensure that all team members have been
informed of the risks related to the job to be performed
and of the procedures to be followed in order to do the

job safely. In addition, awareness videos and other cam-

paigns have been created to promote the process of re-
porting and managing near misses” along with videos,
manuals and pamphlets providing information about the
various health and safety processes.

A new section of the Company intranet, Global Health
and Safety, was launched in December. The site is used
to disseminate information and deliver tools and services
related to health and safety, so as to increase employee
awareness and contribute to creating value in the area of
safety through the corporate network. The new site con-
tains a section dedicated to prevention in healthcare, diet
and wellbeing, so as to promote a healthy lifestyle both at
work and in our daily lives. This year, a great deal of em-
phasis has been placed on health in order to underscore
how Enel is committed to promoting a healthy, responsi-
ble style of living.

Finally, electricity-risk campaigns have been launched in
order to increase the awareness of those outside the Com-
pany who may accidently come into contact with power
lines. In particular, pamphlets have been distributed to
fishermen and to construction companies that use ce-

ment mixers.

The month of November 2011 featured the fourth edition
of International Safety Week, a worldwide project with the
organization, throughout Enel, of training and awareness
campaigns related to health and safety involving Enel em-
ployees as well as contractors and the community at large,
so as to promote a unified vision and single approach to
safety throughout the organization and the context in
which we operate. The 2011 edition featured 1,607 initia-
tives, an increase of 20% from the previous year, and saw
the participation of 82,323 people from around the world.
This fourth edition of ISW was also special for the medal
given by Italian President Giorgio Napolitano to Enel CEO
and General Manager Fulvio Conti in recognition of the

great symbolic value of the initiative.

Another line of action of the Nine Points project in 2011
regarded the efforts to increase the importance of safety
in tender processes. To that end, work continued to im-
plement the model of evaluating and selecting suppli-
ers, which establishes specific, strict safety requirements,
and greater involvement of safety-related personnel in
the evaluation and selection process has been promoted.

Internationally in particular, efforts have continued to im-

(1) An unexpected work-related event that did not cause an injury or work-related illness but could have done so. Only a lucky interruption of the chain of events

prevented the accident from happening.
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plement and extend vendor rating systems, which make it
possible to follow the same evaluation procedures for all
Group suppliers.

The system of penalties for contractors for serious safety
violations has also been revised to include a set of penal-
ties that are proportionate to the seriousness of the viola-
tion as well as specific penalties in the event of accidents

where the contractor is shown to be at fault. In addition, a

sub-contracting policy has been established which defines
the minimum safety requirements for subcontractors used
in executing contracts with companies of the Enel Group
and specifies the safety obligations that the contractor
and subcontractor are required to observe. Safety con-
trols to be performed when carrying out works have been
enhanced throughout the Group with the preparation of
specific plans at the Division level.

Beginning in 2012, the Health and Safety Policy docu-
ment will be distributed to all companies that work for
the Group. This document, which is also available on the
Procurement portal, seeks to increase contractor aware-
ness of the principles of health and safety that Enel aspires
to when carrying out any and all activities both within and
outside the organization, so as to share the same safety
language with all companies involved.

P
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Safety training efforts for Enel employees also continued
throughout 2011. Alongside the more technical courses
for employees involved in the company prevention system
(i.e. RSPP, ASPP, RLS, CSP/CSE), safety leadership courses
were conducted in collaboration with Enel University. The
goal of these courses is to promote greater awareness

among managers in taking responsibility for safety issues

related to their roles and to promote a vision of safety as

an element of competitiveness and an opportunity to im-
prove life within the organization. Courses for new hires
have also been held in order to ensure that safety be-
comes a part of the cultural skillset of all employees right
from the moment they enter the organization. This yearin
particular, the "Six Months in Safety” training and devel-
opment program for new hires became fully operational.
This is a program that seeks to increase safety knowledge
and skills through a period of six months spent in safety
training with both in-class and on-the-job training.

The Safety Academy was also launched in order to create
a training system aimed at increasing the technical and
professional knowledge that safety employees need and
to develop a number of key behaviors that are typical of
the Safety professional family.

Several training initiatives regarding safe driving have
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been organized as well, including an online course for all
employees and a program of on-track courses designed,
above all, for those who frequently use a company car in
their jobs.

Finally, as part of the search for alternative training meth-
ods, the project “Play Safe: play is a serious thing” was
launched in collaboration with the EXPLORA children’s

museum in Rome. This training program is intended for

non-operational personnel and uses games and other fun
activities to discuss and better understand the key safety

aspects of related laws and regulations.

Work has continued on the automation/computerization
of processes within the Health and Safety Program. This
project is aimed at implementing a group-wide informa-
tion system, integrated with SAP HR Global, that is able
to centralize the reporting, monitoring and analysis of
safety data. In 2011, the project was launched in Russia
(International Division) and in Enel Green Power North
America (Renewable Energy Division). In 2012, the system
is expected to be implemented in Romania (International
Division) and in Enel Green Power Latin America (Renew-
able Energy Division) and then gradually throughout the
rest of the Group by 2015.

In 2011, the reporting process for the leading KPIs was
also consolidated in order to promote prevention in safety
management processes. This year in particular, the safety
KPIs being monitored were supplemented with a number
of indicators that focus on safety controls and on non-
compliance, so as to ensure greater standardization in the
process of measuring and calculating KPIs throughout the

Enel Group.

In 2011, a standardized system of safety incentives, inte-
grated with the current forms of collective incentives, was
implemented within the various Divisions and companies
of the Group. This system calls for a new indicator based
on near misses, which is an essential means of preventing
accidents in the workplace and of improving safety stand-
ards with the goal of promoting the process of reporting
and communication.

Efforts have begun to strengthen the safety controls con-
ducted by the various Divisions and companies by creating
dedicated units and strengthening existing processes, so
as to continue increasing the effectiveness of the monitor-
ing of safety standards in executing tasks and, ultimately,
to prevent accidents.

This year, in order to disseminate the same safety ap-
proach in all the countries in which Enel operates, ten op-
erating standards regarding key areas for improving safety
processes have been prepared in order to establish a mini-
mum set of measures and procedures to be applied in a
consistent manner throughout the Enel Group.
Alongside the implementation of these standards, an
awareness campaign is to be launched to support the
planned training programs. This campaign will include
posters and pamphlets reminding everyone, through
high-impact graphics, the most important (golden) rules
to be followed. This year, the campaign began with the

golden rules for the prevention of electrical hazards.

In 2011, the nine teams of the Nine Points project were
joined by a new area dedicated to international deploy-
ment in order to facilitate the implementation of the Nine
Points initiatives, while also ensuring consistency in ap-
plication and providing the support needed to accelerate
the processes under way, particularly with regard to train-
ing, tenders and communication.

Regarding the sharing of experiences, a Best Practices Shar-
ing process has begun between Enel and Endesa aimed
at identifying and disseminating best practices within the

Group in the Generation and Distribution business areas.



With regard to workplace accidents, the frequency rate fell
by 57% from 2007 to 2011, reaching 2.4, while the sever-
ity rate fell by 50% from 2007 to 2011, reaching 0.11. This
downward trend was also confirmed by the operational
accident frequency rate, which focuses on certain types
of severe accidents most closely associated with the Com-
pany's core business (electrocutions, falling from heights,
blows-crushing-cuts, exposure to hazardous agents, and
explosions) and which also fell by 57% from 2007.
Serious and fatal accidents™ involving Enel personnel
fell from 109 in 2007 to 12 in 2011, a decline of 89% and
those involving the employees of contractors decreased
from 108 in 2007 to 46 in 2011, a decline of 57%. In 2011,
there was only one fatal traffic accident involving Enel
personnel, in this case an employee of the Infrastructure
and Networks Division, whereas 7 fatal accidents involved
employees of contractor firms — 1 in Italy and 6 abroad.

Enel’s excellent performance in the area of occupational
health and safety was also very well received by sustain-
ability analysts. Enel has further improved the company’s
score in the Occupational Health & Safety category of the
Dow Jones Sustainability Index compared with 2010 (to
90/100), well above the average for the global electrical
utilities industry (65/100) and coming ever closer to best-

in-class for the category (98/100).

Labor relations

International operations

In 2011, the labor relations community was established
at the Group level. The community created an Enel Inter-
national Labor Relations Model integrated with the Code
of Ethics, the Leadership Model, the Management Model
and the corporate social responsibility strategies, with the
overall goal of becoming a benchmark for labor relations
worldwide.

In 2011, with regard to transnational information and
consultation and the activities of the Enel’s European
Works Council, the "Joint training project for the Enel EWC
and the HR managers on a suitable linkage between the
national and transnational levels of dialogue within a Eu-
ropean framework”, as supported by the European Com-
mission, was held, providing an opportunity to discuss and
compare all safety and labor relations systems of the EU

countries in which the Group operates.

In December, the agreement of Enel’s European Works
Committee was also renewed for another four years.
Some of the main changes included updates to the text of
the agreement based on the new Directive 2009/38/EC,
the new definition of transnationality, and the establish-

ment of a committee dedicated to safety issues.

Contracts in Italy

In May 2011, the amount of the 2010 company perfor-
mance bonus was set (100% of the bonus established
by trade union agreement on November 13, 2008, in the
amount of €855 for the BSS category of workers). In addi-
tion, all Divisions completed their reporting on the 2010
targets within the scope of unit productivity/quality. The
average overall result was 121% of the base value, which
allowed for the payment of an average bonus to BSS cate-
gory personnel of €1,191, which, when added to the €855
of the general performance bonus, resulted in a total per-
formance bonus of more than one month's salary.

On December 1, 2011, Enel and the trade unions that
signed the agreements of May 17, 2011 regarding elec-
tricity discounts and measures to support company-level
supplemental retirement schemes (FOPEN) took steps
to verify the level of employee support for these agree-
ments. The survey found that about 80% of all employees
supported them. Accordingly, the documents making the
agreements operational were signed, thereby abolishing
the electricity discount for employees benefitting from it
(those hired prior to 1996). On the same date, measures
were implemented to support and promote supplemental
retirement mechanisms, both for those hired before 1996,
who receive the electricity discount benefit, and for “young”
employees (hired after 1996), who receive a payment of
€170 a year under a sort of "generational compact”.

The bylaws of the Enel Group's supplemental healthcare
fund, FISDE (Fondo Integrativo Sanitario per il Gruppo Enel),
were also revised within the framework of consolidating
and further developing the welfare system. The purpose of
this revision was twofold: to make the association more solid
and efficient on the one hand, which was essential in order
to continue ensuring payments to fund participants over
time and in an increasingly effective manner; and to extend
the population of potential beneficiaries on the other, so as
to make FISDE the benchmark in the field of supplemental
healthcare plans within the electricity industry.

In November, an agreement was also signed with the

(1) In order to enable a comparison of the figures for 2007 with those for 2011, the number of serious and total accident in 2007 includes those of Endesa. Please see
the Sustainability Report 2011 for the criteria used in determining the universe considered.
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trade unions regarding telecommuting, which gives Enel
one of the most important, effective mechanisms within
the broader concept of work-life balance.
Finally, in December, the new rules governing the finan-
cial and organizational aspects of the performance bonus
were signed with the trade unions, the most significant
changes to which concerned the following:
> the reallocation of funds among the two bonus com-
ponents in favor of incentives for productivity/quality/
competitiveness;
> a significant decentralization of management of the-
se productivity/quality/competitiveness incentives to-
wards the territorial units;
> the recognition of the different contributions of indivi-
dual workers to achieving the collective targets.
At the national level, various activities were carried out
within the Divisions, which were then implemented at
the territorial level. For example, on May 11, 2011, the
Infrastructure and Networks Division, together with the
national trade unions and within the scope of Project
VELE, aimed at recovering electricity on the grid by detect-
ing and preventing energy fraud and theft, redefined the
rules governing the financial and organizational aspects
of the treatment of employees who travel for work and
updated the additional bonus in order to promote the
achievement of the project’s results.
Finally, in 2011, within the scope of Enel’s long-standing
system (set outin the labor relations protocol) of proactive
dialogue (with the trade unions in the event of changes
in organization), numerous discussions with the trade un-
jions regarding the adjustment, renewal or consolidation
of the organizational structure of certain Divisions and

companies within the Group were carried out.

Staffing levels

As at December 31, 2011, the total workforce of the Enel
Group numbered 75,360 employees, of which 38,518 em-
ployed by Group companies abroad. In 2011, the workforce
declined by 2,953 employees as a result of net new hires
and terminations (-491) and changes in the scope of con-
solidation involving a number of Group companies (-2,462).
In Italy, terminations were primarily the result of early re-
tirement incentive schemes.

The most significant changes in consolidated companies
for the period were as follows: the disposals of CAM, Synap-
sis, Enel Operations Bulgaria, Enel Maritza East 3, and 51%

of Hydro Dolomiti Enel. Other factors include the change in

the method used to consolidate Enel Unidn Fenosa Renov-
ables (from proportionate to full line-by-line) following the
transfer of the assets classified as “Held for sale”, as well as
the disposal of Deval and Vallenergie in December.

Changes in the total number of employees with respect

to December 31, 2010 are summarized in the table below:

Balance at Dec. 31,2010 78,313
Changes in the scope of consolidation:

- Acquisitions -
- Disposals (2,462)
Hirings 4,230
Terminations of employment (4,721)
Balance at Dec. 31,2011 75,360

(1) Includes 113 in units classified as “Held for sale”.

customers

The leadership of a company like Enel necessarily passes
through customer care and attention to quality service.
In Italy, since 2009, the Passion for Quality program has
sought to improve every aspect of our sales service by im-
pacting a range of areas.

During the year, the Sales Division dedicated its efforts not
only to monitoring all of the traditional performance indi-
cators, which are linked to service levels and productivity
achieved by the customer service team, but also to moni-
toring customer perceptions of the service received. The
main objective is to make the customer an integral part of
the internal control and performance evaluation system
for the services offered.

This prompted the implementation of the Customer Sat-
isfaction Evolution initiative within the Passion for Qual-
ity program. The initiative is intended to revise the current
approach to measuring customer satisfaction, with a par-
ticular focus on the sample being analyzed, the segmenta-
tion of information and the survey methodology.

The new model seeks, among other things, to forecast the
satisfaction level of customers calling the contact center,
which the Authority for Electricity and Gas measures every
six months, taking advantage of the statistical correlation
with the monthly “Enel” index. This correlation is useful for
assessing the impact of improvement actions in terms of
service quality and accessibility.

During 2011, other initiatives were put in place to improve

our relationship with customers:
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> numerous “self-care” services were implemented (via
text messaging, the website or phone), such as reque-
sting installment payments or viewing the state pro-
gress of the service activation process;

> "Vocal Ordering” was extended from customer acquisi-
tion processes to after-sale processes, such as account
transfers, changing available capacity and product
changes. This tool makes it possible to record the ac-
ceptance of contract terms by customers without ha-
ving to mail in physical documentation, thus reducing
processing times for requests;

> a series of initiatives aimed at the Enel retail outlets
were implemented, with the aim of making this con-
tact point for the customer more reliable, efficient and
effective, not only with regard to account management
but also for sales;

> simultaneous interpreting service was introduced at
some retail outlets. Available in 10 languages — English,
French, Spanish, Chinese, Arabic, Russian, Romanian,
Punjabi, Albanian, Serbian and Croatian — the service
enables customers and help staff to talk with the aid
of a third party operator, who provides simultaneous
interpreting remotely. During 2012, the initiative will

be extended to all Enel retail contact outlets.

Constant monitoring of complaints and requests for infor-
mation also continues, helping to understand and moni-
tor customer perceptions and any problem areas. Enel
analyzes all reports from customers and is committed to
implementing the necessary steps to mitigate any difficul-
ties, providing comprehensive information about the inci-

dent and the actions taken.

For further details on all the customer-related initiatives
and projects throughout the Group, please see the 2011
Sustainability Report.

Alternative dispute resolution

Enel was the first energy company in Italy and Europe
to adopt a joint conciliation procedure with consumer
groups for billing disputes that may arise with its custom-
ers. It is a quick, completely free procedure conducted
online that allows customers to resolve commercial issues
with the Group companies that are involved in electricity
salesin Italy (Enel Energia and Enel Servizio Elettrico) with-
out having to go to court.

The project was initiated in 2006 with the signing of a
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Protocol of Conciliation between Enel and the consumers
rights associations belonging to the National Council of
Consumers and Users (CNCU), a body established by the
Ministry for Economic Development in July 1998. After a
period of testing and numerous training courses, funded
by the Authority for Electricity and Gas, since 2009 the im-
plementing rules are now in force throughout Italy, pro-
viding access to the procedure for the more than 28 mil-
lion customers of Enel Servizio Elettrico and Enel Energia
for disputes concerning the supply of electricity and gas
for residential use, through the authorized local offices of
the consumer associations.

In 2011 testing began for a similar procedure for non-
residential customers, in collaboration with the six most
representative confederations of small and medium-sized
enterprises in Italy: Confartigianato, CNA, Confapi, Confag-
ricoltura, Confcommercio and Confesercenti. At the end of
the experimental phase, the business customers of Enel En-
ergia and Enel Servizio Elettrico throughout Italy will have
access to the online conciliation procedure.

Of the 1,392 conciliation proceedings initiated in 2011, 252
concerned electricity customers of Enel Servizio Elettrico,
725 gas customers of Enel Energia and 289 electricity cus-
tomers of Enel Energia. In 70% of cases, the disputes con-

cern complaints about the billing of energy consumption.

Society

The Enel Group's involvement in
the Global Compact LEAD

The Global Compact is a United Nations action program for
the private sector launched in 2000 by the Secretary General
of the United Nations. The network of companies, interna-
tional organizations, associations and NGOs participating in
the program seeks to involve the private sector in a new ap-
proach to cooperation, with members pledging to comply
with ten principles on respect for human and labor rights,
environmental protection and the fight against corruption.
Since 2004 Enel has been an active member of this inter-
national network, communicating its efforts through the
annual Communication on Progress report.

Since January 2011, Enel, together with Endesa, has also
been participating in the Global Compact LEAD initiative,
which brings together the leading corporate proponents

of the ten principles, companies that are involved in lead-
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ing new initiatives for global sustainability.

Within the scope of its participation in the Global Com-
pact LEAD, during the UN Private Sector Forum held on
September 20, 2011 in New York, the CEO and General
Manager of Enel, Fulvio Conti, launched the Group Ena-

bling Electricity program.

Enabling electricity

Electricity is an extraordinary engine of growth and pros-
perity: it can increase industrial and agricultural output,
create jobs, improve education and medical care and
open up new opportunities for development for all. And
yet, as underscored by the International Energy Agency,
1.3 billion people around the world do not have access
to electricity. This represents one of the main obstacles to
reducing poverty and achieving the Millennium Develop-
ment Goals of the United Nations.
To meet this challenge, the UN Secretary General, Ban
Ki-moon, has dedicated 2012 to the fight against energy
poverty, declaring it the “International Year of Sustainable
Energy for All”, and setting specific objectives for the com-
ing years in order to narrow the energy divide.
Enel wants to contribute, ensuring access to energy where
it is not yet available through the Enabling Electricity initi-
ative. The program focuses on two targets: i) people living
inisolated areas; ii) disadvantaged communities in periph-
eral, rural and suburban areas.
The program is based on three pillars:
> projects aimed at easing access through new technolo-
gies and infrastructure;
> project to remove economic barriers in low-income areas;
> projects to build and share key skills and knowledge
through technical training and the creation of professio-
nal competences.
From this standpoint, delivering electricity is more than just
a service: it can create the foundations for the very develop-

ment of people and communities.

The relationship
with local communities

Strengthening the Group’s leadership necessarily involves
forging a responsible partnership with the local communi-
ties and areas in which our power plants are located, cred-
ibility in relations with the governments and authorities in

the countries in which we operate and a stable, ongoing

and integrated relationship with all stakeholders, based

on trust and respect for shared values.

Every infrastructure project, whether the construction of
a major power plant or an electricity grid, is the product
of a strategic assessment in which institutions, enterprises,
associations and communities are involved from the very
start, with the goal of achieving common benefits in terms
of development and well-being at both the global and lo-
cal levels.

This assessment is conducted through a detailed study of
the territory and its inhabitants, in order to respond most
effectively to any needs and problems associated with
environmental protection, health, socio-economic devel-
opment and maintaining a balance among all productive
activities, respecting the territory’s existing fabric. In this
way, Enel ensures that stakeholders participate in strate-
gic decision-making and involves them in solving what
would otherwise be unsolved problems.

From the start of the authorization process, Enel identifies
all the stakeholders in the project through detailed, moni-
tored mapping that also draws on media and Internet
analysis. A targeted dialogue is established with individual
interest groups, institutions, the public, the business com-
munity, associations and committees in order to explain
the project and its possible impact on the territory clearly
and rigorously, surveying the positions, doubts and needs
of the various segments of the community.

Each project is explained with the support of informa-
tional materials that clarify the needs, objectives, costs
and benefits of the initiative and the process that will be
followed in agreement with the actors involved. The ap-
proaches used in this dialogue are varied, and depend
on the context involved: from public meetings to focus
groups, meetings with community leaders and interaction
through social media (Facebook, Twitter).

The constant dialogue with stakeholders is continued
throughout the authorization process required for the de-
velopment of a major infrastructure project, which calls for
the preparation of environmental impact studies and other
studies necessary to obtain an Integrated Environmental
Authorization, as envisaged by law. In this context, Enel fos-
ters a flexible and dynamic relationship with stakeholders:
the consultation phase that accompanies the Environmen-
tal Impact Assessment is intended to evaluate the direct
and indirect environmental effects of a project upstream
of the implementation phase, and is a crucial dialogue pro-

cess, during which any issues are analyzed and discussed.
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Enel continues to maintain close relations with local com-
munities during the construction and operation of its
plants. Measures to control and assess environmental im-
pact are taken, especially with regard to atmospheric emis-
sions, and framework agreements are drafted with the re-
gional and local governments involved in order to mitigate
any adverse impacts through technical and environmental
measures. Protocols are agreed with local authorities to lev-
erage the areas where plants have an especially heavy im-
pact, with the creation of forums devoted to safeguarding
local businesses and the environment, where all the sectors

at risk can discuss the issues they face.

Education,
science, information

Enel has long promoted a culture of environmental
sustainability and the informed use of resources, both
through dedicated initiatives and investment in research
and the dissemination of scientific knowledge with a
broad range of target populations.

Enel introduces young people to the world of energy, help-
ing them understand the sources of energy, generation
plants and the path electricity takes to get to their home,
with a view to increasing their awareness and critical skills,
nudging them towards sustainable decisions and behavior.
Energy, science, technology, environment: these are the
key works of the "PlayEnergy” initiative, a free project
combining entertainment and education that Enel has
been organizing for the last 9 years in classrooms in 10
different countries, all with the goal of disseminating a
responsible energy culture among young people, starting
with knowledge to enable responsible decision-making.
This commitment is renewed each year, involving thou-
sands of students of all ages with the use of on- and off-
line materials and local initiatives.

Enel also publishes Oxygen, the quarterly magazine de-
voted to promoting scientific thought and debate, with a
focus on the environment, energy, innovation and recent
developments in these areas. The journal consists of some
100 pages that treat technical and scientific issues with
extreme clarity. Above all, this means addressing issues of

interest to sector professionals and the broader reading
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public, in order to facilitate the integration of science and
society.

Numerous initiatives are targeted at families, such as “In-
credible Enel”, the touring exhibition that tells the story
of energy in all its forms through games, events, debates,
scientific experiments, musicals and interactive exhibits,
representing a popular science experience without equal
in Europe. Another example is the Milan flagship store, a
showroom with more than 700 square meters of space
dedicated to the world of energy, its sources and its tech-
nologies, renewing and expanding our relationship with
customers through a variety of approaches, including ad-

vanced interactive technologies.

Sustainability Day

The issues addressed during the second Sustainability Day
included the duty of enterprises to adopt and promote
globally-shared ethical and social values in a world buffeted
by increasingly rapid change, as well as the need to integrate
business and sustainability to forge new values that sustain
trust and confidence in how companies operate.

Enel’s Sustainability Day is an annual opportunity to promote
the culture of corporate responsibility, leading to an innovative
approach to conceiving corporate sustainability at the global
level. The second edition of the event was held at the Madrid
headquarters of Endesa on February 15, 2011. It brought to-
gether international experts, ethical fund managers, and rep-
resentatives of civil society and international institutions with
the aim of developing new global strategies for sustainable
growth. An exhibition of the most important sustainability
projects undertaken by Enel and Endesa was held outside the
auditorium: from investment in research and innovation to
examples of dialogue with local communities, respect for the
environment and corporate governance initiatives.

The second Sustainability Day was transmitted on line, giving
the audience the chance to interact through Twitter with the
many speakers representing the various stakeholders. A spe-
cial issue of Oxygen devoted entirely to CSR was published
for the occasion (info: www.enelsustainabilityday.com), and
for the second year in a row the Economist Intelligence Unit
was commissioned to conduct an international survey of CSR,

entitled “The Sustainable Future”,
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Climate strategy and the environment

Climate change

Enel recognizes the importance of the fight against climate
change and has long initiated action to reduce greenhouse
gas emissions in all countries in which it operates. The
Company participates in the European Emissions Trading
Scheme (EU ETS) and, through Eurelectric, has promoted an
initiative to transform the European electrical sector into a
carbon neutral industry by 2050, in line with the roadmap
for a low carbon economy delineated by the European
Commission. Decarbonization requires the development
of an integrated long-term strategy and major investment.
Enel’s commitment to the fight against climate change in-
volves five lines of action:

> using the best technologies available for thermal gene-

ration;

Renewables

For Enel Green Power, the Group company dedicated to
renewable energy sources, the first year after its listing on
the stock exchange was marked by the consolidation of
its leadership in the sector, with achievement of the op-

erational and financial objectives announced to investors.

> developing zero-emission sources (renewables and nu-
clear power);

> promoting energy efficiency along the entire value
chain: from generation to distribution and end users;

> research and innovation;

> reducing CO, emissions through projects in the develo-
ping countries, using the market mechanisms introdu-

ced by the Kyoto Protocol.

Compared with 1990, Enel has reduced its CO, emissions
per kWh generated by more than 30%. In the long term,
even greater reductions will be possible if supported by a
stable regulatory framework that directs more investment

into low-emissions technologies.

The growth strategy of the Renewable Energy Division has
two elements: using the full range of available technolo-
gies (hydroelectric, solar, wind, geothermal and biomass)
in order to avoid depending on a single resource, and ge-

ographical diversification. This approach enables Enel to
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mediate between the varying economic performance of
different countries and between different political/regu-
latory policies.

As laid out in the business plan, the Division also com-
pleted the launch of an integrated program of activities in
the entire photovoltaic segment. In its joint venture with
Sharp e STM, work was completed on the manufacturing
facility for the production of photovoltaic panels, with full
operations scheduled to begin by the end of the year.
The second joint venture with Sharp (ESSE) became fully
operational and is pursuing the development of solar gen-
eration activities in the EMEA area (Europe, Middle East
and Africa). In addition, the Division will directly pursue
the expansion of its photovoltaic generation capacity in
the geographical areas in which it operates.

During the year, the Division also completed the strategic
repositioning of Enel.si in the retail photovoltaic and en-
ergy efficiency market.

In 2012, the Division will continue its efforts in research and
development of innovative technologies, devoting great

attention to environmental and workplace safety issues.

Nuclear power

Group nuclear policy

The Group’s commitment to the safe management of its
nuclear power activities was clearly underscored in De-
cember 2010 with the approval by the Board of Directors
of its Nuclear Policy, which was published on the Compa-

ny's website.

The policy is intended to guarantee that all nuclear power
investment projects in which the Group participates as a
majority or minority shareholder are conducted with over-
riding priority given to nuclear safety and the protection
of workers, the general public and the environment, en-
couraging excellence in all activities and going beyond
mere compliance with applicable laws and regulations, as

set out in the text of the policy itself:

“Through its investments in nuclear technologies, Enel
publicly commits itself as a shareholder to ensure that its
nuclear facilities adopt a clear nuclear safety policy and
are operated with overriding priority to nuclear safety, the
protection of nuclear workers, the general public and the
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environment from risk of harm. The policy in respect of nu-
clear safety is to encourage excellence in all plant activities
and to go beyond compliance with applicable laws and
regulations and to adopt management approaches em-
bodying the principles of continuous improvement and
risk management.

Enel will ensure to the full extent of its powers as a share-
holder that even nuclear plants where Enel has a minority
interest have adopted and published suitable policies for
nuclear safety, radioactive waste management, the physi-
cal security of nuclear assets, and the protection of work-
ers, the population and the environment. Enel commits
to provide sufficient resources to implement the safety
policy. Enel also commits to a cooperation policy on safety
in the nuclear industry worldwide”.

Application of the policy is ensured by the Nuclear Safety
Oversight unit. In addition, environmental performance
and radioprotection of workers is monitored continuously
by the Environmental Radioprotection and Authorization
unit through the Radioprotection Survey Network.

In March 2011, thanks to the publication of the informa-
tion on the nuclear policy, management system and per-
formance indicators, Enel was the only multi-utility with
nuclear generation assets to be readmitted to the FTSE-
4Good index.

For more information on Enel’s nuclear power perfor-
mance, please visit http://www.enel.com/it-IT/sustain-

ability/our_responsibility/enel_nuclear/.

Nuclear power in Italy

The referendum to repeal the law allowing nuclear power
in June 2011 essentially rendered the development of a nu-
clear power program in Italy impracticable, at least in the
short term. As a result, the purpose of the joint venture es-
tablished by Enel and EDF in July 2009 (Sviluppo Nucleare
[talia), consisting in the development and construction of at
least four nuclear reactors (EPRs), was rendered inoperative.
Accordingly, in December 2011, Enel and EDF decided to
terminate all the agreements concerning the Italian nu-
clear power project. EDF also sold Enel its 50% stake in Svi-
luppo Nucleare Italia Srl, which is currently entirely owned
by Enel Ingegneria e Innovazione.

There have been no changes in the national energy strate-
gies of the other countries in which the Group operates,
and so the Group's nuclear power development policy has

remained substantially unchanged.
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Water scarcity

Enel is aware that the efficient management of water
resources is of central importance for maintaining biodi-
versity and for the development and welfare of society.
In order to avoid potential water stress due to high con-
sumption compared to the natural flows available locally,
Enel constantly monitors all generation sites in areas at
risk of water scarcity, with its activities involving the fol-
lowing stages:

|u

> mapping of areas of potential “water scarcity”: in the
case of countries whose average per capita renewable
water resources are lower than the benchmark set by
FAO, special software developed by the World Business
Council for Sustainable Development is used to identify
any production sites located in such areas of scarcity;

> identification of “critical” production sites, i.e. those
with fresh water supplies;

> more efficient management by making changes to
plants or processes to maximize use of waste water and
sea water;

> monitoring of climate and vegetation data for each
site.

The monitoring activity found that no Group production

site was affected by particular scarcity issues.

Biodiversity

Preserving biodiversity is one of the strategic objectives of
Enel’s environmental policy. The Group promotes a num-
ber of projects in Italy and abroad, with the aim of sup-
porting the preservation of ecosystems and the natural
habitats of the different territories in which it operates.
In most cases, strategies taken by the Group to protect
biodiversity and the specific actions and plans have been
voluntary or incorporated in agreements reached during
the permit process for the construction of plant.

For each installation, the proximity of protected areas
has been monitored, identifying for each the reasons for
protection, the valuable ecosystems, biotopes and the en-
dangered animal or plant species to be protected. Know-
ing what species are present in a given area makes it pos-
sible to find those on the “Red List” of the International
Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources
and, in relation to the level of risk involved, take any nec-

essary protective measures.

In designing plants, Enel conducts impact studies to sys-
tematically evaluate the effects of their operation on the
natural environment, developing solutions to compen-
sate for or improve the original environment. The stud-
ies also assess safeguarding ecosystems and the migra-
tory flows of fauna, and identify the best solutions for the
structure, size, materials and components of the infra-
structure. For grid structures, consideration is also given
to the geometry of pylons, and insulated cables, which
have a lower impact on the landscape and the fauna, are
gradually being adopted.

As regards plant operations, in many areas, in agreement
with local authorities, independent experts perform bio-
monitoring studies of the land, rivers and sea in order to
assess the impact of operations on biodiversity and the
adequacy of the compensatory or improvement meas-
ures taken.

From an operational point of view, a range of precautions
are taken, such as reducing water intake and discharge
and mitigating the noise produced by equipment. Re-
lease of water from dams helps maintain more constant
flows of water through intermittent streams, thereby
sustaining the biodiversity of aquatic ecosystems. Reser-
voirs also function as wetlands, facilitating bird migration.
Within the scope of the environmental management sys-
tems adopted by Enel in conformity with the ISO 14001
standard, periodic assessments are conducted of the im-
pact on biodiversity and analyses are performed to de-
termine potential risks, with initiatives to raise employee
awareness of the issues involved.

To date, no monitoring campaigns have found any ad-
verse impacts on biodiversity and all have verified the ap-
propriateness of the measures taken to avoid the nega-
tive effects of atmospheric emissions, thermal discharges
and noise, and the maintenance of distribution line cor-
ridors. The ecosystems have always been found to be in
excellent condition and are often actively monitored by
Group companies through agreements with local agen-

cies and organizations.
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Research and development

In 2011, the Enel Group spent about €97 million on de-
veloping and demonstrating innovative technologies in
the fields of fossil-fuel power generation (with a focus on
CO, capture and storage, hydrogen, emissions reduction,
and increasing power plant efficiency), renewable energy
(with a focus on innovative photovoltaic and thermal solar,
geothermal, wind, sea power and biomass), energy stor-
age, energy efficiency combined with distributed power
generation, smart grids, electric mobility, green ports and

Efficiency and reducing
emissions at thermal plants

Traditional energy sources (such as coal and natural gas)
will continue to play a key role in satisfying the growing
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cybersecurity/zero accident plants.

Research and innovation efforts fall within the scope of
the Technological Innovation Plan, which sets out a com-
prehensive framework for strategy and the research and
innovation projects developed within the Group. The plan
was developed in cooperation with Endesa, coordinating
with all Group companies, and is intended to increase com-
petitiveness and strengthen the Group's technological and

environmental leadership.

global demand for electricity in the coming decades. As
such, it is necessary for these power generation technolo-
gies to become increasingly compatible with environmen-
tal needs, even eventually reaching the zero-emissions goal.
Enel is among the cutting-edge companies studying and
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demonstrating carbon capture and sequestration (CCS)
technologies, focusing on capturing coal plants’ CO, emis-
sions (post-combustion capture), on innovative oxygen-
ated coal combustion technologies, and technologies for
the gasification of fossil fuels (pre-combustion capture)

and on CO, storage solutions.

Post-combustion CO,
capture and storage

In 2010, construction was completed on the pilot integrat-
ed carbon-capture system installed at the Brindisi plant,
which was inaugurated on March 1,2011 in the presence of
the EU’s Energy Commissioner. This pilot system, one of the
first of its scale in either Europe or the rest of the world, will
enable the treatment of 10,000 Nm?3/h of emissions (equal
to about 3.5 MWe) and permit optimization of the capture
process, with the testing of innovative sorbents, thereby
augmenting Enel’s know-how in preparation for the con-

struction of the industrial-scale demonstration plant.

Oxygenated combustion

CCS with oxygenated combustion at ordinary atmospheric
pressure is primarily being developed by Endesa with its
Compostilla demonstration project. The 30 MWt pilot sys-
tem was completed at the end of 2011, with experimental

operation to begin subsequently.

Pre-combustion capture

In the area of pre-combustion capture, which uses fossil fuel
gasification technologies, Enel has focused on systems for
generating power using the hydrogen produced by the sep-
aration process. In 2011, the 16 MW hydrogen-fueled plant
in Fusina (Venice) operated for more than 1,000 hours. The
next stage will involve the fine-tuning and testing of a new
burner developed in collaboration with GE, with the goal of
reducing NO, emissions below 100 mg/Nm?,

Coal gasification was also pursued at the Group level
through the joint participation of Endesa and Enel in the

Elcogas plant in Puertollano, Spain.

CO, storage

In addition to the characterization and preliminary selec-

tion of areas suitable for construction of the site for the per-

manent geological storage of the CO,, studies were begun
on its use in biochemical processes.

As regards the biological capture of CO, using algae and
the developing the bio-refinery concept, a 500 m? pilot
photo-bioreactor has been built at the Litoral de Almeria

(Andalusia) coal-fueled plant.

Improving efficiency and
containing emissions

Increasing the efficiency of thermal plants is a crucial ena-
bling factor for improving environmental performance
and for developing CO, capture and storage technologies.
The main initiative now under way is the ENCIO project,
which will involve the construction of a pilot facility at the
Fusina plant for the testing of innovative materials able to
reach operating temperatures and pressures (700 °C and
365 bars) well in excess of current standards, to be used in
future coal-fired plants with efficiency rates of up to 50%.
This increase in efficiency will enable coal-fired plants to
reduce CO, emissions by about 15% compared with the

most modern plants in operation today.

Smart grids
and distributed generation

As regards innovation in distribution, the main areas of in-

terest for the Group are:

> the integration and smart management of distributed
energy resources;

> the technological evolution of the grid (energy effi-
ciency, use of the electricity infrastructure);

> standards and infrastructure (interoperability, security
and privacy);

> customer empowerment.

With regard to the grid, the Isernia project was launched.

The initiative provides for the implementation of a vast

range of technologies and services that make it possible to

build smart grids today.

In 2011, work continued on initiatives in the European AD-

DRESS project, of which Enel Distribuzione is the project

leader and coordinator. The project envisages the develop-

ment of a new business model in which the end user plays

an active role. The device at the center of the Enel solution

to deploy this range of services in the home is the Smart
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Info. Thanks to this device, the data handled by an elec-
tronic meter can be made openly available for the devel-
opment of energy efficiency services. An initial example of
this potential is the Energy@home project, conducted in
collaboration with Telecom ltalia, Indesit and Electrolux.
As regards energy efficiency, information exchange with
Endesa on the Smart City Malaga project continued. In
2011, nearly all the systems provided for in the project
were installed, with completion of the demonstration
phase scheduled for 2012.

As part of the Enel Home project, which is aimed at de-
veloping value-added services for efficiently managing
residential energy usage, a trial of a system to increase
customer awareness was begun with 1,800 customers in
collaboration with Enel Energia.

With regard to energy efficiency in buildings, a monitor-
ing system was developed and partially implemented for
the buildings of the Pisa research center and the building
housing the NEST laboratory at the Scuola Normale Supe-
riore. The project also receives funding through the Euro-
pean ENCOURAGE project.

Electric mobility

The projects under way in the field of electric mobility con-
tinued in 2011, expanding their scope further.

As part of the E-mobility Italy project, developed in part-
nership with Daimler-Mercedes, work continued on the
installation of the home and public recharging infrastruc-
ture for the first 100 customers who leased Smart Electric
Drive cars in Rome, Milan and Pisa. As regards agreements
with car manufacturers, cooperation with the main indus-
try players was expanded, with a view to developing pos-
sible integrated solutions for end users.

The commercial and infrastructure development of elec-
tric mobility also continued in Spain, leveraging Group
synergies to the greatest possible extent. This included
the installation of the initial fast-charging infrastructure,
which has been integrated, for example, in the Smart City
project under way in Malaga.

Initiatives for sustainable mobility also include the Green
Ports project, which involves providing an integrated suite
of services to reduce emissions in port areas. During the
year, the preliminary design for the electrification of the
Marittima basin of the Port of Venice was delivered to the
Venice Port Authority.

The agreement with Venice joins that already signed with
the Civitavecchia Port Authority, for which Enel has al-
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ready developed a system to supply power to cruise ships
berthed at the port, and the agreements with the port au-
thorities of La Spezia and Barcelona. The “Green Ports” ini-
tiative is also part of the Smart City projects, under agree-
ments between Enel Distribuzione and the cities and port

authorities of Genoa and Bari.

Renewable generation
technologies

Thermal solar

The medium/long-term development of concentrating
solar power plants (CSP) is increasingly focused on the use
of molten salts as the vector fluid for capturing solar ra-
diation and storing energy. Attention is also be devoted
to the analysis of technologies that could become com-
mercially viable in the longer term, such as direct steam

generation systems or Stirling engines.

Archimede

The first stage of operational testing has been completed,
performing at a level close to design specifications. The
salts were heated to 540 °C and steam temperatures ex-
ceeded 520 °C. Work on optimizing the plant regulation
and control system began, in preparation for the construc-
tion of large-scale industrial plants and a trial circuit to test
low melting point sales (80-140 °C) and innovative com-

ponents.

Integration of geothermal
and thermal solar systems

Work began on the preliminary design of a thermal solar
plant integrated into the Stillwater geothermal facility in
Nevada in the United States. The plant will exploit the syn-
ergies between geothermal and solar power, maximizing

the financial return on power generation.

Innovative photovoltaic power

The main photovoltaic research activities are being conduct-
ed at the solar power laboratory in Catania, which in 2011
obtained CEI EN 61215 and 61646 certification for the verifi-
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cation of the performance of innovative silicon and thin-film
photovoltaic systems. The facility characterized all the main
photovoltaic technologies available on the market, both in
the lab and in the field, and validated models for forecast-
ing performance in different operating conditions. Work also
began under the joint research and testing venture between
Enel Green Power, STM and Sharp (3SUN) to test new materi-
als and integrate advanced electronic components.

Generation for remote customers

The design of a system to deliver electricity generated
from renewable resources to people living in remote
areas that are not connected to the electrical grid was
completed last year. The system, the design of which is
covered by an international patent obtained by Enel, in-
tegrates photovoltaic modules and storage systems. The
first prototype was installed in February 2012 at Enel’s re-
search center in Pisa.

Diamante

In 2011, Roma Capitale, Enel and the University of Rome
“La Sapienza” signed a protocol of understanding for
the installation of Diamante, an integrated solar genera-
tion and storage system in Rome, close to the Valle Giulia

premises of the Architecture Department.

Innovative geothermal

Enel is engaged in the study of a high-performance super-
critical organic cycle that will make it possible to build more
efficient geothermal plants where low-temperature sources
are available. Construction is being completed on a proto-
type 500 kWe circuit at the Livorno Experimental Site, carried

out in conjunction with Turboden and Politecnico di Milano.
Wind

The application of short-term output forecasting tools de-
veloped by Enel researchers to all Italian wind plants was
completed. The tools are more reliable than any other mar-

ket solution available today.

Marine energy

Electricity generation from wave and tidal energy has not
yet achieved technological maturity and the cost levels nec-

essary for it to be competitive with other sources. Accord-

ingly, Enel undertook an initial study of the most promising
areas in Europe and Latin America (Chile) in conjunction
with Endesa. Enel also completed the scouting of the most

promising technologies under development.

Energy storage

The Enel Group is monitoring and developing technolo-
gies available on the market and under development in
the energy storage field, with a view to understanding
their effective performance and potential for supporting
the entire electrical system, from generation to transport,
distribution and end users.

In 2011 analysis work was completed on the performance of
the first three systems installed at the Livorno test facility (va-
nadium batteries, lithium ion batteries, ZEBRA). In addition,
a hydrogen storage system was also installed. The system in-
corporates technological breakthroughs that make it a pos-
sible candidate for energy storage in the medium/long term.
In Spain, as part of the STORE program financed by the
CDTi, Enel and Endesa researchers are working closely to-
gether to demonstrate the use of integrated storage sys-
tems in grids with a high level of renewable energy gen-

eration in the Canary Islands.

Sensible Plant, Zero Accident
Plant, Cybersecurity

Enel researchers are studying the actual performance and
potential development of advanced sensor, diagnostic
and automation applications for the Group’s generation
plants in order to increase their reliability, safety and effi-
ciency and to reduce accidents during construction, main-

tenance and ordinary operation.
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Transactions with related

parties

As an operator in the field of generation, transport, dis-
tribution and sale of electricity, Enel provides services to
a number of companies controlled by the Italian State,
Enel’s controlling shareholder. In the current regulatory
framework, Enel concludes transactions with Terna - Rete
Elettrica Nazionale (Terna), the Single Buyer, the Energy
Services Operator, and the Energy Markets Operator (each
of which is controlled either directly or indirectly by the
Ministry for the Economy and Finance).

Fees for the transport of electricity payable to Terna and
certain charges paid to the Energy Markets Operator are
determined by the Authority for Electricity and Gas.
Transactions relating to purchases and sales of electricity con-
cluded with the Energy Markets Operator on the Power Ex-
change and with the Single Buyer are settled at market prices.
In particular, companies of the Sales Division acquire elec-
tricity from the Single Buyer and settle the contracts for
differences related to the allocation of CIP 6 energy with
the Energy Services Operator, in addition to paying Terna
fees for the use of the national transmission network.
Companies that are a part of the Generation and Energy
Management Division, in addition to paying fees for the
use of the national transmission network to Terna, carry
out electricity transactions with the Energy Markets Op-
erator on the Power Exchange and sell electricity to the
Single Buyer. The companies of the Renewable Energy

Division that operate in Italy sell electricity to the Energy

Markets Operator on the Power Exchange.

Enel also acquires fuel for generation and gas for distribution
and sale from ENI, a company controlled by the Ministry for
the Economy and Finance. All transactions with related par-
ties are concluded on normal market terms and conditions.

In November 2010, the Board of Directors of Enel SpA ap-
proved a procedure governing the approval and execu-
tion of transactions with related parties undertaken by
Enel SpA either directly or indirectly through its subsidiar-
ies. The procedure (which can be found at http://www.
enel.com/it-IT/group/governance/principles/related_
parts/) sets out rules designed to ensure the transparency
and procedural and substantive propriety of transactions
with related parties. It was adopted in implementation of
the provisions of Article 2391-bis of the Italian Civil Code
and the implementing rules established by CONSOB. It
replaced, with effect from January 1, 2011, the rules gov-
erning transactions with related parties approved by the
Board of Directors of Enel SpA on December 19, 2006, in
implementation of the recommendations of the Corpo-
rate Governance Code for listed companies, the provisions

of which were in effect until December 31, 2010.

For more details on transactions with related parties,
please see the discussion in note 36 to these consolidated

financial statements.



Reconciliation of

shareholders' equity an
netincome of Enel SpA
and the corresponding

consolidated figures

Pursuant to CONSOB Notice DEM/6064293 of July 28, 2006, the following table provides a reconciliation of

Group results for the year and shareholders’ equity with the corresponding figures for the Parent Company.

Income  Shareholders’
Millions of euro statement equity

Income
statement

Shareholders’
equity

At Dec. 31, 2011

at Dec. 31, 2010 restated

Financial statements - Enel SpA 2,467 24,190 3,117 24516
Carrying amount and impairment adjustments of consolidated equity

investments and equity investments accounted for using the equity

method 28 (77,011) 17 (77,149)
Shareholders’ equity and net income (calculated using harmonized

accounting policies) of the consolidated companies and groups and

those accounted for using the equity method, net of non-controlling

interests 5,289 76,032 6,864 74,794
Consolidation differences at the Group consolidation level - 15,359 (426) 15,593
Intragroup dividends (3,762) - (4,406) -
Elimination of unrealized intragroup comprehensive income, net of tax

effects and other minor adjustments 126 220 (776) 235
TOTAL GROUP 4,148 38,790 4,390 37,989
TOTAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 1,210 15,650 1,283 15,877
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 5,358 54,440 5,673 53,866
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Consolidated Income Statement

Millions of euro Notes
2011 2010
of which of which
with related with related
parties parties
Revenues
Revenues from sales and services 8.a 77,573 7,455 71,943 7,740
Other revenues and income 8.b 1,941 208 1,434 5
[Subtotal] 79,514 73,377
Costs
Raw materials and consumables 9.a 42,901 9,970 36,457 10,985
Services 9.b 14,440 2,287 13,628 1,928
Personnel 9.c 4,296 4,907
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses 9.d 6,351 6,222 8
Other operating expenses e 2,143 26 2,950 3
Capitalized costs 9.f (1,711) (1,765)
[Subtotal] 68,420 62,399
Net income/(charges) from commodity
risk management 10 272 77 280 8
Operating income 11,366 11,258
Financial income 11 2,693 29 2,576 21
Financial expense 11 5717 7 5,774
Share of income/(expense) from equity investments
accounted for using the equity method 12 96 14
Income before taxes 8,438 8,074
Income taxes 13 3,080 2,401
Net income from continuing operations 5,358 5,673
Net income from discontinued operations - -
Net income for the year (shareholders of the Parent
Company and non-controlling interests) 5,358 5,673
Attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company 4,148 4,390
Attributable to non-controlling interests 1,210 1,283
Earnings per share (euro) 14 0.44 0.47
Diluted earnings per share (euro) 14 0.44 0.47
Earnings from continuing operations per share 14 0.44 0.47
Diluted earnings from continuing operations per share 14 0.44 0.47

W 3@ Enel Annual Report 2011

Consolidated financial statements



Statement of Consolidated Comprehensive
Income for the year

Millions of euro Notes
2010

2011 restated ("
Net income for the year 5,358 5,673
Other comprehensive income:
Effective portion of change in the fair value of cash flow hedges (161) 307
Income recognized in equity by companies accounted for using the equity method 9) 16
Change in the fair value of financial investments available for sale (61) 384
Exchange rate differences (731) 2,323
Income/(Loss) recognized directly in equity 28 (962) 3,030
Comprehensive income for the year 4,396 8,703
Attributable to:
- shareholders of the Parent Company 3,674 6,145
- non controlling interests 722 2,558

(1) The statement of consolidated comprehensive income was restated to provide a better presentation of the effects recognized the previous year associated with
transactions in equity interests without loss of control. For more information, please see note 5 below.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

Millions of euro Notes
ASSETS at Dec. 31,2011 at Dec. 31, 2010 restated "
of which of which
with related parties with related parties
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 80,592 78,094
Investment property 245 299
Intangible assets 16 39,075 39,581
Deferred tax assets 17 6,011 6,017
Equity investments accounted for using
the equity method 18 1,085 1,033
Non-current financial assets 19 6,325 4,701
Other non-current assets 20 506 1,062
[Totall 133,839 130,787
Current assets
Inventories 21 3,148 2,803
Trade receivables 22 11,570 1,473 12,505 1,065
Tax receivables 23 1,251 1,587
Current financial assets 24 10,466 1 11,922 69
Other current assets 25 2,135 71 2,176 79
Cash and cash equivalents 26 7,015 5,164
[Total] 35,585 36,157
Assets held for sale 27 381 1,618
TOTAL ASSETS 169,805 168,562

1) The consolidated balance sheet has been restated in order to retrospectively incorporate the effects of the definitive allocation of the purchase price in the SE
Hydropower business combination. For more information, please see note 5 below.
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Millions of euro Notes

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY at Dec. 31,2011 at Dec. 31,2010 restated

of which of which
with related parties with related parties

Equity attributable to shareholders of the
Parent Company

Share capital 9,403 9,403
Other reserves 10,348 10,791
Retained earnings / (Loss carried forward) 15,831 14,345
Net income for the period @ 3,208 3,450
[Total] 38,790 37,989
Non-controlling interests 15,650 15,877
Total shareholders’ equity 28 54,440 53,866
Non-current liabilities
Long-term loans 26 48,703 52,440
Post-employment and other employee
benefits 29 3,000 3,069
Provisions for risks and charges 30 7,831 9,026
Deferred tax liabilities 17 11,505 11,336
Non-current financial liabilities 31 2,307 2,591
Other non-current liabilities 32 1,313 1,244
[Total] 74,659 79,706

Current liabilities

Short-term loans 26 4,799 8,209

Current portion of long-term loans 26 9,672 2,999

Trade payables 33 12,931 3,304 12,373 2777

Income tax payable 671 687

Current financial liabilities 34 3,668 2 1,672

Other current liabilities 35 8,907 15 8,052 13
[Total] 40,648 33,992

Liabilities held for sale 27 58 998

Total liabilities 115,365 114,696

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS'

EQUITY 169,805 168,562

(1) The consolidated balance sheet has been restated in order to retrospectively incorporate the effects of the definitive allocation of the purchase price in the SE
Hydropower business combination. For more information, please see note 5 below.
(2) Netincome is reported net of the interim dividend (€940.3 million in both years).



Staterment of Changes in Consolidateo

Shareholders' Equity

Share capital and reserves attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company

Share premium Other Other retained
Share capital reserve Legal reserve reserves earnings
at January 1, 2010 9,403 5,292 1,453 2,260 11,409
Charge for stock options plans for the year - - - 2 -
Dividends and interim dividends @ - - - - (1,410)
Allocation of net income from the previous year - - 428 - 4,218
Change in scope of consolidation - - - - -
Disposal of equity interests without loss of control - - - - -
Effect of SE Hydropower PPA - - - - 128
Comprehensive income for the year - - - - -
of which:
- Income/(Loss) recognized directly in equity - - - - -
- Net income/(loss) for the year - - - - -
at December 31, 2010 restated 9,403 5,292 1,881 2,262 14,345 .
Dividends and interim dividends @ - - - - (1,695)
Allocation of net income from the previous year - - - - 3,450
Change in scope of consolidation - - - - (269)
Disposal of equity interests without loss of control - - - - -
Transactions in non-controlling interests - - - - -
Comprehensive income for the year - - - - -
of which:
- Income/(Loss) recognized directly in equity - - - - -
- Net income/(loss) for the year - - - - -
at December 31, 2011 9,403 5,292 1,881 2,262 15,831

(1) Authorized by the Board of Directors on September 29, 2010, with the ex-dividend date set at November 22, 2010 and payment as from November 25, 2010.
(2) Authorized by the Board of Directors on September 28, 2011, with the ex-dividend date set at November 21, 2010 and payment as from November 24, 2011.
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Reserve

from Reserve
translation Reserve from from equity
of financial disposal of Reserve from investments Equity Equity
statements Reserve from equity transactions  accounted attributable to attributable
in currencies measurement interests innon- forusingthe Netincome shareholders to non- Total
other than of financial  withoutloss  controlling equity forthe of the Parent controlling shareholders’
euro  instruments of control interests method year Company interests equity
(621) (582) - - 8 4,646 33,268 12,665 45,933
- - - - - - 2 - 2
- - - - - (940) (2,350) (798) (3.148)
- - - - - (4,646) - - -
- - - - - - - 1,259 1,259
- - 796 - - - 796 - 796
- - - - - 128 193 321
1,077 662 - - 16 4,390 6,145 2,558 8,703
1,077 662 - - 16 - 1,755 1,275 3,030
- - - - - 4,390 4,390 1,283 5,673
456 80 796 - 24 3,450 37,989 15,877 53,866
- - - - - (940) (2,635) (719) (3,354)
- - - - - (3,450) - - -
- - - - - - (269) (237) (506)
- - (47) - - - (47) - (47)
- - - 78 - - 78 7 85
(336) (129) - - 9) 4,148 3,674 722 4,396
(336) (129) - - 9) - (474) (488) (962)
- - - - - 4,148 4,148 1,210 5,358
120 (49) 749 78 15 3,208 38,790 15,650 54,440




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Millions of euro Notes
2011 2010
of which of which

with related parties with related parties
Net income for the year 5,358 5,673
Adjustments for:
Amortization and impairment losses of intangible assets 1,102 999
Depreciation and impairment losses of property, plant and equipment 4,730 4,511
Exchange rate adjustments of foreign currency assets and liabilities
(including cash and cash equivalents) 417 509
Accruals to provisions 387 1,812
Financial (income)/expense 2,219 2,319
Income taxes 3,080 2,401
(Gains)/Losses from disposals and other non-monetary items (73) 476
Cash flows from operating activities before changes in net current assets 17,220 18,700
Increase/(Decrease) in provisions (1,749) (1,705)
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories (334) (331)
(Increase)/Decrease in trade receivables 335 (408) (286) 426
(Increase)/Decrease in financial and non-financial assets/liabilities 571 80 190 (131)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade payables 567 527 1,256 (64)
Interest income and other financial income collected 1,371 29 1,282 21
Interest expense and other financial expense paid (3,897) (7) (4,106)
Income taxes paid (2,371) (3,275)
Cash flows from operating activities (a) 11,713 11,725
Investments in property, plant and equipment (6,957) (6,468)
Investments in intangible assets (632) (719)
Investments in entities (or business units) less cash and cash equivalents acquired (153) (282)
Disposals of entities (or business units) less cash and cash equivalents sold 165 2,610
(Increase)/Decrease in other investing activities 177 (51)
Cash flows from investing/disinvesting activities (b) (7,400) (4,910)
Financial debt (new long-term borrowing) 26 10,486 5,497
Financial debt (repayments and other net changes) (9,427) (10,748)
Collection (net of incidental expenses) of proceeds from sale of equity holdings
without loss of control (51) 2,422
Dividends and interim dividends paid (3,517) (3,147)
Cash flows from financing activities (c) (2,509) (5,976)
Impact of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents (d) (74) 214
Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (a+b+c+d) 1,730 1,053
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 5,342 4,289
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year " 7,072 5,342

(1) Of which cash and cash equivalents equal to €7,015 million at December 31, 2011 (€5,164 million at December 31, 2010), short-term securities equal to €52
million at December 31, 2011 (€95 million at December 31, 2010) and cash and cash equivalents pertaining to assets held for sale in the amount of €5 million at

December 31,2011 (€83 million at December 31, 2010).
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Notes to the financial

statements

W

Form and content of the financial
statements

Enel SpA, which operates in the energy utility sector, has
its registered office in Viale Regina Margherita 137, Rome,
Italy. The consolidated financial statements for the period
ended December 31, 2011 comprise the financial state-
ments of the Company, its subsidiaries and joint ventures
("the Group”) and the Group's holdings in associated
companies. A list of the subsidiaries, associated compa-
nies and joint ventures included in the scope of consolida-
tion is reported in the annex.

These financial statements were approved for publication
by the Board on March 7, 2012.

Compliance with IFRS/IAS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2011 have been prepared in accordance
with international accounting standards (International
Accounting Standards - IAS and International Financial
Reporting Standards - IFRS) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), the interpretations
of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC) and the Standing Interpretations Com-
mittee (SIC), recognized in the European Community pur-
suant to Regulation (EC) 1606/2002 and in effect as of the
close of the year. All of these standards and interpreta-
tions are hereinafter referred to as the “IFRS-EU". The fi-
nancial statements have also been prepared in conformity
with measures issued in implementation of Article 9, para-

graph 3, of Legislative Decree 38 of February 28, 2005.

Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements consist of the con-
solidated income statement, the statement of consoli-
dated comprehensive income, the consolidated balance
sheet, the statement of changes in consolidated share-
holders’ equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows and the related notes.

The assets and liabilities reported in the consolidated bal-
ance sheet are classified on a “current/non-current basis”,
with separate reporting of assets held for sale and liabili-
ties associated with assets held for sale. Current assets,
which include cash and cash equivalents, are assets that
are intended to be realized, sold or consumed during the
normal operating cycle of the Company or in the twelve
months following the balance sheet date; current liabili-
ties are liabilities that are expected to be settled during
the normal operating cycle of the Company or within the
twelve months following the close of the financial year.
The consolidated income statement is classified on the ba-
sis of the nature of costs, while the indirect method is used
for the consolidated statement of cash flows.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
euro, the functional currency of the Parent Company Enel
SpA. All figures are shown in millions of euro unless stated
otherwise.

The financial statements are prepared on a going-concern
basis using the cost method, with the exception of items
that are measured at fair value under IFRS-EU, as specified
in the measurement policies for the individual items.

The consolidated income statement, the consolidated bal-
ance sheet and the consolidated statement of cash flows
report transactions with related parties, the definition of

which is given in the next section.



/

Accounting policies and
measurement criteria

Use of estimates and management
judgment

Preparing the consolidated financial statements under
IFRS-EU requires management to take decisions and make
estimates and assumptions that may impact the value of
revenues, costs, assets and liabilities and the related dis-
closures concerning the items involved, as well as contin-
gent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date. The
estimates and management'’s judgments are based on
previous experience and other factors considered rea-
sonable in the circumstances. They are formulated when
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities is not easily
determined from other sources. The actual results may
therefore differ from these estimates. The estimates and
assumptions are periodically revised and the effects of
any changes are reflected in the consolidated income
statement if they only involve that period. If the revision
involves both the current and future periods, the change is
recognized in the period in which the revision is made and
in the related future periods.

In order to enhance understanding of the financial state-
ments, the following sections examine the main items af-
fected by the use of estimates and the cases that reflect
management judgments to a significant degree, under-
scoring the main assumptions used by managers in meas-
uring these items in compliance with the IFRS-EU. The crit-
ical element of such valuations is the use of assumptions
and professional judgments concerning issues that are by
their very nature uncertain.

Changes in the conditions underlying the assumptions
and judgments could have a substantial impact on future
results.

Use of estimates

Revenue recognition

Revenues from sales to customers are recognized on an
accruals basis. Revenues from sales of electricity and gas
to retail customers are recognized at the time the electri-
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city or gas is supplied and include, in addition to amounts
invoiced on the basis of periodic (and pertaining to the
year) meter readings, an estimate of the value of electrici-
ty and gas distributed during the period but not yet invoi-
ced, which is equal to the difference between the amount
of electricity and gas delivered to the distribution network
and that invoiced in the period, taking account of any net-
work losses. Revenues between the date of the last meter
reading and the end of the year are based on estimates of
the daily consumption of individual customers calculated
on the basis of their consumption record, adjusted to take
account of weather conditions and other factors that may

affect estimated consumption.

Pensions and other post-employment benefits

Some of the Group’s employees participate in pension
plans offering benefits based on their wage history and
years of service.

Certain employees are also eligible for other post-employ-
ment benefit schemes.

The expenses and liabilities of such plans are calculated
on the basis of estimates carried out by consulting actu-
aries, who use a combination of statistical and actuarial
elements in their calculations, including statistical data on
past years and forecasts of future costs.

Other components of the estimation that are considered
include mortality and withdrawal rates as well as assump-
tions concerning future developments in discount rates,
the rate of wage increases, the inflation rate and trends in
the cost of medical care.

These estimates can differ significantly from actual devel-
opments owing to changes in economic and market con-
ditions, increases or decreases in withdrawal rates and the
lifespan of participants, as well as changes in the effective
cost of medical care.

Such differences can have a substantial impact on the

quantification of pension costs and other related expenses.

Recoverability of non-current assets

The carrying amount of non-current assets and assets
held for sale is reviewed periodically and wherever cir-
cumstances or events suggest that more frequent review
is necessary. Goodwill is reviewed at least annually.

Such assessments of the recoverable amount of assets are
carried out in accordance with the provisions of IAS 36, as
described in greater detail in note 16 below.

In the case of assets held for sale, the assessment is obvi-

ously not based on a determination of the value in use of
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the assets but rather on the amount deemed recoverable
through disposal, taking due account of offers already re-
ceived from parties interested in acquiring the assets.
Where the value of a group of non-current assets is con-
sidered to be impaired, it is written down to its recover-
able value, as estimated on the basis of the use of the
assets and their future disposal, in accordance with the
Company's most recent plans.

The estimates of such recoverable values are considered
reasonable. Nevertheless, possible changes in the estima-
tion factors on which the calculation of such values is per-
formed could generate different recoverable values. The
analysis of each group of non-current assets is unique and
requires management to use estimates and assumptions
considered prudent and reasonable in the specific circum-

stances.

Recovery of deferred tax assets

At December 31, 2011, the financial statements report
deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses to be reversed
in subsequent years and income components whose de-
ductibility is deferred in an amount whose recovery is con-
sidered by management to be highly probable.

The recoverability of such assets is subject to the achieve-
ment of future profits sufficient to absorb such tax losses
and to use the benefits of the other deferred tax assets.
The assessment of recoverability takes account of the es-
timate of future taxable incomes and is based on prudent
tax planning strategies. However, where the Group should
become aware that it is unable to recover all or part of
such recognized tax assets in future years, the consequent
adjustment would be taken to the income statement in

the year in which this circumstance arises.

Litigation

The Enel Group is involved in various legal disputes re-
garding the generation, transport and distribution of
electricity. In view of the nature of such litigation, it is not
always objectively possible to predict the outcome of such
disputes, which in some cases could be unfavorable.
Provisions have been recognized to cover all significant li-
abilities for cases in which legal counsel feels an adverse
outcome s likely and a reasonable estimate of the amount

of the loss can be made.

Provision for doubtful accounts
The provision for doubtful accounts reflects estimates

of losses on the Group's receivables portfolio. Provisions

have been made against expected losses calculated on
the basis of historical experience with receivables with
similar credit risk profiles, current and historical arrears,
eliminations and collections, as well as the careful moni-
toring of the quality of the receivables portfolio and cur-
rent and forecast conditions in the economy and the rel-
evant markets.

The estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically
and the effects of any changes are taken to the income

statement in the year they accrue.

Decommissioning and site restoration

In calculating liabilities in respect of decommissioning and
site restoration costs, especially for the decommissioning
of nuclear power plants and the storage of waste fuel and
other radioactive materials, the estimation of future costs
is a critical process in view of the fact that such costs will
be incurred over a very long period of time, estimated at
up to 100 years.

The obligation, based on financial and engineering as-
sumptions, is calculated by discounting the expected fu-
ture cash flows that the Company considers it will have to
pay for the decommissioning operation.

The discount rate used to determine the present value of
the liability is the pre-tax risk-free rate and is based on the
economic parameters of the country in which the plant is
located.

That liability is quantified by management on the basis of
the technology existing at the measurement date and is
reviewed each year, taking account of developments in
decommissioning and site restoration technology, as well
as the ongoing evolution of the legislative framework
concerning the protection of health and the environment.
Subsequently, the value of the obligation is adjusted to

reflect the passage of time and any changes in estimates.

Other

In addition to the items listed above, estimates were also
used with regard to the valuation of financial instruments,
share-based payment plans and the fair value measure-
ment of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business
combinations. For these items, the estimates and assump-
tions are discussed in the notes on the accounting policies

adopted.



Management judgments

Identification of cash generating units (CGUs)

In application of IAS 36 “Impairment of assets’, the good-
will recognized in the consolidated financial statements of
the Group as a result of business combinations has been
allocated to individual or groups of CGUs that will benefit
from the combination. A CGU is the smallest group of as-
sets that generates largely independent cash inflows.

In identifying such CGUs, management took account of
the specific nature of its assets and the business in which
itis involved (geographical area, business area, regulatory
framework, etc.), verifying that the cash flows of a given
group of assets were closely interdependent and largely
independent of those associated with other assets (or
groups of assets).

The assets of each CGU were also identified on the basis
of the manner in which management manages and moni-
tors those assets within the business model adopted.

In particular, the CGUs identified in the lberia and Latin
America Division are represented by groups of electricity/
gas production, distribution and sales assets in the Iberian
peninsula and certain countries in Latin America. In view
of the geographical, cultural and social similarities of the
countries and markets in which they operate, and tech-
nical, regulatory and operational performance aspects,
many of these assets represent asingle object of evaluation
with closely interdependent cash flows. The CGUs identi-
fied in the Generation and Energy Management Division
and the Sales Division are represented by assets resulting
from business combinations involving gas regasification
operations in Italy and the domestic retail gas market.
The CGUs identified in the Renewable Energy Division are
represented (with a number of minor exceptions made in
Italy and Spain to reflect the Group organizational mod-
el) by the group of assets exclusively associated with the
generation of electricity from renewable energy resources
located in geographical areas considered uniform on the
basis of regulatory and contractual aspects and character-
ized by a high degree of interdependence of business pro-
cesses and substantial integration in the same geographi-
cal area. The CGUs identified in the International Division
are represented by electricity generation and distribution/
sales assets identified with business combinations which
constitute, by geographical area and business, individual
units generating independent cash flows. The CGUs iden-
tified by management to which the goodwill recognized
in these consolidated financial statements has been allo-
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cated are indicated in the section on intangible assets, to
which the reader is invited to refer.

The number and scope of the CGUs are updated systemat-
ically to reflect the impact of new business combinations

and reorganizations carried out by the Group.

Determination of the existence of control

IAS 27 “Consolidated and separate financial statements”
defines control as power to govern the financial and op-
erating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.

The existence of control does not depend solely on own-
ership of a majority shareholding or the contractual form
used in the acquisition. Accordingly management must
use its judgment in determining whether specific situ-
ations give the Group the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of the investee.

For subsidiaries consolidated on a full line-by-line basis
in these financial statements for which control does not
derive from ownership of a majority of voting rights, man-
agement has analyzed any agreements with other inves-
tors in order to determine whether such agreements give
the Group the power of governance indicated above,
even though it holds a minority share of voting rights. In
this assessment process, management also took account
of potential voting rights (call options, warrants, etc.) in
order to determine whether they would be currently ex-
ercisable as of the reporting date. Following such analysis,
the Group consolidated certain companies on a line-by-
line basis even though it does not hold more than half of
the voting rights, as indicated in the attachment “Subsidi-
aries, associates and other significant equity investments
of the Enel Group at December 31, 2011", to which the
reader is invited to refer.

Application of IFRIC 12 “Service concession arrange-
ments” to the concessions held by the Group

IFRIC 12 “Service concession arrangements” establishes
that, depending on the characteristics of the concession
arrangements, the infrastructure used to deliver public
services shall be recognized under intangible assets or un-
der financial assets, depending, respectively, on whether
the concession holder has the right to charge users of the
services or it has the right to receive a specified amount
from the grantor agency.

In assessing the applicability of these provisions for the
Group, management closely analyzed existing concessions.
On the basis of that analysis, the provisions of IFRC 12 are
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applicable to the infrastructure used for the concessions for
the distribution of electricity of a number of companies in

the Iberia and Latin America Division that operate in Brazil.

Related parties

Related parties are mainly parties that have the same con-
trolling entity as Enel SpA, companies that directly or in-
directly through one or more intermediaries control, are
controlled or are subject to the joint control of Enel SpA
and in which the latter has a holding that enables it to ex-
ercise a significant influence. Related parties also include
the FOPEN and FONDENEL pension funds, and the boards
of auditors, key management personnel — and their close
relatives — of Enel SpA and the companies over which it
exercises direct or indirect control. Key management per-
sonnel comprises management personnel who have the
power and direct or indirect responsibility for the plan-
ning, management and control of the activities of the

Company. They include company directors.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries comprise those entities for which the Group has
the direct or indirect power to determine their financial and
operating policies for the purposes of obtaining the benefits
of their activities. In assessing the existence of a situation of
control, account is also taken of potential voting rights that
are effectively exercisable or convertible. The figures of the
subsidiaries are consolidated on a full line-by-line basis as
from the date control is acquired until such control ceases.
The acquisition of an additional stake in subsidiaries and
the sale of holdings that do not result in the loss of control
are considered transactions between owners. As such, the
accounting effects of these transactions are recognized
directly in consolidated equity.

Conversely, where a controlling interest is divested, any
capital gain (or loss) on the sale and the effects of the re-
measurement to fair value of the residual interest as at the

sale date are recognized through profit or loss.

Associated companies

Associated companies comprise those entities in which
the Group has a significant influence. Potential voting
rights that are effectively exercisable or convertible are
also taken into consideration in determining the existence

of significant influence.

These investments are initially recognized at cost, allo-
cating any difference between the cost of the equity in-
vestment and the share in the net fair value of the assets,
liabilities and identifiable contingent liabilities of the asso-
ciated company in an analogous manner to the treatment
of business combinations, and are subsequently measured
using the equity method. The Group’s share of profit or
loss is recognized in the consolidated financial statements
from the date on which the Group acquires the significant
influence over the entity until such influence ceases.
Should the Group's share of the loss for the period exceed
the carrying amount of the equity investment, the latter
is impaired and any excess recognized in a provision if the
Group has a commitment to meet legal or constructive ob-
ligations of the associate or in any case to cover its losses.
Where an interest is divested and as a result the Group
no longer exercises a significant influence, any capital gain
(or loss) on the sale and the effects of the remeasurement
to fair value of the residual interest as at the sale date is

recognized through profit or loss.
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Joint ventures

Interests in joint ventures — enterprises over whose eco-
nomic activities the Group exercises joint control with other
entities—are consolidated using the proportionate method.
The Group recognizes its share of the assets, liabilities, rev-

enues and expenses on a line-by-line basis in proportion to
the Group's share in the entity from the date on which joint
control is acquired until such control ceases. The following
table reports the contribution of the main joint ventures to

the aggregates in the consolidated financial statements:

Millions of euro Dolomi‘lt-iiyEir:I RusEnergoSbyt Nuclenor Atacama Tejo
at Dec. 31, 2011
Percentage of consolidation 49% 49.5% 50.0% 50.0% 38.9%
Non-current of assets 328 55 70 234 200
Current assets 11 71 78 69 55
Non-current liabilities 91 2 63 34 160
Current liabilities 12 47 20 58 32
Revenues 402 1,226 92 195 82
Costs 88 1,088 81 157 70

Where an interest is divested and as a result the Group no
longer exercises joint control, any capital gain (or loss) on
the sale and the effects of the remeasurement to fair value
of the residual interest as at the sale date is recognized

through profit or loss.

Consolidation procedures

The financial statements of subsidiaries used to prepare
the consolidated financial statements were prepared at
December 31, 2011 in accordance with the accounting
policies adopted by the Parent Company.

All intercompany balances and transactions, including
any unrealized profits or losses on transactions within the
Group, are eliminated, net of the theoretical tax effect.
Unrealized profits and losses with associates and joint ven-
tures are eliminated for the part attributable to the Group.
In both cases, unrealized losses are eliminated except

when representative of impairment.

Translation of foreign currency items

Transactions in currencies other than the functional cur-
rency are recognized in these financial statements at the
exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign
currency other than the functional currency are later ad-
justed using the balance sheet exchange rate.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency stat-
ed at historic cost are translated using the exchange rate
prevailing on the date of initial recognition of the transac-
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tion. Non-monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency
stated at fair value are translated using the exchange rate
prevailing on the date that value was determined.

Any exchange rate differences are recognized through the

income statement.

Translation of financial statements
denominated in a foreign currency

For the purposes of the consolidated financial state-
ments, all profits/losses, assets and liabilities are stated
in euro, which is the functional currency of the Parent
Company, Enel SpA.

In order to prepare the consolidated financial state-
ments, the financial statements of consolidated compa-
nies in functional currencies other than the currency of
the Parent Company are translated into euro by applying
the relevant period-end exchange rate to the assets and
liabilities, including goodwill and consolidation adjust-
ments, and the average exchange rate for the period,
which approximates the exchange rates prevailing at the
date of the respective transactions, to the income state-
ment items.

Any resulting exchange rate gains or losses are recognized as
a separate component of equity in a special reserve. The gains
and losses are recognized proportionately in the income

statement on the disposal (partial or total) of the subsidiary.
Business combinations
At first-time adoption of the IFRS-EU, the Group elected to

not apply IFRS 3 (Business combinations) retrospectively to
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acquisitions carried out prior to January 1, 2004. Accord-
ingly, the goodwill in respect of acquisitions preceding the
IFRS-EU transition date is carried at the value reported in
the last consolidated financial statements prepared on
the basis of the previous accounting standards (for the
year ended December 31, 2003).

Business combinations initiated before January 1, 2010
and completed within that financial year are recognized
on the basis of IFRS 3 (2004). Such business combina-
tions were recognized using the purchase method, where
the purchase cost is equal to the fair value at the date of
the exchange of the assets acquired and the liabilities in-
curred or assumed, plus costs directly attributable to the
acquisition. This cost was allocated by recognizing the as-
sets, liabilities and identifiable contingent liabilities of the
acquired company at their fair values. Any positive differ-
ence between the cost of the acquisition and the fair value
of the net assets acquired pertaining to the shareholders
of the Parent Company was recognized as goodwill. Any
negative difference was recognized in profit or loss. If the
fair values of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
could only be calculated on a provisional basis, the busi-
ness combination was recognized using such provisional
values. The value of the non-controlling interests was de-
termined in proportion to the interest held by minority
shareholdersin the net assets. In the case of business com-
binations achieved in stages, at the date of acquisition of
control the net assets acquired previously were remeas-
ured to fair value and any adjustments were recognized in
equity. Any adjustments resulting from the completion of
the measurement process were recognized within twelve

months of the acquisition date.

Business combinations carried out as from January 1, 2010
are recognized on the basis of IFRS 3 (2008), which is re-
ferred to as IFRS 3 Revised hereafter.

More specifically, business combinations are recognized
using the acquisition method, where the purchase cost is
equal to the fair value at the purchase date of the assets
acquired and the liabilities incurred or assumed, as well as
any equity instruments issued by the purchaser.

Costs directly attributable to the acquisition are recog-
nized through profit or loss.

This cost is allocated by recognizing the assets, liabilities
and identifiable contingent liabilities of the acquired com-
pany at their fair values as at the acquisition date. Any
positive difference between the price paid, measured at

fair value as at the acquisition date, plus the value of any

non-controlling interests, and the net value of the identifi-
able assets and liabilities of the acquiree measured at fair
value is recognized as goodwill. Any negative difference is
recognized in profit or loss.

The value of the non-controlling interests is determined
either in proportion to the interest held by minority share-
holders in the net identifiable assets of the acquiree or at
their fair value as at the acquisition date.

If the fair values of the assets, liabilities and contingent li-
abilities can only be calculated on a provisional basis, the
business combination is recognized using such provisional
values. Any adjustments resulting from the completion of
the measurement process are recognized within twelve
months of the date of acquisition, restating comparative
figures.

In the case of business combinations achieved in stages,
at the date of acquisition of control the holdings acquired
previously are remeasured to fair value and any positive or

negative difference is recognized in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is recognized at historic
cost, including directly attributable ancillary costs neces-
sary for the asset to be ready for use. It is increased by the
present value of the estimate of the costs of decommis-
sioning and restoring the asset where there is a legal or
constructive obligation to do so. The corresponding liabil-
ity is recognized under provisions for risks and charges.
The accounting treatment of changes in the estimate of
these costs, the passage of time and the discount rate is
discussed under “Provisions for risks and charges”.
Borrowing costs associated with financing directly at-
tributable to the purchase or construction of assets that
require a substantial period of time to get ready for its
intended use or sale (qualifying assets) are capitalized as
part of the cost of the assets themselves. Borrowing costs
associated with the purchase/construction of assets that
do not meet such requirement are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred.

Certain assets that were revalued at the IFRS-EU transi-
tion date or in previous periods are recognized at their fair
value, which is considered to be their deemed cost at the
revaluation date.

Where major components of property, plant and equip-
ment have different useful lives, the components are rec-
ognized and depreciated separately.

Subsequent expenditure is recognized as an increase in
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the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that
future economic benefits deriving from the cost incurred
to replace a part of the asset will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be reliably determined.

All other expenditure is recognized as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

The cost of replacing part or all of an asset is recognized
as an increase in the value of the asset and is depreciated
over its useful life; the net carrying amount of the replaced
unit is eliminated through profit or loss, with the recogni-
tion of any capital gain or loss.

Property, plant and equipment is reported net of accumu-
lated depreciation and any impairment losses determined
as set out below. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-
line basis over the item'’s estimated useful life, which is
reviewed annually, and any changes are reflected on a
prospective basis. Depreciation begins when the asset is

ready for use.

The estimated useful life of the main items of property,

plant and equipment is as follows:

Useful life
Civil buildings 10-61 years
Hydroelectric power plants " 35-65 years
Thermal power plants " 25-60 years
Nuclear power plants 15-40 years
Geothermal power plants 10-30 years
Alternative energy power plants 11-40 years
Transport lines 15-50 years
Distribution plant 14-40 years
Meters 6-18 years

(1) Excluding assets to be relinquished free of charge, which are depreciated
over the duration of the concession if shorter than useful life.

Land, both unbuilt and on which civil and industrial build-
ings stand, is not depreciated as it has an undetermined
useful life.

Assets recognized under property, plant and equipment
are derecognized either at the time of their disposal or
when no future economic benefit is expected from their
use or disposal. Any gain or loss, recognized through prof-
it or loss, is calculated as the difference between the net
consideration received in the disposal, where present, and

the net book value of the derecognized assets.

Leased assets
Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance
leases, whereby all risks and rewards incident to owner-
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ship are substantially transferred to the Group, are initially
recognized as assets at the lower of fair value and the pre-
sent value of the minimum lease payments due, including
the payment required to exercise any purchase option.
The corresponding liability due to the lessor is recognized
under financial liabilities. The assets are depreciated on
the basis of their useful lives. If it is not reasonably certain
that the Group will acquire the assets at the end of the
lease, they are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and the useful life of the assets.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all risks and
rewards incident to ownership are classified as operating
leases. Operating lease costs are taken to profit or loss on

a systematic basis over the term of the lease.

Assets to be relinquished free of charge

The Group’s plants include assets to be relinquished free
of charge at the end of the concession. These mainly re-
gard major water diversion works and the public lands
used for the operation of the thermal power plants. For
plants in Italy, the concessions terminate in 2029 (2020
only for plants located in the Autonomous Province of
Trento and 2040 in the Autonomous Province of Bolzano)
and 2020, respectively. If the concessions are not renewed,
at those dates all intake and governing works, penstocks,
outflow channels and other assets on public lands will be
relinquished free of charge to the State in good operat-
ing condition. The Group believes that the existing ordi-
nary maintenance programs ensure that the assets will
be in good operating condition at the termination date.
Accordingly, depreciation on assets to be relinquished is
calculated over the shorter of the term of the concession
and the remaining useful life of the assets.

In accordance with Spanish laws 29/85 and 46/99, hydro-
electric power stations in Spanish territory operate under
administrative concessions at the end of which the plants
will be returned to the government in good operating con-
dition. The concessions will expire in the period between
2011 and 2067.

A number of companies that operate in Argentina, Brazil
and Mexico hold administrative concessions with similar
conditions to those applied under the Spanish concession
system. These concessions will expire in the period between
2013 and 2088.

Enel also operates under administrative concessions for
the distribution of electricity in Spain. The concessions give
Endesa the right to build and operate distribution networks

for an indefinite period of time.
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The Group is a concession holder in Italy for the distribu-
tion of electricity. The concession, granted by the Ministry
for Economic Development, was issued free of charge and
terminates on December 31, 2030. If the concession is not
renewed upon expiry, the grantor is required to pay an in-
demnity. The amount of the indemnity will be determined
by agreement of the parties using appropriate valuation
methods, based on both the balance sheet value of the as-
sets themselves and their profitability. In determining the
indemnity, such profitability will be represented by the pre-
sent value of future cash flows. The infrastructure serving
the concessions is owned and available to the concession
holder. It is recognized under “Property, plant and equip-

ment” and is depreciated over its useful lives.

Investment property

Investment property consists of the Group’s real estate
held to generate rental income or capital gains rather than
for use in operations or the delivery of goods and services.
Investment property is initially recognized at cost in the
same manner as other property, plant and equipment.
Subsequently, it is measured at cost net of depreciation,
as calculated over a useful life of 40 years, and any impair-
ment losses. Impairment losses are determined on the ba-
sis of the following criteria.

The fair value of investment property is determined on
the basis of the state of the individual assets, projecting
the valuations for the previous year in relation to the per-
formance of the real estate market and estimated devel-
opments in the value of the assets. The fair value of in-
vestment property recognized at December 31, 2011, as
determined on the basis of appraisals by independent
experts, is equal to €317 million.

Investment property is derecognized either at the time
of its disposal or when no future economic benefit is ex-
pected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss, recog-
nized through profit or loss, is calculated as the difference
between the net consideration received in the disposal,
where present, and the net book value of the derecog-
nized assets.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are identifiable assets without physical
substance controlled by the entity and capable of gener-
ating future economic benefits, as well as goodwill if ac-

quired for consideration. They are measured at purchase

or internal development cost, when it is probable that the
use of such assets will generate future economic benefits
and the related cost can be reliably determined.

The cost includes any directly attributable incidental ex-
penses necessary to make the assets ready for use. The
assets, with a definite useful life, are reported net of ac-
cumulated amortization and any impairment losses, de-
termined as set out below. Amortization is calculated on
a straight-line basis over the item'’s estimated useful life,
which is checked at least annually; any changes in amorti-
zation policies are reflected on a prospective basis. Amor-
tization commences when the asset is ready for use.
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not am-
ortized systematically. Instead, they undergo impairment
testing at least annually.

Intangible assets are derecognized either at the time of
their disposal or when no future economic benefit is ex-
pected from their use or disposal. Any gain or loss, recog-
nized through profit or loss, is calculated as the difference
between the net consideration received in the disposal,
where present, and the net book value of the derecog-
nized assets.

Goodwill deriving from the acquisition of subsidiaries, as-
sociated companies or joint ventures is allocated to each
of the cash generating units identified. After initial recog-
nition, goodwill is not amortized but is tested for recover-
ability at least annually using the criteria described in the
notes. Goodwill relating to equity investments in associ-

ates is included in their carrying amount.

Impairment losses

Property, plant and equipment, investment property and
intangible assets are reviewed at least once a year to de-
termine whether there is evidence of impairment. If such
evidence exists, the recoverable amount of any property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets is estimated.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use.

The latter is represented by the present value of the esti-
mated future cash flows generated by the asset in ques-
tion. Value in use is determined by discounting estimated
future cash flows using a pre-tax discount rate that re-
flects the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the specific risks of the asset. The recoverable
amount of assets that do not generate independent cash
flows is determined based on the cash generating unit to

which the asset belongs.
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If an asset’s carrying amount or that of the cash generat-
ing unit to which it is allocated is higher than its recov-
erable amount, an impairment loss is recognized in the
income statement.

Impairment losses of cash generating units are first
charged against the carrying amount of any goodwill at-
tributed to it and then against the value of other assets, in
proportion to their carrying amount.

If the reasons for a previously recognized impairment loss
no longer apply, the carrying amount of the asset is re-
stored through profit or loss in an amount that shall not
exceed the net carrying amount the asset would have had
if the impairment loss had not been recognized and de-
preciation or amortization had been performed.

The recoverable amount of goodwill and intangible assets
with an indefinite useful life as well as that of intangible
assets not yet available for use is tested for recoverability
annually or more frequently if there is evidence suggest-
ing that the assets may be impaired. The original value of
goodwill is not restored even if in subsequent years the

reasons for the impairment no longer apply.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net esti-
mated realizable value except for inventories — essentially
CO, allowances — involved in trading activities, which are
measured at fair value with recognition through profit or
loss. Average weighted cost is used, which includes re-
lated ancillary charges. Net estimated realizable value is
the estimated normal selling price net of estimated selling
costs or, where applicable, replacement cost.

Inventories also include purchases of nuclear fuel, whose
use is determined on the basis of the energy produced.
Finally, property held for sale classified under inventories
is measured at the lower of its specific cost and its market

value.

Construction contracts

Construction contracts are measured on the basis of the
contractual amounts accrued with reasonable certainty in
respect of the stage of completion of the works as deter-
mined using the cost-to-cost method. Advances paid by
customers are deducted from the value of the construc-
tion contracts up to the extent of the accrued amounts;
any excess is recognized under liabilities. Losses on in-
dividual contracts are recognized in their entirety in the
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period in which they become probable, regardless of the

stage of completion of the contract.

Financial instruments

Financial assets measured at fair value

through profit or loss

This category includes debt securities and equity invest-
ments in entities other than subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures held for trading and designated as at fair
value through profit or loss at the time of initial recognition.
Such assets are initially recognized at fair value. Subse-
quent to initial recognition of financial assets, gains and
losses from changes in their fair value are recognized in
the income statement.

Financial assets held to maturity

This category comprises non-derivative financial instru-
ments with fixed or determinable payments and that do
not represent equity investments that are quoted on an ac-
tive market for which the Group has the positive intention
and ability to hold until maturity. They are initially recog-
nized at fair value as measured at the trade date, including
any transaction costs; subsequently, they are measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method, net of
any impairment losses.

Impairment losses are calculated as the difference between
the carrying amount of the asset and the present value of
expected future cash flows, discounted using the original
effective interest rate.

In the case of renegotiated financial assets, impairment
losses are calculated using the original effective interest
rate in effect prior to the amendment of the related terms

and conditions.

Loans and receivables

This category includes non-derivative financial and trade
receivables, including debt securities, with fixed or deter-
minable payments that are not quoted on an active market
and that the entity does not originally intend to sell.

Such assets are initially recognized at fair value, adjusted
for any transaction costs, and subsequently measured at am-
ortized cost using the effective interest method, net of any
impairment losses. Such impairment losses are calculated as
the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and
the present value of expected future cash flows, discounted
using the original effective interest rate. In the case of rene-

gotiated financial assets, impairment losses are calculated
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using the original effective interest rate in effect prior to the
amendment of the related terms and conditions.
Trade receivables falling due in line with generally accepted

trade terms are not discounted.

Financial assets available for sale

This category includes listed debt securities not classified as
held to maturity, equity investments in other entities (un-
less classified as "designated as at fair value through profit
orloss”) and financial assets that cannot be classified in oth-
er categories. These instruments are measured at fair value
with changes recognized in shareholders’ equity.

At the time of sale, or when a financial asset available for
sale becomes an investment in a subsidiary as a result of
successive purchases, the cumulative gains and losses pre-
viously recognized in equity are reversed to the income
statement.

Where there is objective evidence that such assets have in-
curred an impairment loss, the cumulative loss previously
recognized in equity is eliminated through reversal to the
income statement. Such impairment losses, which cannot
be reversed, are calculated as the difference between the
carrying amount of the asset and its fair value, determined
on the basis of the market price at the balance sheet date
for financial assets listed on regulated markets or on the
basis of the present value of expected future cash flows,
discounted using the market interest rate for unlisted fi-
nancial assets.

When the fair value cannot be determined reliably, these
assets are recognized at cost adjusted for any impairment
losses.

Impairment of financial assets

At each balance sheet date, financial assets are analyzed
to determine whether their value is impaired.

A financial asset is considered impaired when there is ob-
jective evidence of such impairment loss as the result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recogni-
tion of the asset that have had an impact on the reliably
estimated future cash flows of the asset.

Obijective evidence of an impairment loss includes observ-
able data about events such as, for example, significant
financial difficulty of the obligor; default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments; it becoming probable
that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other form of
financial reorganization; or observable data indicating a
measurable decrease in estimated future cash flows.

Where an impairment loss is found, the latter is calculated

as indicated above for each type of financial asset involved.
When there is no realistic chance of recovering the finan-
cial asset, the corresponding value of the asset is written

off through profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

This category reports assets that are available on demand
or at very short term, readily convertible into a known
amount of cash and subject to insignificant risk of changes
in value.

In addition, for the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents do not include

bank overdrafts at period-end.

Trade payables

Trade payables are initially recognized at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortized cost. Trade payables
falling due in line with generally accepted trade terms are
not discounted.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities other than derivatives are recognized
when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
clauses representing the instrument and are initially
measured at fair value adjusted for directly attributable
transaction costs. Financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest

rate method.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are recognized at fair value and are designated
as hedging instruments when the relationship between
the derivative and the hedged item is formally document-
ed and the effectiveness of the hedge (assessed periodi-
cally) meets the thresholds envisaged under IAS 39.
When the derivatives are used to hedge the risk of changes
in the fair value of hedged assets or liabilities, any chang-
es in the fair value of the hedging instrument are taken
to profit or loss. The adjustments in the fair values of the
hedged assets or liabilities are also taken to profit or loss.
When derivatives are used to hedge the risk of changes in
the cash flows generated by the hedged items (cash flow
hedges), changes in fair value are initially recognized in
equity, in the amount qualifying as effective, and are rec-
ognized in profit or loss only when the change in the cash
flows from the hedged items to be offset actually occurs.
The ineffective portion of the fair value of the hedging in-

strument is taken to profit or loss.
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Changes in the fair value of trading derivatives and those
that no longer qualify for hedge accounting under IAS 39
are recognized in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments are recognized at the
trade date.

Financial and non-financial contracts (that are not already
measured at fair value) are analyzed to identify any em-
bedded derivatives, which are separated and measured at
fair value. This analysis is conducted at the time the en-
tity becomes party to the contract or when the contract
is renegotiated in a manner that significantly changes the
original associated cash flows.

Fair value is determined using the official prices for instru-
ments traded on regulated markets. For instruments not
traded on regulated markets fair value is determined on
the basis of the present value of expected cash flows using
the market yield curve at the reporting date and translat-
ing amounts in currencies other than the euro at end-year
exchange rates.

The Group also analyzes all forward contracts for the pur-
chase or sale of non-financial assets, with a specific focus
on forward purchases and sales of electricity and energy
commodities, in order to determine if they must be classi-
fied and treated in conformity with IAS 39 or if they have
been entered into for physical delivery in line with the nor-
mal purchase/sale/use needs of the Company (own use
exemption).

If such contracts have not been entered into in order to
obtain or deliver electricity or energy commodities, they
are measured at fair value.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets are derecognized whenever one of the

following conditions is met:

> the contractual right to receive the cash flows associ-
ated with the asset expires;

> the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards associated with the asset, transferring its rights to
receive the cash flows of the asset or assuming a contrac-
tual obligation to pay such cash flows to one or more ben-
eficiaries under a contract that meets the requirements
envisaged under IAS 39 (the "pass through test"”);

> the Company has not transferred or retained substan-
tially all the risks and rewards associated with the asset
but has transferred control over the asset.

Financial liabilities are derecognized when they are extin-

guished, i.e. when the contractual obligation has been dis-

charged, cancelled or lapsed.
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Fair value hierarchy pursuant to IFRS 7

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified

in a three-level hierarchy as described below, in considera-

tion of the inputs used to determine such fair value.

In particular:

> Level 1 includes financial assets or liabilities measured
at fair value on the basis of quoted prices in active mar-
kets for such instruments (unadjusted);

> Level 2 includes financial assets/liabilities measured at
fairvalue on the basis of inputs other than those includ-
ed in Level 1 but that are observable either directly or
indirectly on the market;

> Level 3 includes financial assets/liabilities whose fair
value was calculated using inputs not based on observ-
able market data.

Post-employment and other employee
benefits

Liabilities related to employee benefits paid upon or after
ceasing employment in connection with defined benefit
plans or other long-term benefits accrued during the em-
ployment period are determined separately for each plan,
using actuarial assumptions to estimate the amount of
the future benefits that employees have accrued at the
balance sheet date (the projected unit credit method).
The liability, which is carried net of any plan assets, is rec-
ognized on an accruals basis over the vesting period of
the related rights. These appraisals are performed by in-
dependent actuaries.

As regards liabilities in respect of defined benefit plans,
the cumulative actuarial gains and losses at the end of the
previous year exceeding 10% of the greater of the present
value of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value
of the plan assets at that date are recognized in profit or
loss over the expected average remaining working lives of
the employees participating in the plan. Otherwise, they
are not recognized.

Where there is a demonstrable commitment, with a formal
plan without realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a termi-
nation before retirement eligibility has been reached, the
benefits due to employees in respect of the termination
are recognized as a cost and measured on the basis of the
number of employees that are expected to accept the offer.
In the event of a change being made to an existing de-
fined benefit plan or the introduction of a new plan, any
past service cost is recognized immediately in profit or loss

if the benefits of the change or introduction have already
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vested or amortized on a straight-line basis over the aver-
age period until the benefits become vested.

In the case of changes to or the introduction of other
long-term benefits, any past service cost is recognized im-

mediately in profit or loss in its entirety.

Share-based payments

Stock option plans

The cost of services rendered by employees and remuner-
ated through stock option plans is determined based on
the fair value of the options granted to employees at the
grant date.

The calculation method to determine the fair value consid-
ers all characteristics of the option (option term, price and
exercise conditions, etc.), as well as the Enel share price
at the grant date, the volatility of the stock and the yield
curve at the grant date consistent with the expected life
of the plan. The pricing model used is the Cox-Rubinstein.
This cost is recognized in the income statement, with a
specific contra-item in shareholders’ equity, over the vest-
ing period considering the best estimate possible of the

number of options that will become exercisable.

Restricted share units incentive plans

The cost of services rendered by employees and remuner-
ated through restricted share units (RSU) incentive plans
is determined at grant date based on the fair value of the
RSU granted to employees, in relation to the vesting of the
right to receive the benefit.

The calculation method to determine the fair value con-
siders all characteristics of the RSU (term, exercise condi-
tions, etc.), as well as the price and volatility of Enel shares
over the vesting period. The pricing model used is the
Monte Carlo method.

This cost is recognized in the income statement, with
recognition of a specific liability, over the vesting period,
adjusting the fair value periodically, considering the best
estimate possible of the number of RSU that will become

exercisable.

Provisions for risks and charges

Accruals to the provisions for risks and charges are rec-
ognized where there is a legal or constructive obligation
as a result of a past event at period-end, the settlement
of which is expected to result in an outflow of resources

whose amount can be reliably estimated. Where the

impact is significant, the accruals are determined by dis-
counting expected future cash flows using a pre-tax dis-
count rate that reflects the current market assessment of
the time value of money and, if applicable, the risks spe-
cific to the liability.

If the provision is discounted, the periodic adjustment for
the time factor is recognized as a financial expense. Where
the liability relates to decommissioning and/or site resto-
ration in respect of property, plant and equipment, the
initial recognition of the provision is made against the re-
lated asset and the expense is then recognized in profit or
loss through the depreciation of the asset involved.
Where the liability regards the treatment and storage of
nuclear waste and other radioactive materials, the provi-
sion is recognized against the related operating costs.
Changes in estimates of accruals to the provision are rec-
ognized in the income statement in the period in which
the changes occur, with the exception of those in the
costs of dismantling, removal and remediation resulting
from changes in the timetable and costs necessary to ex-
tinguish the obligation or a change in the discount rate.
These changes increase or decrease the value of the relat-
ed assets and are taken to the income statement through
depreciation. Where they increase the value of the assets,
it is also determined whether the new carrying amount of
the assets is fully recoverable. If this is not the case, a loss
equal to the unrecoverable amount is recognized in the
income statement.

Decreases in estimates are recognized up to the carrying
amount of the assets. Any excess is recognized immedi-
ately in the income statement.

For more information on the estimation criteria adopted
in determining provisions for dismantling and/or restora-
tion of property, plant and equipment, especially those as-
sociated with nuclear power plants, please see the section

on the use of estimates.

Grants

Grants are recognized at fair value when it is reasonably
certain that they will be received or that the conditions
for receipt have been met as provided for by the govern-
ments, government agencies and similar local, national or
international authorities.

Grants received for specific expenditure or specific assets
the value of which is recognized as an item of property,
plant and equipment or an intangible asset are recognized

as other liabilities and credited to the income statement
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over the period in which the related costs are recognized.
Operating grants are recognized fully in profit or loss at

the time they satisfy the requirements for recognition.

Revenues

Revenues are recognized when it is probable that the

future economic benefits will flow to the Company and

these benefits can be measured reliably.

More specifically, the following criteria are used depend-

ing on the type of transaction:

> revenues from the sale of goods are recognized when
the significant risks and rewards of ownership are
transferred to the buyer and their amount can be reli-
ably determined,;

> revenues from the sale and transport of electricity and
gas refer to the quantities provided during the period,
even if these have not yet been invoiced, and are deter-
mined using estimates as well as the fixed meter read-
ing figures. Where applicable, this revenue is based on
the rates and related restrictions established by law
or the Authority for Electricity and Gas and analogous
foreign authorities during the applicable period. In par-
ticular, the authorities that regulate the electricity and
gas markets can use mechanisms to reduce the impact
of the temporal mismatching between the setting of
prices for energy for the regulated market as applied
to distributors and the setting of prices by the latter for
final consumers;

> revenues from the rendering of services are recognized
in line with the stage of completion of the services.
Where it is not possible to reliably determine the value
of the revenues, they are recognized in the amount of
the costs that it is considered will be recovered;

> revenues accrued in the period in respect of construc-
tion contracts are recognized on the basis of the pay-
ments agreed in relation to the stage of completion of
the work, determined using the cost-to-cost method,
under which costs, revenues and the related margins
are recognized on the basis of the progress of the pro-
ject. The stage of completion is determined as a ratio
between costs incurred at the measurement date and
the overall costs expected for the project. In additional
to contractual payments, project revenues include any
payments in respect of variations, price revisions and
incentives, with the latter recognized where it is proba-
ble that they will actually be earned and can be reliably
determined. Revenues are also adjusted for any penal-
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ties for delays attributable to the Company;

> revenues for fees for connection to the electricity dis-
tribution grid are recognized in full upon completion
of connection activities if the service provided can be
recognized separately from any electricity distribution
services provided on an ongoing basis.

Financial income and expense

Financial income and expense is recognized on an accru-
als basis in line with interest accrued on the net carrying
amount of the related financial assets and liabilities us-
ing the effective interest rate method. They include the
changes in the fair value of financial instruments recog-
nized at fair value through profit or loss and changes in
the fair value of derivatives connected with financial trans-
actions.

Income taxes

Current income taxes for the period are determined using
an estimate of taxable income and in conformity with the
applicable regulations.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are calculated on the
temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial state-
ments and their corresponding values recognized for tax
purposes on the basis of tax rates in effect on the date the
temporary difference will reverse, which is determined on
the basis of tax rates that are in force or substantively in
force at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets are
recognized when recovery is probable, i.e. when an entity
expects to have sufficient future taxable income to re-
cover the asset. The recoverability of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at each period-end.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities in respect of taxes levied
by the same tax authority are offset if the Company has a
legal right to offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilities generated at the time they reverse.

Current and deferred taxes are recognized in profit or loss,
with the exception of those in respect of components di-
rectly credited or debited to equity, which are recognized
directly in equity.

Dividends

Dividends from equity investments are recognized when
the shareholders’ right to receive them is established.

Dividends and interim dividends payable to third parties
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are recognized as changes in equity at the date they are
approved by the Shareholders’ Meeting and the Board of

Directors, respectively.

Discontinued operations and non-current
assets held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) whose carrying
amount will mainly be recovered through sale, rather than
through ongoing use, are classified as held for sale and
shown separately from the other balance sheet assets and
liabilities. This only occurs when the sale is highly probable
and the non-current assets (or disposal groups) are avail-
able in their current condition forimmediate sale.
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for
sale are first recognized in compliance with the appropri-
ate IFRS-EU applicable to the specific assets and liabilities
and subsequently measured at the lower of the carrying
amount and the fair value, net of costs to sell. Any subse-
quent impairment losses are recognized as a direct adjust-
ment to the non-current assets (or disposal groups) classi-
fied as held for sale and expensed in the income statement.
The corresponding values for the previous period are not
reclassified.
A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that
has been divested or classified as held for sale and:
> represents a major line of business or geographical
area of operations;
> ispart of asingle coordinated plan to dispose of a sepa-
rate major line of business or geographical area of op-
erations;
oris a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
Gains or losses on operating assets sold — whether disposed
of or classified as held for sale —are shown separately in the
income statement, net of the tax effects. The corresponding
values for the previous period, where present, are reclassi-
fied and reported separately in the income statement, net

of tax effects, for comparative purposes.

3

Recently issued accounting
standards

First-time adoption and applicable
standards

The Group has adopted the following international ac-

counting standards and interpretations taking effect as

from January 1, 2011:

> "IAS 24 — Related party disclosures”: the standard re-
places the previous version of IAS 24. It allows com-
panies that are subsidiaries or under the significant
influence of a government agency to provide summary
disclosure of transactions with the government agency
and with other companies controlled or under the sig-
nificant influence of the government agency. The new
version of IAS 24 also amends the definition of related
parties for the purposes of disclosure in the notes to the
financial statements.
The retrospective application of IAS 24 did not have an
impact during the period.

> "Amendments to IFRIC 14 — Prepayments of a minimum
funding requirement”: the changes clarify the account-
ing treatment under the so-called asset ceiling rules, in
cases of prepayment of a minimum funding require-
ment (MFR). More specifically, the amended interpre-
tation sets out new rules for measuring the economic
benefits of reducing future MFR contributions.
The retrospective application of the amendments did
not have a significant impact during the period.

> "IFRIC 19 — Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity
instruments”: the interpretation clarifies the account-
ing treatment that a debtor must apply in the case of
liability being extinguished through the issue of equity
instruments to the creditor. In particular, the equity
instruments issued represent the consideration for ex-
tinguishing the liability and must be measured at fair
value as of the date of extinguishment. Any difference
between the carrying amount of the extinguished li-
abilities and the initial value of the equity instruments
shall be recognized through profit or loss.
The retrospective application of the interpretation did

not have an impact during the period.
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> Amendmentsto “IAS 32 - Financial instruments: Presen-

tation”: the amendment specifies that rights, options or
warrants that entitle the holder to purchase a specific
number of equity instruments of the entity issuing such
rights for a specified amount of any currency shall be
classified as equity instruments if (and only if) they are
offered pro rata to all existing holders of the same class
of equity instruments (other than derivatives).

The retrospective application of the amendments did

not have a significant impact during the period.

Improvements to International Financial Reporting

Standards: the changes regard improvements to exist-

ing standards. The main developments applicable to

the financial statements regard:

- “IFRS 3 — Business combinations” as revised in 2008:

specifies that non-controlling interests in an ac-
quiree that are present ownership interests entitle
their holders, in the event of the liquidation of the
company, to a proportionate share of the entity’'s
net assets. They must be measured at fair value or
as a proportionate share of the acquiree’s net iden-
tifiable assets. All other components classifiable as
non-controlling interests but which do not have the
above characteristics (for example, share options,
preference shares, etc.) must be measured at fair
value at the acquisition date unless other measure-
ment criteria are provided for under international
accounting standards.
The prospective application of IFRS 3 as from the
date of first-time adoption of IFRS 3 by the Group
(2010 financial year) did not have an impact during
the period.

- "IFRS 7 — Financial instruments: Disclosures”: specifies
that for each class of financial instrument, disclosure
of the company’s maximum exposure to credit risk
is mandatory only if the carrying amount of such
instruments does not reflect that exposure. It also
requires disclosures concerning the financial effect
of collateral and other credit enhancements (e.g. a
quantification of the extent to which the collateral
and other credit enhancements mitigate credit risk).
It also clarifies that the disclosures required for finan-
cial and non-financial assets obtained during the pe-
riod by taking possession of collateral are mandatory
only in the case such assets were still held at the end
of the period. Finally, disclosure is no longer required
on the carrying amount of financial assets that would

have been past due or impaired if their terms had
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not been renegotiated and it is no longer necessary
to quantify the fair value of the collateral and other
credit enhancements of past-due financial assets
that are not impaired. The retrospective application
of these changes did not have a significant impact
during the period.

- "IAS 1 — Presentation of financial statements”: speci-
fies that the analysis of each element of “other com-
prehensive income” (OCl) can be presented either in
the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to
the financial statements.

The retrospective application of the amendment did
not have an impact on these financial statements.

- "IFRIC 13 — Customer loyalty programs”: the amend-
ment regards the determination of the fair value
of award credits. It specifies that when the fair val-
ue is determined on the basis of the fair value of
the awards for which the award credits can be re-
deemed, account must be taken of the amount of
discounts or incentives to customers who did not
obtain award credits in conjunction with a sale (cus-
tomers who are not participating in the scheme).
The previous version required th,at fair value to be
reduced to take account of awards offered to that
type of customer.

The retrospective application of the amendment
did not have a significant impact on these financial

statements.

Standards not yet adopted
and not yet applicable

In 2011, the European Commission endorsed the following

new accounting standards and interpretations, which will

be applicable to the Group as from January 1, 2012:

>

"Amendments to IFRS 7 — Financial instruments: Dis-
closures” issued in October 2010; the amendments re-
quire additional disclosures to assist users of financial
statements to assess the exposure to risk in the transfer
of financial assets and the impact of such risks on the
company'’s financial position. The amended standard
introduces new disclosure requirements, to be report-
ed in a single note, concerning transferred financial as-
sets that have not been derecognized and transferred
assets in which the company has a continuing involve-
ment as of the balance sheet date. The Group is assess-
ing the potential impact of the future application of the

measures.
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In 2009, 2010 and 2011, the International Accounting

Standards Board (IASB) and the International Financial Re-

porting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) also published

new standards and interpretations that as of December

31, 2011 had not yet been endorsed by the European

Commission. The rules that could have an impact on the

financial statements of the Group are set out below:

> "IFRS 9 - Financial instruments”, issued in November
2009 and revised in October 2010: the standard is the
first of three phases in the project to replace IAS 39. The
standard establishes new criteria for the classification of
financial assets and liabilities. Financial assets must be
classified based on the business model of the entity and
the characteristics of the associated cash flows. The new
standard requires financial assets and liabilities to be
measured initially at fair value plus any transaction costs
directly attributable to their assumption or issue. Sub-
sequently, they are measured at fair value or amortized
cost, unless the fair value option is applied. As regards
equity instruments not held for trading, an entity can
make an irrevocable election to measure them at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Any divi-
dend income shall be recognized through profit or loss.
The new standard, which was amended in December
2011 with regard to the effective date, will take effect,
subject to endorsement, for periods beginning on or af-
ter January 1, 2015. The Group is assessing the potential
impact of the future application of the measures.

> "Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 — Mandatory effec-
tive date and transition disclosure”, issued in December
2011. The amendment modifies IFRS 9 — Financial in-
struments, postponing the mandatory effective date
from January 1, 2013 to January 1, 2015 and establish-
ing new rules for the transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9. It
also modifies IFRS 7 — Financial instruments: Disclosures,
introducing new comparative disclosures, which will be
mandatory or optional depending on the date of tran-
sition to IFRS 9.
The amendments establish that companies that adopt
IFRS 9 for the first time always have the option of not
restating prior periods. More specifically, companies
that adopt IFRS 9 for reporting periods beginning be-
fore January 1, 2012 are not required to restate prior
periods or provide the additional disclosures to those
already provided for following the amendments made
to IFRS 7 with the issue of IFRS 9; companies that adopt
IFRS 9 for periods beginning from January 1, 2012 until

December 31,2012 may elect to either restate prior pe-

riods or provide the additional comparative disclosures
in accordance with the amendments to IFRS 7; com-
panies that adopt IFRS 9 for periods beginning from
January 1, 2013 until January 1, 2015 are required to
provide the additional comparative disclosures in ac-
cordance with the amendments to IFRS 7 regardless of
whether they restate prior periods, which they may but
are not required to do.

The amendments will take effect, subject to endorse-
ment, for periods beginning on or after January 1,
2015. The Group is assessing the potential impact of
the future application of the measures.

“IFRS 10 — Consolidated financial statements”, issued in
May 2011; replaces SIC 12 — Consolidation. Special pur-
pose entities and, for the part concerning consolidated
financial statements, IAS 27 — Consolidated and separate
financial statements, the title of which was changed to
"Separate financial statements”. The standard introduc-
es a new approach to determining whether an entity
controls another (the essential condition for consoli-
dating an investee), without modifying the consolida-
tion procedures envisaged in the current IAS 27. This
approach must be applied to all investees, including
special purpose entities, which are called “structured
entities” in the new standard. While current accounting
standards give priority — where control does not derive
from holding a majority of actual or potential voting
rights —to an assessment of the risks/benefits associat-
ed with the holding in the investee, IFRS 10 focuses the
determination on three elements to be considered in
each assessment: power over the investee; exposure to
variable returns from the involvement in the investee;
and the link between power and returns, i.e. the ability
to use that decision-making power over the investee to
affect the amount of returns.

The accounting effects of a loss of control or a change
in the ownership interest that does not result in a loss
of control are unchanged with respect to the provisions
of the current IAS 27.

Following the new approach to assessing the existence
of control, previously consolidated companies could
exit the scope of consolidation, and vice-versa.

The new standard will take effect retrospectively, sub-
ject to endorsement, for annual reporting periods be-
ginning on or after January 1, 2013. The Group is as-
sessing the potential impact of the future application
of the measures.

“IFRS 11 — Joint arrangements”, issued in May 2011;
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replaces IAS 31 — Interests in joint ventures and SIC 13
— Jointly controlled entities. Non-monetary contribu-
tions by venturers. Unlike IAS 31, which assesses joint
arrangements on the basis of the contractual form
adopted, IFRS 11 assesses them on the basis of how
the related rights and obligations are attributed to the
parties. In particular, the new standard identifies two
types of joint arrangement: joint operations, where the
parties to the arrangement have pro-rata rights to the
assets and pro-rata obligations for the liabilities relat-
ing to the arrangement; and joint ventures, where the
parties have rights to the net assets or results of the ar-
rangement.

In the consolidated financial statements, accounting
for an interest in a joint operation involves the recogni-
tion of the assets/liabilities and revenues/expenses re-
lated to the arrangement on the basis of the associated
rights/obligations, without taking account of the inter-
est held. Accounting for aninterest in a joint venture in-
volves the recognition of an investment accounted for
using the equity method (proportionate consolidation
is no longer permitted).

The new standard will take effect retrospectively, sub-
ject to endorsement, for annual reporting periods be-
ginning on or after January 1, 2013. The Group is as-
sessing the potential impact of the future application
of the measures.

“IFRS 12 - Disclosure of interests in other entities”, issued
in May 2011; IFRS 12 brings together in a single stand-
ard the required disclosures concerning interests held
in subsidiaries, joint operations and joint ventures, as-
sociates and structured entities. In particular, the stand-
ard requires the disclosures called for in the current IAS
27,1AS 28 and IAS 31, which were amended appropri-
ately, and introduces new disclosure requirements.
The new standard will take effect retrospectively, sub-
ject to endorsement, for annual reporting periods be-
ginning on or after January 1, 2013. The Group is as-
sessing the potential impact of the future application
of the measures.

“IFRS 13 — Fair value measurement”, issued in May 2011;
the standard represents a single IFRS framework to be
used whenever another accounting standard requires
or permits the use of fair value measurement. The
standard sets out guidelines for measuring fair value
and, in addition, introduces specific disclosure require-
ments.

The new standard will take effect prospectively, subject
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to endorsement, for annual reporting periods begin-
ning on or after January 1, 2013. The Group is assessing
the potential impact of the future application of the
measures.

"IAS 27 — Separate financial statements”, issued in May
2011. Together with the issue of IFRS 10 and IFRS 12,
the current IAS 27 was amended, with changes to its ti-
tle and its content. All provisions concerning the prepa-
ration of consolidated financial statements were elimi-
nated, while the other provisions were not modified.
Following the amendment, the standard therefore only
specifies the recognition and measurement criteria
and the disclosure requirements for separate financial
statements concerning subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates. The new standard will take effect retrospec-
tively, subject to endorsement, for annual reporting pe-
riods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The Group
does not expect the future application of the measures
to have an impact.

"IAS 28 — Investments in associates and joint ventures”,
issued in May 2011. Together with the issue of IFRS 11
and IFRS 12, the current IAS 28 was amended, with
changestoits title and its content. In particular, the new
standard, which also includes the provisions of SIC 13 —
Jointly controlled entities. Non-monetary contributions
by venturers, describes the application of the equity
method, which in consolidated financial statements is
used to account for associates and joint ventures.

The new standard will take effect retrospectively, sub-
ject to endorsement, for annual reporting periods be-
ginning on or after January 1, 2013. The Group is as-
sessing the potential impact of the future application
of the measures.

"Amendment to IAS 1 — Presentation of items of oth-
er comprehensive income”, issued in June 2011. The
amendment calls for the separate presentation of items
of other comprehensive income (OCl) that may be re-
classified to profit or loss in the future (“recycling”) and
those that will not be recycled. The amendment will
take effect retrospectively, subject to endorsement, for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after January
1,2013. The Group does not expect the future applica-
tion of the measures to have a significant impact.

"IAS 19 — Employee benefits”, issued in June 2011; the
standard supersedes the current IAS 19 governing the
accounting treatment of employee benefits. The most
significant change regards the requirement to recog-

nize all actuarial gains/losses in OCI, with the elimina-
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tion of the corridor approach. The amended standard
also introduces more stringent rules for disclosures,
with the disaggregation of the cost into three compo-
nents; eliminates the expected return of plan assets; no
longer permits the deferral of the recognition of past
service cost; provides for enhanced disclosures; and
introduces more detailed rules for the recognition of
termination benefits. The new standard will take effect
retrospectively, subject to endorsement, for annual re-
porting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.
The Group is assessing the potential impact of the fu-
ture application of the measures.
“IFRIC 20 — Stripping costs in the production phase of a
surface mine”, issued in October 2011; the interpreta-
tion sets out the accounting treatment to be applied to
costs incurred for the removal of mine waste materials
during the production phase, clarifying when they can
be recognized as an asset. The interpretation will take
effect, subject to endorsement, for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. More
specifically, the interpretation will apply to costs in-
curred as from the first year presented in the financial
statements. The Group is assessing the potential im-
pact of the future application of the measures.
"Amendments to IAS 32 — Offsetting financial assets and
financial liabilities” issued in December 2011. IAS 32 —
Financial instruments establishes that a financial asset
and a financial liability should be offset and the net
amount reported in the balance sheet when, and only
when, an entity:
a) has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts;
and
b) intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
The amendments to IAS 32 clarify the conditions that
must be met for these two requirements to be satisfied.
As regards the first requirement, the amendment ex-
pands the illustration of cases in which an entity “cur-
rently has a legally enforceable right of set-off”, while
as regards the second the amendment clarifies that
where the entity settles the financial asset and liabil-
ity separately, for set-off to be allowed the associated
credit and liquidity risk should be significant and, in this
regard, specifies the characteristics that gross settle-
ment systems must have.
The amendments will take effect retrospectively, sub-
ject to endorsement, for annual reporting periods be-

ginning on or after January 1, 2014. The Group is as-

sessing the potential impact of the future application
of the measures.

> "Amendments to IFRS 7 — Offsetting financial assets and
financial liabilities”, issued in December 2011, in parallel
with the amendments to IAS 32; the amendments es-
tablish more extensive disclosures for the offsetting of
financial assets and liabilities, with a view to enabling
users of financial statements to assess the actual and
potential effects on the entity’s financial position of
netting arrangements, including the set-off rights as-
sociated with recognized assets or liabilities.
The amendments will take effect retrospectively, sub-
ject to endorsement, for annual reporting periods be-
ginning on or after January 1, 2013. The Group is as-
sessing the potential impact of the future application

of the measures.

4

Main changes in the scope
of consolidation

In the two periods under review, the scope of consolidation

changed as a result of the following main transactions:

2010

> acquisition, on June 1, 2010, of control of SE Hydro-
power, which operates in the generation of electricity
in the Province of Bolzano. Control was acquired with
the transfer to the company of certain generation as-
sets of Enel Produzione. Despite holding only 40% of
the company, since the acquisition date the Group has
consolidated it on a full line-by-line basis under spe-
cific shareholders’ agreements concerning the govern-
ance of the company. Under those agreements, among
other things, control will be retained by the Enel Group
until the approval of the financial statements for the
year ending December 31, 2013, the date from which
a number of changes in the company’s governance ar-
rangements are scheduled to take effect, giving rise to
a transition from exclusive Enel control to joint control
by the two shareholders. As a result of this change in
the scope of consolidation during the year, 2010 re-

flected the performance of SE Hydropower operations
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for the final seven months of the year only. As regards
the financial position, the Group elected the option en-
visaged under IFRS 3 to allocate the cost of the business
combination to the fair value of the assets acquired and
the liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed on a
provisional basis. During the course of 2011, the Group
completed the allocation of the transferred considera-
tion. The effects of the definitive allocation have been
retrospectively presented as from June 1, 2010, in ac-
cordance with IFRS 3;

disposal, on July 1, 2010, of 50.01% of Endesa Hellas,
a Greek company operating in the renewables genera-
tion sector;

disposal, on December 17,2010, of 80% of Nubia 2000
(now Endesa Gas T&D), a company owning assets (ac-
quired during the year by Endesa Gas) in the gas trans-
port and distribution industry in Spain. The sale also
includes a 35% stake in Gas Aragon, which had previ-
ously been acquired by Nubia 2000.

2011

> disposal, on February 24, 2011, of Compafiia Ameri-

cana de Multiservicios (CAM), which operates in Latin
America in the general services sector;

disposal, on March 1, 2011, of Synapsis IT Soluciones y
Servicios (Synapsis), which operates in Latin America in
the IT services sector;

acquisition, on March 31, 2011, of an additional
16.67% of Sociedad Edlica de Andalucia - SEA, which
enabled Enel Green Power Espafia to increase its hold-
ing from 46.67% to 63.34%, thereby acquiring control
as the majority shareholder;

loss of control of Hydro Dolomiti Enel Srl as a result of
the change in that company’s governance structure, as
provided for in the agreements reached between the
two shareholders in 2008, which provided for the tran-
sition to joint control as from the date of approval of
the financial statements for 2010. As from that event,
the company is consolidated on a proportionate basis
(with the stake held by the Enel Group in the company
remaining unchanged at 49% both before and after
the change in governance arrangements) rather than
on a full line-by-line basis. See the following section for
more details;

acquisition of full control (from joint control) of the as-

sets and liabilities retained by Enel Unién Fenosa Reno-
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vables (EUFER) following the break-up of the joint ven-
ture between Enel Green Power Espafa and its partner
Gas Natural under the agreement finalized on May 30,
2011. As from the date of execution of the agreement,
those assets are therefore consolidated on a full line-
by-line basis, as discussed in greater detail below;

> acquisition, on June 9, 2011, of an additional 50% of
Sociedade Térmica Portuguesa, as a result of which the
Enel Group acquired exclusive control of the company,
whereas prior to the acquisition it had exercised joint
control. With the transaction, Enel Green Power Espana
became the sole shareholder of the Portuguese com-
pany, which operates in generation from renewables;

> disposal, on June 28,2011, to Contour Global LP of the
entire capital of the Dutch companies Maritza East |lI
Power Holding BV and Maritza O&M Holding Nether-
land BV. These companies respectively own 73% of the
Bulgarian company Enel Maritza East 3 AD and 73% of
the Bulgarian company Enel Operations Bulgaria AD;

> disposal, on November 30, 2011, of 51% of Deval and
Vallenergie to Compagnia Valdostana delle Acque, a
company owned by the Region of Valle d’Aosta, which
already held the remaining 49% of the companies in-
volved;

> acquisition, on December 1, 2011, of 33.33% of San
Floriano Energy, a company operating in the hydro-
electric generation sector, with the transfer of in-kind
and cash consideration by Enel Produzione. With the
transfer, the Enel Group acquired joint control of the
company, together with another two partners partici-
pating in the investment;

> acquisition, on December 1, 2011, of 50% of Sviluppo
Nucleare Italia, in which the Group already held a stake
of 50%, giving it joint control with Eléctricité de France;
as from that date the company has been consolidated

on a line-by-line basis.

In the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2011,
“Assets held for sale” and “Liabilities held for sale” include
the assets and related liabilities of Endesa Ireland and
other minor entities (including Wisco), as the state of ne-
gotiations for their sale to third parties qualifies them for
application of IFRS 5.

Accordingly, the decrease in these items compared with
December 31, 2010 essentially reflects the above dispos-

als carried out in 2011.
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Redetermination of the fair value of the
assets and liabilities of Hydro Dolomiti Enel
following loss of control

On May 12, 2008 Enel Produzione established Hydro
Dolomiti Enel (HDE) in execution of the investment agree-
ment concerning the “joint operation of the hydroelectric
generation assets in the Autonomous Province of Trento”
between Dolomiti Energia and Enel Produzione. With ef-
fect from July 15, 2008 Enel Produzione, in performance
of that agreement and once certain conditions had been
met, including the extension until December 31, 2020 of
the duration of the major hydroelectric water diversion
concessions, transferred electricity generation assets to
the subsidiary HDE, consisting of the hydroelectric plants
in the Autonomous Province of Trento and the associated
major and small public water diversion concessions for hy-
droelectric purposes.

On July 25, 2008, Enel Produzione transferred 51% of HDE
to Dolomiti Energia, thereby performing the terms of the
agreement, which in a related shareholders’ agreement
established governance arrangements for the first three

years of the company, i.e. until approval of the financial

statements for 2010, that gave Enel control over the com-
pany, enabling Enel to consolidate its results on a full, line-
by-line basis.

As from April 1, 2011, following approval of the financial
statements for 2010 and the election of the new board of
directors, the governance arrangements were adjusted in
line with the terms of the agreement. Accordingly, as from
that date HDE is subject to the joint control of Enel Produzione
and Dolomiti Energia and is consolidated by Enel on a pro-
portionate basis up to the extent of its holding (49%).

In application of the provisions of IAS 27 (Revised), this
development represents the loss of control over the com-
pany, even without any actual change in the percent-
age interest held in the entity but only as a result of the
entry into force of the new provisions of the contractual
arrangements between the shareholders, with the conse-
quent remeasurement to fair value of the related assets
and liabilities to a degree amount corresponding to the
holding remaining after the loss of control.

The following table summarizes the impact on the ac-
counts of the fair value remeasurement of the assets and
liabilities of HDE for the part corresponding to Enel’s hold-
ing after the loss of control.

Financial position Remeasurement New value
Millions of euro at April 1, 2011 at fair value at April 1, 2011
Property, plant and equipment 82 129 211
Intangible assets 24 108 132
Deferred tax assets 3 - 3
Non-current assets 109 237 346
Current assets 61 - 61
Total assets 170 237 407
Post-employment and other employee benefits 2 - 2
Provisions for risks and charges 5 - 5
Deferred tax liabilities - 87 87
Non-current liabilities 7 87 94
Current liabilities 101 - 101
Equity pertaining to shareholders of the Parent Company 62 150 212
Non-controlling interests - - -
Total shareholders’ equity 62 150 212
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 170 237 407

The impact of remeasurement at fair value, equal to €237
million, was recognized under “Other revenues and in-
come” in the consolidated income statement. Taking ac-
count of the deferred tax effect, the initial recognition of
the transaction had a total impact on the consolidated in-
come statement and equity pertaining to the sharehold-

ers of the Parent Company of €150 million. The effects of

the increase in depreciation and amortization, net of the
associated tax impact, as a result of the adjustment of cer-

tain assets to their fair value, are not considered material.

157



Acquisition of full control
(from joint control) of the assets of Enel
Unién Fenosa Renovables (EUFER)

On May 30, 2011, Enel Green Power SpA and its subsidiary
Enel Green Power Espaia SL (EGPE) finalized the agree-
ment signed with Gas Natural SDG SA (Gas Natural) on
July 30, 2010 for the break-up of Enel Unién Fenosa Reno-
vables SA (EUFER), a joint venture between EGPE and Gas
Natural, subject to a number of conditions set out in the
accord. For the purposes of the split, EUFER assets were di-
vided in two parts (“Lot 1" and “Lot 2") considered equiva-
lent in terms of value, EBITDA, installed capacity, risk and
technology mix. The break-up of EUFER was finalized by
means of the return by EGPE to Gas Natural of 50% of its
capital, carried out through the demerger from EUFER of
the net assets in Lot 2 and their transfer to Gas Natural.
With this operation, EGPE acquired full control of EUFER
and its remaining assets, namely Lot 1. Those assets had
previously been consolidated on a proportionate basis. As
at December 31, 2010, taking account of the contractual
agreements with Gas Natural at that date and in compli-
ance with IFRS 5, the Group had already classified, in view
of the likelihood of the completion of the transaction, an
amount corresponding to 50% of the carrying amount of
the assets and liabilities comprising Lot 2 as “assets held
for sale” and “liabilities held for sale”. The transfer, in the
1st Half of 2011, to Gas Natural of the net assets of Lot 2,
of which the Group held 50% under the previous propor-
tionate consolidation of the company, involved the recog-
nition of a gain of €44 million. In addition, as noted earlier,
the transaction enabled Enel to acquire full control of the
Spanish company, which as from the effective date of the
break-up was therefore consolidated on a full line-by-line
basis rather than proportionately.

As Enel acquired control of EUFER through successive
transactions, the final operation, which resulted in the
acquisition of control, was accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 3 (Revised) for business combinations achieved
in stages. In particular, the remeasurement at fair value
of the assets and liabilities in respect of Lot 1 led to the
recognition of a gain of €76 million, corresponding to the
increase in the fair value of the 50% of the assets and li-
abilities already held by the Group compared with their
previous carrying amount. The following table summa-
rizes the effects of the business combination, which were
recognized in 2011 on a definitive basis following comple-

tion of the price allocation process.
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Calculation of goodwiill

Millions of euro

Net assets acquired before allocation 15

Fair value adjustments:

- property, plant and equipment 101
-intangible assets 63
- deferred tax liabilities (39)
Net assets acquired after allocation 140
Cost of the transaction @ 140
Goodwill from acquisition -
Goodwill existing in respect of 50% of EUFER

already held by the Group 45
Goodwill 45

(1) Net assets stated in proportion to Enel’s holding.
(2) Equal to the fair value of the assets transferred to Gas Natural.

Final allocation of the purchase price
to the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed in respect of SE Hydropower

On June 1, 2010, Enel Produzione SpA transferred to SE Hy-
dropower Srl, a company wholly owned by Societa Elettrica
Altoatesina (SEL), its hydroelectric plants in the Autonomous
Province of Bolzano and the associated major hydroelectric
diversion concessions expiring on December 31, 2010. Prior
to the transfer, SE Hydropower had been awarded renewals,
as from January 1, 2011, for those concessions and a num-
ber of others all with a duration of 30 years.

Through the transfer, carried out at book values, Enel Pro-
duzione acquired 40% of SE Hydropower and, on the basis
of the governance arrangements established in the share-
holders' agreement, began to exercise control, enabling
Enel to consolidate the results of the company on a full line-
by-line basis. For the Enel Group the transaction represents
a business combination carried out through the transfer to
SE Hydropower of the assets noted above, over which Enel
continues to exercise control, with the acquisition of an in-
terest in the company, which holds the major diversion con-
cessions for 2011-2040. The price of the business combina-
tion is therefore equal to 60% of the estimated fair value
of the assets transferred by Enel Produzione, corresponding
both to SEL's stake in SE Hydropower following the transfer
and the share of the fair value of the concessions acquired
by the Group following the transaction.

In compliance with the provisions of IFRS 3 (Revised), in the
condensed interim consolidated financial statements at
June 30, 2010, and the consolidated financial statements

at December 31, 2010, the calculation of the fair value of
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the assets acquired and the liabilities and contingent liabili-
ties assumed as at the acquisition date was carried outon a
provisional basis as a number of valuation procedures had
not yet been completed. The process of allocating the con-
sideration to the fair value of the assets acquired and the li-

Effect of purchase price allocation

Millions of euro

abilities assumed was completed during the 1st Half of 2011
by the deadline established under IFRS 3 (Revised) and in-
volved the allocation of the entire consideration transferred
in the transaction to the value of the concessions acquired,
net of the related deferred tax effects.

Net assets acquired before allocation

Fair value adjustments:

- intangible assets (concessions renewed for the period 2011-2040) 510
- deferred tax liabilities (189)
- non-controlling interests (193)
Net assets acquired after allocation 128
Cost of the transaction 128

Goodwill

(1) Equal to 60% of the fair value of the assets transferred to SE Hydropower and net of the theoretical tax effect.

In addition, the assets transferred by Enel Produzione
were not adjusted in their measurement at fair value but
continue to be recognized, even after the business combi-
nation, at their previous carrying amount since the Group
retained control. The overall impact of the initial recogni-

tion of the transaction on equity pertaining to the share-

holders of the Parent Company was equal to €128 million.

The following table reports the final fair values of the as-
sets acquired and the liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed as at the acquisition date.

Financial position of SE Hydropower Srl as at the acquisition date

Final fair value
adjustments carried

New carrying

Carrying amounts at amounts recognized

Millions of euro June 1, 2010 outin 2011 atJune 1,2010
Property, plant and equipment 48 - 48
Intangible assets - 510 510
Deferred tax assets 1 - 1
Other current and non-current assets 1 - 1
Total assets 50 510 560
Equity pertaining to the shareholders of the Parent Company 20 128 148
Non-controlling interests 30 193 223
Deferred tax liabilities - 189 189
Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 50 510 560

Final allocation of the purchase price to the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in
respect of San Floriano Energy

On November 1, 2011, Enel Produzione, pursuant to the
agreement signed on October 26, 2011 with Dolomiti En-
ergia SpA and SEL Srl, acquired 33.33% of San Floriano
Energy with the transfer of the “San Floriano plant” busi-
ness unit, composed of the hydroelectric generation plant

and a number of items of working capital of an opera-

tional nature, and cash consideration. Prior to the transfer,
San Floriano Energy had been awarded the renewal, as
from January 1, 2011, for a period of 30 years, of the ma-
jor hydroelectric diversion concession. Taking account of
the governance arrangements and its own interest, Enel
exercise joint control over the company and therefore
consolidates it on a proportionate basis to the extent of its
percentage interest. The allocation of the purchase price

to the fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities

159



and contingent liabilities assumed involved the allocation
of the entire positive price differential to the value of the

concession.

Effect of the acquisition and purchase
price allocation

Millions of euro

Net assets acquired before allocation 3

Fair value adjustments

- intangible assets 33
- deferred tax liabilities 12
Net assets acquired after allocation 24
Cost of the transaction ™" 24
Goodwill -

(1) Equal to the fair value of the assets transferred to San Floriano Energy, over
which the Group lost control.

Final allocation of the purchase price to the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in
respect of Sviluppo Nucleare Italia

In 2009 Enel and EDF, with the entry into force of Law 99
of July 23, 2009 (the “"Development Act”) founded Svilup-
po Nucleare Italia (SNI), with each company holding 50%.
Following the repeal in 2011 of the provisions of the De-
velopment Act and of the subsequent Legislative Decree
31/2010, on December 1, 2011, Enel and EDF agreed to
terminate all existing agreements. On that date, Enel, act-
ing through its subsidiary Enel Ingegneria e Innovazione,
acquired the 50% interest held by EDF in Sviluppo Nucle-
are for €10 million, acquiring full control of the company.
In the consolidated financial statements at December 31,
2011, following completion of the business combination
achieved in stages, the transaction was accounted for pur-
suant to IFRS 3 (Revised), allocating the purchase price to
the fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed with the acquisition.

In completing the allocation process, as no differences
were found between the carrying amount of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed, the related fair value and
the price of the transaction, no goodwill was recognized.
For the same reason, the Group did not recognize any gain
or loss connected with the remeasurement at fair value of
the assets and liabilities held in SNI prior to the acquisition

of exclusive control.
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Effect of the acquisition and purchase

price allocation

Millions of euro

Net assets acquired before allocation 10

Fair value adjustments -

Net assets acquired after allocation 10
Cost of the transaction 10
Goodwill -

Increase in the stake held in Ampla Energia
e Servicos, Ampla Investimentos e Servicos
and Electrica Cabo Blanco

In October 2011 the Group acquired from EDP Energias de
Portugal an additional 7.70% of Ampla Energia e Servicos
(concession holder for electricity distribution services in
the state of Rio de Janeiro) and 7.70% of Ampla Investi-
mentos e Servicos (which in turn holds an interest in Com-
panhia Energética do Ceara-Coelce, concession holder
for the same services in the state of Ceard) for a total of
€85 million. In addition, in January 2011, the Group also
acquired an additional 20% of Electrica Cabo Blanco, in
which it already held the remaining 80%, for €8 million.
In compliance with the provisions of IFRS 3 (Revised) con-
cerning transactions involving non-controlling interests,
the difference between the price paid and the value of the
assets acquired, previously attributed to non-controlling
interests, were recognized in consolidated equity.

The effects of the transactions were as follows:

Effect of acquisitions

Millions of euro

Net assets acquired 171
Cost of the transactions 93
Reserve from transactions in non-controlling interests 78
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Acquisition of full control of Sociedad Edlica
de Andalucia and TP-Sociedade Térmica
Portuguesa

On March 31, 2011, the Group acquired an additional
16.67% of Sociedad Edlica de Andalucia - SEA, raising
the stake held by Enel Green Power Espafia from 46.67%
10 63.34% and giving it full control as the majority share-
holder. Analogously, on June 9, 2011, Enel Green Power
Espana acquired an additional 50% of Sociedade Térmi-
ca Portuguesa, thereby becoming the sole shareholder of
the Portuguese company.

The process of allocating the purchase price in the two
business combinations was completed during 2011.
As the transactions qualified as business combinations
achieved in stages, this also involved the remeasurement
at fair value of the net assets previously held. That re-
measurement, which was recognized through profit or
loss pursuant to IFRS 3 (Revised), amounted to a total of
€45 million.

The effects of the initial recognition of the acquisitions

are set out in the following table.

Effects of acquisitions and purchase price
allocation

Millions of euro

Net assets acquired before allocation 18

Fair value adjustments:

- intangible assets 34
- deferred tax liabilities 6
- non-controlling interests 9
Net assets acquired after allocation 37
Cost of the transaction 48
Goodwill 1

Other minor transactions by the Renewable
Energy Division

In 2011 the Renewable Energy Division paid €10 million to
acquire 100% stakes in Tecnoservice (with animpact of €1
million on goodwill) and IRIS 2006 (with an impact of €3
million on goodwill).

The Division also paid success fees in respect of a number
of projects of Enel Green Power Hellas (€61 million) and
Enel Green Power Romania (€38 million). Those amounts

were all allocated to intangible assets during the year.
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Restatement of comparative
figures at December 31, 2010

As a result of the determination of the final fair value of
the assets acquired and the liabilities and contingent li-
abilities assumed as at the acquisition date (June 1, 2010)
in respect of the SE Hydropower business combination
discussed above, the figures for the consolidated finan-
cial statements at December 31, 2010 have been restated,

taining to the shareholders of the Parent Company of
€128 million and in equity pertaining to non-controlling
interests of €193 million.

Since the price paid in the transaction was entirely allo-
cated to the value of the concessions, which took effect as
from January 1, 2011, it was not necessary to restate the
published income statement as it was not impacted by the
result for the previous year.

Similarly, in application of IAS 1, it was felt unnecessary
to restate the balance sheet at January 1, 2010, as it pre-
ceeded the moment of restrospective application of the
effects of the business combination and therefore had no

impact on the completion of the purchase price allocation

with a consequent increase in consolidated equity per-  process.
Millions of euro
at Dec. 31, Effect of SE at Dec. 31,

ASSETS 2010  Hydropower PPA 2010 restated
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 78,094 - 78,094
Investment property 299 - 299
Intangible assets 39,071 510 39,581
Deferred tax assets 6,017 - 6,017
Equity investments accounted for using the equity method 1,033 - 1,033
Non-current financial assets 4,701 - 4,701
Other non-current assets 1,062 - 1,062

[Total] 130,277 510 130,787
Current assets
Inventories 2,803 - 2,803
Trade receivables 12,505 - 12,505
Tax receivables 1,587 - 1,587
Current financial assets 11,922 - 11,922
Cash and cash equivalents 5,164 - 5,164
Other current assets 2,176 - 2,176

[Total] 36,157 - 36,157
Assets held for sale 1,618 - 1,618
TOTAL ASSETS 168,052 510 168,562
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Millions of euro

at Dec. 31, Effect of SE at Dec. 31,

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 2010 Hydropower PPA 2010 restated
Equity attributable to the shareholders of the Parent
Company
Share capital 9,403 - 9,403
Other reserves 10,791 - 10,791
Retained earnings (loss carried forward) 14,217 128 14,345
Net income for the period 3,450 - 3,450

[Total] 37,861 128 37,989
Non-controlling interests 15,684 193 15,877
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 53,545 321 53,866
Non-current liabilities
Long-term loans 52,440 - 52,440
Post-employment and other employee benefits 3,069 - 3,069
Provisions for risks and charges 9,026 - 9,026
Deferred tax liabilities 11,147 189 11,336
Non-current financial liabilities 2,591 - 2,591
Other non-current liabilities 1,244 - 1,244

[Total] 79,517 189 79,706
Current liabilities
Short-term loans 8,209 - 8,209
Current portion of long-term loans 2,999 - 2,999
Trade payables 12,373 - 12,373
Income tax payable 687 - 687
Current financial liabilities 1,672 - 1,672
Other current liabilities 8,052 - 8,052

[Total] 33,992 - 33,992
Liabilities held for sale 998 - 998
TOTAL LIABILITIES 114,507 189 114,696
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 168,052 510 168,562

In addition, in order to present the effects recognized in
the previous year associated with transactions in equity in-
terests without loss of control, the comparative data were

reclassified (in the amount of €796 million) from consoli-

Risk management

Market risk

As part of its operations, the Enel Group is exposed to a va-
riety of market risks, notably the risk of changes in interest

rates, exchange rates and commodity prices.

dated comprehensive income directly to equity reserves.
The reclassification therefore did not have an impact on
equity at December 31, 2010.

The nature of the financial risks to which the Group is ex-
posed is such that changes in interest rates cause changes
in cash flows associated with interest payments on long-
term floating-rate debt instruments, while changes in the
exchange rate between the euro and the main foreign cur-
rencies have an impact on the value of the cash flows de-
nominated in those currencies and the consolidation value
of equity investments denominated in foreign currencies.

In compliance with Group policies for managing financial
risks, these exposures are generally hedged using over-

the-counter derivatives (OTC).



Enel also engages in proprietary trading in order to main-
tain a presence in the Group's reference energy commo-
dity markets. These operations consist in taking on expo-
sures in energy commodities (oil products, gas, coal, CO,
certificates and electricity in the main European countries)
using financial derivatives and physical contracts traded
on regulated and OTC markets, exploiting profit opportu-
nities through transactions carried out on the basis of ex-
pected market developments. These operations are con-
ducted within the framework of formal governance rules
that establish strict risk limits. Compliance with the limits
is verified daily by units that are independent of those un-
dertaking the transactions. In 2011, the risk limits for Enel’s
proprietary trading are set in terms of Value-at-Risk over a
1-day time horizon and a confidence level of 95%; the sum
of the limits for 2011 is equal to about €34 million.

The scale of transactions in derivatives outstanding at De-
cember 31, 2011 is reported below, with specification of
the fair value and notional amount of each class of instru-
ment as calculated at the year-end exchange rates provi-
ded by the European Central Bank where denominated in
currencies other than the euro.

Fair value is determined using the official prices for instru-
ments traded on regulated markets. The fair value of in-
struments not listed on regulated markets is determined
using valuation methods appropriate for each type of fi-
nancial instrument and market data as of the close of the
period (such as interest rates, exchange rates, volatility),
discounting expected future cash flows on the basis of
the market yield curve at the balance sheet date and tran-
slating amounts in currencies other than the euro using
year-end exchange rates provided by the European Cen-
tral Bank.

Where possible, contracts relating to commodities are
measured using market prices related to the same regula-
ted and unregulated market instruments.

The measurement criteria adopted for open derivatives
positions at the end of the year were unchanged with re-
spect to those used at the end of the previous year. The
impact of such measurements on profit or loss and sha-
reholders’ equity is therefore attributable solely to normal

market developments.

The notional amount of a derivative contract is the
amount on the basis of which cash flows are exchanged.
This amount can be expressed as a value or a quantity (for
example tons, converted into euro by multiplying the no-
tional amount by the agreed price). Amounts denominated
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in currencies other than the euro are converted into euro

at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date.

The notional amounts of derivatives reported here do not

necessarily represent amounts exchanged between the

parties and therefore are not a measure of the Company’s

credit risk exposure.

The financial assets and liabilities associated with derivati-

ve instruments are classified as:

> cash flow hedge derivatives, related to hedging the
risk of changes in cash flows associated with long-term
floating-rate borrowings, hedging the exchange rate
risk associated with long-term debt denominated in
foreign currencies, the provisioning of fuels priced in
foreign currencies, hedging revenues from the sale of
electricity under a number of contracts entered into by
Enel (two-way contracts for differences and other ener-
gy derivatives) and hedging the risk of changes in the
prices of coal and oil commodities;

> fair value hedge derivatives, related to hedging the ex-
posure to changes in the fair value of an asset, liability
or firm commitment attributable to a particular risk;

> derivatives hedging net investments in foreign opera-
tions from the translation risk in respect of the consoli-
dation of equity investments denominated in a foreign
currency;

> trading derivatives associated with proprietary trading
in commodities or hedging interest and exchange rate
risk or commodity risk which it would be inappropriate
to designate as cash flow hedges/fair value hedges or

which do not meet the formal requirements of IAS 39.

Interest rate risk

The twin objectives of reducing the amount of debt sub-
ject to changes in interest rates and of containing bor-
rowing costs are pursued with the use of a variety of de-
rivatives contracts, notably interest rate swaps, interest
rate options and swaptions. The term of such contracts
does not exceed the maturity of the underlying finan-
cial liability, so that any change in the fair value and/or
cash flows of such contracts is offset by a corresponding
change in the fair value and/or cash flows of the underly-
ing position.

Interest rate swaps normally provide for the periodic ex-
change of floating-rate interest flows for fixed-rate inter-
est flows, both of which are calculated on the basis of the
notional principal amount.

Interest rate options involve the exchange of interest

differences calculated on a notional principal amount
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once certain thresholds (strike prices) are reached. These
thresholds specify the effective maximum rate (cap) or the
minimum rate (floor) on the debt as a result of the hedge.
Hedging strategies can also make use of combinations of
options (collars) that establish the minimum and maxi-
mum rates at the same time. In this case, the strike prices
are normally set so that no premium is paid on the con-
tract (zero cost collars).

Such contracts are normally used when the fixed inter-
est rate that can be obtained in an interest rate swap is
considered too high with respect to Enel’s expectations
for future interest rate developments. In addition, inter-
est rate options are also considered appropriate in periods
of uncertainty about future interest rate developments, in

order to benefit from any decreases in interest rates.

Millions of euro Notional amount Fair value

The following table reports the notional amount of inter-
est rate derivatives at December 31, 2011 and December

31,2010 broken down by type of contract:

Millions of euro Notional amount

2011 2010
Interest rate swaps 12,984 12,628
Interest rate options 2,700 4,308
Total 15,684 16,936

The following table reports the notional amount and fair
value of interest rate derivatives at December 31, 2011
and December 31, 2010, broken down by designation
(IAS 39):

Fair value assets Fair value liabilities

atDec.31, atDec.31, atDec.31, atDec.31, atDec.31, atDec.31, atDec.31, atDec 31,
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
Cash flow hedge derivatives
Interest rate swaps 10,007 9,432 (613) (497) 6 8 (619) (505)
Interest rate options 1,000 3,608 (8) (64) - - (8) (64)
Fair value hedge derivatives
Interest rate swaps 83 98 14 9 14 9 - -
Trading derivatives
Interest rate swaps 2,894 3,098 (122) (163) 6 8 (128) 171)
Interest rate options 1,700 700 (13) (19) - - (13) (19)
Total interest rate swaps 12,984 12,628 (721) (651) 26 25 (747) (676)
Total interest rate options 2,700 4,308 (21) (83) - - (21) (83)
TOTAL INTEREST RATE
DERIVATIVES 15,684 16,936 (742) (734) 26 25 (768) (759)
The following table reports the cash flows expected in coming years from these financial derivatives:
Expected cash flows from interest rate derivatives
Millions of euro Fair value Stratification of expected cash flows
at Dec. 31,
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Beyond
CFH on interest rates
Positive fair value 6 (6) (8) 5 - - -
Negative fair value (627) (201) (157) (120) (65) 31 171)
FVH on interest rates
Positive fair value 14 2 2 1 1 1 3
Negative fair value - - - - - - -
Trading derivatives on interest rates
Positive fair value 6 3 2 1 - - -
Negative fair value (141) (71) (28) (16) (6) (5) (50)
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The amount of floating-rate debt that is not hedged
against interest rate risk is the main risk factor that could
impact the income statement (raising borrowing costs) in
the event of an increase in market interest rates.

At December 31, 2011, 31% of net long-term financial
debt was floating rate (39% at December 31, 2010). Tak-
ing account of cash flow hedges of interest rates consid-
ered effective pursuant to the IFRS-EU, 9% of the debt was
exposed to interest rate risk at December 31, 2011 (14%
at December 31, 2010). Including interest rate derivatives
treated as hedges for management purposes but ineligi-
ble for hedge accounting, the residual exposure would be
4% (7% at December 31, 2010).

If interest rates had been 25 basis points higher at Decem-
ber 31,2011, all other variables being equal, shareholders’
equity would have been €68.3 million higher (€75 million
at December 31,2010) as a result of the increase in the fair
value of CFH derivatives on interest rates. Conversely, if in-
terest rates had been 25 basis point lower at that date, all
other variables being equal, shareholders’ equity would
have been €68.3 million lower (€75 million at December
31, 2010) as a result of the decrease in the fair value of
CFH derivatives on interest rates.

An equivalent increase (decrease) in interest rates, all oth-
er variables being equal, would have a negative (positive)
impact on the income statement in terms of higher (low-
er) interest expense on the portion of debt not hedged
against interest rate risk of about €4.75 million.

Exchange rate risk

Exchange rate risk is mainly generated with the following

transaction categories:

> debtdenominated in currencies other than the functio-
nal currency of the respective countries entered into by
the holding company or the individual subsidiaries;

> cash flows in respect of the purchase or sale of fuel or
electricity on international markets;

> cash flows in respect of investments in foreign currency,
dividends from unconsolidated foreign companies or
the purchase or sale of equity investments.

In order to minimize this risk, the Group normally uses a

variety of over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives such as cur-
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rency forwards, currency swaps, cross currency interest
rate swaps and currency options. The term of such con-
tracts does not exceed the maturity of the underlying fi-
nancial liability, so that any change in the fair value and/
or cash flows of such contracts is offset by a corresponding
change in the fair value and/or cash flows of the underly-
ing position.

Cross currency interest rate swaps are used to transform
a long-term fixed- or floating-rate liability in foreign cur-
rency into an equivalent fixed- or floating-rate liability in
euros. In addition to having notionals denominated in dif-
ferent currencies, these instruments differ from interest
rate swaps in that they provide for both the periodic ex-
change of cash flows and the final exchange of principal.
Currency forwards are contracts in which the counterpar-
ties agree to exchange principal amounts denominated
in different currencies at a specified future date and ex-
change rate (the strike). Such contracts may call for the ac-
tual exchange of the two amounts (deliverable forwards)
or payment of the difference between the strike exchange
rate and the prevailing exchange rate at maturity (non-de-
liverable forwards). In the latter case, the strike rate and/
or the spot rate may be determined as averages of the of-
ficial fixings of the European Central Bank.

Currency swaps are combinations of spot purchases and
sales (currency spot) and forward purchases and sales (cur-
rency forward) of flows denominated in different currencies
and are generally used to hedge commercial paper issues.
Currency options involve the purchase (or sale) of the
right to exchange, at an agreed future date, two principal
amounts denominated in different currencies on speci-
fied terms (the contractual exchange rate represents the
option strike price); such contracts may call for the actual
exchange of the two amounts (deliverable) or payment of
the difference between the strike exchange rate and the
prevailing exchange rate at maturity (non-deliverable). In
the latter case, the strike rate and/or the spot rate may be
determined as averages of the official fixings of the Euro-

pean Central Bank.
The following table reports the notional amount of trans-

actions outstanding at December 31, 2011 and December

31,2010, broken down by type of hedged item:
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Millions of euro

Notional amount

2011 2010
Cross currency interest rate swaps (CCIRSs) hedging debt denominated in currencies other than the euro 14,442 13,934
Currency forwards hedging exchange rate risk on commodities 7,273 7,055
Currency forwards hedging future cash flows in currencies other than the euro 1,232 393
Currency swaps hedging commercial paper 240 334
Currency forwards hedging credit lines 201 161
Other forward contracts - 230
Total 23,388 22,107

More specifically, these include:

>

CCIRSs with a notional amount of €14,442 million to
hedge the exchange rate risk on debt denominated in
currencies other than the euro (€13,934 million at De-
cember 31, 2010);

currency forwards with a total notional amount of
€8,505 million used to hedge the exchange rate risk
associated with purchases of fuel, imported electricity
and expected cash flows in currencies other than the
euro (€7,448 million at December 31, 2010);

currency swaps with a total notional amount of €240

million used to hedge the exchange rate risk associated

Millions of euro Notional amount Fair value

with redemptions of commercial paper issued in cur-
rencies other than the euro (€334 million at December
31,2010);

> currency forwards with a total notional amount of €201
million used to hedge the exchange rate risk associated
with credit lines in currencies other than the euro (€161
million at December 31, 2010).

The following table reports the notional amount and fair
value of exchange rate derivatives at December 31, 2011
and December 31, 2010, broken down by designation
(IAS 39):

Fair value assets Fair value liabilities

atDec. 31, atDec.31, atDec.31, atDec.31, atDec.31, atDec.31, atDec.31, atDec 31,

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
Cash flow hedge derivatives:
- currency forwards 3,751 3,014 297 1 304 34 (7) (45)
- CCIRSs 13,985 13,419 (347) (886) 1,297 671 (1,644) (1,557)
Fair value hedge derivatives:
- CCIRSs 457 515 18 (6) 30 15 (12) (21)
Trading derivatives:
- currency forwards 5,195 5,159 18 (73) 153 55 (135) (128)
Total forwards 8,946 8,173 315 (84) 457 89 (142) (173)
Total CCIRS 14,442 13,934 (329) (892) 1,327 686 (1,656) (1,578)
TOTAL EXCHANGE RATE
DERIVATIVES 23,388 22,107 (14) (976) 1,784 775 (1,798) (1,751)
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The following table reports the cash flows expected in coming years from these financial derivatives:

Expected cash flows from exchange rate derivatives

Millions of euro Fair value Stratification of expected cash flows
at Dec. 31,

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Beyond
CFH on exchange rates
Positive fair value 1,601 369 174 223 86 (36) 1,295
Negative fair value (1,651) (251) (96) (228) (341) (175) (755)
FVH on exchange rates
Positive fair value 30 8 7 (1) 13 (7) (4)
Negative fair value (12) (9) 1 1 1 1 1
Trading derivatives on exchange rates
Positive fair value 153 134 13 1 - - -
Negative fair value (135) (130) (3) - - - -

An analysis of the Group's financial debt shows that 30% of
medium- and long-term debt (30% at December 31, 2010)
is denominated in currencies other than the euro.

Taking account of exchange rate hedges and the portion of
debt denominated in the functional currency of the country
in which the Group company holding the debt position op-
erates, the proportion of unhedged debt denominated in
currencies other than the euro decreases to about 4% (2%
at December 31, 2010), a proportion that is felt would not
have a significantimpact on the Group’s income statement
in the event of a change in market exchange rates.

At December 31, 2011, assuming a 10% appreciation of
the euro against the dollar, all other variables being equal,
shareholders’ equity would have been €1,650 million lower
(€1,449 million at December 31, 2010) as a result of the
decrease in the fair value of CFH derivatives on exchange
rates. Conversely, assuming a 10% depreciation of the euro
against the dollar, all other variables being equal, share-
holders’ equity would have been €2,028 million higher
(€1,780 million at December 31, 2010) as a result of the in-
crease in the fair value of CFH derivatives on exchange rates.

Commodity risk

The exposure to the risk of changes in commodity prices is
associated with the purchase of fuel for power plants and
the purchase and sale of gas under indexed contracts as
well as the purchase and sale of electricity at variable prices
(indexed bilateral contracts and sales on Power Exchange).
The exposures on indexed contracts are quantified by
breaking down the contracts that generate exposure into

the underlying risk factors.
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Various types of derivatives are used to reduce the ex-
posure to fluctuations in energy commodity prices and
as part of proprietary trading activities (mainly forwards,
swaps, commodity options, futures and contracts for dif-
ferences).

Enel manages the risks associated with transactions in
commodities used for the Group's core business and the
general risks generated by proprietary trading separately.
Each company/business unit is assigned specific risk limits
for each industrial or proprietary trading portfolio. Enel
assesses and monitors compliance with the assigned risk
limits in terms of Profit-at-Risk for the monthly exposures
generated by the energy commodity industrial portfolios
and in terms of Value-at-Risk with regard to the daily ex-
posures generated by proprietary trading activities.

As regards electricity sold by the Group, Enel uses fixed-
price contracts in the form of bilateral physical contracts
and financial contracts (e.g. contracts for differences, VPP
contracts, etc.) in which differences are paid to the coun-
terparty if the market electricity price exceeds the strike
price and to Enel in the opposite case.

The residual exposure in respect of the sale of energy on
the spot market not hedged with such contracts is quanti-
fied and managed on the basis of an estimation of devel-
opments in generation costs. The residual positions thus
determined are aggregated on the basis of uniform risk

factors that can be hedged in the market.
The following table reports the notional amount and fair

value of derivative contracts relating to commodities at
December 31,2011 and December 31, 2010.
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Millions of euro Notional amount Fair value Fair value assets Fair value liabilities
atDec. 31, atDec.31, atDec.31, atDec.31, atDec.31, atDec.31, atDec.31, atDec 31,
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
Cash flow hedge derivatives:
- energy derivatives 1,753 1,862 (54) 43 18 65 (72) (22)
- swaps on oil commodities - 89 - 11 - 11 - -
- derivatives on coal 880 830 (62) 173 - 175 (62) (2)
- derivatives on gas 584 524 (10) 48 1 48 (11) -
Trading derivatives:
- energy derivatives 18,956 13,042 40 (55) 81 59 (41) (114)
- swaps on oil commodities 8,488 5,934 (27) 119 1,847 350 (1,874) (231)
- futures/options on oil
commodities 1,450 229 (7) (5) 30 3 (37) (8)
- derivatives on coal 332 896 (2) 31 20 147 (22) (116)
- embedded derivatives 268 432 (267) (356) - 8 (267) (364)
TOTAL COMMODITY
DERIVATIVES 32,71 23,838 (389) 9 1,997 866 (2,386) (857)

Cash flow hedge derivatives refer to the physical positions
in the underlying and, therefore, any negative (positive)
change in the fair value of the derivative instrument cor-
responds to a positive (negative) change in the fair value
of the underlying physical commodity, so the impact on

the income statement is equal to zero. The following ta-

ble shows the fair value of the derivatives and the con-
sequent impact on shareholders’ equity at December 31,
2011 (gross of taxes) that would have resulted, all other
conditions being equal, in the event of a 10% increase or
decrease in the prices of the commodities underlying the

valuation model considered in the scenario at that date.

Millions of euro -10% Scenario +10%
at Dec. 31,2011

Fair value of derivatives on energy in cash flow hedges 93 (54) (204)

Fair value of derivatives on coal in cash flow hedges (148) (62) 23

Fair value of derivatives on gas in cash flow hedges (40) (10) 20

The following table shows the fair value of derivatives
and the consequent impact on the income statement and
shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2011 (gross of tax-
es), that would have resulted, all other conditions being

equal, in the event of a 10% increase or decrease in the
prices of the commodities underlying the valuation model
considered in the scenario at that date.

Millions of euro -10% Scenario +10%
at Dec. 31, 2011

Fair value of derivatives on energy in trading transactions (28) 40 85

Fair value of derivatives on oil commodities in trading transactions (123) (34) 64

Fair value of derivatives on coal in trading transactions 25 (2) (32)

Embedded derivatives relate to contracts for the purchase
and sale of energy entered into by Slovenské elektrarne in
Slovakia. The market value at December 31,2011 cametoa

negative €267 million, composed of:
a.an embedded derivative on the EUR/USD exchange
rate whose fair value at December 31, 2011 was a

negative €139 million;

b. a derivative on the price of gas whose fair value at De-

cember 31,2011 was a negative €128 million.
The following tables show the fair value at December 31,

2011, as well as the value expected from a 10% increase or

decrease in the underlying risk factors.
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Fair value embedded derivative (a)

Millions of euro

EUR/USD exchange rate

Decrease of 10%

(150)

Scenario at Dec. 31, 2011

(139)

Increase of 10%

(129)

Fair value embedded derivative (b)

Millions of euro

Gas price

Decrease of 10%

(113)

Scenario at Dec. 31, 2011

(128)

Increase of 10%

(139)

The following table reports the cash flows expected in subsequent years from these financial derivatives on commodities.

Millions of euro Fair value Stratification of expected cash flows
at Dec. 31,

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Beyond
Cash flow hedge derivatives
Positive fair value 19 9 2 2 2 2 2
Negative fair value (145) (145) - - - - -
Trading derivatives
Positive fair value 1,978 1,803 169 4 1 1 -
Negative fair value (2,241) (1,934) (313) 1 2 1 2

Credit risk

Enel manages credit risk by operating solely with coun-
terparties considered solvent by the market, i.e. those
with high credit standing, and does not have any signifi-
cant concentration of credit risk.

The credit risk in respect of the derivatives portfolio is
considered negligible since transactions are conducted
solely with leading Italian and international banks, di-
versifying the exposure among different institutions and
constantly monitoring their credit ratings.

In addition, during the year Enel entered into margin agree-
ments with the leading financial institutions with which it
operates that call for the exchange of cash collateral, which

significantly mitigates the exposure to counterparty risk.

As part of activities related to purchasing fuels for ther-
mal generation and the sale and distribution of electric-
ity, the distribution of gas and the sale of gas to eligible
customers, Enel grants trade credit to external counter-
parties. The counterparties selected are carefully moni-
tored through the assessment of the related credit risk
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and the pledge of suitable guarantees and/or security

deposits to ensure adequate protection from default risk.

In addition, for specific segments of the trade portfolio, a
number of assignments of receivables were carried out.
The main transactions regarded the trade receivables of
the Sales Division. More specifically, in the last quarter of
2011, the Group entered into a framework agreement
with two leading banks for the ongoing non-recourse
assignment of invoiced receivables and receivables to
be invoiced for customers in the enhanced protection
market in Italy. The agreement, which has a term of five
years and is structured into 3-month revolving periods,
provides for a maximum assignment amount of an esti-

mated €14.4 billion a year.
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Liquidity risk

Within the Group, Enel SpA (directly and through its subsi-
diary Enel Finance International NV) manages the centra-
lized Treasury function (with the exception of the Endesa
Group, where that function is performed by Endesa SA
and its subsidiaries Endesa Internacional BV and Endesa
Capital SA), ensuring access to the money and capital mar-
kets. The Parent Company meets liquidity requirements
primarily through cash flows generated by ordinary ope-
rations and drawing on a range of sources of financing. In

addition, it manages any excess liquidity as appropriate.

The Enel Group's access to the credit market despite the
recent financial crisis was confirmed by the successful pla-

cement of bonds for institutional investors amounting to

€1.75 billionin July 2011 and €2.25 billion in October 2011.
At December 31,2011, the Enel Group had a total of about
€7 billion in cash or cash equivalents, of which €2.7 billion
held by Endesa, as well as total committed credit lines of
€15.9 billion, of which €5.4 billion held by Endesa. The li-
mits on the committed credit lines amounted to €25.5
billion (€9.6 billion drawn), of which €7.2 billion held by
Endesa (€1.8 billion drawn). In addition, the Group had
uncommitted credit lines totaling €2.7 billion (€0.8 billion
drawn), of which €1.6 billion held by Endesa (€20 million
drawn).

Finally, the Group has outstanding commercial paper pro-
grams with a maximum ceiling of about €9 billion (€3.2
billion drawn), of which €3 billion held by Endesa through
its subsidiaries (€1.2 billion drawn).

6.1 Derivatives contracts classified under non-current financial assets

-€1,387 million

The following table shows the notional amount and fair value of derivative contracts classified under non-current fi-

nancial assets.

Millions of euro Notional amount Fair value

at Dec. 31, 2011 at Dec. 31,2010 at Dec. 31, 2011 at Dec. 31,2010 Change
Cash flow hedge derivatives:
- interest rates 224 1,716 6 7 ()
- exchange rates 9,326 6,698 1,302 671 631
- commodities 30 397 10 46 (36)
Total 9,580 8,811 1,318 724 594
Fair value hedge derivatives:
- interest rates 83 83 14 9 5
- exchange rates 262 264 30 15 15
Total 345 347 44 24 20
Trading derivatives:
- interest rates 75 75 6 8 (2)
- exchange rates 181 109 13 5 8
- commodities 64 259 6 60 (54)
Total 320 443 25 73 (48)
TOTAL 10,245 9,601 1,387 821 566

At December 31, 2011, the notional amount of the cash
flow hedge derivative contracts classified as non-current
financial assets came to €9,580 million, with the corre-
sponding fair value of €1,318 million.

The cash flow hedge derivatives are essentially related to
transactions hedging the exchange rate risk on bond issues

in currencies other than the euro using cross currency inter-

est rate swaps and the additional private placements issued
by Enel Finance International and OGK-5 during 2011. The
rise in the notional amount, equal to €2,628 million, was es-
sentially attributable to the reclassification of certain transac-
tions that at December 31, 2010 had been reported under
“Non-current financial liabilities” to “Non-current financial as-

sets” due to a change in the sign of their fair values.
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The rise in the fair value was mainly due to developments > trading derivatives entered into by Endesa with a fair

in the exchange rate of the euro against the pound sterling. value of €1 million.

Commaodity derivatives include: The following table reports the fair value balances of de-
> derivatives on energy with a fair value of €10 million  rivatives with a positive fair value broken down by type of
classified as cash flow hedges and €5 million classified ~measurement inputs used.

as trading transactions;

Millions of euro Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

at Dec. 31, 2011

Cash flow hedge derivatives:

- interest rates 6 - 6 -
- exchange rates 1,302 - 1,302 -
- commodities 10 - 10 -
Total 1,318 - 1,318 -

Fair value hedge derivatives:

- interest rates 14 - 14 -
- exchange rates 30 - 30 -
Total a4 - 44 -

Trading derivatives:

- interest rates 6 - 6 -
- exchange rates 13 - 13 -
- commodities 6 - 6 -
Total 25 - 25 -
TOTAL 1,387 - 1,387 -

6.2 Derivatives contracts classified under current financial assets -
€2,420 million

The following table reports the notional amount and fair value of the derivative contracts, grouped by type and desig-

nation.
Millions of euro Notional amount Fair value

at Dec. 31, 2011 at Dec. 31,2010 at Dec. 31, 2011 at Dec. 31,2010 Change
Cash flow hedge derivatives:
- interest rates - 375 - 1 (1)
- exchange rates 3,571 957 299 33 266
- commodities 835 2,127 9 253 (244)
Total 4,406 3,459 308 287 21
Fair value hedge derivatives:
- interest rates = 15 = - =
Total - 15 - - -
Trading derivatives:
- exchange rates 2,604 2,157 140 50 90
- commodities 5,319 17,185 1,972 508 1,464
Total 7,923 19,342 2,112 558 1,554
TOTAL 12,329 22,816 2,420 845 1,575
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Exchange rate derivatives, whether designated as trad-
ing transactions or cash flow hedges, essentially comprise
transactions to hedge the exchange rate risk associated
with the prices of energy commodities.

The rise in the notional amount and fair value of these de-

rivatives is mainly associated with normal operations.

Commodity derivatives regard:

> derivatives on energy, classified as cash flow hedges,
with a fair value of €8 million;

> derivatives on gas, classified as cash flow hedges, with

a fair value of €1 million;
> commodity derivatives related to fuels and other com-
modities classified as trading derivatives, with a fair va-
lue of €1,897 million;
> trading transactions on energy, with a fair value of €75

million.

The following table reports the fair value balances of de-
rivatives with a positive fair value broken down by meas-
urement inputs used, as provided for under the amend-
ments of IFRS 7.

Millions of euro Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
at Dec. 31, 2011

Cash flow hedge derivatives:

- exchange rates 299 - 299 -
- commodities 9 - 9 -
Total 308 - 308 -
Trading derivatives:

- exchange rates 140 - 140 -
- commodities 1,972 466 1,506 -
Total 2,112 466 1,646 -
TOTAL 2,420 466 1,954 -

The balance for Level 1 essentially regards positions in futures on CO, and on Brent listed on the Intercontinental Ex-

change (ICE).

6.3 Derivatives contracts classified under non-current financial

liabilities - €2,30/7 million

The following table reports the notional amount and fair value of the cash flow hedge, fair value hedge and trading derivatives.

Millions of euro Notional amount Fair value

at Dec. 31, 2011 at Dec. 31,2010 at Dec. 31, 2011 at Dec. 31,2010 Change
Cash flow hedge derivatives:
- interest rates 6,316 10,704 600 566 34
- exchange rates 4,314 6,806 1,495 1,557 (62)
- commodities - 171 - 5 (5)
Total 10,630 17,681 2,095 2,128 (33)
Fair value hedge derivatives:
- exchange rates 11 215 6 19 (13)
Total 11 215 6 19 (13)
Trading derivatives:
- interest rates 698 3,439 66 157 91)
- exchange rates 37 88 3 4 ()
- commodities 166 452 137 283 (146)
Total 901 3,979 206 444 (238)
TOTAL 11,542 21,875 2,307 2,591 (284)
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At December 31, 2011, the notional amount of derivatives
classified under non-current financial liabilities came to
€11,542 million, with a corresponding fair value of €2,307
million. Compared with December 31,2010, these represent
decreases of €10,333 million and €284 million, respectively.
The decrease in the notional amount mainly involved in-
terest rate derivatives in cash flow hedges and trading
transactions. It is mainly attributable to the reclassification
to “Current financial liabilities” of the derivatives used to
hedge the debt entered into by Enel SpA and Enel Finance
International in 2007 in respect of the syndicated credit
line with an original value of €35 billion, which matures in
April 2012, and Endesa derivatives.

That reclassification includes €1,000 million in notional
amount transferred from “Non-current financial liabilities
— cash flow hedge derivatives” to "Current financial liabili-

ties — trading derivatives” regarding interest rate hedges

of debt entered into by Enel SpA that was overhedged fol-

lowing the voluntary early repayment of the underlying

(Credit Facility).

Cash flow hedge derivatives on exchange rates essential-

ly regard the hedging (using cross currency interest rate

swaps) of bond issues in currencies other than the euro.

The fair value reflects the change in the value of the euro

against the hedged currencies.

Commodity derivatives mainly related to:

> embedded derivatives related to energy sale and purcha-
se contracts in Slovakia, with a fair value of €136 million;

> derivatives held by Endesa with a fair value of €1 mil-
lion classified as trading derivatives.

The following table reports the fair value of derivatives
with a negative fair value on the basis of the measurement

inputs used.

Millions of euro Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
at Dec. 31, 2011

Cash flow hedge derivatives:

- interest rates 600 - 600 -
- exchange rates 1,495 - 1,495 -
Total 2,095 - 2,095 -
Fair value hedge derivatives:

- exchange rates 6 - 6 -
Total 6 - 6 -
Trading derivatives:

- interest rates 66 - 66 -
- exchange rates 3 - 3 -
- commodities 137 - 72 65
Total 206 - 141 65
TOTAL 2,307 - 2,242 65

The balance for Level 3 regards the embedded derivative
(identified as embedded derivative B in note 6 to these
consolidated financial statements) on the price of gasin an
energy purchase contract entered into by Slovenské elek-
trarne in Slovakia. The contract was measured in two parts.
In the first part, the market value of the electricity pur-
chased was determined, while in the second part a Monte
Carlo simulation is used to determine the value of the con-
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tract. The fair value of the contract is equal to the difference
between the average values obtained from the simulation
and the market value of the electricity acquired.

Changes in the latter —which include the portion classified
under current liabilities (see note 6.4), equal to €63 mil-
lion at December 31, 2011 — are reported in the following
table.
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Millions of euro

Embedded derivatives of Slovenské elektrarne

Opening balance at January 1, 2011 158
(Gains)/Losses in income statement (30)
Closing balance at December 31, 2011 128

The gains and losses recognized through profit or loss for

the period include €33 million in respect of the decrease in

operating performance and €3 million in respect of higher

net financial expense.
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6.4 Derivatives contracts classified under current financial liabilities -

€2 645 million

The following table shows the notional amount and fair value of the derivative contracts.

Millions of euro Notional amount Fair value

at Dec. 31, 2011 at Dec. 31,2010 at Dec. 31, 2011 at Dec. 31,2010 Change
Cash flow hedge derivatives:
- interest rates 4,467 244 27 3 24
- exchange rates 525 1,972 156 45 11
- commodities 2,352 609 145 19 126
Total 7,344 2,825 328 67 261
Fair value hedge derivatives:
- exchange rates 184 36 6 2 4
Total 184 36 6 2
Trading derivatives:
- interest rates 3,821 284 75 33 42
- exchange rates 2,373 2,804 132 124 8
- commodities 23,945 2,637 2,104 550 1,554
Total 30,139 5,725 2,311 707 1,604
TOTAL 37,667 8,586 2,645 776 1,869
The increase in the notional amount of interest rate de- of €73 million;

rivatives essentially involved the reclassification from
“Non-current financial liabilities” of the derivatives used to
hedge the debt entered into by Enel SpA and Enel Finance
International in 2007 in respect of the syndicated credit
line with an original value of €35 billion, which matures in
April 2012, and Endesa derivatives.

Trading derivatives on exchange rates essentially include
derivatives transactions used to hedge the exchange rate
risk in respect of commodity prices. Even though the trans-
actions were carried out for hedging purposes, they do not
meet the requirements to qualify for hedge accounting.
Commodity derivatives are mainly related to:

> cash flow hedge derivatives on fuels, with a fair value
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> derivatives on energy, classified as cash flow hedges,
with a fair value of €72 million;

> trading derivatives on fuels and other commodities,
with a fair value of €1,932 million;

> trading transactions in energy, with a fair value of €41
million;

> embedded derivatives related to energy sale and pur-
chase contracts in Slovakia, with a fair value of €131
million.

The following table reports the fair value of derivatives

with a negative fair value on the basis of the measure-

ment inputs used, as provided for under the amendments

to IFRS 7.
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Millions of euro Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

at Dec. 31, 2011

Cash flow hedge derivatives:

- interest rates 27 - 27 -
- exchange rates 156 - 156 -
- commodities 145 4 141 -
Total 328 4 324 -

Fair value hedge derivatives:

- exchange rates 6 - 6 -

Total 6 - 6 -

Trading derivatives:

- interest rates 75 - 75 -
- exchange rates 132 - 132 -
- commodities 2,104 533 1,508 63
Total 2,311 533 1,715 63
TOTAL 2,645 537 2,045 63

The balance for Level 1 essentially regards positions in futures on CO, and on Brent listed on the Intercontinental Ex-
change (ICE).
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Segment information

The representation of divisional performance and finan-  For more information on developments in performance
cial position presented here is based on the approach and financial position during the year, please see the ap-
used by management in monitoring Group performance  propriate section of the Report on operations.

for the two periods being compared.
Segment information for 2011 and 2010

Results for 20110

Iberia Services
Eng. Infra. and and Elimination
& & Latin Renewable Parent Other and
Millions of euro Sales  GEM Innov. Networks America Int'l Energy ~ Company Activities adjustments Total
Revenues from third
parties 17,568 17,131 60 3,212 32,082 7,071 1,927 401 62 - 79514
Revenues from
other segments 163 6,015 337 4,248 565 644 612 361 1,294 (14,239) -
Total
revenues 17,731 23,146 397 7,460 32,647 7,715 2,539 762 1,356 (14,239) 79,514
Total costs 17,214 21,196 385 3,175 25,424 6.051 944 800 1,119 (14,239) 62,069
Net income/
(charges) from
commodity risk
management 44 232 - - 28 (22) (10) - - - 272
Depreciation and
amortization 76 595 3 917  2.749 430 428 11 85 - 5,294
Impairment losses/
reversals 344 (3) - 21 445 150 77 3 20 - 1,057
Operating income 141 1,590 9 3,347 4,057 1,062 1,080 (52) 132 - 11,366
Operating assets 5209 16,571 254 17,479 76,124 @ 13,480 11,204 © 1,090 2,166 7 (5.941) 137,636
Operating liabilities 6,050 5,111 249 6,418 11.852 ¢ 5254 1,475 1,152 1,613 @ (6.047) 33,127
Equity investments
accounted for using
the equity method - 7 - 132 124 305 486 2 29 - 1,085
Capital expenditure 90 432 4 1,383 2,491 @ 1,450 © 1,557 13 64 - 7,484

(1) Segment revenues include both revenues from third parties and revenue flows between the segments. An analogous approach was taken for other income and
costs for the year.

(2) Of which €359 million regarding units classified as "Held for sale”.

(3) Of which €32 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.

(4) Does notinclude €101 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.

(5) Does notinclude €4 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.

(6) Of which €4 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.

(7) Of which €3 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.

(8)  Of which €4 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.
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Results for 2010 restated @

Iberia Services
Eng. Infra. and and Elimination
& & Latin Renewable Parent Other and
Millions of euro Sales  GEM Innov. Networks America Int'l Energy ~ Company Activities  adjustments  Total
Revenues from third
parties 18,499 12,173 106 2,991 31,022 6,203 1,934 358 102 (11) 73,377
Revenues from
other segments 198 5367 502 4436 241 157 245 321 1,031 (12,498) -
Total
revenues 18,697 17,540 608 7,427 31,263 6,360 2,179 679 1,133 (12,509) 73,377
Total costs 17,627 15936 594 3,614 23,395 4,811 956 738 997 (12,491) 56,177
Net income/
(charges) from
commodity risk
management (587) 788 - - 28 (29) 89 (9) - - 280
Depreciation and
amortization 74 570 4 891 2,807 481 340 7 98 - 5,272
Impairment losses/
reversals 351 (10) - 11 446 136 4 - 12 - 950
Operating income 58 1,832 10 2,911 4,643 903 966 (75) 26 (16) 11,258
Operating assets @ 6,162 15,444 316 17,680 77,764 ® 13,103 ©® 9,654 @ 1,075 2,529 (5,732) 137,995
Operating
liabilities @ 5,673 4,467 374 5825 13,500 @ 5,184 7 1,235 00 1,166 1,543 ® (5,734) 33,233
Equity investments
accounted for using
the equity method - 6 - 150 142 315 42200 - 15 - 1,050
Capital expenditure 62 648 5 1,147 2,866 © 1,210 ® 1,065 (12) 7 80 - 7,090

(1) Segment revenues include both revenues from third parties and revenue flows between the segments. An analogous approach was taken for other income and
costs for the period.
(2) At December 31, 2010 restated. The figures were restated as a result of the completion of the process of allocating the purchase price for the SE Hydropower
business combination.
) Of which €484 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.
) Of which €145 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.
) Does notinclude €76 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.
(6) Of which €592 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.
) Of which €26 million regarding units classified as "Held for sale”.
) Does notinclude €10 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.
) Of which €399 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.
(10) Of which €14 million regarding units classified as “"Held for sale”.
(11) Of which €17 million regarding units classified as "Held for sale”.
(12) Does not include €11 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale”.
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The following table reconciles segment assets and liabilities and the consolidated figures.

Millions of euro

at Dec. 31,
at Dec. 31, 2010
2011 restated ¥
Total assets 169,805 168,562
Financial assets, cash and cash equivalents 24,904 22,934
Tax assets 7,265 7,633
Segment assets 137,636 137,995
- of which:
Sales 5,209 6,162
Generation and Energy Management 16,571 15,444
Engineering and Innovation 254 316
Infrastructure and Networks 17,479 17,680
Iberia and Latin America® 76,124 77,764
International ® 13,480 13,103
Renewable Energy “ 11,204 9,654
Parent Company 1,090 1,075
Services and Other Activities ® 2,166 2,529
Eliminations and adjustments (5,941) (5,732)
Total liabilities 115,365 114,696
Loans and other financial liabilities 69,153 68,683
Tax liabilities 13,085 12,780
Segment liabilities 33,127 33,233
- of which:
Sales 6,050 5,673
Generation and Energy Management 5111 4,467
Engineering and Innovation 249 374
Infrastructure and Networks 6,418 5,825
|beria and Latin America © 11,852 13,500
International @ 5,254 5,184
Renewable Energy ® 1,475 1,235
Parent Company 1,152 1,166
Services and Other Activities @ 1,613 1,543
Eliminations and adjustments (6,047) (5,734)

(1) The figures were restated as a result of the completion of the process of allocating the purchase price for the SE Hydropower business
combination to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

2) Of which €359 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale” at December 31, 2011 (€484 million at December 31, 2010).

3) Of which €592 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale” at December 31, 2010.

4) Of which €4 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale” at December 31, 2011 (€399 million at December 31, 2010).

5) Of which €3 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale” at December 31, 2011.

6) Of which €32 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale” at December 31, 2011 (€145 million at December 31, 2010).

7) Of which €26 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale” at December 31, 2010.

8) Of which €14 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale” at December 31, 2010.

(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(9) Of which €4 million regarding units classified as “Held for sale” at December 31, 2011.
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Information on the Consolidated Income

Statement

Revenues

8.a Revenues from sales and services - €//7,573 million

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Revenues from the sale and transport of electricity and contributions
from Electricity Equalization Fund and similar bodies 68,308 64,045 4,263
Revenues from the sale and transport of natural gas to end users 3,624 3,574 50
Revenues from fuel sales 994 449 545
Connection fees for the electricity and gas networks 1,422 1,429 (7)
Revenues for contract work in progress 53 170 (117)
Other sales and services 3,172 2,276 896
Total 77,573 71,943 5,630

"Revenues from the sale and transport of electricity and
contributions from Electricity Equalization Fund and simi-
lar bodies” amounted to €68,308 million (€64,045 million
in 2010). Among other items, they include €33,948 mil-
lion in revenues from the sale of electricity to end users
(€33,823 million in 2010), €15,808 million in revenues
from the sale of electricity to wholesale buyers (€13,795
million in 2010), €6,653 million in revenues from electric-
ity trading activities (€4,792 million in 2010), and €10,098
million in revenues from the transport of electricity
(€10,510 million in 2010).

"Revenues from the sale and transport of natural gas to

Millions of euro

end users” came to €3,624 million in 2011 and include
€2,099 million in revenues from the sale and transport of
natural gas in Italy (€2,244 million in 2010) and sales of
natural gas abroad amounting to €1,525 million (€1,330
million in 2010).

“Revenues from fuel sales” came to €994 million in 2011,
which includes €641 million in sales of natural gas (€179
million in 2010), while the sale of other fuels amounted to
€353 million (€270 million in 2010).

The table below gives a breakdown of revenues from sales

and services by geographical area:

2011 2010
Italy 30,678 30,767
Europe — EU 33,552 28,607
Europe —non-EU 2,846 2,471
Americas 10,338 9,907
Other 159 191
Total 77,573 71,943
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8.b Other revenues and income - €7,941 million

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Cost contributions and other fees 81 21 60
Sundry reimbursements 184 107 77
Gains on disposal of assets 71 127 (56)
Measurement at fair value after changes in control 358 - 358
Gains on sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 57 33 24
Service continuity bonuses 158 100 58
Other revenues 1,032 1,046 (14)
Total 1,941 1,434 507

“Cost contributions and other fees” regard revenues on
certain connections to the electricity and gas networks.
“Sundry reimbursements” are mainly accounted for by
€45 million paid by customers and €87 million in insur-
ance reimbursements.

“Gains on disposal of assets” amounted to €71 million in
2011 and largely comprise the gain on the sale of part of
the assets of Enel Union Fenosa Renovables (€44 million),
Deval and Vallenergie (€21 million), Explotaciones Edlicas
de Aldehuelas (€18 million), CAM and Synapsis (€15 mil-
lion), Enel Maritza East 3, Enel Operations Bulgaria and
the related holding companies (€12 million), as well as the
gain on the disposal of a business unit that led to the ac-

quisition of an equity interest in San Floriano Energy (€15

Costs

million). These positive effects were partially offset by the
revision (about €54 million) of the sale price for the Span-
ish high-voltage grids and of 80% of Nubia 2000.

The gain from “measurement at fair value after changes
in control” came to €358 million in 2011. The gain is the
result of the adjustment to their fair value of the assets
and liabilities pertaining to the Group (i) remaining after
the loss of control of Hydro Dolomiti Enel as a result of
the change in corporate governance arrangements (€237
million); (ii) already owned by Enel prior to acquiring com-
plete control of Enel Union Fenosa Renovables (€76 mil-
lion), Sociedad Edlica de Andalucia (€23 million) and TP

— Sociedade Térmica Portuguesa (€22 million).

9.a Raw materials and consumables - €42,901 million

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Electricity 29,045 24,714 4,331
Fuel and gas 11,456 9,422 2,034
Materials 2,400 2,321 79
Total 42,901 36,457 6,444
- of which capitalized costs for materials (963) (1,057) 94

Purchases of “electricity” comprise those from the Single
Buyer in the amount of €6,096 million (€6,066 million in
2010) and purchases from the Energy Markets Operator
in the amount of €6,950 million (€3,347 million in 2010).
The increase is primarily attributable to bilateral contracts
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and the rise in the purchase cost of electricity on domestic
and foreign markets.

Purchases of "fuel and gas” include €5,328 million in natu-
ral gas purchases (€4,844 million in 2010) and €6,128 mil-
lion in purchases of other fuels (€4,578 million in 2010).
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9.b Services - €14, 440 million

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Electricity and gas wheeling 8,701 8,436 265
Maintenance and repairs 1,369 1,236 133
Telephone and postal costs 273 314 (41)
Communication services 160 139 21
IT services 242 177 65
Leases and rentals 571 599 (28)
Other 3,124 2,727 397
Total 14,440 13,628 812

Service costs for 2011 came to €14,440 million and in-
clude the contribution of Endesa in the amount of €8,927
million (€8,207 million in 2010). The item rose compared

with 2010 owing to greater electricity wheeling costs as a

9.c Personnel - €4,296 million

Millions of euro

result of higher system charges and higher costs for servic-
es connected with the electrical systems of the countries
in which the Group operates.

2011 2010 Change
Wages and salaries 3,335 3,370 (35)
Social security contributions 870 839 31
Post-employment benefits 120 116 4
Other costs (29) 582 (611)
Total 4,296 4,907 (611)
- of which capitalized (748) (708) (40)

Personnel costs amounted to €4,296 million in 2011,
down €611 million compared with the previous year. The
average workforce contracted by 4.6% compared with the
previous year. The Group workforce decreased by 2,953
during the period, mainly due to the change in the scope
of consolidation (a decline of 2,462) connected with the
sales of CAM, Synapsis, Enel Operations Bulgaria, Enel
Maritza East 3, Deval and Vallenergie, as well as the differ-
ent method used for consolidating Hydro Dolomiti Enel.
In addition to this factor, the decrease in “other costs” is
connected with the completion of the early retirement
incentive program as well as the positive impact of the

agreement reached during the year to eliminate electricity

discounts for employees in service in Italy, following which
a gain from curtailment of €152 million was recognized.
As a result of that agreement, the electricity discounts will
continue to be applied only for employees no longer in
service who already received such discounts at the time
their employment relationship ended.

For more information on employee benefit plans, please

see note 29 below.
The table below shows the average number of employees

by category compared with the previous year, and the ac-

tual number of employees at December 31, 2011.
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Average number ) Headcount

at Dec. 31,

2011 2010 Change 2011 @

Senior managers 1,219 1,336 (117) 1,190
Middle managers 13,908 14,110 (202) 14,098
Office staff 41,292 42,669 (1,377) 41,085
Workers 19,847 21,798 (1,951) 18,987
Total 76,266 79,913 (3,647) 75,360

(1) For companies consolidated on a proportionate basis, the headcount corresponds to Enel percentage share of the total.

(2) Of which 113 in units classified as assets “Held for sale”.

9.d Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses -

€6,351 million

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Depreciation 4,434 4,407 27
Amortization 860 865 (5)
Impairment losses 1,057 950 107
Total 6,351 6,222 129

“Impairment losses” in 2011 mainly regard writedowns of
trade receivables amounting to €519 million (€717 million
in 2010). It also includes the adjustment of the goodwill of
Endesa Ireland in the amount of €105 million (€115 mil-

lion in 2010) on the basis of the status of negotiations as

of the balance sheet date, as well as the impairment rec-
ognized on the value of the electricity distribution grid in
Argentina (€153 million) and that on the goodwill of Enel
Green Power Hellas (€70 million) and Marcinelle Energie
(€26 million).

9.e Other operating expenses - €2, 143 million

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Provisions for risks and charges 70 393 (323)
Purchase of green certificates 155 223 (68)
Taxes and duties 1,146 1,057 89
Losses on disposal of assets 7 3 4
Other 765 1,274 (509)
Total 2,143 2,950 (807)

Other operating expenses totaled €2,143 million in 2011,
down €807 million compared with the previous year. The
decrease was largely associated with a decline in provisions

for risks and charges made during the year and the revision

of estimates for provisions recognized in prior years. These
effects were only partially offset by the recognition of the
net-worth tax in Colombia (€109 million) following the tax
reform introduced in that country with Law 1430/2010.

9 f Capitalized costs - €(1,711) million

Capitalized costs consist of €748 million in personnel costs and €963 million in materials costs (compared with €708

million and €1,057 million, respectively, in 2010).
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Netincome/(charges) from commodity risk management

10. Net income/(charges) from commodity risk management -

€272 million

Net income from commodity risk management reflects €160 million in net income realized on positions closed during

the year and €112 million in unrealized net income on open positions in commodity derivatives at December 31, 2011.

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Income
Unrealized on contracts for differences - 3 (3)
Unrealized on other contracts 1,969 588 1,381
Total unrealized income 1,969 591 1,378
Realized on two-way contracts for differences 42 15 27
Realized on other contracts 1,384 1,038 346
Total realized income 1,426 1,053 373
Total income 3,395 1,644 1,751
Charges
Unrealized on other contracts (1,857) (653) (1,204)
Total unrealized charges (1,857) (653) (1,204)
Realized on other contracts (1,266) (711) (555)
Total realized charges (1,266) (711) (555)
Total charges (3,123) (1,364) (1,759)
NET INCOME/(CHARGES) FROM COMMODITY RISK MANAGEMENT 272 280 (8)
- of which trading/non-IFRS-IAS hedge derivatives 236 265 (29)
- of which ineffective portion of CFH 2) - 2)
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11. Financial income/(expense) - €(3,024) million

Financial income

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Interest and other income from financial assets
(current and non-current):
- interest income at effective rate on non-current securities and receivables 65 35 30
- financial income on non-current securities at fair value through profit or loss - 2 (2)
- interest income at effective rate on short-term financial investments 256 223 33
Total interest and other income from financial assets 321 260 61
Foreign exchange gains 729 735 (6)
Income from derivative instruments:
- income from cash flow hedge derivatives 568 726 (158)
- income from derivatives at fair value through profit or loss 516 332 184
- income from fair value hedge derivatives 45 76 31
Total income from derivative instruments 1,129 1,134 (5)
Income from equity investments 44 97 (53)
Other income 470 350 120
TOTAL FINANCIAL INCOME 2,693 2,576 117

Financial income amounted to €2,693 million, up €117  The increase on the previous year is essentially attribut-

million on the previous year.

able to the rise in default interest relating to a decision re-

Financial income from derivatives came to €1,129 million,  solving a tax dispute in the Group's favor in Spain (€63 mil-

of which €402 million realized (€247 million in 2010) and  lion) and the effect of the discounting of benefits granted

€727 million unrealized (€887 million in 2010).
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Financial expense

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Interest expense and other charges on financial debt (current and non-current):
- interest expense on bank loans 600 590 10
- interest expense on bonds 1,893 1,860 33
- interest expense on other loans 259 217 42
- financial expense on securities at fair value through profit or loss 1 - 1
- commissions on unused lines of credit 21 15 6
Total interest expense and other charges on financial debt 2,774 2,682 92
Foreign exchange losses 1,146 1,244 (98)
Expense on derivative instruments:
- expense on cash flow hedge derivatives 450 514 (64)
- expense on derivatives at fair value through profit or loss 542 482 60
- expense on fair value hedge derivatives 15 13 2
Total expense on derivative instruments 1,007 1,009 (2)
Accretion of post-employment and other employee benefits 281 278 3
Accretion of other provisions 247 252 (5)
Charges on equity investments 3 1 2
Other charges 259 308 (49)
TOTAL FINANCIAL EXPENSE 5,717 5,774 (57)

Financial expense totaled €5,717 million, a decrease of €57
million on 2010.

1

More specifically, the increase in “interest expense and
other charges on financial debt” resulting from the general
rise in interest rates, as well as the refinancing strategy to
optimize the financial structure of the Group was offset by

the decline in “foreign exchange losses”, which are mainly

attributable to the debt denominated in currencies other
than the euro, which was hedged with corresponding cross
currency interest rate swaps.

"Expense on derivative instruments” came to €1,007 mil-
lion, of which €623 million in realized charges (€599 million
in 2010) and €384 million in unrealized charges (€410 mil-
lionin 2010).

12. Share of income/(expense) from equity investments accounted
for using the equity method - €96 million

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Income from associates 111 62 49
Expense on associates (15) (48) 33
Total 926 14 82

For more information on the composition of the balance,
please see note 18.
In addition, the main differences with respect to the previ-

ous year are represented by income from Elcogas in the

amount of €6 million (€28 million in expense in 2010) and
by a general increase in income from investments in small
companies in the Renewable Energy Division, totaling €56
million.
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13. Income taxes - €3,080 million

Millions of euro

2011 2010 Change
Current taxes 2,848 2,634 214
Adjustments for income taxes related to prior years (55) (106) 51
Deferred tax liabilities 273 (194) 467
Deferred tax assets 14 67 (53)
Total 3,080 2,401 679

Income taxes for 2011 came to €3,080 million, equal to
36.5% of taxable income, compared with 29.7% in 2010.

The estimated tax liability of foreign companies is €924 mil-
lion (€804 million in 2010). The following table reconciles
the theoretical tax rate with the effective rate. Please note

that the size of the tax liability for the year was significantly

Millions of euro

impacted by the effects of the IRES surtaximposed under De-
cree Law 112/2008 (the so-called “Robin Hood Tax"), which
following recent amendments applicable as from 2011, is
levied at a rate of 10.5% and, for the first time, also applies to

distribution operations.

2011 2010

Income before taxes 8,438 8,074

Theoretical tax 2,320 27.5% 2,220 27.5%
Permanent differences; effect of different foreign tax rates and minor items (95) -1.1% (302) -3.7%
IRES surtax (Decree Law 112/2008) 515 6.1% 158 2.0%
Difference on estimated income taxes from prior years for Italian companies (16) -0.2% (48) -0.6%
IRAP 356 42% 373 4.5%
Total 3,080 36.5% 2,401 29.7%
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14. Basic and diluted earnings per share

Both metrics are calculated on the basis of the averagenum-  diluting effect of outstanding stock options (zero in both
ber of ordinary shares in the period, equal to 9,403,357,795  periods).
shares, with diluted earnings per share adjusted for the

2011 2010 Change
Net income from continuing operations pertaining to
shareholders of the Parent Company (millions of euro) 4,148 4,390 (242)
Net income from discontinued operations pertaining to
shareholders of the Parent Company (millions of euro) - - -
Net income pertaining to shareholders of the Parent
Company (millions of euro) 4,148 4,390 (242)
Number of ordinary shares 9,403,357,795 9,403,357,795 -
Dilutive effect of stock options - - -
Basic and diluted earnings per share (euro) 0.44 0.47 (0.03)
Basic and diluted earnings from continuing operations per share (euro) 0.44 0.47 (0.03)

Basic and diluted earnings from discontinued operations per share (euro) - - -

Please note that existing stock option plans for top manage-  Between the balance sheet date and the date of publication
ment could dilute basic earnings per share in the future. For  of the financial statements, no events or transactions took
more information on those plans, please see the appropriate  place that changed the number of ordinary shares or potential

section of these notes. ordinary shares in circulation at the end of the year.
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Information on the Consolidated Balance Sheet

15. Property, plant and equipment - €80,592 million

Changes in property, plant and equipment for 2010 and 2011 are shown below:

Assets
Industrial and under
Plantand  commercial ~ Other Leased Leasehold  construction
Millions of euro Land Buildings machinery  equipment  assets assets improvements and advances Total
Cost 539 9,726 109,399 389 1,189 533 184 8,322 130,281
Accumulated depreciation - 4,338 48,155 302 637 162 100 - 53,694
Balance at January 1,2010 539 5,388 61,244 87 552 371 84 8,322 76,587
Capital expenditure 16 72 1,619 17 75 284 2 4,290 6,375
Assets entering service - 102 3,587 1 36 - 12 (3,738) -
Exchange rate differences 21 57 1,385 - 63 23 - 188 1,737
Change in scope of
consolidation 3 18 115 1 1 - - 40 178
Depreciation - (245) (3,888) (16) (144) (23) (24) - (4,340)
Impairment losses (7) - (52) - - - - (45) (104)
Other changes 12 (258) 179 1 (87) (7) (3) 91 (72)
Reclassification from/to
“Assets held for sale” (19) (63) (1,868) - 6 - - (323) (2,267)
Total changes 26 (317) 1,077 4 (50) 277 (13) 503 1,507
Cost 565 10,115 138,809 409 1,738 756 202 8,825 161,419
Accumulated depreciation - 5,044 76,488 318 1,236 108 131 - 83325
Balance at December 31,
2010 restated 565 5,071 62,321 91 502 648 71 8,825 78,094
Capital expenditure 3 78 1,668 28 69 14 4 4,981 6,845
Assets entering service 9 195 3,876 1 141 181 13 (4,316) -
Exchange rate differences (3) (18) (146) - (10) 9 - (55) (223)
Change in scope of
consolidation (1) (2) 180 - 1 - (1) 130 307
Depreciation - (219) (3,981) (16) (119) (52) 21) - (4,408)
Impairment losses (5) (36) (164) - 1 - - (41) (245)
Other changes 11 201 (332) (12) (118) 270 5 34 59
Remeasurement at fair value
after changes in control 1 32 96 - - - - - 129
Reclassification from/to
“Assets held for sale” - - 36 - - - - (2) 34
Total changes 15 231 1,233 1 (135) 422 - 731 2,498
Cost 580 10,564 142,608 417 1,468 1,232 223 9,556 166,648
Accumulated depreciation - 5,262 79,054 325 1,101 162 152 - 86,056
Balance at December 31,
2011 580 5,302 63,554 92 367 1,070 71 9,556 80,592

“Plant and machinery” includes assets to be relinquished  tribution network (€2,615 million at December 31, 2010).
with a net carrying amount of €12,513 million (€11,148

million at December 31, 2010), €7,870 million of which re-  “Leased assets” include certain assets which the Group is
lated to power generation plants (€7,925 million at Decem-  using in Spain, France, Greece, Latin America and Slovakia.

ber 31,2010) and €3,749 million to Endesa’s electricity dis-  More specifically, in Spain the assets relate to a 25-year
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“tolling” contract for which an analysis pursuant to IFRIC 4
identified an embedded finance lease, under which Ende-
sa has access to the generation capacity of a combined
cycle plant for which the toller, Elecgas, has undertaken
to transform gas into electricity in exchange for a toll at a
rate of 9.62%. In France and Greece, they relate to wind
plants under 10/15-year leases.

In Latin America, the assets relate to leased power trans-
mission lines and plant (Ralco-Charrda), under a 20-year
lease at a 6.5% rate, as well as a number of combined cy-
cle plants in Peru (8/9-year lease bearing a floating rate).
The leased assets in Slovakia essentially relate to the sale
and lease back agreements for the V1 nuclear power plant
at Jaslovske Bohunice and the hydroelectric plant at Gab-
cikovo. The leasing arrangements were a necessary condi-
tion for the start of the privatization of the Slovakian elec-
tricity system. The lease for the V1 plant covers the entire
remaining useful life of the asset and the period between
the end of generation and the start of the decommission-
ing process, while the lease for the Gabcikovo plant has a
30-year term as from April 2006.

The following table reports the minimum lease payments

and the related present value.

Minimum lease
payments

at Dec. 31,2010

Millions of euro Present value

2011 70 31
2012-2015 254 102
After 2015 813 432
Total 1,137 565

Minimum lease

Millions of euro payments Present value
at Dec. 31, 2011

2012 90 67

2013-2016 263 161

After 2016 750 532

Total 1,103 760

The table below summarizes capital expenditure in 2011
by category. These expenditures, totaling €6,845 million,
rose by €470 million compared with 2010.

Millions of euro

2011 2010
Power plants:
- thermal 1,272 1,818
- hydroelectric 516 381
- geothermal 113 174
- nuclear 878 661
- alternative energy resources 1,194 729
Total power plants 3,973 3,763
Electricity distribution network 2,668 2,520
Land, buildings and other assets
and equipment 204 92
TOTAL 6,845 6,375

Capital expenditure on power plants totaled €3,973 mil-
lion, an increase of €210 million on the previous year. This
mainly reflects increased investment in plants using alter-
native energy resources of the Renewable Energy Division,
in nuclear power plants by the International Division and
in hydroelectric plants of the Iberia and Latin America Di-
vision. These factors were partially offset by lower invest-
ment in conventional thermal plants.

Capital expenditure for the electricity distribution network to-

taled €2,668 million, an increase of €148 million year on year.

The “change in scope of consolidation” for the period
mainly concerned the acquisitions of the Renewable Ener-
gy Division (€496 million, essentially regarding Enel Green
Power Espafa), partially offset by the partial disposal of
Hydro Dolomiti Enel (following the change in the method
of consolidation) and the disposal of Deval.

“Other changes” include, among other items, interest on
specific loans for capital expenditure in the amount of €88
million (€29 million in 2010).

The item pertaining to remeasurement at fair value after
changes in control (€129 million), is entirely attributable
to the application of IAS 27 (Revised) to Hydro Dolomiti
Enel in the amount corresponding to the residual interest

following loss of control.

Reclassification from “Assets held for sale” essentially re-
ports the property, plant and equipment of Enel Green
Power Bulgaria after the conditions for such classification
under IFRS 5 ceased to apply.
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16. Intangible assets - €39,075 million

Changes in intangible assets for 2010 and 2011 are shown below:

Industrial
patents Concessions,
and licenses, Assets
intellectual trademarks Service under
Development  property and similar concession development
Millions of euro costs right rights arrangements  Other and advances  Goodwill Total
Cost 50 1,138 15,771 2,849 1,339 421 19,045 40,613
Accumulated amortization 15 704 432 - 742 - - 1,893
Balance at January 1, 2010 35 434 15,339 2,849 597 421 19,045 38,720
Capital expenditure 2 119 10 350 49 178 - 708
Assets entering service - 167 1 - 58 (226) - -
Exchange rate differences - 9 1,244 333 6 2 82 1,676
Change in scope of consolidation 4 - - - 1 - 41 46
Amortization - (239) (267) (241) (106) - - (853)
Impairment losses - - 1 - (7) (1) (13) (20)
Effect of SE Hydropower PPA - - 510 - - - - 510
Other changes - 24 (53) (51) 44 (23) 193 134
Reclassification to
"Assets held for sale” (28) (10) (425) - 1 - (878) (1,340)
Total changes (22) 70 1,021 391 46 (70) (575) 861
Cost 13 2,087 17,293 4,611 1,442 351 18,470 44,267
Accumulated amortization - 1,583 933 1,371 799 - - 4,686
Balance at December 31,2010
restated 13 504 16,360 3,240 643 351 18,470 39,581
Capital expenditure 4 120 27 258 17 206 - 632
Assets entering service 2 187 1 301 30 (521) - -
Exchange rate differences - (3) (377) (264) 4 (1) 21) (662)
Change in scope of consolidation - (1) 306 - 41 12 30 388
Amortization (2) (230) (320) (215) (92) - - (859)
Impairment losses - - 1 - (15) (1) (96) (111)
Other changes 4 (1) 66 (374) (77) 297 (46) (131)
Remeasurement at fair value after
changes in control - - 229 - - - - 229
Reclassification from/to “Assets held
forsale” - - 3 - - - 5 8
Total changes 8 72 (64) (294) (92) (8) (128) (506)
Cost 30 2,185 17,558 4,412 1,487 343 18,342 44,357
Accumulated amortization 9 1,609 1,262 1,466 936 - - 5,282
Balance at December 31, 2011 21 576 16,296 2,946 551 343 18,342 39,075

The "change in scope of consolidation” for the period mainly
concerned the acquisitions of the Renewable Energy Divi-
sion as well as the recognition of the concession on San Flo-
riano Energy as a result of the allocation of the price paid for

33% of the company.

The item pertaining to remeasurement at fair value after
changes in control is attributable to the application of IAS 27
(Revised) to Hydro Dolomiti Enel in the amount correspond-
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ing to the residual interest following loss of control and to
Enel Union Fenosa Renovables, Sociedad Eolica de Andalucia
and TP Térmica Portuguesa in an amount corresponding to
the interest held prior to acquiring control.

“Industrial patents and intellectual property rights” relate
mainly to costs incurred in purchasing software and open-
ended software licenses. The most important applications
relate to invoicing and customer management, the develop-

ment of Internet portals and the management of company
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systems. Amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis
over the asset's residual useful life (on average between
three and five years).

"Concessions, licenses, trademarks and similar rights” include
costs incurred by the gas companies and the foreign electric-
ity distribution companies to acquire customers. Amortiza-
tion is calculated on a straight-line basis over the average
duration of the relationships with the customers acquired or
the concessions. The item includes assets with an indefinite
useful life in the amount of €10,325 million (10,348 million

at December 31, 2010). The forecast cash flows for each of
the electricity distribution concessions in Spain and various
Latin American countries are sufficient to recover the value
of the intangible asset.

“Service concession arrangements”, recognized pursuant to
IFRIC 12, regard certain infrastructure serving electricity dis-
tribution concessions in Brazil.

“Goodwill”amounted to €18,342 million, a decrease of €128

million over the previous year.

Changein Exchange Reclassification
atDec. 31,2010 scope of rate Impairment  from “Assets  Other
Millions of euro restated consolidation differences losses  held forsale” changes at Dec. 31,2011
Net Net
Accumulated carrying Accumulated  carrying
Cost impairment amount Cost  impairment amount
Endesa 14,501 - 14,501 - - - - (242) 14,259 - 14,259
Enel OGK-5 1,242 - 1,242 - (28) - - - 1,214 - 1,214
Enel Green
Power Group 868 (2) 866 30 12 (70) 5 15 930 (72) 858
Slovenské
elektrarne 697 - 697 - - - - - 697 - 697
Enel Energia 579 - 579 - - - - - 579 - 579
Enel Distributie
Muntenia 406 - 406 - (3) - - 149 552 - 552
Enel Energie
Muntenia 89 - 89 - (1) - - 26 114 - 114
RusEnergoSbyt 44 - 44 - 1) - - - 43 - 43
Nuove Energie 26 - 26 - - - - - 26 = 26
Marcinelle
Energie 20 - 20 - - (26) - 6 26 (26) -
Artic Russia 10 (10) - - - - - - 10 (10) -
WISCO @ 7 (7) - - - - - - - - -
Total 18,489 (19) 18,470 30 (21) (96) 5 (46) 18,450 (108) 18,342

(1) Includes EGP Espanfa, Enel Latin America, Enel Panama, Inelec, EGP North America, EGP Hellas, EGP France, EGP Romania, EGP Bulgaria and EGP Portoscuso and

other smaller companies.
(2) Classified as “Assets held for sale” at December 31, 2011.

The "change in scope of consolidation” for the period main-
ly concerned the acquisitions of the Renewable Energy Divi-
sion in Spain, Italy and Romania.

“Impairment losses” are recognized following impairment

tests, as discussed below.

The reclassification from “Assets held for sale” reports the
goodwill of Enel Green Power Bulgaria after the conditions

for such classification under IFRS 5 ceased to obtain.

"Other changes” essentially comprises the change in the
valuation at period-end of the debt associated with the

acquisition of minority stakes (including Enel Distributie

Muntenia and Enel Energie Muntenia) under a number
of put options granted to minority shareholders as part
of the acquisitions of those companies. This factor was
more than offset by the adjustment of the Endesa-lberi-
an peninsula cash generating unit (CGU) to take account
of the more specific allocation of the purchase price paid

at the time.

The criteria used to identify the CGUs were essentially based
(in line with management’s strategic and operational vi-
sion) on the specific characteristics of their business, on the
operational rules and regulations of the markets in which
Enel operates and on the corporate organization, including

5
o]
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technical and management factors, as well as on the level

of reporting monitored by management.

The recoverable value of the goodwill recognized was es-

timated by calculating the value in use of the CGUs using

discounted cash flow models, which involve estimating

expected future cash flows and applying an appropriate

discount rate, selected on the basis of market inputs such

as risk-free rates, betas and market risk premiums.

Cash flows were determined on the basis of the best

information available at the time of the estimate and

drawn:

> for the explicit period, from the 10-year business plan
approved by the Board of Directors of the Parent Com-
pany containing forecasts for volumes, revenues, ope-
rating costs, capital expenditure, industrial and com-
mercial organization and developments in the main
macroeconomic variables (inflation, nominal interest
rates and exchange rates) and commodity prices;

> for subsequent years, from assumptions concerning

long-term developments in the main variables that de-

termine cash flows, the average residual useful life of

assets or the duration of the concessions.
More specifically, the terminal value was calculated as a
perpetuity or annuity with a nominal growth rate equal to
the long-term rate of growth in electricity and/or inflation
(depending on the country and business involved) and in
any case no higher than the average long-term growth rate
of the reference market. The value in use calculated as de-
scribed above was found to be greater than the amount
recognized on the balance sheet, with the exception of
the Marcinelle Energie and EGP Hellas CGUs, which are dis-
cussed below.
In order to verify the robustness of the value in use of the
CGUs, sensitivity analyses were conducted for the main
drivers of the values, in particular WACC and the long-term
growth rate, the outcomes of which fully supported that
value. The table below reports the composition of the main
goodwill values according to the company to which the
CGU belongs, along with the discount rates applied and
the time horizon over which the expected cash flows have

been discounted.

Discount rate Explicit period Terminal
Millions of euro Amount  Growth rate ") pre-tax WACC @ of cash flows value ©

at Dec. 31,

2011
Endesa — Iberian peninsula @ 10,999 2.1% 7.5% 10 years Perpetuity
Endesa — Latin America 3,260 4.0% (1.2%) © 9.4% 10 years Perpetuity
Enel OGK-5 1,214 1.2% 13.0% 10 years Perpetuity
Slovenské elektrarne 697 1.2% 9.1% 10 years Perpetuity
Enel Romania © 666 2.8% 9.8% 10 years Perpetuity
Enel Energia 579 0.8% 10.6% 10 years 10 years
EGP Espana 406 2.0% 8.3% 5 years 16 years
EGP North America 123 2.1% 7.8% 5 years 21 years
EGP Latin America 266 3.5% 9.2% 5 years 30 years

RusEnergoSbyt 43 1.2% 15.6% 12 years

Nuove Energie 26 0.8% 9.8% 10 years 19 years
EGP France 25 2.0% 7.9% 5 years 20 years
EGP Portoscuso and other minor companies 20 2.0% 10.9% 10 years 16 years
EGP Romania 13 2.9% 11.1% 5 years 20 years
EGP Bulgaria 5 2.5% 9.2% 10 years 14 years

(1) Perpetual growth rate of cash flows after explicit period.

(2) Pre-tax WACC calculated using the iterative method: the discount rate that ensures that the value in use calculated with pre-tax cash flows is equal to that calcu-

lated with post-tax cash flows discounted with the post-tax WACC.
(
(4) Goodwill includes the portion referring to Enel Green Power Espafia.
(
(

6) Includes all companies operating in Romania.
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3) The terminal value has been estimated on the basis of a perpetuity or an annuity with a rising yield for the years indicated in the column.

5) Growth rate equal to 4.0% for the first 10 years after the explicit period, followed by a perpetuity at a growth rate of 1.2%.
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The following table reports the criteria used to determine the value of use of CGUs with impairment losses:

Discount rate Explicit period
Millions of euro Amount  Growthrate™ pre-tax WACC®? of cash flows Terminal value @

At Dec. 31, 2011

Enel Green Power Hellas 70 2.2% 15.8% 10 years 26 years

Marcinelle Energie 26 1.4% 10.3% 25 years -

(1) Perpetual growth rate of cash flows after explicit period.

(2) Pre-tax WACC calculated using the iterative method: the discount rate that ensures that the value in use calculated with pre-tax cash flows is equal to that calcu-
lated with post-tax cash flows discounted with the post-tax WACC.

(3) The terminal value has been estimated on the basis of an annuity with a rising yield for the years indicated in the column.

The goodwill attributed to the Marcinelle CGU is that gen-  cline in the future profitability of the business.

erated by the acquisition of the interest in Marcinelle En- At December 31, 2011, the goodwill regarding the EGP
ergie SA, which operates the CCGT plant in Belgium. Dur-  Hellas CGU was also written off. The impairment, equal to
ing impairment testing of goodwill at December 31,2011, €70 million, is attributable to the increase in the country
management wrote down the goodwill attributed to the  risk factored into the discount rate.

CGU in the amount of €26 million owing to a possible de-
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17. Deferred tax assets and liabilities - €6,01 1 million and €11,505

million

The following table details changes in deferred tax assets

and liabilities by type of timing difference and calculated

tions. The table also reports the amount of deferred tax

assets that, where allowed, can be offset against deferred

based on the tax rates established by applicable regula-  tax liabilities.
Increase/
(Decrease) Reclassification
taken to Change in Exchange from/to
income scope of Other rate  "Assets held
Millions of euro statement consolidation changes differences for sale”
at Dec. 31,
2010 at Dec. 31,
restated 2011
Deferred tax assets:
- differences in the value of intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment 1,154 (82) - 107 2 - 1,181
- accruals to provisions for risks and charges
and impairment losses with deferred
deductibility 2,718 (187) - (158) (7) 2,366
- tax loss carried forward 133 (15) 4 (44) (3) 75
- measurement of financial instruments 415 9 - 240 (5) 659
- other items 1,597 261 - (114) (16) 2 1,730
Total 6,017 (14) 4 31 (29) 2 6,011
Deferred tax liabilities:
- differences on non-current and financial
assets 9,247 (33) - (56) (33) 9,125
- income subject to deferred taxation 29 (1) - - - - 28
- measurement of financial instruments 216 37 - 93 - - 346
- other items 1,844 270 (10) (5) (97) 2,006
Total 11,336 273 (10) 32 (130) 11,505
Non-offsettable deferred tax assets 865
Non-offsettable deferred tax liabilities 4,018
Excess net deferred tax liabilities after any offsetting 2,341

As of December 31, 2011, “deferred tax assets” totaled
€6,011 million, (€6,017 million at December 31, 2010).

It should also be noted that no deferred tax assets were
recorded in relation to prior tax losses in the amount of
€1,138 million because, on the basis of current estimates
of future taxable income, it is not certain that such assets
will be recovered. More specifically, the losses are essen-
tially attributable to the holding companies located in the
Netherlands (€697 million).

"Deferred tax liabilities”, which totaled €11,505 million

at December 31, 2011, (€11,336 million at December 31,

2010), essentially include the determination of the tax ef-
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fects of the value adjustments to net assets acquired as
part of the final allocation of the cost of acquisitions made
in the various years and the deferred taxation in respect
of the differences between depreciation charged for tax
purposes, including accelerated depreciation, and depre-
ciation based on the estimated useful lives of assets.

The amendment of the rules governing the “Robin Hood
Tax" (Article 7 of Decree Law 138/2011 ratified with Law
148/2011), which extended the scope of the tax and in-
creased the rate from 6.5% to 10.5% for the 2011-2013
tax period, produced a positive impact on net deferred tax
assets recognized in profit or loss in 2011 in the amount
of €163 million.
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18. Equity investments accounted for using the equity method -

€1 085 million

Investments in associated companies accounted for using the equity method are as follows:

Change in
scope of Other
Millions of euro % holding consolidation Income effect changes % holding
at Dec. 31,2010
restated at Dec. 31, 2011

SeverEnergia 300 19.6% - (3) (8) 289 19.6%
Enel Rete Gas 149 19.9% - 7 (25) 131 19.9%
Elica 2 166 30.0% - - 2 168 30.0%
LaGeo 87 36.2% - 18 (14) 91 36.2%
Endesa Gas T&D

(formerly Nubia 2000) 30 20.0% - (3) 2 29 20.0%
Elcogas - 45.2% - 6 (4) 2 45.3%
Tecnatom 22 45.0% - 3 - 25 45.0%
CESI 15 25.9% 9 5 - 29 41.9%
Other 264 (5) 63 (1) 321

Total 1,033 4 96 (48) 1,085

The holdings in SeverEnergia and Enel Rete Gas are account-

ed for using the equity method in view of the governance

mechanisms of those companies, which give Enel a signifi-

cant influence over company operations. In addition, Enel

Distribuzione has a call option for 80% of Enel Rete Gas that

will vest, subject to certain conditions, as from 2014 (the year

in which the 5-year lock-up period applicable to both Enel

Distribuzione and F2i Reti Italia expires) until 2018.

The main income statement and balance sheet data for the

principal equity investments in associates are reported in

the following table.

Non-current Current Non-current Current Net income/

Millions of euro assets assets liabilities liabilities Revenues (loss)
at Dec. 31, 2011

SeverEnergia 2,483 113 360 784 - (13)
Enel Rete Gas 2,369 270 1,568 219 501 12
Elica 2 12 5 - 2 - -
LaGeo 258 66 6 22 118 51
Endesa Gas T&D
(formerly Nubia 2000) 1,128 96 963 113 111 (16)
Elcogas 120 103 7 214 148 5
Tecnatom 57 61 33 29 102 5
CESI 47 82 17 45 59 9
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Non-current Current Non-current Current Net income/
Millions of euro assets assets liabilities liabilities Revenues (loss)
at Dec. 31,2010
SeverEnergia 2,314 131 378 569 - 25
Enel Rete Gas 1,830 256 1,095 255 397 19
Elica 2 10 3 - 2 - -
LaGeo 249 65 5 21 96 34
Endesa Gas T&D
(formerly Nubia 2000) 919 122 372 459 5 4
Elcogas 132 179 3 303 73 (47)
Tecnatom 56 44 26 26 82 5
CESI 45 74 18 42 82 10
19. Non-current financial assets - €6,325 million
Millions of euro
at Dec. 31,
at Dec. 31, 2011 2010 restated Change
Equity investments in other companies 993 1,036 (43)
Receivables and securities included in net financial debt (see note 26.3) 3,576 2,567 1,009
Derivative contracts 1,387 821 566
Service concession arrangements 317 195 122
Prepaid non-current financial expense 52 82 (30)
Total 6,325 4,701 1,624

"Equity investments in other companies” includes in-
vestments measured at fair value in the amount of €817
million, while the remainder of €176 million regarded
investments whose fair value could not be readily deter-
mined and, in the absence of plans to sell the holdings,
were therefore recognized at cost less impairment losses.
In particular, the fair value of listed companies was deter-
mined with reference to the market value of their shares

at the end of the period, whereas the fair value of unlisted
companies was determined on the basis of what is felt to
be a reliable valuation of their significant balance sheet
items.

The following table breaks down the item discussed above
on the basis of the hierarchy of inputs used in determining

fair value, as specified in the amendments to IFRS 7.

Millions of euro Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
at Dec. 31,
2011

Equity investments in other companies 817 791 19 7
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The following table shows changes in equity investments measured using Level 3 inputs:

Millions of euro

Balance at January 1, 2010 8
Net income / loss in income statement -
Other changes (1)
Balance at December 31, 2010 7

Equity investments in other companies break down as follows:

Millions of euro % holding % holding

at Dec. 31,2011 at Dec. 31, 2010 restated Change
Bayan Resources 511 10.00% 500 10.00% 1
Terna 266 5.12% 325 5.12% (59)
Echelon 11 7.36% 23 7.36% (12)
Other 205 188 - 17
Total 993 1,036 (43)

For more information on “receivables and securities included ~ “Service concession arrangements” regard fees due from the

in net financial debt”, please see note 26.3. grantor for the construction and/or improvement of infra-
structure used to provide public services on a concession basis

For more information on derivatives classified under non-current  and recognized in application of IFRIC 12.

assets, please see note 6.1.

199



20. Other non-current assets - €506 million

Millions of euro

at Dec. 31,2010

at Dec. 31,2011 restated Change
Receivables due from Electricity Equalization Fund and
similar bodies 85 142 (57)
Net assets of employee benefit programs 97 112 (15)
Other receivables 324 808 (484)
Total 506 1,062 (556)

“Receivables due from Electricity Equalization Fund and
similar bodies” include at December 31, 2011 only the
receivable in respect of the Electricity Equalization Fund
claimed by the Italian distribution companies.

“Net assets of employee benefit programs” reports assets
backing a number of employee benefit plans for Endesa
employees, net of actuarial liabilities.

In 2010, "other receivables” included receivables for the

271. Inventories - €3, 148 million

Millions of euro

extraordinary costs incurred for the early replacement of
electromechanical meters with digital meters. The receiva-
bles were reclassified to “non-current financial assets” in
compliance with the provisions of Authority Resolution
ARG/elt 199/11 of December 29, 2011, which establishes
a new reimbursement mechanism for extraordinary costs
(see note 26.3).

at Dec. 31,

at Dec. 31, 2011 2010 restated Change
Raw materials, consumables and supplies:
- fuel 2,024 1,847 177
- materials, equipment and other inventories 1,032 844 188
Total 3,056 2,691 365
Buildings available for sale 82 87 (5)
Advances 10 25 (15)
TOTAL 3,148 2,803 345

Raw materials, consumables and supplies consist of fuel
inventories to cover the requirements of the generation
companies and trading activities, as well as materials and
equipment for plant operation, maintenance and con-
struction. They also include CO, emissions allowances to-
taling €293 million at December 31,2011 (€314 million at
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December 31, 2010).

The buildings available for sale are related to remaining
units from the Group's real estate portfolio and are pri-
marily civil buildings. The decrease is essentially related to

sales made during the period.

Consolidated financial statements



22 . Trade receivables - €11,570 million

Millions of euro

at Dec. 31,2010

at Dec. 31,2011 restated Change
Customers:
- sale and transport of electricity 8,756 10,343 (1,587)
- distribution and sale of natural gas 1,353 1,788 (435)
- other activities 1,353 264 1,089
Total 11,462 12,395 (933)
Trade receivables due from associates 61 45 16
Receivables for contract work in progress 47 65 (18)
TOTAL 11,570 12,505 (935)

Trade receivables from customers are recognized net of ing balance of €1,349 million. The table below shows the
allowances for doubtful accounts, which totaled €1,661 changes in these allowances.

million at the end of the year, as compared with an open-

Millions of euro

Total at January 1,2010 934
Accruals 717
Utilization (214)
Other changes (88)
Total at December 31, 2010 restated 1,349
Accruals 519
Utilization (449)
Other changes 242
Total at December 31,2011 1,661

Trade receivables that had not been written down at December 31 2011, break down by maturity as follows:

Millions of euro

Not past due 7,020
Past due:

- from 0 to 6 months 2,618
- from 6 to 12 months 601
- from 12 to 24 months 559
- more than 24 months 772
Total at December 31,2011 11,570
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23. Tax receivables - €1,251 million

Tax receivables at December 31,2011 totaled €1,251 mil-
lion and are essentially related to income tax credits in
the amount of €512 million (€819 million at December
31,2010), credits for indirect taxes in the amount of €406

million (€446 million at December 31, 2010), and receiv-
ables for other taxes and tax surcharges in the amount of
€225 million (€211 million at December 31, 2010).

24 Current financial assets - € 10,466 million

Millions of euro

at Dec. 31, at Dec. 31,2010
2011 restated Change
Current financial assets included in net financial position (see note 26.4) 7,954 10,993 (3,039)
Derivative contracts 2,420 845 1,575
Other 92 84 8
Total 10,466 11,922 (1.456)

For more information on “current financial assets included

in net financial position”, please see note 26.4.

For more information on “derivative contracts”, please see
note 6.2.

25. Other current assets - €2, 135 million

Millions of euro

at Dec. 31, at Dec. 31,2010
2011 restated Change
Receivables due from Electricity Equalization Fund and similar bodies 959 630 329
Receivable due from employees 41 41 -
Receivables due from others 985 1,289 (304)
Accrued operating income and prepaid expenses 150 216 (66)
Total 2,135 2,176 (41)

“Receivables due from Electricity Equalization Fund and
similar bodies” include receivables in respect of the Italian
system in the amount of €833 million (€479 million at De-
cember 31, 2010), and the Spanish system in the amount
of €126 million (€151 million at December 31, 2010). In-
cluding the portion of receivables classified as long-term
(€85 million), operating receivables due from the Electric-
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ity Equalization Fund and similar bodies at December 31,
2011 amounted to €1,044 million (€772 million at Decem-
ber 31,2010), offset by payables of €2,782 million (€2,519
million at December 31, 2010). The increase in the item
compared with the previous year is attributable to a rise
in receivables associated with equalization mechanisms in

respect of electricity purchases.
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26. Net financial position and long-term financial receivables and
securities - €44,629 million

The following table reports the net financial position and long-term financial receivables and securities on the basis of
the items on the consolidated balance sheet.

Millions of euro

at Dec. 31,2010

Notes at Dec. 31,2011 restated Change
Long-term loans 26.1 48,703 52,440 (3,737)
Short-term loans 26.2 4,799 8,209 (3,410)
Current portion of long-term loans 26.2 9,672 2,999 6,673
Non-current financial assets 26.3 (3,576) (2,567) (1,009)
Current financial assets 26.4 (7,954) (10,993) 3,039
Cash and cash equivalents 26.5 (7,015) (5,164) (1,851)
Total 44,629 44,924 (295)

Pursuant to the CONSOB instructions of July 28, 2006, with net financial debt as provided for in the presenta-
the following table reports the net financial position at  tion methods of the Enel Group.
December 31, 2011, and December 31, 2010, reconciled

Millions of euro

at Dec. 31,2010

at Dec. 31, 2011 restated Change
Cash and cash equivalents on hand 1,068 6 1,062
Bank and post office deposits 5,947 5,158 789
Securities 52 95 (43)
Liquidity 7,067 5,259 1,808
Short-term financial receivables 1,900 1,289 611
Factoring receivables 370 319 51
Short-term portion of long-term financial receivables 5,632 9,290 (3,658)
Current financial receivables 7,902 10,898 (2,996)
Short-term bank debt (888) (281) (607)
Commercial paper (3,204) (7,405) 4,201
Short-term portion of long-term bank debt (6,894) (949) (5,945)
Bonds (short-term portion) (2,473) (1,854) (619)
Other loans (short-term portion) (305) (196) (109)
Other short-term financial payables (707) (523) (184)
Total short-term financial debt (14,471) (11,208) (3,263)
Net short-term financial position 498 4,949 (4,451)
Debt to banks and financing entities (9,918) (15,584) 5,666
Bonds (37,461) (34,401) (3,060)
Preference shares (180) (1,474) 1,294
Other loans (1,144) (981) (163)
Long-term financial position (48,703) (52,440) 3,737
NET FINANCIAL POSITION as per CONSOB communication (48,205) (47,491) (714)
Long-term financial receivables and securities 3,576 2,567 1,009
NET FINANCIAL DEBT (44,629) (44,924) 295

There are no transactions with related parties for these items.



26.1 Long-term loans (including the portion falling due within 12
months) - €58 375 million

The aggregate includes long-term liabilities in respect of = The following table shows long-term debt and repayment
bonds, bank loans and other loans in euro and other cur-  schedules at December 31, 2011, grouped by loan and in-

rencies, including the portion falling due within twelve terest rate type.

months.
Portion
falling
due at
more
Nominal Current  than 12
Millions of euro Maturing Balance value Balance  portion  months Maturing in
at Dec. 31,
at Dec. 31,2011 2010 2013 2014 2015 2016 Beyond
Bonds:
- listed, fixed rate 2012 - 2097 25,042 25,251 21,224 1,168 23,874 1,863 462 2,724 3,689 15,136
- unlisted, floating rate 2012 - 2031 6,521 6,559 6,690 1,067 5,454 88 1,251 1,472 1,182 1,461
- unlisted, fixed rate 2012-2039 6,606 6,613 6,426 180 6,426 772 1,051 - 120 4,483
- unlisted, floating rate 2012 - 2032 1,765 1,765 1,915 58 1,707 59 61 63 64 1,460
Total 39,934 40,188 36,255 2,473 37,461 2,782 2,825 4,259 5,055 22,540
Bank loans:
- fixed rate 2012 - 2046 900 911 735 93 807 45 39 42 62 619
- floating rate 2012-2035 10,514 10,562 13,962 3,128 7,386 641 2,158 657 1,178 2,752
- use of revolving
credit lines 2012-2016 5,398 5,398 1,836 3,673 1,725 50 500 1,000 175 -
Total 16,812 16,871 16,533 6,894 9,918 736 2,697 1,699 1415 3,371
Preference shares: ")
- floating rate 2013 180 181 1,474 - 180 180 - - - -
Total 180 181 1,474 - 180 180 - - - -
Non-bank loans:
- fixed rate 2012-2035 931 931 773 178 753 83 87 62 63 458
- floating rate 2012-2029 518 518 404 127 391 85 64 41 41 160
Total 1,449 1,449 1,177 305 1,144 168 151 103 104 618
TOTAL 58,375 58,689 55,439 9,672 48,703 3,866 5,673 6,061 6,574 26,529

(1) The preference shares issued by Endesa Capital Finance LLC are perpetual, with an option for early redemption at par as from 2013.

The balance for bonds is stated net of €520 million rela-  Company holds in portfolio, while Enel.Re holds bonds is-
ting to the unlisted floating-rate “Special series of bonds  sued by Enel SpA totaling €30 million.
reserved for employees 1994-2019", which the Parent
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The table below reports long-term financial debt by currency and interest rate.

Long-term financial debt by currency and interest rate

Millions of euro

Balance

Current
effective
interest rate

Current average

Nominal value Balance interest rate

at Dec. 31, 2011

at Dec. 31,2010 at Dec. 31, 2011

Euro 40,608 40,824 38,699 3.50% 3.50%
US dollar 8,795 8,822 8,444 5.86% 5.96%
Pound sterling 4,483 4,536 4,350 5.83% 5.87%
Colombian peso 1,299 1,299 1,156 8.70% 8.70%
Brazilian real 1,090 1,093 1,073 11.13% 11.13%
Chilean peso/UF 712 728 765 9.29% 12.73%
Peruvian sol 356 356 366 6.47% 6.47%
Russian ruble 335 335 220 7.50% 7.74%
Japanese yen 314 314 184 2.43% 2.46%
Other currencies 383 382 182

Total non-euro currencies 17,767 17,865 16,740

TOTAL 58,375 58,689 55,439

Long-term financial debt denominated in currencies other
than the euro increased by €1,027 million. The change is
largely attributable to new borrowing in currencies oth-
er than the euro and the general weakening of the euro

against the other main currencies. However, that change

is essentially figurative as it was generated by debt de-
nominated in currencies other than the euro (hedged by
corresponding cross currency interest rate swaps) and the
debt of Group companies whose functional currency is

not the euro.

Change in the nominal value of long-term debt

Change in
Change in own scope of Exchange rate
Millions of euro Nominal value ~ Repayments bonds consolidation New financing differences Nominal value
at Dec. 31,2010 at Dec. 31, 2011
Bonds 36,512 (1,808) (84) - 5,224 344 40,188
Bank loans 16,650 (4,763) 200 4,795 (11) 16,871
Preference shares 1,500 (1,319) - - - 181
Other loans 1,177 (202) 19 467 (12) 1,449
Total financial debt 55,839 (8,092) (84) 219 10,486 321 58,689

Compared with December 31, 2010, the nominal value
of long-term debt at December 31, 2011 increased by
€2,850 million, which is the net effect of €8,092 million
in repayments, repurchases of €84 million of own bonds,
€219 million arising from changes in the scope of consoli-
dation, €10,486 million in new loans, and €321 million in
exchange rate differences.
Repayments for the period concerned:
> bonds totaling €1,808 million, including:

- €750 million in respect of a fixed-rate bond issued by

Enel SpA maturing in May 2011;
- €300 million in respect of a floating-rate bond issued

by Endesa Capital maturing in November 2011;

- €195 million in respect of a fixed-rate bond issued by
Slovenské elektrdrne maturing in June 2011;

- €120 million in respect of a fixed-rate bond issued by
Enel OGK-5 maturing in September 2011;

- €105 million in respect of a fixed-rate bond issued by
Endesa Internacional BV maturing in February 2011;

> bank loans amounting to €4,763 million, of which:

- €3,000 million in voluntary repayments of the 2007
and 2009 Credit Facilities, of which €1,484 million in re-
spect of the tranche falling due in 2012, €1,042 million
in respect of the tranche falling due in 2014 and €474
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million in respect of the tranche falling due in 2016;

- €700 million in early voluntary repayments of floa-
ting-rate bank loans of Endesa following collections
on the rate deficit;

- €426 million in respect of floating-rate bank loans of
Endesa;

- €637 million in respect of other bank loans of Group
companies falling due in 2011;

> preference shares issued by Endesa Capital Finance,
repaid voluntarily thanks in part to collection of part
of the receivables in respect of the Spanish rate deficit
with a nominal value of €1,319 million;

> other loans totaling €202 million.

The change in the scope of consolidation mainly includes
the long-term bank loans of Enel Unién Fenosa Renova-
bles with a nominal value of €221 million.

The main financing operations carried outin 2011 include:
> inJanuary 2011, a bond in Colombian pesos issued by
Emgesa for a total of €290 million;
> in March and June 2011, the issue, under the Global
Medium-Term Notes program, of bonds by Enel Finan-
ce International in the form of private placements and
public placements (for those denominated in Swiss
francs), with the following characteristics:
- €150 million fixed-rate 5.6% maturing in 2031;
- €50 million fixed-rate 5.65% maturing in 2030;
- 150 million Swiss francs fixed-rate 2% maturing in
2015;
- 100 million Swiss francs fixed-rate 3% maturing in
2020;
- 11,500 million yen fixed-rate 1% maturing in 2018;
> in June and October 2011, bonds in Brazilian reais by
Ampla and Coelce totaling €311 million;
> onJuly 12,2011, the issue, under the Global Medium-
Term Notes program, of a bond by Enel Finance Inter-
national for institutional investors totaling €1,750 mil-
lion, structured into the following two tranches:
- €1,000 million fixed-rate 4.125% maturing July 12,
2017;
- €750 million fixed-rate 5% maturing July 12, 2021;
> on October 24, 2011, the issue, under the Global Me-
dium-Term Notes program, of a bond by Enel Finance
International for institutional investors totaling €2,250
million, structured into the following two tranches:
- €1,250 million fixed-rate 4.625% maturing June 24,
2015;
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- €1,000 million fixed-rate 5.750% maturing October
24,2018;

> on October 26,2011, the drawing by Enel Green Power
International on a credit facility granted by the Danish
government’s Export Credit Agency in the amount of
€112 million;

> anincrease in drawings by Enel SpA on bilateral credit
facilities in the amount of €2,000 million;

> an increase in drawings by Slovenské elektrarne on
committed revolving credit facilities in the amount of
€440 million;

> the drawing by Enel Distribuzione on a facility granted
by the European Investment Bank (EIB) in the amount
of €350 million;

> the drawing by Enel Distribuzione on a facility gran-
ted by Cassa Depositi e Prestiti with EIB funds in the
amount of €200 million;

> the drawing on finance leases obtained by the Renew-
able Energy Division totaling €138 million;

> anincrease in drawings by Enel OGK-5 on revolving cre-
dit facilities in the amount of €120 million;

> the issue of a bond denominated in rubles by Enel
OGK-5 in the amount of €120 million.

In addition, the 5-year €10 billion syndicated credit facility

was drawn by Enel Finance International in the amount of

€1,000 million.

The main financing contracts finalized in 2011 included:

> onJune 30, 2011, Slovenské elektrarne obtained a bila-
teral credit line of €165 million, maturing in December
2017;

> on November 23,2011, the Global Medium-Term Notes
program was increased from €25 billion to €30 billion,
with Enel SpA and Enel Finance International as issuers
and Enel SpA as guarantor;

> during 2011, the renegotiation and signing of revol-
ving credit lines totalling €3,242 million;

> onDecember 21,2011, Enel Green Power, acting throu-
gh "ENROP" (Eolicas de Portugal SA), agreed a project
financing initiative with the EIB in the amount of €260
million to build wind farms.

The following table compares the carrying amount and the

fair value of long-term debt, including the portion falling

due within twelve months, broken down by category. For

listed debt instruments, the fair value is given by official

prices. For unlisted instruments the fair value is determined

using appropriate valuation models for each category of

financial instrument and market data at the closing date of

the year, including the associated credit spreads.
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Millions of euro Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value
at Dec. 31, 2011 at Dec. 31,2010

Bonds:

- fixed rate 31,648 30,701 27,650 29,291

- floating rate 8,286 7,874 8,605 8,789

Total 39,934 38,575 36,255 38,080

Bank loans:

- fixed rate 900 851 735 728

- floating rate 15,912 13,332 15,798 15,968

Total 16,812 14,183 16,533 16,696

Preference shares:

- floating rate 180 181 1,474 1,500

Total 180 181 1,474 1,500

Non-bank loans:

- fixed rate 931 957 773 792

- floating rate 518 560 404 405

Total 1,449 1,517 1,177 1,197

TOTAL 58,375 54,456 55,439 57,473

The following tables show the changes in long-term

loans for the period, distinguishing current amounts from

amounts falling due at more than twelve months.

207



Long-term loans (excluding current portions)

Millions of euro

Carrying amount

at Dec. 31, 2011 at Dec. 31,2010 Change
Bonds:
- fixed rate 30,300 26,459 3,841
- floating rate 7,161 7,942 (781)
Total 37,461 34,401 3,060
Bank loans:
- fixed rate 807 702 105
- floating rate 9,111 14,882 (5,771)
Total 9,918 15,584 (5,666)
Preference shares:
- floating rate 180 1,474 (1,294)
Total 180 1,474 (1,294)
Non-bank loans:
- fixed rate 753 699 54
- floating rate 391 282 109
Total 1,144 981 163
TOTAL 48,703 52,440 (3,737)
Current portions of long-term loans
Millions of euro Carrying amount

at Dec. 31, 2011 at Dec. 31,2010 Change
Bonds:
- fixed rate 1,348 1,191 157
- floating rate 1,125 663 462
Total 2,473 1,854 619
Bank loans:
- fixed rate 93 33 60
- floating rate 6,801 916 5,885
Total 6,894 949 5,945
Non-bank loans:
- fixed rate 178 74 104
- floating rate 127 122 5
Total 305 196 109
TOTAL 9,672 2,999 6,673

The Group's main long-term financial debts are governed
by covenants containing undertakings by the borrow-
ers (Enel, Endesa and the other Group companies) and
in some cases the Parent Company as guarantor that are
commonly adopted in international business practice.
The main covenants regard the bond issues carried out
within the framework of the Global Medium-Term Notes
program, loans granted by the EIB and Cassa Depositi e
Prestiti, the Credit Agreement 2007, the Credit Agreement
2009 and the €10 billion revolving line of credit agreed
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in April 2010. To date none of the covenants have been

triggered.

The commitments in respect of the bond issues in the Global

Medium-Term Notes program can be summarized as follows:

> negative pledge clauses under which the issuer may not
establish or maintain (except under statutory require-
ment) mortgages, liens or other encumbrances on all
or part of its assets to secure any listed bond or bond
for which listing is planned unless the same guarantee

is extended equally or pro rata to the bonds in question;
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> pari passu clauses, under which the securities consti-> contract termination clauses, under which the occur-

tute a direct, unconditional and unsecured obliga-
tion of the issuer and are issued without preferential
rights among them and have at least the same senio-
rity as other present and future bonds of the issuer
itself;

> specification of default events, whose occurrence (e.g.
insolvency, failure to pay principal or interest, initiation
of liquidation proceedings, etc.) constitutes a default;
under cross-default clauses, the occurrence of a de-
fault event in respect of any financial liability (above
a threshold level) issued by the issuer or “significant”
subsidiaries (i.e. consolidated companies whose gross
revenues or total assets are at least 10% of gross conso-
lidated revenues or total consolidated assets) constitu-
tes a defaultin respect of the liability in question, which
becomes immediately repayable;

> early redemption clauses in the event of new tax requi-
rements, which permit early redemption at par of all

outstanding bonds.

The main covenants governing the loans granted to a

number of Group companies by the EIB can be summa-

rized as follows:

> negative pledge clauses, under which Enel underta-
kes not to establish or grant to third parties additional
guarantees or privileges with respect to those already
established in the individual contracts by the Company
or other subsidiaries of the Group, unless an equivalent
guarantee is extended equally or pro rata to the loans
in question;

> clauses that require the guarantor (whether Enel SpA
or banks acceptable to the EIB) to maintain its rating
above a specified grade; in the case of guarantees pro-
vided by Enel SpA, the Group's equity may not fall be-
low a specified level;

> material changes clauses, under which the occurren-
ce of a specified event (mergers, spin-offs, disposal or
transfer of business units, changes in company control
structure, etc.) gives rise to the consequent adjustment
of the contract, without which the loan shall become
repayable immediately without payment of any com-
mission;

> requirements to report periodically to the EIB;

> requirement for insurance coverage and maintenance
of property, possession and use of the works, plant and
machinery financed by the loan over the entire term of

the agreement;

rence of a specified event (serious inaccuracies in do-
cumentation presented in support of the contract,
failure to repay at maturity, suspension of payments,
insolvency, special administration, disposal of assets to
creditors, dissolution, liquidation, total or partial dispo-
sal of assets, declaration of bankruptcy or composition
with creditors or receivership, substantial decrease in

equity, etc.) triggers immediate repayment.

In 2009 Cassa Depositi e Prestiti granted a loan to Enel

Distribuzione that was amended in 2011. The main cov-

enants governing the loan and the guarantee issued by

the Parent Company can be summarized as follows:

> atermination and acceleration clause, under which the
occurrence of a specified event (such as failure to pay
principal or interest installments, breach of contract
obligations or occurrence of a substantive prejudicial
event, etc.) entitles Cassa Depositi e Prestiti to termina-
te the loan;

> a clause forbidding Enel or its significant subsidiaries
(defined in the contract and the guarantee as subsidia-
ries pursuant to Article 2359 of the Civil Code or conso-
lidated companies whose turnover or total gross assets
are at least 10% of consolidated turnover or consoli-
dated gross assets) from establishing additional liens,
guarantees or other encumbrances except for those ex-
pressly permitted unless Cassa Depositi e Prestiti gives
it prior consent;

> clauses requiring Enel to report to Cassa Depositi e Pre-
stiti both periodically and upon the occurrence of spe-
cified events (such as a change in Enel’s credit rating,
or breach in an amount above a specified threshold in
respect of any financial debt contracted by Enel, Enel
Distribuzione or any of their significant subsidiaries).
Violation of such obligation entitles Cassa Depositi e
Prestiti to exercise an acceleration clause;

> a gearing clause, under which, at the end of each me-
asurement period (half yearly), Enel’s consolidated net
financial debt shall not exceed 4.5 times annual conso-
lidated EBITDA.

The main covenants for the Credit Agreement 2007, the
Credit Agreement 2009 and the €10 billion revolving line
of credit are substantially similar and can be summarized
as follows:

> negative pledge clauses under which the borrower (and

its significant subsidiaries) may not establish or maintain
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(with the exception of permitted guarantees) mortga-
ges, liens or other encumbrances on all or part of its as-
sets to secure any present or future financial liability;

> pari passu clauses, under which the payment underta-
kings constitute a direct, unconditional and unsecured
obligation of the borrower and bear no preferential
rights among them and have at least the same seniority
as other present and future loans;

> change of control clause, which is triggered in the event
(i) control of Enel is acquired by one or more parties
other than the Italian state or (ii) Enel or any of its subsi-
diaries transfer a substantial portion of the Group's as-
sets to parties outside the Group such that the financial
reliability of the Group is significantly compromised.
The occurrence of one of the two circumstances may
give rise to
- the renegotiation of the terms and conditions of the

financing;
- compulsory early repayment of the financing by the
borrower;

> specification of default events, whose occurrence (e.g.
failure to make payment, breach of contract, false sta-
tements, insolvency or declaration of insolvency by the
borrower or its significant subsidiaries, business closu-
re, government intervention or nationalization, admi-
nistrative proceeding with potential negative impact,
illegal conduct, nationalization and government expro-
priation or compulsory acquisition of the borrower or
one of its significant subsidiaries) constitutes a default.
Unless remedied within a specified period of time, such
default will trigger an obligation to make immediate
repayment of the loan under an acceleration clause;

> cross-default clauses, under which the occurrence of a
default event in respect of any financial liability (above
a threshold level) of the issuer or “significant” subsidia-
ries, i.e. consolidated companies whose gross revenues
or total assets are at least equal to a specified percenta-
ge (10% of gross consolidated revenues or total consoli-
dated assets) constitutes a default in respect of the liabi-
lities in question, which become immediately repayable;

> periodic reporting requirements.

The Credit Agreement 2007 and the Credit Agreement

2009 also provide for the following covenants:

> mandatory early repayment clauses, under which the
occurrence of a specified event (e.g. the issue of instru-
ments on the capital market, new bank loans, stock is-
sues or asset disposals) obliges the borrower to repay
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the related funds in advance at specific declining per-
centages based on the extent to which the line of credit
has been drawn;

> a gearing clause, under which, at the end of each me-
asurement period (half yearly), the Enel Group's net
financial debt shall not exceed 6 times annual conso-
lidated EBITDA;

> a “subsidiary financial indebtedness” clause, under
which the net aggregate amount of the financial debt
of Enel’s subsidiaries (with the exception of the debt of
"permitted subsidiaries”) must not exceed 20% of total
gross consolidated assets.

For the Credit Agreement 2009 only, as from 2012, at the

end of each measurement period (half yearly), the gearing

clause requires:
(i) that the Enel Group's net financial debt shall not ex-

ceed 4.5 times annual consolidated EBITDA;

(i) that the ratio of annual consolidated EBITDA to net

consolidated interest expense shall not be less than 4.

The undertakings in respect of the bond issues carried out

by Endesa Capital under the Global Medium-Term Notes

program can be summarized as follows:

> cross-default clauses, under which debt repayment
would be accelerated in the case of failure to make
payment (above specified amounts) on any financial
liability of Endesa or Endesa Capital that is listed or
could be listed on a regulated market;

> negative pledge clauses, under which the issuer may
not establish mortgages, liens or other encumbrances
on all or part of its assets to secure any financial liability
that is listed or could be listed on a regulated market,
unless an equivalent guarantee is extended equally or
pro rata to the bonds in question;

> pari passu clauses, under which the securities and gua-
rantees have at least the same seniority as all other pre-
sent and future unsecured and unsubordinated securi-
ties issued by Endesa Capital or Endesa.

Finally, the loans granted to Endesa, International Endesa

BV and Endesa Capital do not contain cross-default claus-

es regarding the debt of subsidiaries in Latin America.

Undertakings in respect of project financing granted to
subsidiaries regarding renewables and other subsidiaries
in Latin America contain covenants commonly adopted
in international business practice. The main commitments
regard clauses pledging all the assets assigned to the pro-

jects in favor of the creditors.
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A residual portion of the debt of Enersis and Endesa Chile
(both controlled indirectly by Endesa) is subject to cross-de-
fault clauses under which the occurrence of a default event
(failure to make payment or breach of other obligations) in
respect of any financial liability of a subsidiary of Enersis or
Endesa Chile constitutes a default in respect of the liability

in question, which becomes immediately repayable.

In addition, many of these agreements also contain cross-
acceleration clauses that are triggered by specific circum-
stances, certain government actions, insolvency or judicial
expropriation of assets.

In addition to the foregoing, a number of loans provide
for early repayment in the case of a change of control over
Endesa or the subsidiaries.

26.2 Short-term loans - €4, 799 million

At December 31, 2011 short-term loans amounted to €4,799 million, a decrease of €3,410 million compared with De-

cember 31, 2010. They break down as follows.

Carrying Carrying Carrying
Millions of euro amount Fair value amount Fair value amount Fair value
at Dec. 31,2011 at Dec. 31, 2010 restated Change
Short-term amounts due to banks 888 888 281 281 607 607
Commercial paper 3,204 3,204 7,405 7,405 (4,201) (4,201)
Cash collateral and other financing on
derivatives 650 650 343 343 307 307
Other short-term financial payables 57 57 180 180 (123) (123)
Short-term financial debt 4,799 4,799 8,209 8,209 (3.410) (3.410)

Short-term amounts due to banks totaled €888 million.
The payables represented by commercial paper relate
to issues outstanding at the end of December 2011 in
the context of the €6,000 million program launched by
Enel Finance International and guaranteed by Enel SpA,
as well as the €3,309 million program of Endesa Inter-
nacional BV (now Endesa Latinoamérica) and Enersis and
the €45 million Pagares program of Sociedade Térmica
Portuguesa SA.

At December 31, 2011, the issues in respect of the above
programs totaled €3,204 million, of which €2,016 mil-

lion for Enel Finance International and €1,188 million for

Endesa Internacional BV (now Endesa Latinoamérica).

The nominal value of the commercial paper is €3,211 mil-
lion and is denominated in the following currencies: euros
(€2,967 million); US dollars (the equivalent of €191 mil-
lion); yen (the equivalent of €24 million) and Swiss francs
(the equivalent of €29 million).

The exchange rate risk in respect of commercial paper in
currencies other than the euro is fully hedged by currency

swaps.

26.3 Non-current financial assets included in debt - €3 576 million

Millions of euro

at Dec. 31,2010

at Dec. 31,2011 restated Change
Securities held to maturity 68 93 (25)
Financial investments in funds or portfolio management
products at fair value through profit or loss 10 11 (1)
Securities available for sale 2 - 2
Other financial receivables 3,496 2,463 1,033
Total 3,576 2,567 1,009

“Securities held to maturity” are bonds. The following table

reports the breakdown of the above item on the basis of

the measurement inputs used, as provided for under the
amendments to IFRS 7.
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Millions of euro Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
at Dec. 31,
2011
Securities held to maturity 68 68 - -
Financial investments in funds or portfolio management products
at fair value through profit or loss 10 10 - -
Securities available for sale 2 2 - -

At December 31, 2011, “other financial receivables” inclu-

de, among other things:

> receivables in respect of the State Decommissioning
Fund of Slovakia in the amount of €568 million (€507
million at December 31, 2010);

> receivables in respect of the Electricity Equalization
Fund in the amount of €591 million for reimburse-
ment of the extraordinary costs incurred for the early
replacement of electromechanical meters with digital
meters, which were reclassified to “Other non-current

financial assets” following the issue of Authority Reso-
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lution ARG/elt 199/11 of December 29, 2011. The lat-
ter establishes a new procedure for reimbursing such
extraordinary costs. The amount is no longer based on
the ordinary equalization system but is instead paid
annually by the Electricity Equalization Fund through
reimbursements to Enel Distribuzione SpA in specified
periodic amounts at specified dates over a period of 16
years. The new reimbursement mechanism also provi-
des for the option of asking the Electricity Equalization
Fund to pay the first four annual instalments as a defi-

nitive lump-sum advance
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26.4 Current financial assets included in debt - €7,954 million

Millions of euro

at Dec. 31,2010

at Dec. 31,2011 restated Change
Short-term portion of long-term financial receivables 5,632 9,290 (3,658)
Receivables for factoring advances 370 319 51
Securities:
- securities at fair value through profit or loss - 8 (8)
- securities available for sale 51 56 (5)
- securities held to maturity 1 31 (30)
Financial receivables and cash collateral 1,076 718 358
Other financial receivables 824 571 253
Total 7,954 10,993 (3,039)

“Short-term portion of long-term financial receivables”
consists of the financial receivable in respect of the Span-
ish electricity system deficit in the amount of €5,379 mil-
lion (€9,186 million at December 31, 2010). The change for
the period essentially reflects new receivables accrued in
2011 and collections received (€6,091 million including the

effects of reimbursements in respect of extra-peninsular

generation), including the assignment of the receivables to
the special securitization fund as established by the Spanish

government.

The following table provides a breakdown of “securities” on
the basis of the measurement inputs used, as provided for
under the amendments to IFRS 7.

Millions of euro Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
at Dec. 31, 2011

Securities available for sale 51 51 - -

Securities held to maturity 1 1 - -

26.5 Cash and cash equivalents - €7,015 million

Cash and cash equivalents, detailed in the table below,

are not restricted by any encumbrances, apart from €160

Millions of euro

million (€171 million at December 31, 2010) primarily in

respect of deposits pledged to secure transactions.

at Dec. 31,2010

at Dec. 31, 2011 restated Change
Bank and post office deposits 5,947 5,158 789
Cash and cash equivalents on hand 1,068 6 1,062
Total 7,015 5,164 1,851
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27. Assets and liabilities held for sale - €387 million and €58 million

Changes in assets held for sale during the year are reported in the following table:

Millions of euro

Reclassification Disposals

at Dec. 31, from/to current and change
2010 and non- in scope of at Dec. 31,
restated  currentassets  consolidation Other changes 2011
Property, plant and equipment 1,017 (34) (793) 59 249
Intangible assets 45 3) (40) (1 1
Goodwill 258 (5) (57) (105) 91
Deferred tax assets 15 - (13) (1) 1
Other non-current assets 26 3 (3) (17) 9
Cash and cash equivalents 83 5 (97) 14 5
Inventories, trade receivables and other current assets 174 2 (158) 7 25
Total 1,618 (32) (1,161) (44) 381

"Assets held for sale” amounted to €381 million at December
31,2011. They essentially include the assets of Endesa Ireland
and certain assets held by Endesa Generacion, in the amount
of €360 million. “Reclassification from/to current and non-
current assets” mainly regards Enel Green Power Bulgaria,
which in 2011 ceased to meet the requirements set out in
IFRS 5 for classification under this item. This factor was only
partially offset by the inclusion of the asset of WISCO here.
"Other changes” reports the impairment loss on the goodwill
of Endesa Ireland in the amount of €105 million and invest-
ments made, mainly in Ireland.

At December 31, 2010, the item reported certain assets of

the Bulgarian companies (€722 million), certain assets held

Millions of euro

by Endesa in Ireland and Latin America (€521 million), as well

as the assets of Enel Unidn Fenosa Renovables (€355 million)

Liabilities held for sale amounted to €58 million at December
31,2011. They comprised the liabilities of Endesa Ireland and
certain liabilities held by Endesa Generacion in the amount of
€54 million, and other liabilities of minor companies. At De-
cember 31, 2010, the item reported certain liabilities of Enel
Unidn Fenosa Renovables (€328 million) and certain liabilities
held in Ireland and Latin America (€188 million).

Changes in liabilities held for sale during the year are as

follows:

Reclassification

from current Disposals

at Dec. 31, and non- and change
2010 current in scope of at Dec. 31,
restated liabilities  consolidation Other changes 2011
Long-term loans 400 (399) - 1
Post-employment and other employee benefits 4 (3) - 1
Provisions for risks and charges 62 (16) (16) 30
Deferred tax liabilities 30 1) - 19
Other non-current liabilities 32 (31) (1) -
Short-term loans 330 (329) - 1
Trade payables and other current liabilities 140 3 (112) (25) 6
Total 998 3 (901) (42) 58

The decrease in all items of assets and liabilities held for

sale compared with December 31, 2010 essentially re-
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flects assets and liabilities classified as held for sale in 2010
and then disposed of in 2011.
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28. Shareholders' equity - €54,440 million

28.1 Equity attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company

- €38 790 million

Share capital - €9,403 million

At December 31, 2011 (as at December 31, 2010), the share
capital of Enel SpA - considering no options were exer-
cised as part of stock option plans in 2011 — amounted to
€9,403,357,795 fully subscribed and paid up, represented by
9,403,357,795 ordinary shares with a par value of €1.00 each.
At the same date, based on the shareholders' register and
the notices submitted to CONSOB and received by the
Company pursuant to Article 120 of Legislative Decree
58 of February 24, 1998, as well as other available infor-
mation, no shareholders held more than 2% of the total
share capital, apart from the Ministry for the Economy
and Finance, which holds 31.24%, BlackRock Inc., which
holds a 2.74% stake wholly owned by its subsidiaries, and
Natixis SA (with 2.66%).

Other reserves - €10,348 million
Share premium reserve - €5,292 million

Legal reserve - €1,881 million

The legal reserve is formed of the part of net income that,
pursuant to Article 2430 of the Civil Code, cannot be dis-
tributed as dividends.

Other reserves - €2,262 million

These include €2,215 million related to the remaining por-
tion of the value adjustments carried out when Enel was
transformed from a public entity to a joint-stock company.
Pursuant to Article 47 of the Uniform Tax Code (Testo Uni-
co Imposte sul Reddito), this amount does not constitute
taxable income when distributed.

Reserve from translation of financial statements in
currencies other than euro - €720 million

The decrease in this aggregate for the year is attributable
to the appreciation of the functional currency against the

foreign currencies used by subsidiaries.

Reserve from measurement of financial instru-
ments - €(49) million

This item includes net losses recognized directly in equity
resulting from the measurement of cash flow hedging de-
rivatives, as well as net unrealized losses arising in respect
of the fair value measurement of financial assets.

Reserve from disposal of equity interests without
loss of control - €749 million

This item reports the gain posted on the public offering of
Enel Green Power shares, net of expenses associated with
the disposal and the related taxation. The change in the
year reflects the distribution of bonus shares to sharehold-
ers who held their investment in Enel Green Power for a
year, as provided for in the public offering in 2010.
Reserve from transactions in non-controlling
interests - € 78 million

The reserve includes the gain on the acquisition from
third parties of additional interests in companies already
controlled in Latin America (Ampla Energia e Servicos,

Ampla Investimentos e Servicos and Electrica Cabo Blanco).

Reserve from equity investments accounted for
using the equity method - €75 million

The reserve reports the share of comprehensive income to
be recognized directly in income for companies account-
ed for using the equity method.

The table below shows the changes in gains and losses

recognized directly in equity, including non-controlling

interests, with specific reporting of the related tax effects.

215



Millions of euro

at Dec. 31,2010 restated Change at Dec. 31,2011
Gains/
Ofwhich  Of which (Losses) Ofwhich  Of which Ofwhich  Of which
shareholders non- recognized  Released shareholders non- shareholders non-
of Parent controlling inequity toincome of Parent controlling of Parent controlling
Total Company  interests fortheyear statement Taxes Total Company  interests Total Company  interests
Reserve from
translation of financial
statements in
currencies other than
euro 1,340 456 884 (731) - - (731) (336) (395) 609 120 489
Reserve from
measurement of
financial instruments 48 80 (32) (351) 74 55 (222) (129) (93) (174) (49) (125)
Share of OCl of
equity investments
accounted for using
the equity method 24 24 - ) - ) 9) - 15 15 =
Total gains/(losses)
recognized in equity 1,412 560 852 (1,091) 74 55 (962) (474) (488) 450 86 364
28.2 Non-controlling interests - €15,650 million
The following table reports the composition of non-controlling interests by Division.
Millions of euro 2011 2010 restated Change
Iberia and Latin America 11,528 11,959 (431)
International 1,958 1,839 119
Renewable Energy 1,952 1,754 198
Generation and Energy Management 212 311 (99)
Other minor - 14 (14)
Total 15,650 15,877 (227)

29. Post-employment and other employee benefits - €3,000 million

The Group provides its employees with a variety of ben-

efits, including termination benefits, additional months’

pay for having reached age limits or eligibility for old-

age pension, loyalty bonuses for achievement of senior-

ity milestones, supplemental retirement and healthcare

plans, residential electricity discounts and similar ben-

efits. More specifically:

> for Italy, the item "pension benefits” regards estimated
accruals made to cover benefits due under the supple-
mental retirement schemes of retired executives, while
for companies abroad it covers post-employment be-
nefits;

> the item "electricity discount” comprises a number of

benefits regarding residential electricity supply. Until
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last year the discount was granted to current and reti-
red employees, but, following an agreement with the
unions, has now been converted into other forms of
remuneration for current employees and therefore re-
mains in effect only for retired employees;
> theitem "health insurance” reports benefits for current
or retired employees covering medical expenses;
> "other benefits” comprise liabilities in respect of defi-
ned-benefit plans not included in the previous items.
The table below reports the change for the year in actu-
arial liabilities and the fair value of plan assets, as well as
a reconciliation of the actuarial liabilities, net of assets,
with the carrying amount of liabilities recognized as at
December 31,2011 and December 31, 2010.
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Millions of euro 2011 2010

Pension  Electricity Health Other Pension  Electricity Health Other

benefits discount  insurance benefits Total benefits discount  insurance benefits Total
Changes in actuarial liability:
Actuarial liability at the
beginning of the year 3,175 1,750 225 119 5,269 2,938 1,789 182 110 5,019
Service cost 25 14 2 34 75 31 17 2 12 62
Interest cost 154 66 14 8 242 160 70 11 7 248
Benefits paid (207) (83) (17) (35) (342) (217) (89) (14) (14) (334)
Curtailments / settlements (538) (162) - (7) (707) - - - -
Other changes 25 3 1 71 100 (19) (8) - - (27)
Actuarial (gains)/losses (161) (88) 32 3 (214) 193 (30) 36 2 201
Foreign exchange (gains)/
losses (57) (7) (1) (65) 93 1 8 2 104
Liabilities held for sale - - - - - (4) - - - (4)
Actuarial liability at the end
of the year 2,416 1,500 250 192 4,358 3,175 1,750 225 119 5,269
Changes in plan assets:
Fair value at the beginning of
the year 1,575 = = = 1,575 1,442 - - - 1.442
Expected return on plan
assets 93 - - 93 104 - - - 104
Actuarial gains/(losses) (75) - = = (75) 4 R - - a
Contributions paid by
company 153 83 17 20 273 155 89 14 13 271
Curtailments / settlements (418) - - - (418) - - - - -
Other changes 21 - - - 21 22 - - - 22
Foreign exchange (gains)/
losses (48) - - - (48) 65 - - - 65
Benefits paid (207) (83) (17) (20) (327) (217) (89) (14) (13) (333)
Fair value at the end
of the year 1,094 = = = 1,094 1,575 - - - 1,575
Reconciliation with
carrying amount:
Net actuarial liability 1,322 1,500 250 192 3,264 1,600 1,750 225 119 3,694
Net unrecognized (gains)/
losses 123 95 35 11 264 368 217 28 12 625
Carrying amount of liability 1,199 1,405 215 181 3,000 1,232 1,533 197 107 3,069

The employees of the Endesa Group in Spain included in
the framework agreement of October 25, 2000 partici-
pate in a specific defined-contribution pension plan and,
in cases of disability or death of employees in service, a
defined-benefit plan which is covered by appropriate in-
surance policies. In addition, the company has certain ob-
ligations to retired ex-workers, mainly concerning the sup-
ply of electricity. Outside Spain, defined-benefit pension
plans are also in force, notably in Brazil.

The liabilities recognized at the end of the year are report-
ed net of the fair value of the plan assets (where this is not

greater than that of the related liabilities), which are at-

tributable entirely to Endesa, in the amount of €1,094 mil-
lion at December 31, 2011, and of the net unrecognized
actuarial losses in the amount of €264 million.

As regards plan assets, which at December 31, 2011
amounted to €1,191 million (of which €1,094 million ad-
justing the liability for pension benefits and €97 million
recognized under non-current financial assets), 52% of
the market value of such assets regards assets located
in Spain (65% at December 31, 2010) and 48% regards
assets in Brazil (35% at December 31, 2010). The assets

break down as follows:
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2011 2010

% composition

Shares 22 25
Fixed-income securities 70 69
Property and other 8 6
Total 100 100

At December 31, 2011, these assets included shares or
bonds issued by Endesa Group companies in the amount
of €17 million (€10 million at December 31, 2010). The
expected return on the assets was estimated on the basis
of forecasts for the main equity and fixed-income markets

and using a weighting for the various asset classes similar

to that adopted the previous year. The real return for 2011
was equal to 1.34% in Spain and 13.47% in other coun-
tries (0.4% in Spain and -1.9% in other countries in 2010).

The following table reports the impact of employee ben-

efits on the income statement.

Millions of euro 2011 2010

Pension  Electricity Health Other Pension  Electricity Health Other

benefits discount  insurance benefits Total benefits discount  insurance benefits Total
Service cost 25 14 2 34 75 31 17 2 12 62
Interest cost 154 66 14 8 242 160 70 11 7 248
Expected return on plan
assets (93) = = - (93) (104) - - - (104)
Amortization of actuarial
(gains)/losses 54 26 22 2 104 19 22 1 (4) 38
(Gains)/Losses for
curtailment/settlement of
plans (18) (152) - (5) (175) (11) (7) - - (18)
Other changes 4 - - - 4 M - - 1
Total 126 (46) 38 39 157 106 102 14 15 237

Employee benefit expenses recognized in 2011 came to
€157 million (€237 million in 2010), of which €149 million
in respect of net accretion cost recognized under financial

expense (€144 million in 2010) and €8 million recognized

under personnel costs.
The main actuarial assumptions used to calculate the li-
abilities in respect of employee benefits and the plan as-

sets are set out in the following table.

Iberian Latin Iberian Latin
Italy  peninsula America Other Italy  peninsula America Other
2011 2010
2.74% - 5.50% - 5.25% - 2.49% - 5.50% - 4.50% -
Discount rate 4.70% 4.66% 10.50% 8.64% 4.30% 4.50% 10.50% 7.75%
2.0%- 0%- 2.50% - 2.0%- 0% - 2.5% -
Rate of wage increases 4.0% 23% 6.59% 7.00% 4.0% 23% 6.35% 7.50%
3.00% - 3.00% -
Rate of increase in healthcare costs 3.00% 3.5% 10.50% - 3.00% 3.5% 10.50% -
3.94% - 2.87% -
Expected rate of return on plan assets 5.21% 11.1% - 94% 12.1% -

If, at December 31,2011, the twelve-month rate of change
in healthcare costs had been 1 basis point higher, all other
variables being equal, the liability for healthcare benefits
would have been €14 million higher, with an overall nega-
tive impact on the income statement in terms of service cost
and interest cost of €1 million. If, at December 31,2011, the
twelve-month rate of change in healthcare costs had been
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1 basis point lower, all other variables being equal, the li-
ability for healthcare benefits would have been €12 million
lower, with a positive impact on the income statement in
terms of service cost and interest cost of €1 million.

The amount of contributions that is expected to be paid
into defined-benefit plans in the subsequent year is equal
to €33 million.
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30. Provisions for risks and charges - €/,83 1 million

Taken to Utilization
income Change in scope and other
Millions of euro statement of consolidation changes
at Dec. 31,
2010
restated at Dec. 31, 2011
Provision for litigation, risks of which
and other charges: short term
- nuclear decommissioning 3,020 34 - (108) 2,946 35
- non-nuclear plant retirement and site
restoration 466 21 1 50 538 3
- litigation 896 101 - (151) 846 61
- CO, emissions charges 12 (20) - 11 3 3
- taxes and duties 723 (116) (5) (256) 346 19
- other 1,689 (11) (6) (68) 1,604 584
Total 6,806 9 (10) (522) 6,283 705
Provision for early-retirement incentives 2,220 (146) (1) (525) 1,548 477
TOTAL 9,026 (137) (11) (1,047) 7,831 1,182

Nuclear decommissioning provision

The nuclear decommissioning provision includes the fol-

lowing:

> €2,513 million (€2,618 million at December 31, 2010) for
the V1 and V2 plants at Jasklovske Bohunice and the EMO
1 and 2 plants at Mochovce, and also includes the provi-
sion for nuclear waste disposal in the amount of €117 mil-
lion (€196 million at December 31, 2010), the provision
for spent nuclear fuel disposal in the amount of €1,578
million (€1,571 million at December 31, 2010), and the
provision for nuclear plant retirement in the amount of
€818 million (€851 million at December 31, 2010). The
estimated timing of the outlays described above takes
account of current knowledge of environmental regu-
lations, the operating time used in estimating the costs,
and the difficulties presented by the extremely long time
span over which such costs could arise. The charges cov-
ered by the provisions are reported at their present value
using discount rates of between 4.15% and 4.55%;

> €433 million (€402 million at December 31, 2010) for
the costs that will be incurred at the time of decom-
missioning of nuclear plants by Enresa, a Spanish pub-
lic enterprise responsible for such activities in accord-
ance with Royal Decree 1349/03 and Law 24/2005.
Quantification of the costs is based on the standard
contract between Enresa and the electricity companies
approved by the Ministry for the Economy in Septem-
ber 2001, which regulates the retirement and closing

of nuclear power plants. The time horizon envisaged,
three years, corresponds to the period from the ter-
mination of power generation to the transfer of plant

management to Enresa (post-operational costs).

Non-nuclear plant retirement and site
restoration provision

The provision for “non-nuclear plant retirement and site
restoration” represents the present value of the estimated
cost for the retirement and removal of non-nuclear plants

where there is a legal or constructive obligation to do so.

Litigation provision

The “litigation” provision covers contingent liabilities in re-
spect of pending litigation and other disputes. It includes
an estimate of the potential liability relating to disputes
that arose during the period, as well as revised estimates
of the potential costs associated with disputes initiated in
prior periods. The estimates are based on the opinions of
internal and external legal counsel.

Other provisions

"Other” provisions cover various risks and charges, mainly
in connection with regulatory disputes and disputes with

local authorities regarding various duties and fees.
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Provision for early-retirement incentives sponse to organizational needs. In addition to ordinary
. ) ) ) ) utilization, the change for the year reflects the termina-
The "provision for early-retirement incentives” includes

) o tion of the early-retirement incentive program for the per-
the estimated charges related to binding agreements for

oo ) sonnel of the Italian companies.
the voluntary termination of employment contracts in re-

31. Non-current financial liabilities - €2,307 million

The item reports the fair value of derivatives only. For more information, please see note 6.3.

32. Other non-current liabilities - €7,373 million

Millions of euro

at Dec. 31, at Dec. 31,2010

2011 restated Change
Accrued operating expenses and deferred income 929 994 (65)
Other items 384 250 134
Total 1,313 1,244 69

At December 31,2011, this item essentially consisted of revenues for electricity and gas connections and grants received
for specific assets.

33. Trade payables - €72,937 million

The item, which amounts to €12,931 million, includes payables in respect of energy supplies, fuel, materials, equipment
associated with tenders and other services.

34. Current financial liabilities - €3 668 million

Millions of euro

at Dec. 31, atDec. 31,2010

2011 restated Change
Deferred financial liabilities 796 711 85
Derivative contracts 2,645 776 1,869
Other items 227 185 42
Total 3,668 1,672 1,996

For more information on “derivative contracts”, please see note 6.4
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35. Other current liabilities - €8 90/ million

Millions of euro

at Dec. 31, at Dec. 31,2010

2011 restated Change
Payables due to customers 1,599 1,500 99
Payables due to Electricity Equalization Fund and similar bodies 2,782 2,519 263
Payables due to employees 484 512 28)
Other tax payables 888 717 171
Payables due to social security institutions 218 207 11
Payables for put options granted to minority shareholders 820 655 165
Other 2,116 1,942 174
Total 8,907 8,052 855

"Payables due to customers” include €1,049 million (€882
million at December 31, 2010) in security deposits related
to amounts received from customers as part of electricity
and gas supply contracts. Following the finalization of the
contract, deposits for electricity sales, the use of which is
not restricted in any way, are classified as current liabilities
given that the Company does not have an unconditional
right to defer repayment beyond twelve months.

"Payables due to Electricity Equalization Fund and similar
bodies” include payables arising from the application of
equalization mechanisms to electricity purchases on the
[talian market amounting to €1,797 million (€1,507 million

at December 31, 2010) and on the Spanish market amount-

36. Related parties

As an operator in the field of generation, transport, dis-
tribution and sale of electricity, Enel provides services to a
number of companies controlled by the Italian State, Enel’s
controlling shareholder. In the current regulatory frame-
work, Enel concludes transactions with Terna - Rete Elettri-
ca Nazionale (Terna), the Single Buyer, the Energy Services
Operator, and the Energy Markets Operator (each of which
is controlled either directly or indirectly by the Ministry for
the Economy and Finance).

Fees for the transport of electricity payable to Terna and cer-
tain charges paid to the Energy Markets Operator are deter-
mined by the Authority for Electricity and Gas.

Transactions relating to purchases and sales of electricity con-
cluded with the Energy Markets Operator on the Power Ex-
change and with the Single Buyer are settled at market prices.
In particular, companies of the Sales Division acquire electrici-

ty from the Single Buyer and settle the contracts for differenc-

ing to €985 million (€1,012 million at December 31, 2010).
The item "Payables for put options granted to minority
shareholders” at December 31, 2011 mainly regards the i-
ability to Enel Distributie Muntenia in the amount of €661
million (€512 million at December 31, 2010), Enel Energie
Muntenia in the amount of €115 million (€89 million at
December31,2010) and Marcinelle Energie in the amount
of €43 million (€37 million at December 31, 2010). These
liabilities, which are estimated at fair value on the basis of
Level 3 inputs, are determined on the basis of the exer-
cise conditions specified in the contracts; the change for
the year produced an increase of the same amount in the

goodwill of the subsidiaries.

es related to the allocation of CIP 6 energy with the Energy
Services Operator, in addition to paying Terna fees for the use
of the national transmission network. Companies that are a
part of the Generation and Energy Management Division, in
addition to paying fees for the use of the national transmis-
sion network to Terna, carry out electricity transactions with
the Energy Markets Operator on the Power Exchange and sell
electricity to the Single Buyer. The companies of the Renew-
able Energy Division that operate in Italy sells electricity to the
Energy Markets Operator on the Power Exchange.

Enel also acquires fuel for generation and gas for distribution
and sale from ENI, a company controlled by the Ministry for
the Economy and Finance. All transactions with related par-
ties are concluded on normal market terms and conditions.
The following table summarizes transactions with related par-
ties and with associated companies outstanding at December

31,2011 and carried out during the period, respectively.
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Related parties

Single Italian
Millions of euro Buyer EMO Terna ENI ESO Post Office Other Total
Balance sheet:
Trade receivables 75 836 362 9 73 - 57 1,412
Current financial assets - - 1 - - - - 1
Other current assets - 49 15 - 1 - - 65
Trade payables 1,139 600 466 141 651 101 69 3,167
Current financial liabilities 1 - 1 - - - - 2
Other current liabilities 2 - 11 - - - 2 15
Income statement:
Revenues from sales 1,259 4,431 890 440 319 - 54 7.393
Other revenues and
income - - 207 - - - 1 208
Raw materials and
consumables 6,096 2,741 346 489 - - 100 9,772
Services - 157 1,514 59 24 141 46 1,941
Other operating expenses 2 - 5 - - - 14 21
Net income from
commodity risk
management (8) - 85 - - - - 77
Financial income - - 22 - - - - 22
Financial expense 1 - 2 - - 2 2 7

In compliance with the Enel Group’s rules of corporate gover-
nance, transactions with related parties are carried out in ac-
cordance with criteria of procedural and substantive proprie-
ty. With a view to assuring substantive propriety — in order
to ensure fairness in transactions with related parties, and to
account for the special nature, value or other characteristics
of a given transaction — the Board of Directors may ask inde-
pendent experts to value the assets involved in the transac-
tion and provide financial, legal or technical advice.

In November 2010, the Board of Directors of Enel SpA ap-
proved a procedure governing the approval and execution
of transactions with related parties undertaken by Enel

SpA either directly or indirectly through its subsidiaries.
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The procedure (which can be found at http://www.enel.
com/it-IT/group/governance/principles/related_parts/)
sets out rules designed to ensure the transparency and
procedural and substantive propriety of transactions with
related parties. It was adopted in implementation of the
provisions of Article 2391-bis of the Italian Civil Code and
the implementing rules established by CONSOB. It repla-
ced, with effect from January 1, 2011, the rules governing
transactions with related parties approved by the Board of
Directors of Enel SpA on December 19, 2006 in implemen-
tation of the recommendations of the Corporate Gover-
nance Code for listed companies, the provisions of which

were in effect until December 31, 2010.
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Associated companies

Overall  Total balance-

SeverEnergia Enel Rete Gas Elica 2 CESI Other Total total sheet item % of total
1 18 2 - 40 61 1,473 11,570 12.7%
- - - - - - 1 10,466 -
- - 1 - 5 6 71 2,135 3.3%
- 73 - 29 35 137 3,304 12,931 25.6%
- - - - - - 2 3,668 0.1%
- - - - - - 15 8,907 0.2%
- 45 2 - 15 62 7,455 77,573 9.6%
- - - - - 208 1,941 10.7%
- - - - 198 198 9,970 42,901 23.2%
- 283 - 15 48 346 2,287 14,440 15.8%
- 1 - 4 - 5 26 2,143 1.2%
- - - - - - 77 272 28.3%
5 - - - 2 7 29 2,693 1.1%
- - - - - - 7 5,717 0.1%
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3/ Contractual commitments and guarantees

The commitments entered into by the Enel Group and

the guarantees given to third parties are shown below..

Millions of euro

at Dec. 31,
2011
Guarantees given:
- sureties and other guarantees granted to third
parties 4,766
Commitments to suppliers for:
- electricity purchases 54,708
- fuel purchases 69,008
- various supplies 3,153
- tenders 1,936
- other 2,458
Total 131,263
TOTAL 136,029

Guarantees granted to third parties amounted to €4,766
million and include €500 million in commitments relating
to the sale of real estate assets, in connection with the
regulations that govern the termination of leases and the
related payments, for a period of six years and six months
from July 2004. The value of such guarantees is reduced
annually by a specified amount.

The expected cash flow of the lease contracts, including
forecast inflation, is as follows:

> 2012:€53 million;

> 2013:€54 million;

> 2014:€54 million;

> 2015:€55 million;

> 2016:€55 million.

The expected cash flow of the operating lease contracts of
Endesa is as follows:

> 2012:€50 million;

> 2013-2014:€60 million;

> 2015 and beyond: €211 million.

Commitments for electricity amounted to €54,708 mil-
lion at December 31, 2011, of which €21,604 million refer
to the period 2012-2016, €11,692 million to the period
2017-2021, €7,321 million to the period 2022-2026 and
the remaining €14,091 million beyond 2026.

Commitments for the purchase of fuels are determined
with reference to the contractual parameters and exchange
rates applicable at the end of the period (given that fuel
prices vary and are mainly set in foreign currencies). The
total at December 31, 2011 was €69,008 million, of which
€38,100 million refer to the period 2012-2016, €23,653 mil-
lion to the period 2017-2021, €5,758 million to the period
2022-2026 and the remaining €1,497 million beyond 2026.
Various supply commitments include €274 million in re-
spect of those under the cooperation agreement with EDF
of November 30, 2007 for the construction of the Flaman-
ville nuclear plant. The amount represents Enel’s share of
12.5% of the cost of construction of the plant, which is

scheduled to begin operation in 2012.

38. Contingent liabilities and assets

Environmental litigation

Litigation regarding environmental issues primarily con-
cerns the installation and operation of electrical plant of
Enel Distribuzione. Enel Distribuzione is involved in various
civil and administrative suits relating to requests, often us-
ing urgent procedures, for the precautionary transfer or
modification of operations on power lines by some persons
living near them on the basis of their alleged potential to
cause harm, despite the fact that the company believes that
they have been installed in compliance with current regula-
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tions. In a number of proceedings claims for damages for
physical harm caused by e